
#plymcouncil

CITY COUNCIL

Monday 21 September 2015
2.00 pm
Council House (Next to the Civic Centre), Plymouth

Members:
The Lord Mayor, Councillor Dr. Mahony, Chair
The Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Ball, Vice Chair
Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Mrs Beer, Bowie, Bowyer, Mrs Bowyer, Mrs Bridgeman, Churchill, 
Coker, Damarell, Dann, Darcy, Philippa Davey, Sam Davey, Deacon, Downie, Drean, Evans, 
Fletcher, K Foster, Mrs Foster, Fox, Fry, Hendy, James, Jarvis, Jordan, Kelly, Martin Leaves, 
Michael Leaves, Sam Leaves, Lowry, McDonald, Morris, Murphy, Nicholson, Mrs Nicholson, 
Parker-Delaz-Ajete, Penberthy, Mrs Pengelly, Rennie, Ricketts, Riley, Dr. Salter, Singh, Smith, 
Sparling, Stevens, Storer, Jon Taylor, Kate Taylor, Tuffin, Tuohy, Vincent, Wheeler and Wigens.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing.  By entering the Council Chamber and during the course of the meeting, Councillors 
are consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Democratic and Member Support
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Nicola Kirby
T 01752 304867
E nicola.kirby@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 11 September 2015

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


CITY COUNCIL

AGENDA

PART I – PUBLIC MEETING

1. APOLOGIES  

To receive apologies for absence submitted by councillors.

2. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 12)

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2015 as a correct 
record.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 13 - 14)

Councillors will be asked to make declarations of interest in respect of items on this 
agenda. A flowchart providing guidance on interests is attached to assist councillors.

4. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, OUTSIDE BODIES 
ETC  

The Head of Legal Services will report on vacancies on committees, outside bodies etc 
and of changes notified to us.   

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

(a) To receive announcements from the Lord Mayor, Chief Executive, Assistant 
Director for Finance or Head of Legal Services;

(b) To receive announcements from the Leader, Cabinet Members or Committee 
Chairs.

6. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC  

To receive questions from and provide answers to the public in relation to matters which 
are about something the council is responsible for or something that directly affects 
people in the city, in accordance with Part B, paragraph 11 of the Constitution.

Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to the Democratic Support 
Unit, Plymouth City Council, Ballard House, West Hoe Road, Plymouth, PL1 3BJ, or email 
to democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five 
complete working days before the meeting.

mailto:DEMOCRATICSUPPORT@plymouth.gov.uk


7. CORPORATE PLAN SECOND YEAR REVIEW  (Pages 15 - 26)

Leader: Councillor Evans

The City Council will be asked to consider the report of Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) 
and to approve the second year update of the Corporate Plan 2013/14 - 2016/17 as 
amended following Cabinet.

The Cabinet minute will also be submitted. 

8. CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING REPORT 2015/16 
QUARTER 1  

(Pages 27 - 42)

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry

The City Council will be asked to note the Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report 
2015/16 Quarter One, which was submitted to Cabinet on 8 September 2015. 

9. ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT 2014/15  (Pages 43 - 64)

Chair of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board: Councillor James.

The City Council will be asked to note the Annual Scrutiny Report 2014/15

10. PLYMOUTH PLAN PART ONE  (Pages 65 - 218)

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coker

The City Council will be asked to formally approve the Plymouth Plan Part One as part of 
the Council’s Policy Framework.

The Cabinet minute and report will also be submitted.

11. CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES IN RELATION TO 
CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS AND FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS  

(Pages 219 - 248)

Cabinet Members: Councillors Smith and Lowry

The City Council will be asked to approve the proposed changes to the constitution in 
relation to contract standing orders and financial regulations.

The Constitutional Review Group and Audit Committee minutes and report will also be 
submitted.



12. MOTIONS ON NOTICE  

To consider motions from councillors in accordance with Part B, paragraph 14 of the 
Constitution.

13. QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS  

Questions to the Leader, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairs covering aspects for 
their areas of responsibility or concern by councillors in accordance with Part B, 
paragraph 12 of the constitution.

14. EXEMPT BUSINESS  

To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as amended 
by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

PART II (PRIVATE MEETING)

AGENDA

MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE
that under the law, Council is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed. 

NIL.



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

City Council 
 

Monday 22 June 2015 
 

PRESENT: 
 
The Lord Mayor, Councillor Dr. Mahony, in the Chair. 
The Deputy Lord Mayor, Councillor Ball, Vice Chair. 
Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Mrs Beer, Bowyer, Mrs Bowyer, Mrs Bridgeman, Churchill, Damarell, 
Dann, Darcy, Philippa Davey, Sam Davey, Deacon, Downie, Drean, Evans, Fletcher, K Foster, 
Mrs Foster, Fry, James, Jarvis, Jordan, Kelly, Martin Leaves, Michael Leaves, Sam Leaves, Lowry, 
McDonald, Morris, Murphy, Nicholson, Mrs Nicholson, Parker-Delaz-Ajete, Penberthy, 
Mrs Pengelly, Rennie, Ricketts, Riley, Dr. Salter, Singh, Smith, Sparling, Stevens, Storer, 
Jon Taylor, Kate Taylor, Tuffin, Tuohy, Vincent, Wheeler and Wigens. 
 
Also in attendance: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive), David Shepperd (Head of Legal Services), 
Judith Shore (Democratic and Member Services Manager) and Nicola Kirby (Senior Democratic 
Support Officer (Cabinet).   
 
Apologies for absence: Councillors Bowie, Coker, Fox and Hendy. 
 
The meeting started at 2.00 pm and finished at 4.08 pm. 
 
Note: At a future meeting, the Council will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be 
subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have 
been amended. 
 

9. MINUTES   
 
Agreed the minutes of the meeting of the City Council held on 23 March 2015 and the 
Annual Meeting held on 22 May 2015, subject to the addition of two apologies at the Annual 
Meeting by Councillors Deacon and Kelly.   
 

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
The following declarations of interest were made by councillors in accordance with the code 
of conduct in relation to items under consideration at this meeting – 
 

Name Minute Number Reason Interest 

Councillors 
Churchill 
and Tuohy  

Minute 19: Ernest 
Brock Home for 
Aged Charity 

Plymouth Community 
Homes Board Members as 
City Council 
representatives 

 

 

Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interest 

 

 

 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

Councillor 
Damarell 

Minute 11: 
Appointments to 
outside bodies: 
Plymouth 
Community Homes   

Employee of Plymouth 
Community Homes 

Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interest 

Councillor 
Damarell 

Minute 19: 
Ernest Brock Home 
for Aged Charity 

Employee of Plymouth 
Community Homes 

Disclosable 
Pecuniary 
Interest 

Councillor 
Dann 

Minute 11: 
Appointments to 
outside bodies: 
Plymouth 
Community Homes   

Plymouth Community 
Homes Board Member in 
her private capacity 

Private 

Councillor 
Dann 

Minute 19: 
Ernest Brock Home 
for Aged Charity 

Plymouth Community 
Homes Board Member in 
her private capacity 

Private 

Councillors 
Sam Leaves 
and Jon 
Taylor  

Minute 17: 
Government  
Announcement on 
cuts to Public 
Health         
Funding 

Employee of NHS Private 

  
11. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES, OUTSIDE BODIES ETC   

 
Agreed – 
 

(1) the following appointments – 
 

   Committees and Other  
Bodies  

Membership Appointments 
2015/16 

(a) Devon and Severn Inshore 
Fisheries and Conservation 
Authority 

One councillor 

 

Cllr Kelly 

(b) Estover/Leigham /Mainstone 
Community Centre 
Association Management 
Committee 

One councillor Cllr Fox 

 

(c) Mount Batten Sailing and 
Water Sports Centre – 
Board of Directors 

Two councillors Cllr Michael Leaves 
Cllr Smith 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

(d) Plymouth and Devon Racial 
Equality Council 

One councillor Cllr Parker-Delaz-
Ajete 

(e) Plymouth Centre for Faiths 
and Cultural Diversity 

One councillor Cllr Dr Salter 

(f) Plymouth Community Homes 
Board 

Two representatives Cllr Churchill 
Cllr Tuohy 

Head of Housing 
Services 
(Matt Garrett) 
authorised to vote 
on behalf of the 
Council at the 
AGM   

(g) Wolseley CEDT Two councillors Cllr Martin Leaves  
Cllr Sparling 

 
(2) to defer one vacancy on SACRE; 

 
(3) to note the following changes notified to the Head of Legal Services -  

 
 Committees and other 

bodies 
Change of Memberships 

(h) Co-operative Scrutiny Board Councillor Sam Davey to replace Councillor 
Philippa Davey 

(i) Your Plymouth Scrutiny 
Panel 

Councillor Morris to replace Councillor 
Philippa Davey 

(j) Devon and Cornwall Police 
and Crime Panel 

Councillor Philippa Davey to replace 
Councillor Penberthy 

 
(4) to note the membership of the following working groups -   

 
   Working Group Membership 

(k) Plymouth Plan Working 
Group 

Councillors Coker (Chair), Bowyer, Evans 
and Nicholson 

(l) Housing Needs Working 
Group  

Councillors Lowry (Chair), Bowyer, Jordan 
and Penberthy  

 
(Councillors Dann and Damarell declared an interest in part (f) of this item and Councillor 

Damerell withdrew from the meeting during consideration of this part of the item).  
 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

12. ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
The Lord Mayor – 
 

(a) City Council Elections 

welcomed the newly elected councillors (Councillors Deacon, 
Fletcher and Kelly) to their first meeting of the City Council and 
Councillor Dann on her return to the Council; 

(b) HRH The Princess Royal 

reported that he would be welcoming Her Royal Highness The 
Princess Royal to Plymouth next week to open ‘Genesis’ in Union 
Street; 

(c) Armed Forces Day 

advised councillors that he had attended the ceremonial raising of 
the Armed Forces Day flag at the Guildhall that morning which 
would remain flying until the conclusion of all civic and military 
events and had also presented three veterans’ badges and a 
children’s prize for the winner of the Armed Forces Day badge 
competition. The Lord Mayor also referred to the programme of 
events on the Hoe on 27 June 2015; 

(e) Royal Naval Voluntary Bands Association Festival 2015 

indicated that he had been invited to the Royal Naval Volunteer 
Band Association Festival on the Hoe and hoped to see other 
councillors at the event on 28 June 2015; 

(f) Queen’s Birthday Honours 
 
congratulated two City Council members of staff, Heather 
Ogburn (a senior education advisor) and Michelle Newman (team 
manager, children's social care) on their award of an MBE in the 
Queen’s Birthday Honour’s List in recognition of their work with 
children and young people.  The Lord Mayor reported that they 
would be invited to attend a future meeting of the City Council 
after they had received their awards. 

 
Councillor Vincent referred to - 
 

(g) the reduced grass cutting arrangements which had been 
implemented to meet savings but would also encourage wildlife. 
He reported that unfortunately officers had not liaised with 
councillors and that he had reminded them that in future they 
must brief all councillors on changes to procedures. 

 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

Councillor Davey referred to -  
 

(h) the atrocities that had been carried out in Srebenica, Bosnia, in July 1995 
and that the Council was joining with the campaign ‘Remembering 
Srebenica’ to condemn genocide and to promise to learn lessons from the 
atrocious events.   

 
Councillor Jon Taylor referred to – 
 

(i) the good progress of the Council’s apprentices in the Brathay Challenge to 
find the best apprenticeship team in the country.  The team had made it 
into the final challenge and had also been chosen as the regional winners. 
 
Councillors were asked to help the team by – 
 
(1) joining a citywide epilepsy awareness day on 3rd July 2015 to be 

known as ‘Big Purple Day’ and to wear something purple to 
work, bake purple cakes etc;  

(2) fundraising in their wards; 

(3) joining  their Twitter campaign in the lead up to big Purple day 
and follow hashtags: #BAC15 #PurpleDay; 

(4) using their links to raise awareness of the team to local 
businesses. 

 

 
13. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC   

 
Four questions were submitted by members of the public for this meeting, in accordance 
with Part B, paragraph 11 of the Constitution. 

Mr Williams attended the meeting and asked the following question.  Councillor Evans 
responded as set out below -  
 

Question 
No 

Question By Cabinet Member 

 

Subject 

Q1 (15/16) Mr John 
Williams  

Councillor Evans 
(Leader)  

Administration of the 
Council 

 
Is it legally compulsory for a local authority to have a controlling group of one 
party or an alliance, representing a majority of the Authority’s Members, or is it 
possible for a political group to govern as a minority, and to submit its proposals 
for approval to the full Council?   

Response 
Yes, it is possible for a minority political group to form a minority administration. 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

Mr Aldred attended the meeting and asked the following question.  Councillor Lowry 
responded as set out below -  
 

Question 
No 

Question By Cabinet Member 

 

Subject 

Q2 (15/16) Mr Ryan 
Aldred   

Councillor Lowry 
(Cabinet Member for 
Finance)  

Minimum wage 

The Trades Union Congress has endorsed a call for a £10 an hour minimum wage 
which will stimulate the economy from the ground up as people will have more 
disposable income. Plymouth City Council has implemented a living wage but 
would this Council join the call for £10 an hour? 
 

Response 
We’ve already pledged to pay all Plymouth City Council employees a ‘living wage’ 
and we’re proactively encouraging other local employers to follow suit. 
We would be happy to explore ways which, in future, could provide further 
support for people on the lowest pay. But this needs to be done as part of a 
national initiative supported by the Government. Instead, the Government is 
intent on cutting another £12 billion from the welfare budget, the vast majority of 
which looks set to hit younger people and working families.  
Tax-payers in Plymouth and our local businesses, especially small and medium 
sized enterprises should not be left to subsidise cuts arising from a flawed national 
welfare policy, especially when the Government itself will not lead by example on 
a living wage. 
 
In the absence of Mr Kerswell, the following question and response were circulated and a 
written response would be sent to him after the meeting -   
 

Question 
No 

Question By Cabinet Member 

 

Subject 

Q3 (15/16) Mr A Kerswell   Councillor Lowry 
(Cabinet Member for 
Finance) 

Funding of Cabinet 
Member Special 
Responsibility 
Allowances 

Which budgets have the labour group  plundered to pay for two extra cabinet 
members at a cost of £41,000 plus per year which had not been budgeted for in 
either of the two years this has happened and also £5.000 for the extra chair of 
planning. 

Response 
 
Costs will be accommodated within existing budgets. 
 
 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

Ms Casey attended the meeting and asked the following question.  Councillor Evans 
responded as set out below -  
 

Question 
No 

Question By Cabinet Member 

 

Subject 

Q4 (15/16) Ms Alison 
Casey 

Councillor Evans 
(Leader)  

Appointments to 
committees and 
Cabinet. 

How can this new political alliance which is made up by the two main political 
parties allow new councillor positions to be created? Before coming to full 
council for debate and to be agreed as set out in the standing rules of the 
Council’s constitution. 

Response 
There is no political alliance between the two largest political parties on Plymouth 
City Council as suggested by your question. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET AND OTHER COMMITTEES   
 

14. Financial Outturn 2014/15 including Capital Programme update   
 
Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) presented the Cabinet report on the 
Financial Outturn 2014/15 including capital programme update. (Cabinet minute 7 was also 
submitted). 
 
The recommendations in the report were seconded by Councillor Jon Taylor.     
  
Councillor Lowry, on behalf of the Council, thanked members and officers for their hard 
work and in response to comments by councillors, undertook to consider – 
 

(a) future large projects where the same contractors were awarded 
contracts having regard to the risks of skills’ shortages and their 
capacity to deliver and to advise Councillor Bowyer; 
 

(b) setting out the full capital programme in the report.  

The report was noted.    
 

15. Audit Arrangements 2015/16   
 
This item was withdrawn from the agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

16. Proposed Changes to Standing Orders in respect of Employment of the Chief 
Executive, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer   
 
Councillor Smith (Deputy Leader) presented the proposed changes to Standing Orders in 
respect of the employment of the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring 
Officer for approval, as recommended in the report of Lesa Annear (Strategic Director for 
Transformation and Change). (Chief Officer Appointments Panel minute 5 was also 
submitted). 
 
The proposals were seconded by Councillor Stevens (Chair of the Constitutional Review 
Group) who reported that they were supported by the Constitutional Review Group.     
 
Agreed – 

 
(1) to amend the Employment Standing Orders and the Appointments, Appeals 

and Disciplinary Panels’ terms of reference in the Constitution to comply 
with the requirements of the new regulations, as shown in the Appendix 
(highlighted in red). 

(2) to delegate the function of dealing with any disciplinary matters concerning 
the Chief Executive or Section 151 Officer or Monitoring Officer to the 
Chief Officer Disciplinary Panel and, where considered appropriate, to make 
a recommendation for dismissal to Council. 

(3) 

  

to designate the people who carry out the role of Independent Persons for 
the Standards Regime as suitable to act as Independent Persons for this 
purpose, subject to their agreement; and instructs the Monitoring Officer to 
put suitable arrangements in place. 

(4) that the Assistant Director for Human Resources and Organisational 
Development takes the necessary action to agree variations to the contracts 
of employment of the affected staff. 

 
MOTIONS ON NOTICE   
 

17. Government announcement on cuts to public health funding   
 
Councillor Evans proposed and Councillor Bowyer seconded a motion on the Government 
announcement on cuts to Public Health funding. 
 
The motion was agreed as follows – 
 
We call upon the Council and the City’s Members of Parliament to write to the Under 
Secretary for Public Health [Jane Ellison MP] and the Chancellor of the Exchequer [George 
Osborne MP] asking that the government reconsider this decision or in taking it forward 
that they – 
 
 
 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

(1) ensure transparency in how budget claw-back will take place and use the 
opportunity it presents to address the inequitable current public health 
funding allocations by making savings from those local authorities who are 
funded to levels above their target value and by raising the funding allocation 
of those below their target value to that value.  

(2) consider the three health economies identified for additional support by 
NHS England to be special cases in terms of public health funding allocation 
and recognise that public health funding and a preventative health approach 
will be an essential resource to help the local health economies meet the 
challenges they face in developing sustainable local health systems. 

(3) 

  

recognise that local authorities should be able to operate in a way that 
enables them to forward plan to deliver new services and drive forward 
locally relevant service initiatives to tackle health inequalities and improve 
the health of their local populations. This may require financial management 
that delivers an under-spend in any one year and the building of a local 
financial reserve. 

(4) recognise that reducing funding for public health goes against the aspiration 
and ambition of the NHS Forward View for increasing investment in 
prevention 

(5) recognise that local authority public health funding is currently used to 
commission NHS services [e.g. NHS stop smoking services, sexual health 
services including hospital based GUM services, school nurses] and as such, 
the statement that these funding cuts are not related to NHS services is 
incorrect. 

 
(Councillors Sam Leaves and Jon Taylor declared an interest in this item). 

 
18. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION   

 
Councillor Smith (Deputy Leader) presented the proposed amendments to the Constitution 
for approval, as recommended in the report of David Shepperd (Monitoring Officer) subject 
to the replacement of Part H with the new pages appended to the order of proceedings.  
 
The proposals were seconded by Councillor Stevens (Chair of the Constitutional Review 
Group) who reported that they were supported by the Constitutional Review Group.     

  
Agreed the constitutional amendments in Appendices A to D of the written report subject 
to the replacement of Part H with the new pages appended to the order of proceedings. 
 

19. ERNEST BROCK HOME FOR THE AGED CHARITY   
 

Councillor Penberthy (Cabinet Member for Co-operatives and Housing) presented the 
proposal for approval, as recommended in the report of David Shepperd (Head of Legal 
Services), following a request from the trustees of the Ernest Brock Home for the Aged 
Charity.  

   



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Nicholson.     
 
Agreed the grant of consent to release the rights of the Council and the Lord Mayor to 
nominate persons for appointment as Trustees to the Ernest Brock Home for the Aged 
Charity.  

 
(Councillors Churchill, Damarell, Dann and Tuohy declared an interest in this item and 

Councillors Churchill, Damarell and Tuohy withdrew from the meeting during consideration 
of this item). 

 
20. CHANGES TO THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE   

 
Councillor Evans (Leader) presented the proposals for changes within the Senior 
Management Team for approval, as recommended in the report of Tracey Lee (Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service).  
 
The proposal was seconded by Councillor Smith.     

 
Agreed – 
 

(1) the proposals for changes to the Senior Management Team as outlined in the 
report; 

(2) to amend the Council’s constitution to reflect the changes to the senior 
management team structure. 

 
21. QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS   

 
Questions were asked to the Leader, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairs on the 
following matters -    
 
 From To Subject 

 
1. Councillor Nicholson  

 
Councillor Vincent Bowling green fees. 

Written response to be 
provided. 

2. Councillor Stevens 

 

Councillor Vincent Use of recycling facilities in 
Plymouth. 

3. Councillor Jordan 
 

Councillor Smith Plymouth 10k and Half 
Marathon races. 
  
Written response to be 
provided.   

 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

4. Councillor Michael 
Leaves 

Councillor Vincent Cleanliness of public toilets. 

5. Councillor Fry Councillor Vincent Grass cutting: concerns re 
children’s play areas. 

6. Councillor Martin 
Leaves 

 

Councillor Evans Officer responses to 
councillors on ward issues, 
specifically regarding the 
Central Park Masterplan. 

7. Councillor Michael 
Leaves 

Councillor Vincent Releasing balloons from 
Council land. 

8. Councillor Foster Councillor Vincent Identification for using 
Chelson Meadow recycling 
facility. 

9. Councillor Sam Leaves 

 

Councillor Smith Cross departmental 
framework to consider 
applications for events. 

10. Councillor Fry Councillor Vincent Refuse bins on pavements. 

11. Councillor Morris Councillor Vincent Environment questions 
from the Conservative 
Group. 

12. Councillor Stevens 

 

Councillor Lowry Impact of bowling subsidies 
and other funding requests 
on the wish for a Council 
tax freeze. 

13. Councillor Mrs Beer 

 

Councillor 
McDonald 

Equality of treatment of 
children from all 
backgrounds in schools. 

14. Councillor Evans 

 

Councillor Vincent Proposed lobbying to 
reinstate the ability of 
Councils to take action on 
refuse bins on pavements. 

Councillor Vincent 
undertook to raise the issue 
with officers. 

15. Councillor Jordan Councillor Lowry Council support to sporting 
facilities. 

16. Councillor Rennie 
 

Councillor Vincent Refuse in back lanes 



City Council Monday 22 June 2015 

 
Please note that questions, answers, supplementary questions and supplementary answers are 
available to view on the webcast of the meeting which can be accessed on the Council’s website at 
plymouth.gov.uk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DECLARING INTERESTS – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

   No  Yes

No Yes

  

  

D
P
I

Does the business relate to or is it likely to affect a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI)?  This will include 
the interests of a spouse or civil partner (and co-habitees):

 any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation that they carry on for profit or gain
 any sponsorship that they receive including contributions to their expenses as a councillor or the 

councillor’s election expenses from a Trade Union
 any land licence or tenancy they have in Plymouth
 any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and them
 any current contracts leases or tenancies  between the Council and any organisation with land in 

Plymouth in they are a partner, a paid Director, or have a relevant interest in its shares and 
securities

 any organisation which has land or a place of business in Plymouth and in which they have a 
relevant interest in its shares or its securities

What matters are being discussed?

P
r
i
v
a
t
e

I
n
t
e
r
e
s
t

Does the business affect the well-being or financial position of (or relate to the approval, consent, licence or 
permission) for:

 a member of your family or 
 any person with whom you have a close association; or
 any organisation of which you are a member or are involved in its management (whether or not 

appointed to that body by the council).  This would include membership of a secret society and 
other similar organisations.

Yes           No You can speak and vote

 

Yes No

Speak to Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting to avoid risk of allegations of corruption 
or bias

Declare interest and leave (or obtain 
a dispensation)

Declare the interest and speak and 
vote 

Will it confer an advantage or disadvantage on your family, close associate or an organisation 
where you have a private interest more than it affects other people living or working in the 
ward?

C
a
b
i
n
e
t

Cabinet members must declare and give brief details about any conflict of interest* relating to the matter to 
be decided and leave the room when the matter is being considered. Cabinet members may apply to the 
Monitoring Officer for a dispensation in respect of any conflict of interest.

*A conflict of interest is a situation in which a councillor’s responsibility to act and take decisions impartially, 
fairly and on merit without bias may conflict with his/her personal interest in the situation or where s/he may 
profit personally from the decisions that s/he is about to take.





final  OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE PLAN SECOND YEAR REVIEW
City Council: 21 September 2015

CABINET MINUTE 28 (8 September 2015)

Corporate Performance report – Corporate Plan Second Year Review and 
Pledge Update

Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) submitted a report on the rationale for the reinvigoration of the 
Corporate Plan.  

The report –

(a) reviewed the proposed actions to deliver the outcomes and the 
measures used to track the progress; 

(b) did not seek to amend the values, objectives or outcomes for the 
plan as set out on the plan on a page; 

(c) provided an update on the pledges; 

(d)
 

had been considered by the Co-operative Scrutiny Board on 19 
August 2015.

Councillor Evans (Council Leader) introduced the proposals.   

Peter Honeywell (Transformation Programmes Manager) attended the meeting for this item and 
highlighted the proposed changes. 

Cabinet Members –

(e) were advised that each Cabinet Member had been consulted about 
the actions and measures within their areas of responsibility prior to 
the publication of the report; 

(f) indicated that some drafting amendments were required to clarify 
accountability for the actions and measures;   

(g) reported that pledge 10 had been completed and that some Cabinet 
Members had visited the CCTV Control Room that morning.  A 
press release would be made shortly and arrangements were being 
made to provide all councillors with the opportunity to visit the 
completed control room.

Councillor Evans thanked everyone involved in the review of the plan. 

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision –

As set out in the report.  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PLAN SECOND YEAR REVIEW Page 2 of 2

Agreed that – 

(1) the proposed changes to the corporate plan are endorsed with 
drafting amendments to be agreed by Councillor Evans prior to 
submission of the plan to the City Council; 

(2) the pledge update is noted subject to the completion of pledge 10 
relating to the CCTV control room.

The City Council is Recommended to approve the second year update of the Corporate Plan 
2013/14 – 2016/17 as amended.

   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Corporate Plan Second Year Review  

Committee: City Council    

Date: 21 September 2015

Cabinet Member: Councillor Evans 

CMT Member: Tracey Lee, Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service

Author: Peter Honeywell, Performance Manager

Contact details: Email: peter.honeywell@plymouth.gov.uk Tel 01752 305603

Ref: 

Key Decision: No

Part:  I 

___________________________________________________________________

Purpose of the report:

This report recommends changes to update and reinvigorate the Plymouth City Council Corporate 
Plan.  Our plan on a page provides direction for the Council in terms of values, objectives and 
outcomes and it continues to be well received both internally and externally for the clarity with 
which it sets out the vision for PCC.  Each year the details in the plan that describe what actions we 
are taking to deliver the outcomes and the measures we use to track our progress are reviewed to 
ensure they reflect the latest priorities for the city.  This review process does not seek to amend the 
values, objectives or outcomes for the plan – the plan on a page will stay the same.



The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:
The Council remains committed to the vision, values, objectives and outcomes set out in the 
Corporate Plan, but will seek to update the key actions and measures to reflect progress made to 
date and to achieve a better focus of efforts on the outcomes required.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land:
The Council set a 2015/16 budget in February 2015, with requirements and resources based on 
policy frameworks, including the Corporate Plan. The Corporate Plan review allows the council to 
continue to manage its commitments within the revenue and capital envelope agreed.
__________________________________________________________________________

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:
The revisions proposed to the Corporate Plan complement the Council’s existing policy framework 
with respect to the above.
_________________________________________________________________________

Equality and Diversity:

Where potential equality and diversity implications are identified from the implementation of any new 
activities arising from the Corporate Plan, assessments will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 
policies.

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

The City Council is recommended to approve the second year update of the Corporate Plan 2013/14 
– 2016/17

Reasons: As set out in the report

Alternative options considered and rejected:
None

Published work / information:
The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17

Background papers:

None

Sign off:  

Fin CDR
1516.
27

Leg IT/23
596

Mon 
Off

DVS2
3737

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member: GP
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/councilanddemocracy/aboutus/ourplan.htm


Corporate Plan – second year review

A review of the Corporate Plan was undertaken during April/May of 2015 which considered progress 
after two years of action. The review focused on the key activities and performance indicators 
underpinning the delivery of the Plan paying particular attention to any potential gaps in 
current/future priorities which may be missing. The views of cabinet members, the Scrutiny 
Management Board, departmental and corporate managers were sought and incorporated into the 
recommendations for changes.  The review identified some risks to the successful delivery of the 
outcome expectations and this report makes recommendations to change a number of key actions 
and performance indicators to realign the plan to ensure successes are achieved.  

The review recommendations will ensure that we remain focused on high ambitions for the Council 
and city and that our efforts in meeting these ambitions are refined based on recent experience and 
measured using meaningful KPIs. The recommendations will ensure that the actions taken and 
measures for tracking progress relate clearly back to the outcomes required in the plan.  The changes 
recommended are detailed below. 

Summary of changes 

• Completion of Key Action K42

• Alteration to wording of Key Action K23

• Recommendation for an additional 9 performance indicators

• Removal of one performance indicator (P17)

• Correction of portfolio holders responsibilities 

The revised Corporate Plan is appended highlighting the changes proposed to key actions and 
performance indicators, following consideration by Cabinet on the 8th September. 

The review process does not seek to amend the values, objectives or outcomes for the plan – the 
plan on a page will stay the same.





Pioneering Pioneering
Outcome

Portfolio 

Leads

Outcome 

Lead

Officer 

Leads

2015/16 

Key
Key Action Description Key Performance Indicator

P1

80% of customer contacts with the Council will be managed 

through the single point of contact, with 80% of enquiries 

dealt with at first point of contact.

P2

Provide fully transactional services on the web – through a 

“Citizen Portal” with a target of the national average and 

2% (from 3% to 25%) by volume

Jon Taylor Giles Perritt K02
Intensify performance improvement on top priorities identified by 

Plymouth residents.
P26

(New)  A "Customer satisfaction" indicator will be 

included in Q3 monitoring report.  

Pete Smith David Draffan K03
Step up support to the Culture Board in refreshing and implementing a 

city-wide cultural strategy - the Vital Spark.

Pete Smith David Draffan K04
Strengthen support to Destination Plymouth to deliver the Visitor Plan 

and a programme of events to raise the profile of the city to investors 

as a major stepping stone towards Mayflower 2020

Pete Smith David Draffan K05
Transform the city’s cultural assets to provide greater value to the city 

through the development of the Plymouth History Centre

Mark Lowry
Andrew 

Harding ham
K06

Align the five year Medium Term Financial Plan to the Corporate Plan 

and deliver the Council’s Transformation Programme.
P5

Percentage of residents satisfied that the Council provides 

value for money.

Mark Lowry
Andrew 

Hardingham
K07 Maximise Plymouth’s opportunities to secure external funding. P6

Increase the value of income levied to the Local Authority.

P7
Reduction in city wide carbon emissions.

P8

Carbon emissions reduction from Corporate estate & 

schools. (Tonnes Co2)

Corporate Plan 2013/14 to 2016/17 - Post 2nd year review -agreed changes

Increase in visitor numbers coming into the city.

Pioneering in reducing the city’s 

carbon emissions and leading in 

environmental and social 

responsibility

Mark Coker

Andrew 

Hardingham Paul 

Barnard

Paul Barnard
Strengthen work with Plymouth residents, as well as the private and 

public sector within Plymouth, to create a low carbon city. 

P3

K43

A Council that uses resources 

wisely.

Pete 

Honeywell
K01

Speed up the delivery of Customer and Service Transformation 

Programme service reviews through developing a Council wide 

Customer and Service delivery blueprint and Customer Access 

Strategy.
Faye Batchelor-

Hambleton

Plymouth’s cultural offer 

provides value to the city.
David Draffan

The Council provides and 

enables brilliant services that 

strive to exceed customer 

expectations.

Andrew 

Hardingham

Jon Taylor

//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K4
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K6/Action Plan Template for Corporate Plan K6.docx
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K7
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K43/LACM8 CMP.doc


Growing Growing

Outcome
Portfolio 

Leads

Outcome 

Lead

Officer 

Leads

2015/16 

Key
Key Action Description Key Performance Indicator

More decent homes to support 

the population.
Chris Penberthy Paul Barnard Paul Barnard K44

Encourage more homes to be available to rent or buy accelerating 

housing supply and deliver a range and mix of well-designed greener 

homes that will meet the housing needs of the city through the 

Plymouth Plan.

P9 Increase the number of homes completed (net).  

Tudor Evans David Draffan K12

Intensify work with the Plymouth Growth Board and partners to 

deliver the Local Economic Strategy through systems leadership and 

continue to invest in the GAME Programme providing additional 

capacity to ensure Plymouth benefits from growth opportunities.

P10 Increase the number of jobs created.  

Tudor Evans David Draffan K13

Enhance support to the Local Enterprise Partnership to maximise 

investment and economic growth in the Heart of the South West area 

through a Growth Deal and EU

P34
(New) An indicator "Increase GVA (Per Head)" will 

be included into Q2 monitoring report

Sue McDonald
Judith 

Harwood
K14 Accelerate delivery of the Children and Young People's Plan P11

Maintain the number of schools and settings judged by 

Ofsted as good or better. 

P12 Raise the achievements of our most disadvantaged children. 

P27

 (New) An indicator "% of residents with no 

qualifications" will be included into Q2 monitoring 

report

Mark Coker Paul Barnard K16 Create a Plymouth Plan (an overarching Strategy for the city)

Tudor Evans/

Mark Lowry
David Draffan K18

Enhance support to the Local Enterprise Partnership to maximise 

investment and economic growth in the Heart of the South West area 

through a Growth Deal and EU

Increase in the quality and availability of employment land 

and premises. 
P13

Judith 

Harwood
K15

Develop and deliver a skills plan for the city, in line with the future 

growth agenda.

A strong economy creating a 

range of job opportunities.
David Draffan

A top performing education 

system from early years to 

continuous learning 

opportunities.

Judith 

Harwood

Plymouth is an attractive place 

for investment.
David Draffan

Tudor Evans

//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K44
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K16


Caring Caring
Outcome

Portfolio 

Leads

Outcome 

Lead

Officer 

Leads

2015/16 

Key
Key Action Description Key Performance Indicator

Sue McDonald
Alison 

Botham
K19

Accelerate delivery of the service improvement plan, transformation 

project delivery for C&YP and actions within the Commissioning 

Strategy

Sue McDonald
Judith 

Harwood
K45

Create and deliver both the Early Years Strategy and SEN/D Strategy.  

(Note: under the Plymouth Plan these "strategies" will become "plan for's)

Sue McDonald Julie Frier K21
Lead on the city’s health and wellbeing strategy through delivery of 

Thrive Plymouth Year 2. (Note: under the

Plymouth Plan these "strategies" will become "plan for's)

Sue McDonald Rob Nelder K46
Develop a clear research and evidence base to understand health 

inequalities across the city

Sue McDonald Ruth Harrell K47
Deliver plans for, that reduce individual risk factors and strengthen the 

role and impact of early intervention and prevention

Chris Penberthy Matt Garrett K22 Deliver the Housing Plan Objectives

Ian Tuffin

Kelechi 

Nnoaham /  

Craig 

McArdle

K23
Deliver integrated commissioning as part of IHWB transformation 

programme.                                                                                                                                                                             
P16

Improve life expectancy particularly in those areas where it 

is the lowest / lower than the average.

Philippa Davey Darin Halifax K24
Strengthen and support co-ordination and capacity building in the 

voluntary sector and reinvigorate volunteering.
P29

(New) An indicator "The % of (adults) residents who 

volunteer at least once per month" will be included 

into Q2 monitoring report

Philippa Davey
Judith 

Harwood
K25

Lead agreement on and implementation of a new framework for 

working with citizens and communities for the city

Ian Tuffin
Craig 

McArdle
K48

Increase personalised packages of care to support people to live as 

independently as possible

(New) An indicator "The % of adult social care 

clients receiving self-directed support" will be 

included into Q2 monitoring report 

P30

We will help people take control 

of their lives and communities.

We will prioritise prevention.

Craig McArdle

Kelechi 

Nnoaham  / 

Alison Botham 

/ Craig 

McArdle

P28

P14 Increase access to early help and support. 

Increase the number of adults and families able to stay in 

their own home and communities.
P15

(New) An Indicator for "Early Help offer for 

children and young people" will be included in 

monitoring report for Q3.  

//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K21


Caring Caring Cont…

Outcome
Portfolio 

Leads

Outcome 

Lead

Officer 

Leads

2015/16 

Key
Key Action Description Key Performance Indicator

P18
Reduce the gap between the worst 10 neighbourhoods and 

city average rate per 1000 population for overall crime.

P31

(New) An indicator "The proportion of people who 

use services who say that those services make them 

feel safe and secure" will be included Q2 monitoring 

report.  

Alison 

Botham  
K27A P19 Children's Safeguarding timing of Assessments. 

Craig 

McArdle
K27 B P32

(New) An indicator "Pupils who feel safe in the area 

where they live" will be included in Q2 monitoring 

report 

Philippa Davey
Judith 

Harwood
K29

Become a welcoming city that is diverse, inclusive and that combats 

hate crime.

Chris Penberthy Giles Perritt K30 Implement the findings of the Fairness Commission. 

Ian Tuffin
Craig 

McArdle
K31 Improve the quality of the care and support market

Ian Tuffin
Craig 

McArdle
K49 Create a Dementia Friendly City working with partners

Ian Tuffin
Craig 

McArdle
K50

Provide a seamless service for older people’s care including smoother 

discharge from hospitals (working closely with the NHS)

People are treated with dignity 

and respect. 

Judith 

Harwood

Ensure there is a relentless focus on safeguarding through the 

implementation of the Corporate Safeguarding Improvement Plan, 

Plymouth Safeguarding Children Board and Plymouth Safeguarding 

Adults Board plans.

P20

Percentage of residents who believe Plymouth is a place 

where people from different backgrounds get on well 

together. 

P21
Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their 

care and support

Children, young people and 

adults are safe and confident in 

their communities.

Alison Botham

Philippa Davey

Ian Tuffin/ Sue 

McDonald

K26 Deliver the Community Safety Plan.

Craig McArdle

//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K27/201415 Corporate Safeguarding Plan.xlsx
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K29
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K30
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K31/Care Home Market Mgmt Workplan.docx
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K49/Dementia Action Plan  updated March 2015.xlsx
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K26


Confident Confident
Outcome

Portfolio 

Leads

Outcome 

Lead

Officer 

Leads

2015/16 

Key
Key Action Description Key Performance Indicator

Tudor Evans

Judith 

Harwood/Dav

id Draffan

K32
Create and deliver a Skills Plan for the city working co-operatively with 

the Employment and Skills Board, Education, Learning and Families 

Service and the Local Enterprise Partnership

Chris Penberthy
Judith 

Harwood
K51 Step up the delivery of the Child Poverty Plan.

Chris Penberthy Matt Garrett K52
Develop a programme to improve the quality of private rented housing 

and take action against rogue landlords.

Brian Vincent Simon Dale K36
Reduce problems with potholes through increased investment in 

capital repair works.

Plymouth’s brand is clear, well-

known and understood globally.
Tudor Evans

Giles Perritt 

David Draffan
Giles Perritt K37 Strengthen the roll out of the Britain’s Ocean City branding. P23

Attract more people to live, work and visit the city from 

both the UK and overseas.  

Tudor Evans David Draffan K39 Implement City Deal for Plymouth P24
An increase in the amount of external funding and support 

from Government and other agencies. 

Tudor Evans Giles Perritt K40
Develop a proactive approach to lobbying Government, working with 

the LEP and neighbouring authorities. 
P33

(New) An indicator "Success rate of the Plymouth 

Offer and Ask" will  be included into Q3 monitoring 

report.  

Our employees are ambassadors 

for the city and the Council and 

proud of the difference we 

make.

Pete Smith

Marion 

Fanthorpe

Matthew 

Fairclough-

Kay

K41
Accelerate implementation of the People and Organisational 

Development Framework. 
P25

Staff Survey – would you talk positively about the Council 

outside work.  

Government and other agencies 

have confidence in the Council 

and partners: Plymouth’s voice 

matters.

Andrew 

Hardingham / 

Giles Perritt

Citizens enjoy living and working 

in Plymouth.
David Draffan P22

Percentage of residents who are satisfied with Plymouth as 

a place to live. 

//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K32
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K36
//plymcc/KnottA/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary Internet Files/Content.Outlook/JWW0UTQA/Action Plans/K41




Final  OFFICIAL 

CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING 
REPORT 2015/16 QUARTER ONE
City Council: 21 September 2015

CABINET MINUTE 30 (8 September 2015)
The Corporate Management Team submitted a report outlining the finance monitoring position of the 
Council as at the end of June 2015 and indicating that the latest approved capital programme funding 
envelope covering 2014/15 to 2017/18 was £237.406m (approved by Full Council on 23 February 
2015). The report also detailed new schemes approved within the capital programme envelope under 
delegated powers.

Councillor Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) introduced the report and indicated that -   

(a) the estimated revenue overspend was £2.097m which was a 
significant improvement from the position at this time last year when 
it was £6m;   

(b) the report now detailed the position of the Plymouth Integrated 
Fund relating to health and social care;

(c)

 

the report should have been submitted to the Cabinet meeting on 
11 August 2015 which had subsequently been cancelled but had been 
considered by the Co-operative Scrutiny Board on 19 August 2015;

(d)
 

he was concerned at the potential impact of future government 
announcements on next year’s budget.

Cabinet was advised that the Co-operative Scrutiny Board had asked for funding sources for capital 
programme projects to be identified in future reports.     

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision –

As set out in the report.  

Agreed that – 

(1) the current revenue monitoring position and action plans in place to 
reduce/mitigate shortfalls are noted; 

(2) the non-delegated revenue budget virements are approved as shown 
in Table 4 of the report; 

(3) the new schemes added to the Capital Programme totalling £7.042m 
are noted as shown in Table 5 of the report;

(4)
 

where possible, funding sources for capital programme projects to  
be included in future monitoring reports.

   





1

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report 2015/16 – 

Quarter1 

Committee: Cabinet

Date: 8 September 2015 (previously published for 11 August 

meeting)

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry

CMT Member: CMT

Author: Chris Randall – Head of Finance Operations

Contact details Tel:  01752 304599
email: chris.randall@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:

Key Decision: No 

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

This report outlines the finance monitoring position of the Council as at the end of June 2015.

The primary purpose of this report is to detail how the Council is delivering against its financial 
measures using its capital and revenue resources, to approve relevant budget variations and 
virements, and report new schemes approved in the capital programme.

The estimated revenue overspend is £2.097m. The overall forecast net spend equates to  
£195.106m against a budget of £193.009m, which is a variance of 1.1%.  This needs to be read 
within the context of needing to deliver  £21m of savings in 2015/16 on the back of balancing 
the 2014/15 revenue budget where £16m of net revenue reductions were successfully 
delivered.

Additional management solutions and escalated action to deliver further savings from the 
council’s transformation programme will be brought to the table over the coming months in 
order to address the in year forecasted overspend.

Table 1:  End of year revenue forecast
 Budget 

£m
Forecast 

Outturn £m
Variance

 £m
Total General Fund Budget 193.009 195.106 2.097

mailto:chris.randall@plymouth.gov.uk


2

The latest approved capital programme funding envelope covering 2014/15 to 2017/18 stood at 
£237.406m which was approved at Full Council on 23 February 2015The report details new 
schemes approved within the capital programme envelope under delegated powers. 

The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:

This quarterly report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s 
Corporate Plan. Allocating limited resources to key priorities will maximise the benefits to the 
residents of Plymouth.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land

Robust and accurate financial monitoring underpins the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. 
The Council’s Mediurm Term Financial Forecast is updated regulary based on on-going 
monitoring information, both on a local and national context. 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and 
Risk Management:

The reducing revenue and capital resources across the public sector has been identified as a 
key risk within our Strategic Risk register. The ability to deliver spending plans is paramount to 
ensuring the Council can achieve its objectives to be a Pioneering, Growing, Caring and 
Confident City.

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   No



3

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

That Cabinet:-

1. Note the current revenue monitoring position and action plans in place to 
reduce/mitigate shortfalls.

2. Approve the non-delegated revenue budget virements (shown in Table 4);
3. Note the new schemes added to the Capital Programme totaling £7.042m (shown in 

Table 5).

Reasons:

As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:

None – our Financial Regulations require us to produce regular monitoring of our finance 
resources.

Published work / information:

2015/16 Budget Reports Delivering the Co-operative Vision within a 4 year budget

Background papers:

None  

Sign off:  

Fin CDR 15 
16.25

Leg LT/23
564

Mon 
Off

LT/DS/
23564

HR Assets IT Strat 
Proc

Originating SMT Member: Andrew Hardingham, AD for Finance
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s60793/Budget%20Report.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s60793/Budget%20Report.pdf


4

Table 2: Revenue Monitoring Position

Directorate

2015/16 
Council 

Approved 
Budget

2015/16 
Budget 

Virements

2015/16 
Latest 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast 
Year End 
Variation

 £m £m £m £m £m

Executive Office 3.840 (0.031) 3.809 4.069 0.260

Corporate 
Items 14.010 (5.644) 8.366 8.636 0.270

Transformation 
and Change 26.682 6.278 32.960 33.623 0.663

People 
Directorate 121.400 1.733 123.133 123.530 0.397

Public Health 0.194 0.815 1.009 1.009 0.000

Place 
Directorate 26.883 (3.151) 23.732 24.239 0.507

TOTAL 193.009 0.000 193.009 195.106 2.097

Plymouth Integrated 
Fund

Section 75 
indicative
position

2015/16 
Latest 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Forecast Year 
End Overspend 
/ (Underspend)

 £m £m £m £m
New Devon CCG – 
Plymouth locality 331.000 346.177 346.528 0.351

Plymouth City Council *131.000 135.926 136.323 0.397

TOTAL 462.000 482.103 482.851 0.748

* This represents the net People Directorate budget plus the gross Public Health 
Commissioning budget (which is financed by a ring fenced Department of Health Grant)
Under the s75 risk share agreement with NEW Devon CCG, the forecast outturn indicates 
a potential transfer of £0.153m from the CCG to PCC

Table 3: Key Issues and Corrective Actions

Issue Variation
£M

Management Corrective 
Action

EXECUTIVE OFFICE

Democratic support cost pressures 0.260

£0.225m relates to a 
stretch target for 
efficiencies in this area for 
which officers are reviewing 
options

CORPORATE ITEMS 

The cross cutting savings target linked to a 
0.270 Project managers within the 



5

strategic asset review of £0.3m is currently only 
forecasting identifiable savings estimated at this 
stage of £0.030m 

P&OD transformation 
programme are reviewing 
other potential areas for 
savings alongside producing 
a strategic asset strategy 
framework

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – 
Legal

There is currently pressure on the recovery of 
legal expenses £0.070m, an estimated shortfall 
on vacancy turnover £0.062m and under 
recovery of specialist lawyer recharges £0.046m

0.163

                                    
Plans being reviewed to see 
what opportunities can be 
achieved to reduce this 
shortfall in year

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – 
Customer Services

There is a shortfall in achieving the 
transformation saving target of £1.2m due to 
delays in implementing the restructure

0.400

The service are reviewing 
all current vacancies to 
assist in managing the 
shortfall pending the 
restructure implementation. 
An enhanced voluntary 
release scheme has been 
offered ahead of a formal 
restructure being 
implemented, and this is 
based on latest resource 
estimates

The programme is looking 
at opportunities to bring 
forward other activities 
originally planned for 15/16 
to mitigate some of the 
shortfall

TRANSFORMATION and CHANGE – 
CCO programme and Departmental
The CCO programme has a target of £1.5m to 
achieve in 15/16. Elements of the programme 
around contract management and review, 
including IT are progressing well and estimated 
to achieve the £0.5m estimate. 

Reviews of business support, HR and Finance 
service provision were delayed and are now 
estimated to only achieve £0.160m of the £0.8m 
target in this financial year. The overall in year 
shortfall against the CCO programme is forecast 
to be £0.840m, although this is forecast to be an 
in year issue only.

   0.100

Management are reviewing 
staffing expenditure to 
ensure that all opportunities 
are maximised

Future annual savings are 
anticipated to still be in line 
with original targets

Officers have reviewed 
insurance provisions and 
reserves and at this stage 
anticipate the potential for 
an in year reduction of up 
to £1m which will offset 



6

There are more than £0.2m of previous savings 
targets which were achieved in 14/15 through 
one off activities or underspends. 

delays in achieving the CCO 
target in year.

PEOPLE – Children Young People and 
Families 

The Service is reporting a budget pressure of 
£0.419m  at the end of the first quarter. 

The Care Leavers Service are currently running 
with a significant pressure relating to  placement 
costs with regard to staying put arrangements, 
supported lodgings and supported 
accommodation

As part of the transformation project for 
2015/16, the CYP&F  budget will need to make 
savings of over £1.5m (in order to contribute to 
the £8.045m Directorate target) with the 
activities and actions that will drive delivery 
forming part of the transformation programme. 

 

There are risks that will require close 
monitoring and management during the year: 

 Starting point in April of 86 Independent 
Foster Care (IFA’s) placements with 
budget for only 68 achieving savings 
from interim and transformation wrap-
around placements.

 Lack of availability of the right in-house 
foster care placements creating 
overuse of IFA’s.

 High number of placements in Welfare 
Secure, there are currently 3 in situ.

 Unexpected court ordered spend on 
Parent & Child Assessment placements.

 Spend on Staying Put arrangements . The 
change in legislation in 2014 formalises 
this arrangement for young people until 
the age of 21 and which local 
authorities must support with little 
financial support.

 The overall number of children in care at the 
end of June has reduced by 3 to now stand at 
380. 

0.419

The full pressure on care 
leavers has been reduced by 
£0.500m through existing 
delivery plans. These 
include activity to minimise 
costs by ensuring all 
benefits are applied for 
directly following the young 
persons 18th birthday.  A 
further delivery plan is 
currently being worked on 
to address the remaining 
pressure in the cost of care 
leavers placements. 

 Other cost pressures 
identified within the service 
are currently being managed 
within the existing service 
budget.
The CYP&F service is 
forecast to achieve the 
£1.5m wrap around 
placements transformation 
savings.



7

The number of children placed with independent 
fostering agencies reduced by 5 to 75 which is 
above the budgeted target of 68.  Residential 
placements have decreased by 1 to 22 against a 
target of 26 budgeted placements with a 
significant number of these placements being 
high cost due to the complex nature of these 
children’s needs. The number of young people 
placed in ‘welfare’ secure placements remains  
the same with 3 young people currently in situ. 
The In-House Foster Care placements have 
increased by 1 to 198 placements against a 
target budget of 209 placements, with 4 
placements in ‘Other Local Authority’ Foster 
Care. There is currently 1 In House Parent & 
Child Assessment Placement, 4 court ordered 
Independent foster care placement and 1 high 
cost Residential placement. The number of 
young people 16+ placed in supported living 
remains at 20 placements against a target budget 
of 22.

The service has received 414 referrals in June 
2015 which was 20.8% less than June 2014 
(523).  The YTD figure for referrals is 1453 
compared to 1363 for the same period in 14/15.  
This is an increase of 6.6% for quarter 1.  

The performance target against single 
assessments has been revised to comply with 
national guidance and the target is now 45 
working days compared to the previous 35.  
This has meant performance is now reported to 
be 94% for quarter 1 compared to 85% against 
35 working days.

The number of child protection plans in June 
increased from 414 to 439 which is 9.8% higher 
than June 2014 (400).
PEOPLE – Strategic Co-operative 
Commissioning

The Strategic Co-operative Commissioning 
(SCC) service is reporting to come in (£0.115m) 
under budget at the end of month 3.  This is 
mainly shown by variations in the following 
areas:

 Leisure Management – mainly due to a 
saving on utilities, there is expected to 
be a saving of (£0.080m) against budget 
this year.

(0.115)

A working group has been 
set up to ensure CCT 
reviews are completed in a 
planned and managed way.



8

 Residential & Nursing – a net adverse 
variation of £0.200m is forecast. This 
includes an assumption for CCT clients 
that are currently being paid for by 
health but, once reviewed, are likely to 
be paid from SCC.

 Salaries and related costs – we are 
forecasting an adverse variation of 
£0.288m, mainly around the In-House 
provision and a high cost client.  Actions 
are in place to move the client on and 
will be monitored closely.

 Direct Payments Income – currently 
there is a favourable variation of 
(£0.528m) which has arisen due to the 
change in the Fairer Charging policy and 
the income that is being collected as part 
of the Direct Payments income as a 
result.

As part of the transformation project for 
2015/16, the SCC budget will need to make 
savings of over £5m (in order to contribute to 
the £8.045m Directorate target) with the 
activities and actions that will drive delivery 
forming part of the transformation programme

 

There are also two emerging risks that will 
require close monitoring and management 
during the year: 

 DoLS assessments – over the past year 
there has been a very significant increase 
in Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard 
(DoLS) applications. Official data from 
the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre (HSCIC) show that there has 
been a ten-fold increase on previous 
activity levels. 

 Continuing Care Team clients – there 
are currently a large number of clients 
that are waiting for an assessment which 
could result in the costs being charged 
to SCC – see monitoring variations 
above.  A working group has been 
established to ensure reviews are 

So far, SCC has achieved in 
the region of £2.2m of 
savings around reduced 
client numbers in residential 
and nursing, and contract 
savings, however there are 
£2m of delivery plans for 
2015/16 that are currently 
showing as RAG rated red 
or amber, ie reviews to 
care packages, and further 
use of ECH housing instead 
of higher cost placements, 
that will need to be 
reviewed and, if necessary, 
alternative plans put in 
place to make the savings.

A DOLS action plan has 
now been developed and 
will be monitored through 
the year.



9

completed in a planned and managed 
way.

From April 1st 2015, Social Care delivery staff 
were transferred into Plymouth Community 
Healthcare (PCH) as part of the Health and 
Social Care Integration project.  At the same 
time the Integrated Commissioning project 
established a pool budget and shadow 
commissioning arrangements with the 
CCG. This will involve us working with our 
partners to take a joined-up approach to the 
way services are commissioned and delivered in 
order to reduce costs, improve the experience 
of patients and service users and improve the 
health of Plymouth residents, along with 
investing in preventative and early intervention 
services to reduce demand on higher cost 
services, particularly acute services.  As such, 
the outcomes, both financial and performance, 
will need to be monitored to ensure that we are 
achieving system sustainability.
PEOPLE – Housing Services

The Housing Service is reporting a £0.093m 
budget pressure for year at end of 
quarter 1. 

This is mainly shown by variations to:

 Emergency accommodation £0.063m, 
budget set for 33 weekly placements 
compared to average for quarter of 38 
placements per week.

 Forecast impact of Devonport fire 
£0.050m.

 Offset by management action with vacant 
posts (£0.020m).

0.093

Management are reviewing 
the level of additional costs 
and will look to manage 
these within existing 
resources.

PEOPLE – Learning & Communities

Learning and Communities is reporting to come 
in on budget at the end of quarter 1. During 
2015/16 the Learning and Communities budget 
will need to make savings of £0.600m (in order 
to contribute to the £8.045m Directorate 
target) with activities and actions that will drive 
delivery forming part of the transformation 
programme.

-

The department is 
reviewing any potential 
pressures with the intention 
of mitigating these with off-
setting actions. 

PUBLIC HEALTH –

The public health ring-fenced grant has been 
- The Public Health 

Management team are 



10

identified as one of the areas targeted for in year 
budget cuts as part of the government. 
Indications are of a circa 7% reduction which 
would equate to £0.9m

considering potential 
options for reducing 
expenditure once the final 
details on reductions are 
released 

PLACE - Economic Development  

Economic Development is currently forecasting 
to deliver within budget although this is not 
without risk.
Economic pressure on commercial rents 
continues. The return on head leases is outside 
of the Councils control. The ability to use one 
off options continues to reduce each year as the 
portfolio is systematically reviewed to maximise 
opportunities. There are favourable variations 
from staffing and other minor budget lines 
offsetting the underlying rent pressure.  The 
Events programme will seek to deliver within 
the overall programme of events, although risk 
associated with some of the major events could 
impact on the budget position and the overall 
events programme.

-

A range of one off and 
recurring actions continue 
to be explored to address 
the risk contained in the 
budget.

PLACE - Strategic Planning and 
Infrastructure

SP&I are reporting a slight favourable variation. 
Forecast increases in Planning Application fee 
and DES fee income, are currently being offset 
by a potential shortfall in capital recharge 
income and an over spend against the LTP 
programme.

(0.008)

Income and Expenditure is 
routinely reviewed each 
cycle to control spend and 
maximise income. 

PLACE - Street Services

Street Services is currently planning to deliver 
within budget through careful cost control and 
by seeking opportunities to improve the way it 
operates.   As a key frontline service there are 
some demand risks in delivering services within 
the available budget. 
Waste Services 
The Trade Waste service at Chelson Meadow is 
anticipated to generate more income than 
originally planned which is helping address cost 
pressures within the Waste Service.  

0.000

We are currently modelling 
new opportunities to 
reduce costs to ensure key 
services can be delivered 
within existing budget 
whilst also planning ahead 
for longer term service 
delivery as available 
resources are reduced.  We 
will also continue to 
explore opportunities to 
maximise income and 
productivity.



11

PLACE - GAME

The Commercialisation Workstream is making a 
significant contribution of £1m towards the 
transformation programme although the 
integrated transport projects will result with in-
year cost pressures in the region of £0.420m.

0.515

Organisation wide 
commercialisation 
opportunities along with 
fleet will continue to be 
explored and accelerated to 
address the current 
projected shortfall, as will 
opportunities across the 
wider GAME programme 
and also reductions in 
GAME costs where 
considered appropriate 

TOTAL 2.097

Table 4 below includes a number of virements (reallocating budget provisions agreed at 23 
February 2015 Council) between specific directorate budgets. All virements in excess of 
£0.1m are required to be approved by Cabinet and are shown below.

Table 4 Virements description (1)
Description Detail

Movement of Overhead Budgets following 
Education Catering transfer

Reallocation of Support Services budgets 
relating to Education Catering.  

Movement of Transformation Secondment 
Budgets / Realignment of Transformation 
Budgets 

Movement of Staffing budgets relating to 
secondments to Transformation Directorate / 
transfer of Transformation budgets to 
Transformation and Change Directorate.

Centralisation of Customer Services 
Activity and Property Budgets

Centralisation of Customer Services related 
activities within departments into Customer 
Services, and Property Budgets into 
Corporate Landlord re Public Toilets

Movement of Residual Pension 
Contribution to Corporate Items

Ongoing Pension contribution costs of Social 
Care and IT services passed to new providers, 
residual pension element following actuary 
review remaining with PCC.

Reallocation of Transport related budgets 
post Fleet Management Project

Reallocation of Transport related budgets 
post Fleet Management Project.

Realignment of Capital Charge Budgets Change in presentation in respect of Trading 
Capital Charges e.g. Depreciation, Impairment 
and notional cost of capital to align with 
statutory accounts presentation – no net 
impact

2015/16 Grant carry forwards Accounting Treatment for Revenue Grant 
carry forwards

2015/16 Pay Award Uplift Reallocation of corporately held budget to 
fund 2015/16 Pay Award.



12

Table 4 Virements detail (2) 

Movement 
of overhead 
Budgets 
post 
Education 
Catering 
transfer

Movement of 
Transform. 
secondment 
Budgets / 
Transform. 
realignment

Centralisation 
of Customer 
Services  
Functions and 
Property 
Budgets

Movement 
of Pension 
Ctrb to Corp 
Items post 
staff 
transfers

Allocation 
of 
Transport 
Budgets 
post Fleet 
Project

Change in 
Accounting 
treatment 
relating to 
Capital 
Charges

2015/16 
Grants 
Carry 
Forwards

2015/16 
Pay 
Award 
Uplift

Total 
Virements

Directorate

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Executive 
Office 0 0 0 0 0 0 62 47 109
Corporate 
Items (295) (4,834) 0 493 0 3,164 (1,953) (1,806) (5,231)
Transformation 
and Change

0 5,031 420 (146) 27 (303) 267 455 5,751
People 
Directorate 295 (109) (218) (347) (111) 0 874 864 1,248
Public Health

0 0 0 0 2 0 750 70 822
Place 
Directorate 0 (88) (202) 0 82 (2,861) 0 370 (2,699)
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0



13

£m

0.060

0.140

0.060

0.100

0.166

0.032

North Corner Pontoon 0.140

0.182

Derriford Community Park - Poole Farm Safety Works (S106) 0.026

Oreston Primary - Basic Need (S106) 0.023

0.198

0.019

0.174

1.320

£m

0.346

0.220

0.267

0.425

Service Self-Build Plots 0.241

4.000

1.145

0.500

7.144

Delegated Approvals by S151 Officer

Provision of Wi-Fi for the Hoe

Devils Point Public Toilets

Richmond Walk Public Toilets

Austin Farm - Basic Need

Staddiscombe Sports Improvements (S106)

Sutton Harbour Public Realm Improvements

Non-scheduled Coach drop off points

Woodford Primary School - urgent boiler replacement

Autism Innovation Grant 

Domestic Energy Measures

Stoke Damerel Primary School Basic Need (Phase II)

Total (S151 Officer)

Executive Decisions by Leader (after CCIB approval)

Holy Cross Primary School - TBN

Woodford Primary School - TBN Local works 

Knowle Primary - Asbestos removal additional cost

STEM Centre City College Plymouth

Disabled Facilities Grant

Corporate Assets Life Cycle maintenance

Total (Leader Approvals)

Capital Programme 2015/16 – 2017/18

Our capital programme is critical to the growth of this city and how we operate as a 
Brilliant Co-operative Council.  We have transformed the way we make decisions on 
capital investments by increasing Member involvement whilst also enabling us to react 
quickly to new opportunities.  

At the Full Council meeting in December 2014, the Capital Programme funding envelope 
for 2014/15 to 2017/18 was approved to the value of £237.406m. 

Since the last full approval there have been a number of changes to the Capital 
Programme within the funding envelope, some of which were reported to Full Council at 
the last meeting, for example 2014/15 outturn and additions to the Programme from 
January to April 2015. 

New projects (including scheme increases) added to the Capital Programme, under 
delegated authority, since April 2015, are detailed in Table 5.

Table 5 New Capital Schemes                               





FINAL  OFFICIAL 

ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT 2014/15
City Council: 21 September 2015

CO-OPERATIVE SCRUTINY BOARD MINUTE 8 (29 July 2015)

The Chair wished to convey his thanks to the officers for their work on the report.  The Chair 
further advised that the report would be commended to the next full council meeting scheduled for 
21 September 2015.

The Board agreed its Annual Scrutiny Report 2014/15.

   





A report of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board on the 
achievements of Scrutiny for the 2014/15 municipal 
year.

ANNUAL  
SCRUTINY  
REPORT  
2014/2015



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 
2 

CONTENTS 
Co-operative Scrutiny Board ………………………………………………………Page 3 

Working Plymouth Panel ………………………………………………………….. Page 5 

Ambitious Plymouth Panel ………………………………………………………….Page 8 

Your Plymouth Panel ……………………………………………………………… Page 12 

Caring Plymouth Panel ……………………………………………………………..Page  15 
 
 
 

  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 
3 

 
CO-OPERATIVE SCRUTINY BOARD 
In commending the Annual Scrutiny Report 2014/15 to the Council, I 
want to highlight some of the achievements of scrutiny over the last 
municipal year and also to look to our joint plans for the coming year. 

My thanks go to the Chairs, Vice Chairs, Members and Co-optees of the 
Co-operative Scrutiny Board and Panels, who have been responsible for the work that  

scrutiny has undertaken over the past year. They have provided a vital counter-balance to 
the Executive of the Council, maintaining a constant vigilance over the quality of decision 
making, resource management and the maintenance of standards of service to the residents 
of Plymouth.  

 

Councillor James 
Chair of the Co-operative Scrutiny Board 

 
LOOKING BACK ON THE PAST 
YEAR - This was the first year of 
working under the new scrutiny 
arrangements, which had been approved 
in April 2014.  The Co-operative Scrutiny 
Board had taken a more strategic role, in 
particular overseeing the Council’s 
ambitious transformation programme. As 
part of this process it was able to offer 
constructive challenge to this process. 
The Board and Panels were assigned one 
of the five elements of the transformation 
programme – 
 
■  People and Organisational Development/ 

Ambitious Plymouth Panel 
■  Customer Services/ Your Plymouth Panel  
■  Corporate Centre of Operations/Board 
■  Growth and Municipal Enterprise/Working  

Plymouth Panel 
■  Integrated Health and Wellbeing/Health  

And Wellbeing Panel 
 
During the year both the Board and the 
Panels scrutinised elements of the 
programmes.  The Board approved the 
communications strategy which would be 
vital in keeping members of staff updated 
on the transformation programme.  
 

This had been another challenging year for 
the Council with the continuing reduction 
in its core funding and the rising demands 
for the Council’s services. 
 
Budget Scrutiny - This was the second 
year that the Co-operative Scrutiny Board 
had been requested to scrutinise the 
delivery of the co-operative vision with a 
four year sustainable balanced budget.  
The Board had a responsibility to 
comment on whether the actions to 
address the financial gaps in order to 
achieve a balanced budget were robust 
and fit for purpose. 
 
An innovative approach was taken this 
year towards the structure of meetings. 
The key focus of the review was around 
the five elements of the overarching 
transformation programme with partner 
engagement, where appropriate. The 
format of the two days reflected the 
programmes – 
 
■  People and Organisational 

Development  
■  Customer Services  
■  Corporate Centre of Operations  
■  Growth and Municipal Enterprise  
■  Integrated Health and Wellbeing  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 
4 

 
During the two days, each session was 
supported by the relevant Cabinet 
Members, including the Leader of the 
Council and Deputy Leader of the 
Council, the Chief Executive, Assistant 
Chief Executive, Strategic Directors, 
Assistant Directors, senior council officers 
and representatives from the NEW 
Devon Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Plymouth Community Healthcare.  This 
approach assisted the Board to fully 
scrutinise the delivery of the four year 
budget.  
 
Thanks had been given by the Leader for 
the considerable amount of work that the 
Board had undertaken and for the 
challenging sessions. 
 
Development - The Board continued 
with its training programme, with a 
number of one off training 
sessions/workshops being held regarding 
the budget. 
 

Call-Ins - On a number of occasions the 
Board held the Cabinet to account by 
using the call in process to consider 
Cabinet Member decisions. 
 
Three call-ins had been received relating 
to the Credit Union School Initiative 
‘Starter -4-Ten’ initiative and the disposal 
of public open spaces in various locations 
across the City.  Following questioning of 
the responsible Cabinet Members and 
officers, the Board had agreed to 
implement the decision. 
 

Looking forward to next year - 
The 2015/16 municipal year will continue 
to be challenging. The scrutiny process 
will continue to support the 
Transformation Programme whilst offering 
constructive challenge. 
 
And Finally - I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank those who have 
contributed to the achievements that we 
have made this year.  The Chair and Vice 
Chairs of the panels, together with their 
lead officers and Democratic Support 
Officers who have been fundamental in 
delivering a large and varied scrutiny work 
programme.  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 5 

WORKING PLYMOUTH PANEL 
 

LOOKING BACK ON THE PAST 
YEAR - The Working Plymouth panel met 
on five occasions in the year 2014/15 
whilst also convening on two occasions for 
the Waste Collection Reorganisation 
Business Case Review and the Street 
Services, Category Management, Fleet 
Services Project and Commercialism 
Business Case Review. 

 
At the panel’s first meeting in June 2014 
the Assistant Director for Strategic 
Planning and Infrastructure, Interim 
Assistant Director for Street Services, 
Cabinet Member for Finance and G.A.M.E 
Programme Manager provided Members 
with an overview of potential priorities for 
Working Plymouth including: 

 
 priorities for street services which 

consisted of the Waste Management 
Strategy, Waste Collection Rounds 
and Enforcement Services; the Waste 
Management Strategy would be fed 
through a scrutiny workshop and the 
Plymouth Plan process; this was a main 
objective for the year due to the new 
waste disposal point in the north of 
the city and the glass recycling facility; 
 

 the three main priorities for the 
transport portfolio which consisted of 
the citywide Parking Strategy, the 
future of the service currently 
provided by Amey and the Highway 
Asset Management Plan; 

 
 that Economic Development would 

focus around the delivery of the 
pipeline of activity and close working 
links between the Growth Board, 
Destination Plymouth, the Culture 
Board and the Heart of the South  

 

  
 

  
 
  
  
  

 West Local Enterprise Partnership; 
work would also be undertaken relating 
to the refresh of the Local Economic 
Strategy, the delivery of the CityDeal, 
Mayflower 2020 and the History 
Centre; 
 

 the focus for Strategic Planning and 
 Infrastructure would focus around work with 
 the Local Transport Board, the Housing 
 Development Partnership and One Plymouth; 
 key issues for the department would link to 
 city centre regeneration projects, Major 
 Scheme and Infrastructure Bids. 
 

G.A.M.E. Transformation Programme 

Members were advised that a key element of the 
Growth, Assets and Municipal Enterprise 
Transformation Programme focused around 
increasing sustainable income and more efficient 
ways of working creating employment 
opportunities, reduced dependency on benefits 
and increased local economic activity; it was the 
aim that revenue would be increased from the 
corporate estate by proactively accelerating the 
delivery of growth. Specific projects included in 
the programme included the acceleration of 
economic and housing projects as part of the 
pipeline of key sites; the effectiveness of services 
such as street services and fleet services was 
essential for efficiency gains. Financial benefits 
anticipated were £13884k total savings from the 
G.A.M.E. Transformation Programme from 2014 
to 2017. Members commended the business case 
to the Cooperative Scrutiny Board.  

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 6 

Mayflower Coach Hub - Members were 
advised that proposals for the development of 
Bretonside bus station consisted of a £42m 
cinema and mixed use Drakes Circus Leisure 
development including one IMAX screen, 14 
restaurant or leisure units, 424 car parking spaces 
and the creation of a high quality public realm in 
Exeter Street and Bretonside. To support the 
Drake Circus development the current transport 
facilities at Bretonside bus station needed to be 
relocated including scheduled coach Services 
visitor coaches, local bus services and lorry 
parking; in 2009 a feasibility study was undertaken 
to assess the best location within the city. A 
series of options were investigated and the 
preferred locations were Bretonside, the Civic 
Centre and the Mayflower West car park. As the 
first two were to be developed Mayflower West 
car park was identified as the location for the 
new bus station. Members were advised that it 
was a good location as it had good access for 
coaches from Western Approach and provided 
good access to the city centre and west end. 
Plans for the new coach hub included 7 coach 
bays, one layover to support future capacity for 
growth, passenger drop-off facilities, a ticket 
office and external and internal waiting facilities; 
the area would also be landscaped with living 
walls. Members raised concerns regarding the 
location of the main taxi facilities, the access to 
the coach station from Mayflower Street or 
Western Approach and the lack of lockers and 
luggage trolleys provided however commended 
the plans for the coach hub – officers took on 
board Members comments. 

 

Waste Collection Reorganisation - 
Members were advised that the Council’s 
current method of waste collection 
(including recycling) was being reorganised to 
make the service more efficient. Specialist 
software was used to identify more efficient 
waste collection routes and the programme 
was currently at the stage of reviewing and 
testing routes before their implementation. A 
big part of the project included 

communication to local residents affected by 
the changes, as well as staff members, major 
employers and Councillors. A variety of 
methods were used including the 
organisation of community events to 
promote the waste collection reorganisation, 
information posted on the Council’s website, 
consultation with local businesses including 
the Senior Citizens Forum, Councillors 
Ward newsletters, a stand at Fresher’s Fair 
to inform students and a Christmas Card to 
all residents in Plymouth detailing the 
reorganisation changes and implementation 
of new policies. Householders would also be 
provided with a sticker for their bin which 
would detail the day of waste/recycling 
collection as well as a blank space for 
residents to include their house number. As 
a result of Members questions the following 
information was provided: 

 
 waste collection bags were available for 

free collection from Prince Rock Depot 
and local libraries; 

 residents would not be charged for the 
delivery of a replacement bin if the 
request had been made prior to 1 
October 2014; 

 additional resources had been allocated 
to reduce the wait time for the delivery 
of replacement bins; 

 the Council had a 99% refuse collection 
rate; Officers acknowledged that there 
were isolated incidents in which some 
refuse collectors had either not collected 
rubbish or had left discarded rubbish on 
the road/pavement however this was 
being addressed through staff education; 

 it was estimated that 10 to 20 local 
residents visited the Prince Rock Depot 
on a daily basis to collect replacement 
refuse receptacles; there was considered 
to be a backlog in this service as it went 
through ‘peaks and troughs’ and this was 
a particularly busy time; 
 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 7 

 

 those who were signed up to the 
assisted bin collection would not 
be charged for a replacement bin; 

 
Members raised concerns regarding the 4-6 
week delay in delivering replacement bins 
and bags to residents, inconsistent 
messages being provided to Councillors and 
local residents regarding the delivery of 
replacement bins and reports that rubbish 
was not cleared away by refuse collectors 
on occasions when they were responsible 
for the spillages. 

 
City Centre Business Improvement 
District Ballot - Members were advised 
of the significant achievements of the city 
centre since the establishment of the City 
Centre Business Improvement District 
(BID) in 2005 as well as the legislative 
framework which contained a provision 
enabling the local authority to veto bid 
proposals. In total 612 ballot papers were 
issued and 249 ballots were received 
resulting in a 40.8% turnout – this was 
reflective of the national average. 175 
votes were in favour of the BID with a 
percentage of 70.2% therefore the City 
Centre BID ballot was considered a 
success. Members questioned the costs in  

 
 

 
developing the bid proposals and hosting a 
ballot and were informed that a budget of 
£40,000 was agreed including in-kind staffing 
costs and printing; this was low in comparison 
to the national average of £100,000. Members 
welcomed Plymouth City Centre Company’s 
promotion of the city centre and the west end 
and were informed that the extension of the 
geographical City Centre BID area to include 
Bretonside had been formally agreed. The 
Chair congratulated the Leader and officers in 
attendance on behalf of the Working Plymouth 
scrutiny panel and highlighted the positive 
affect the result of the ballot would have upon 
the city centre; the panel unanimously 
supported the BID proposals and 
recommended to the City Council that the 
power of veto, as per Regulation 12 of the 
Business Improvement District (England) 
Regulations 2004, was not to be exercised.  
 

Looking forward to the next year - In 
2015/16 municipal year the Working Plymouth 
scrutiny panel will seek to improve services for 
all Plymouth’s citizens by working in partnership 
with Cabinet Members, Senior Officers and 
external stakeholders and scrutinising issues 
focused around the transformation programme. 
 

 
  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 8 

AMBITIOUS PLYMOUTH PANEL 
 
 
LOOKING BACK ON THE PAST YEAR - 
Ambitious Plymouth scrutinised a variety of areas 
over the year.  
  
People and Organisational 
Development (POD) - The People and 
Organisational Development (POD) outline 
business case focussed on delivering 
projects that ensure the Council have a 
workforce with the right skills and expertise 
to deliver services in new ways, providing 
comprehensive career transition to enhance 
and extend support for staff to acquire skills 
and access opportunities inside and outside 
the Council, and ensure the organisation 
used its physical assets and workspaces in 
the most efficient way.  This programme 
also included moving staff from the Civic 
Centre to other office space. 
 
Plymouth Education Catering 
Services - After more than two years of 
hard work and negotiation the Education 
Catering Service is now running as a brand 
new Local Authority Co-Operative Trading 
Company called CATERed Limited, which is 
believed to be one of the first in the UK.  It 
means that schools have agreed to share 
budgets and resources co-operatively 
across the city and business to ensure a 
sustainable and secure service for pupils and 
their families.  CATERed will serve almost 
2.5 million meals to Plymouth school 
children each year.  It brings together the 
pooled budgets of 61 Plymouth Primary 
Schools, five Special Schools and one 
Alternative Complementary Education 
Service.   
 
Decisions about the school meals service 
will be taken by a co-operative joint 
partnership board of elected  
 

 
 
 
 
representatives from the schools and the 
Council. 
 
Integrated Youth Services - The Missing 
Young People’s Team, renamed as REACH 
(Reducing Exploitation and Absence from 
Care and Home) was set up to provide an 
improved service to missing young people 
and protect them from harm or 
exploitation.  REACH aims to deliver, in 
partnership with other services, a brief 
intervention service to children to reduce 
the likelihood of further running away and 
missing episodes as well as a reduction in 
risk taking behaviour and Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE).  
 
Children’s Social Care - Children’s Social 
Care provides social work and social care 
support services for vulnerable children and 
young people in Plymouth. This includes all 
assessment work, children in need, children 
subject to Child Protection Plans and 
children in care.  There have been a number 
of national developments in Children’s 
Social Care which has brought about a 
number of key changes within the service, 
including 
the new Working Together to Safeguard 
Children guidance, which had led to changes 
in relation to multi-agency, safeguarding 
practices and a new single assessment 
replacing the current initial and core 
assessments; a move to embracing a 
national approach to adoption, meaning that 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 9 

local authorities move towards working 
together on finding adoptive parents rather 
than the current local authority based local 
approach; changes to the OFTSED 
inspection arrangements for safeguarding 
and looked after children and new 
arrangements for dealing with missing young 
people and child sexual exploitation. 
 
Additionally, the service faced a number of 
key issues and challenges throughout the 
year which included an OFSTED inspection; 
an increase in children subject to Child 
Protection Plans from 313 at the end of 
2013 to 380 in mid-September; a small 
increase in the numbers of children in care 
and the ability to recruit permanent social 
work staff, although Plymouth had a 
successful recruitment process compared 
with national data. 
 
PACLS - A brand new Community 
Interest Company (CIC) has now been 
created by the staff of the former Plymouth 
Adult and Community Learning Service 
(PACLS), in partnership with YMCA 
Plymouth and Shekinah, two well-known 
local charities.  On Course South West, a 
not for profit organisation, are now a 
member of Social Enterprise UK and will be 
promoting their social purpose alongside 
their existing high quality training offer.  It 
has taken a long time from the initial idea 
through to completion but On Course 
South West are now in a position to 
continue to expand their programme of 
adult learning in Plymouth. 
 
Youth Services Transformation - The 
Youth Service are part way through a three 
year transformation programme which is 
progressing well.  The Youth Service are 
ahead of their target to realise savings 
through the transformation programme, 
and so during 2014 year had saved £178K; 
savings had already been identified for the 

next financial year; this was a challenge also 
faced by other departments within the 
Council.  Youth Services were proud of 
their achievements and how they had 
accomplished them; Youth Services had 
been able to increase the provision of 
community based Targeted Youth Support; 
the number of volunteers for the Youth 
Service had doubled since the beginning of 
the year. It was anticipated that an 
additional 50-70 additional adult volunteers 
would soon be accessible; volunteers were 
highly motivated and committed to 
supporting young people. 
 
Co-operative children and young 
people’s services - The Co-operative 
Children and Young People’s Services 
experienced Transformation in 2014; 
the vision for the Health and Wellbeing 
programme was to establish a collaborative, 
integrated and strategic approach to 
working, which would in turn lead to a 
reduction in management costs and 
overheads.  There were three distinct 
phases to the programme. Phase one 
involved the integration of adult and 
children services; phase two involved the 
integration of services for children and 
young people with schools, health and other 
partners in a cost effective way which 
would deliver services cooperatively; phase 
three involved the introduction of the new 
delivery model which would take up to two 
years to fully take effect, as work to TUPE 
some existing staff to another provider 
would need to be undertaken.  Early 
intervention and prevention were key 
factors which needed to be considered. 
 
School standards - The panel were 
provided with detailed results data. Key 
Stage 1 results were final, and the Key Stage 
4 and 5 results were provisional. 
 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 10 

The panel were advised that whilst it was 
very pleasing that gaps, in relation to the 
attainments of Free School Meal eligible 
pupils are reducing, the city’s educational 
performance in 2014 raised a number of 
concerns.  Improving outcomes in several 
areas, especially for boys in literacy requires 
concerted effort.  The ability to impact on 
school performance had been weakened by 
national policy changes.  The Plymouth 
Teaching School Alliance (PTSA) now 
provided ‘school to school’ support to 
ensure that schools tackled performance 
issues effectively.  Plymouth City Council 
has been working in partnership with PTSA 
for over a year and the schools that have 
been supported during this period had 
made significant improvements on their 
2013 results. A shared ‘aspiration plan’ was 
being developed to ensure that 
performance concerns are addressed in 
collaboration. 
 
OFSTED - An inspection of services for 
children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers and a 
review of the effectiveness of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board was 
undertaken by Ofsted between 22 October 
and 12 November 2014.  Plymouth City 
Council were subject to Ofsted's single 
inspection framework, which brings 
together child protection, services for 
looked after children and care leavers, and 
local authority fostering and adoption 
services under one wide-reaching review.  It 
was intense and lasted for four weeks from 
start to finish.  The overall judgement was 
that children’s services require 
improvement - the authority is not yet 
delivering good protection, help and care 
for children, young people and families.  It is 
Ofsted’s expectation that, as a minimum, all 
children and young people receive good 
help, care and protection. 
 

An Improvement Plan (subsequently re-
named ‘Children’s’ Services Improvement 
Monitoring Framework’) was drafted, which 
highlighted 17 areas for improvement.  The 
new plan was submitted to Ofsted on 10 
April, who would note its contents and 
feedback to the Council.  A sub group of 
the Children’s’ and Young Peoples’ 
Partnership (CYPP) would monitor the 
progress of the report, and in turn feedback 
to the CYPP and ultimately to the Health & 
Wellbeing Board.  Ambitious Plymouth 
would receive a quarterly update report. 
 
Skills and apprenticeships - The panel 
were advised of the wide range of 
apprenticeship opportunities for young 
people in Plymouth - apprenticeship 
opportunities were available to young 
people from all backgrounds, although 
comprehensive equal opportunities data 
was not yet available. 
 
There had been a slight decrease in the take 
up of apprenticeships nationally, although 
the situation in Plymouth was promising. 65 
% of apprenticeships were at Intermediate 
(Level 2), with 34% at Advanced (Level 3) 
and 1% at Higher (Level 4+).  A wide range 
of apprenticeships were available in fields 
such as construction, engineering, marine 
industry, administration and health and 
social care.   
 
There were several initiatives involving 
apprenticeships, including the ‘1000 Club’ (a 
campaign set up to recruit 1000 companies 
in the Plymouth area to commit to support 
young people into employment, whether 
that be through work experience, 
apprenticeship, graduate internships or 
employment); 
 
 
 
 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 11 

Fostering/residential placements -
Plymouth City Council has commissioned 
fostering placements from independent 
fostering agencies through a Cost and 
Volume framework agreement since 2007, 
being joined by Devon County Council and 
Torbay Council in 2008, 2010/11 and 2014.  
Plymouth City Council is the lead 
commissioner.  The Cost and Volume 
framework commits providers to high 
standards of care, but does not provide any 
guarantee of business.  Providers also have 
to submit detail of their prices for 
placements, which become part of the 
contractual arrangement, so that if a 
placement is required, the key elements of 
quality and price are already in place.  The 
Cost and Volume frameworks were re-
tendered during 2014, with the contract 
award taking place at Cabinet in December 
2014.  The contract is in place from 1 
February 2015 until 31 March 2017; seven 
independent fostering agencies were 
awarded a contract.  There are a number of 
measures in place to monitor the 
performance of the Cost and Volume 
contract which is currently performing well 
but will continue to be scrutinised closely. 
 
School Admissions 2015/16 - By law, 
children have to be provided with full time 
education by the term following their fifth 
birthday. In Plymouth, full time places are 
offered to children for the September 
following the fourth birthday. 
The City Council operates co-ordinated 
schemes of admission at the Reception 
(Primary), Junior (Year 3), Year 7 
(Secondary) and Year 10 (Key Stage 4) 
intakes as required in law and receives and 
makes offers on behalf of all admission 
authorities in the City.  The first allocations 
for Secondary schools have been made and 
parents were notified of their allocations on 
2 March.  Key Stage 4 institution allocations 
(which includes UTC Plymouth and 

Plymouth Studio School) were also 
completed on 2 March.  Everyone who 
applied for a Key Stage 4 transfer was 
allocated their first preference institution.   
 
The first allocations for primary and junior 
allocations will not be made until 16 April 
2015.  As the allocation process is currently 
under way, it is not possible to provide 
accurate information at this stage.  Pressure 
spots are likely to occur in the Plympton 
(although we hope to be able to allocate a 
Plympton school to those who have applied 
on time and who live in Plympton), 
Plymstock and Widewell areas of Plymouth.  
The number of children not allocated one 
of their stated preference schools is likely 
to drop again as a result of the Basic Need 
programme.  
 
Scrutiny reviews - Integrated Health and 
Wellbeing Transformation Programme 
(joint review with Caring panel) was 
undertaken which looked at the business 
cases for – 

 Integrated Commissioning; 
 Integrated Community Health And 

Social Care Delivery; 
 Children and Young People.   

 
Looking forward to the next year - In 
2015 – 2016 the panel will seek to promote 
the children and young people of the city 
further and improve services for children 
and young people by working in partnership 
with Cabinet Members, Senior Officers and 
external stakeholders and scrutinising issues 
including: 
 Cost of the recent OFSTED 

inspection 
 Safeguarding 
 Containment Plans within Children’s 

Social Care 

It is anticipated that the ‘Be-Wise to Sexual 
Exploitation’ scrutiny will be undertaken. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 12 

YOUR PLYMOUTH PANEL 
 
 
LOOKING BACK ON THE PAST YEAR - 
The panel met on four occasions in the year 
2014 – 2015, whilst also convening on three 
occasions as the ‘Customer Services 
Strategy’ and ‘Problem Debt’ Co-operative 
Scrutiny Reviews’.   
 
The achievements of the Your Plymouth 
Scrutiny Panel over the past year can be 
summarised under four separate categories: 
 
 Strategy and Policy Development  
 Reducing Inequality 
 Improving Service Delivery 
 Partnership and Stakeholder Working 

Strategy and Policy Development 
Community Engagement - A 
Framework for Working with Citizens and 
Communities was being established for 
formal adoption by the Council.  The panel 
was advised that a need had been identified 
for Plymouth to create a new relationship 
with its citizens who felt removed from the 
decision-making process and faced barriers 
to community involvement.  This was 
contrary to the Council’s vision for the City 
to be a place where ‘people could have a 
say about what is important to them and 
where they could change what happened in 
their area’.   

As part of the policy development, the 
panel was consulted on the proposals and 
participated in a series of ‘workshops’ 
where their views and ideas were taken on 
board, along with the results of the wider 
consultation. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Work was now under way to analyse all of 
the information received to ensure that 
what was required was understood and the  
necessary work-streams were developed in 
order to deliver the objectives and realise 
the benefits of – 
 
 Citizens enjoy living and working in 

Plymouth; 
 Citizens taking control of their 

communities; 
 Children, young people and adults are 

safe and confident in their communities; 
 The council is providing and enabling 

brilliant services which strive to exceed 
customers’ expectations; 

 The council is using resources wisely; 
 Plymouth is a fairer and more inclusive 

city with citizens at the heart of 
decision making; 

 Citizens and Communities are actively 
able to reduce health and social 
inequality;  

 Through sound partnerships, we 
provide strong community leadership 
and work together to deliver a 
common ambition. 

 
Customer Services Strategy - customer 
services was one of the areas that had been 
identified as needing significant change in 
order to realise the Council’s goals of 
meeting ongoing budgetary pressures and 
achieving its aspiration of becoming a 
‘brilliant co-operative council’.  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 13 

Understanding customers, their needs and 
behaviour patterns in interacting with the 
Council would ensure that funds were 
spent effectively in areas of value and that 
services were relevant and easy to use.  
Following a comprehensive review of 
customer services across the Council and 
exploring models of good practice in local 
authorities elsewhere, it had become clear 
that there – 
 
 were inconsistent service standards 

across departments; 
 was a failure to adapt to changes in 

technology (e.g. growth in mobile 
computing); 

 was a failure to capitalise on the 
national trend of customers wishing 
to self-serve. 

 
Therefore, one of the drivers for change 
was the need to create capacity and 
maximise staff resources.  By encouraging 
and directing members of the public to use 
on-line services, customer services based 
staff would then have more capacity to deal 
and assist with face to face enquiries at the 
new city centre shop. 
 
The co-operative review challenged how 
the Strategy would be embedded across the 
Council and how it would be monitored 
once implemented.  Members also sought 
assurances that staff would be adequately 
engaged and supported throughout the 
transition period. 
 
Full details of the review and its findings can 
be viewed at http://tinyurl.com/q8h66uh 
 
The Plymouth Plan -The Plymouth Plan 
is a strategic planning framework document 
for the City which has a far wider approach 
than the Local Development Framework 
and brings together all of the Council’s 
plans and strategies in one place.  Extensive 

consultation on the new document has 
taken place with scrutiny playing a key role 
in that consultation process.  The panel 
welcomed the opportunity to provide 
feedback and help shape the final document 
prior to its submission to City Council for 
approval. 
 
Reducing Inequality 
Emergency Welfare Scheme (Social 
Fund Replacement) - The panel 
continued to monitor progression of the 
new scheme following its introduction in 
2013/14.  Members heard that despite 
government funding for the scheme being 
cut at the end of the second year, the 
Council had taken steps to minimise spend 
whilst continuing to support the most 
vulnerable.  In addition, customer demand 
for the service had increased by 53% and it 
had, therefore, been necessary to set up a 
number of initiatives to deliver support 
aimed at early interventions and prevention 
to minimise future demands on the scheme. 
 
Problem Debt - Plymouth has higher 
levels of problem debt than any other local 
authority area in the south west, with 29.3% 
of its population over-indebted.  Through a 
co-operative review process the panel 
ascertained the causes, the impact locally 
and the quality of the council’s response.  
Whilst welfare reforms, combined with the 
overall economic climate, were found to be 
the major contributors to this escalating 
situation, the panel found that it wasn’t just 
affecting people in receipt of benefits but 
that individuals in full-time employment 
were also finding it hard to meet their 
financial commitments.  It was clear that 
there was already a lot of good work being 
undertaken by the Council and many other 
local agencies to provide advice and 
support.  It was also evident from the 
panel’s findings that intensive work with 

http://tinyurl.com/q8h66uh


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 14 

people who were struggling financially was 
an effective tool in tackling debt. 
Full details of the review and its findings can 
be viewed at http://tinyurl.com/nwooyfn. 
 
Improving Service Delivery -
Throughout 2014 – 2015 the panel has 
helped shape, inform and improve service 
delivery in a number of areas, namely by 
involvement in scrutiny of the following – 
 
 A Framework for working with 

Citizens and Communities - Helping 
citizens to feel engaged and willing to 
help shape local services 

 Customer Services Strategy -Supporting 
proposals for single point of 
contact/access for most services - 
Encouraging access to more services 
(including transactions) on-line 

 The Plymouth Plan - Enabling 
customers to access information in one 
place 

Partnership and Stakeholder Working 
Safer Plymouth - The panel’s terms of 
reference maintain strong links to the Safer 
Plymouth Partnership Board and the Police 
and Crime Panel.  Regular updates are 
provided to the panel on the latest crime 
statistics for the city and this performance is 
monitored against the following five targets 
– 

 
 closing the gap in overall crime 
 acquisitive crime 
 violence with injury 
 criminal damage 
 anti-social behaviour 

Problem Debt - As part of its co-
operative review into ‘Problem’ Debt, the 
panel engaged with a number of the 
Council’s partner agencies in order to 
ascertain the depth of the problem in the 
City and discuss solutions (refer to 
‘Reducing Inequality’ section above for 
further detail).  
 
Looking forward to next Year - In the 
2015 – 2016 municipal year the panel will 
continue to improve services for all 
Plymouth’s citizens by serving as a ‘critical 
friend’ to Cabinet members and working in 
partnership with other agencies and 
voluntary groups to scrutinise and monitor 
a number of issues, including –  

 
 The effects of the expansion of 

Plymouth University and its students 
on the surrounding residential areas 

 Library Review 
 Crime Statistics 
 Problem Debt 
 Customer Services Strategy 

 
 
  

http://tinyurl.com/nwooyfn


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 15 

CARING PLYMOUTH PANEL 
 
This section highlights the work, challenges 
and successes of the Caring Plymouth 
Scrutiny Panel in 2014-15. 
 
Looking back on the past year - Caring 
Plymouth scrutinised a variety of areas over 
the year and met on 5 occasions and 
undertook 3 Co-operative Scrutiny 
Reviews.  
 
At the first meeting of the Panel, the 
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult 
Social Care, the Strategic Director for 
People and the Assistant Director for Co-
operative Commissioning were invited to 
shared their priorities for 2014-15, which 
included – 

 the Care Act which affects the way 
the local authority responds to 
people’s needs and the challenging 
agenda to have everything in place 
by 1 April 2015; 

 an exceptionally challenging year for 
adult social care with the largest and 
most challenged budget within the 
council; 

 an increasing demand with people 
coming into care with very complex 
needs adding to the demands for 
both for the local authority and 
health providers; 

 a need for the local authority and 
health to work together with an 
absolute focus on the budget, 
transformation and performance. 

 
 
 
 

Community Services for the 21st 
Century - The CCG provided the Panel 
with an overview on Community Services 
for the 21st Century and the proposed 
direction for community services which 
included the views from the public, service 
users and stakeholders.  As part the review 
they were looking at reducing stays in the 
acute hospital and ensuring patients should 
not stay longer than they have to, looking 
to commence the discharge process when a 
patient was first admitted and the use of 
technology in the provision of healthcare. 

 
Roadmap to Integrated Health and 
Social Care - This was a joint venture 
between the council and the clinical 
commissioning group (NEW DEVON CCG) 
with the aim of achieving efficiencies and 
working more creatively in the future.  
Budget pressures within social care was the 
biggest challenge and with no new money 
coming into the system there was a need to 
look at how existing money was used in a 
more creative way.  Reducing health 
inequalities was important and public health 
was integral to this process. 

 
Commissioning Strategy for Maternity 
Services 2014-19 (Draft) - This was a 
high level commissioning strategy with joint 
working with NEW Devon CCG, South 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 16 

Devon and Torbay CCG and Kernow CCG 
on one document to avoid some of the 
boundary issues.  There was high level 
commitment for this strategy from the 3 
CCGs and task and finish groups set up 
with representatives from the 3 CCGs 
which included heads of midwifery having 
discussions around a robust needs 
assessment.  Also key to this strategy was 
the development of the Maternity Liaison 
Committee and looking at how this 
committee operates and how they would 
remain consistently involved with maternity 
services. 
 
NHS 111 Assurance Report/Urgent 
Care - The NHS 111 service was rolled out 
gently and quietly to look at any inherent 
risks that might come with rolling out a new 
service.  The contact for the NHS 111 was 
awarded to SW Ambulance Trust and 650 
people ring every week day and this number 
rises to 2,000 on a Saturday reducing to 
1,600 on a Sundays and bank holidays.   
NHS 111 was the result of a report by 
Bruce Keogh who had concerns about the 
multiple issues with general care which 
resulted in just one number.  This meant 
that you can call one number and call would 
be dealt with and/or signposted to the 
correct service.  The service was being 
monitored since it went live and feedback 
from patients said that they found the 
service good and helpful and would phone 
again if they needed advice in an urgent care 
situation. 
 
Devon Doctors Out of Hours -
Following a decision made by NEW Devon 
CCG to reduce the Devon Doctors Out of 
Hours by 50 percent, a report was 
requested by the Panel on this decision.  
The CCG responded that it wasn’t a 50 
percent reduction and whilst achieving 
savings reported that there would be no 
negative impact on patients.  The CCG 

were monitoring this and the Panel were 
assured that this decision could be reversed 
if the need was to arise.   The Panel felt that 
the 8 am cut off time was a potential 
problem and could lead to more people 
presenting at their GP Surgeries. 
 
Dementia Strategy - It was reported that 
people living with dementia was set to 
double.  The Dementia Strategy and action 
plan shows how partners working together 
to meet the needs and develop local 
outcomes.  The action plan includes a focus 
on Plymouth becoming a Dementia Friendly 
City.  It was predicted that by 2015, 3166 
people in Plymouth would be living with 
dementia rising to 3667 by 2020.  Two-
thirds of people living with dementia live 
independently within the community. 
The national agenda highlighted people living 
within a care home setting were forgotten 
and NEW Devon CCG were looking to 
obtain match funding from the Clinical 
Network for £65k to target people living in 
the care home sector.  The focus of the 
work would concentrate on sending letters 
to all care homes and to employ staff to 
undertake assessments to an agreed pro 
forma.  This information would be referred 
back to GP to be added to the dementia 
register.   Public health were working on up 
streaming prevention nationally and the 
effects of alcohol, lifestyle and diet could 
prevent the on-set of dementia.  It was 
acknowledged that demand had gone up and 
concerns on the amount of referrals as well 
as ensuring good outcomes for people. 
 
Healthwatch -The Health and Social Care 
Act introduced the requirement for 
Healthwatch both locally and nationally and 
replaced the Local Involvement Network 
(LINks).  The local authority commissioned 
the £179,000 contract to Colebrook SW 
and Healthwatch was an independent 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 17 

consumer champion with three key 
functions – 

 Influencing 
 Signposting 
 Watchdog 

Colebrook SW has the overall responsibility 
for the Healthwatch contract and want 
Healthwatch to be seen as independent as 
possible.  One of their key performance 
indictors was signposting people to services 
at the right time.  This had proved quite 
difficult to achieve and as a result 
Healthwatch changed their monitoring 
systems and reviewed how they gathered 
feedback and pinpointed gaps.   
Healthwatch also has a representative that 
sits on the Health and Wellbeing Board, this 
role allows Healthwatch to have an equal 
footing with other partners and the 
opportunity to share local issues and shape 
plans for Healthwatch and the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  The main remit for 
Healthwatch was to have that conversation 
with the public and to understand their 
views.  
 
Better Care Fund - The Department of 
Health issued new guidance in July 2014 
with built in checkpoints (temperature 
checks) to ensure the local authority and 
the clinical commissioning group (CCG) 
were on the right track.  Following the first 
temperature check Plymouth qualified for 
additional external support.  Plymouth was 
keen to set the wider context with a 
greater emphasis on emergency admissions, 
better engagement with acute and out of 
hospital providers.  The Health and 
Wellbeing Board delegated authority to the 
Chair to approve the plan for submission to 
the Department of Health on the 19 
September 2014.  The Chair raised 
concerns over the amount of time spent by 
officers adhering to tight deadlines and 

work undertaken on the BCF plan and send 
a letter to the Department of Health 
outlining her concerns. 
 
Thrive Plymouth - Thrive Plymouth was 
triggered as a result of a recommendation 
made at budget scrutiny to address health 
inequalities across the city and was a simple 
framework that the whole city could sign up 
to.  Thrive Plymouth relates to 4 behaviours 
that lead to 4 diseases which in turn lead to 
54 percent of deaths in Plymouth.  Thrive 
Plymouth would be considered in the 
development of all of the city’s policies and 
was a 10-year approach changing the course 
of health and wellbeing in the city. 
 
Peninsula Treatment Centre - The 
NEW Devon CCG Western Locality Board 
made the decision not to renew the 
contract for orthopaedic surgery at the 
Peninsula Treatment Centre.  The contract 
would come to a natural end on 31 March 
2015.  Two interactive workshops with 
consultants, GPs, Healthwatch and ‘expert’ 
patients took place looking at the future of 
orthopaedic care for the city and ideally the 
service would move away from surgery as 
the end point and ensuring that GPs were 
better informed before making a referral.  

Those patients that need surgery would be 
seen more rapidly if required.  Alternatives 
to surgery included weight management, 
pain management and improving people’s 
wellbeing.  They were looking at prevention 
and getting people fitter and the service 
would be provided in the same way but 
with less providers.  They would continue 
to engage with members of the public, 
Healthwatch and Age Concern to shape the 
future of what the service would look like. 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 18 

Derriford Hospital Funding - The Panel 
were provided with an update on the 
current funding issues at Derriford Hospital 
and it was reported that they were 
extremely proud of the hospital and the 
wide range of services offered and that 
more hospitals were getting into financial 
difficulty and at Derriford they were facing 
big saving challenges over the next two 
years.  There were three structural funding 
issues – 

 urgent care 
 market forces factor 
 education and training 

The hospital were facing an extremely 
challenging landscape but wanted to 
continue to provide the best possible 
services with no intention to stop providing 
services. 

Plymouth Plan - The Plymouth Plan 
replaces the Local Development 
Framework (LDF) and pulls together all the 
strategies into a single strategic 
framework.  One single place to access the 
change agenda for the city.  Public health 
has been very involved in the development 
of the plan looking at the impact of planning 
on health, transport systems etc. 

 
Integrated Health and Wellbeing - The 
purpose of Integrated Health and Wellbeing 
Commissioning – 
 

 Provide and enable brilliant 
services that strive to exceed 
customer expectations 

 People will receive the right 
care, at the right time in the 
right place. 

 Help people take control of 
their lives and communities. 
 

 Children, young people and 
adults are safe and confident 
in their communities. 

 People are treated with 
dignity and respect.  

 Prioritise prevention 
 A Sustainable Health and 

Wellbeing System 
 Improved System 

Performance 
 
Care Act - It was reported that the 
current legislation dates back to 1948 and 
was in need of reform and to bring the 
legislation into a modern single piece of 
statute.  There were new duties for the 
local authority and new rights for services 
users which would help people to live 
independently and longer by putting 
people’s wellbeing at the centre.  The Act 
would be implemented in two parts, from 
the 1 April 2015 about carers and deferred 
payments and from 1 April 2016 funding 
reforms and Dilnot Cap on care costs. 

 
Co-operative Scrutiny Reviews - The 
following Co-operative Scrutiny Reviews 
were undertaken by the Panel – 

 Fairer Charging Policy, Integrated 
Commissioning and Integrated 
Community Health and Social Care 
Delivery 

 Integrated Health and Wellbeing 
Transformation Programme 

 Plymouth’s Health Economy 

Fairer Charging Policy, Integrated 
Commissioning and Integrated 
Community Health and Social Care 
Delivery Co-operative Scrutiny 
Review - The review took place over 2 
days over 4 workshops. 

Fairer Charging - it was highlighted that 
charging for non-residential services was 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 19 

discretionary and there was no statutorily 
defined procedure for assessing non-
residential charges and Section 17 of the 
Health and Social Services and Social 
Security Adjudications Act 1983 
(HASSASSAA) enables local authorities to 
recover such charge (if any) for a service as 
they consider reasonable. 

Integrated Commissioning - was a 
fundamental change in how the council 
moves forward.  This was a joint 
programme between the Plymouth City 
Council (PCC) and NEW Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) to move to a 
position to care for people throughout their 
lives and to look at the whole person in a 
person centred approach.  Commissioning 
was the building block to this with the need 
to focus on the governance arrangements 
and due diligence. 

Integrated Community Health and Social 
Care - the integrated service delivery would 
join up services to meet the needs of an 
individual and would be more appropriate 
to join up with a community health provider 
rather than the hospital because people 
would rather be at home than in 
hospital.  There was overwhelming support 
for a fully integrated structure pulling 
together into one single entity and partners 
had shown a real commitment to make this 
work with the vision of giving people the 
right care, in the right place and at the right 
time. 

Integrated Health and Wellbeing 
Transformation Programme - This was 
a joint co-operative review with Ambitious 
Plymouth and took place over 2 days – 
Integrated Commissioning Detailed Business 
Case - one of the main drivers for this 
integration was the ageing population.  
There was cross party support and wasn’t 
just another initiative but a fundamental 

change to the way health, wellbeing and 
adult social care would be provided.  This 
was a rethink of how social services would 
be delivered by thinking in systems rather 
than in silos with the aim of achieving “one 
system, one budget”.  The vision of 
integration is as follows – 
 
 Integrated commissioning  
 Integrated health and care services  
 Integrated system of health and 

wellbeing  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy was the 
guide and vision for the future 
commissioning activity across Plymouth City 
Council (PCC) and NEW Devon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (New Devon CCG).  
It was also reported that the organisational 
boundaries would not be a barrier to 
integration and any decisions made should 
not destabilise any organisation. 
 
Integrated Community Health and Social 
Care Delivery Detailed Business Case - the 
challenging financial climate was a factor for 
integrated delivery of social care.  The 
pooled budget was also an important factor 
for integrated delivery and the model they 
would use fits well with the co-operative 
values.  Services should be integrated and 
wrapped around the needs of the person 
and delivering the right care at the right 
place, time and by the right person to 
ensure that care was properly co-ordinated 
around the individual.   The experience 
people encountered was of a fragmented 
system with duplication and gaps and this 
was the time to introduce changes.  A 
combined adult social care joined up with 
Plymouth Community Healthcare to 
provide a single model. 
 
Children and Young People’s Full Business 
Case - the plan was to establish a system 
that would improve outcomes using fewer 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 20 

resources and care provision for children 
and young people would be transformed 
through co-operating with other 
departments and agencies to provide co-
ordinated – 
 
 information, advice and guidance 
 early intervention and prevention 
 intense and statutory activities 
 SEND 

 
The delivery of statutory education and 
health functions would be transformed 
through ‘co-operative clusters’, achieving a 
collaborative response to priorities. 
 
Plymouth’s Health Economy - It was 
felt by the Panel at the business meeting in 
January that the Health Sector was facing 
very challenging climate and for this Panel 
to look at in more detail the Health Deal 
for Plymouth.  It was agreed that a review 
would be undertaken by the Caring Panel 
looking at Plymouth’s Health Economy. 

Representatives from Plymouth Hospital’s 
NHS Trust, Plymouth Community Health, 
NEW Devon CCG, Public Health and 
Plymouth City Council were invited to 
share with the Panel their main funding 
streams, challenges and recommendations 
on what could be done to improve the 
system. 

Looking forward to the next year - The 
Panel will continue to work with health 
colleagues to ensure that appropriate 
services are being delivered.  The Panel will 
also be keen to look at – 

 Integrated Health and Wellbeing 
Phase 2 

 Care Act Part 2 
 Financial challenges 
 CQC inspection of Derriford 

Hospital 
 NHS 111 
 Thrive Plymouth

 



final   OFFICIAL 

PLYMOUTH PLAN PART ONE
City Council: 21 September 2015

CABINET MINUTE 29 (8 September 2015)

Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place) submitted a report seeking approval of the Plymouth 
Plan Part One which comprised the city’s overarching vision, strategic objectives and the thematic and 
spatial policies of the plan.  The plan had been the subject of community engagement and consultation 
with scrutiny and the Plymouth Plan Member Working Group and the comments from the 
consultation had been included as a background paper together with the equality impact assessment. 

The report also indicated that the consultation process for part two would commence in September 
2015 leading to a consultation draft being published in June 2016 which would also provide an 
opportunity to refresh and, if needed, to revise the Plymouth Plan Part One. 

Councillor Coker (Cabinet Member for Strategic Transport and Planning) introduced the proposals 
and –  

(a) paid tribute to Councillor Vincent (who formerly had Cabinet 
Member responsibility for the Plymouth Plan), the Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure Team, councillors and residents for taking part in 
the development of the plan; 

(b) indicated that the Council had won a national award from the Royal 
Town Planning Institute for plan making and had also won the south 
west regional award;    

(c)  referred to the consultation undertaken;  

(d)  commended the plan to Cabinet;

(e) thanked the Plymouth Plan Team and everyone involved in the 
process.

Cabinet Members –

(f) highlighted that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy had been 
integrated within the plan;

(g) paid tribute to everyone involved in the social enterprise initiative 
including the social enterprise network and partners; 

(h) highlighted that following the withdrawal of the national target for 
child poverty by the government and on the recommendation of the 
Child Poverty Working Group, the policy had been included in the 
plan and that the Council would continue to measure child poverty.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

PLYMOUTH PLAN PART ONE Page 2 of 2

Paul Barnard (Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure), Jonathan Bell (Head of 
Development Planning), Richard Grant (Local Planning Manager) and Caroline Marr (Policy and 
Business Planning Officer) attended the meeting for this item and indicated that the development of 
the plan had been a joint effort across all services within the Council.

Jonathan Bell reported that –

(i) interactive modules for part one of the plan would be launched 
during the next month; 

(j) the proposed consultation process for the next phase of the plan 
would be submitted to the Plymouth Plan Member Working Group 
shortly. 

Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision –

As set out in the report. 

Agreed that –

 
(1) the Plymouth Plan Working Group oversee the delivery of a 

Plymouth Plan monitoring and implementation framework for the 
plan, in consultation with key city partnerships; 

(2) everyone involved in the plan is congratulated with thanks 
particularly to the Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Department 
who are a credit both to the city and the Council and to Hannah 
Sloggett for her innovative idea of using a sofa as part of the 
consultation process.

The City Council is Recommended to formally approve the Plymouth Plan Part One as part of 
the Council’s Policy Framework.

  



Final 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Plymouth Plan Part One

Committee: Cabinet

Date: 8 September 2015

Cabinet Member: Councillor Coker

CMT Member: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) and Anthony Payne (Strategic 

Director for Place)

Author: Jonathan Bell (Head of Development Planning) 

Contact details Tel:  01752 304353
email: jonathan.bell@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:

Key Decision: No 

Part: I

Purpose of the report:

The Plymouth Plan is a single strategic plan for Plymouth, setting a shared direction of travel for the 
long term future of the city, which the Council and its partners will use to guide their service and 
delivery planning.  It is a genuinely ground-breaking plan in that it brings together a range of statutory 
and non-statutory strategies and plans into a single integrated plan. 

The Plymouth Plan is being published in two parts. Part One comprises the city’s overarching vision, 
strategic objectives and the thematic and spatial policies of the plan. Part Two will identify area and 
site specific policies across the city. Both parts will be combined into a single plan during 2016/17, 
when it will be subject to independent public examination as part of the development plan process. 

A consultation draft of Plymouth Plan Part One was subject to a process of community engagement 
from January to March 2015, with the input of scrutiny panels also happening during this period.  
Draft changes to the plan have subsequently been discussed with the Plymouth Plan Member 
Working Group. The plan is now presented to Cabinet with a view to it being referred to Full 
Council for approval as part of the Council’s Policy Framework. 

Once approved, the next step in relation to Plymouth Plan Part One will be to put in place 
mechanisms for the effective governance and delivery of the plan, internally and with the Council’s 
partners.

The consultation process for Part Two commences in September 2015, leading to a consultation 
draft plan being published in June 2016. This will also provide an early opportunity to refresh and, if 
needed, revise Plymouth Plan Part One.



Final 

The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:

The Plymouth Plan is significant in relation to all of the Corporate Plan Objectives. The Plymouth Plan 
themes relate well to all of the Corporate Plan objectives as shown below:

Corporate Plan Objective Plymouth Plan Theme
Pioneering Plymouth Arts and Culture; Greener Plymouth; Local 

Communities.
Growing Plymouth Education and Learning; Prosperity and 

Affordability; Living and Housing; Getting 
Around; Local Communities.

Caring Plymouth Health and Wellbeing; Local Communities.
Confident Plymouth City Pride and Vision.

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land

The direct costs associated with the preparation of the Plymouth Plan relate to the costs of 
community engagement and consultation, preparation of the evidence base, publication of documents 
and the costs associated with the Public Examination. With the exception of the Public Examination, 
these costs are mostly staffing costs and it is anticipated that these costs can be met from core 
revenue budgets in the Place Directorate and Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Department. The 
Public Examination costs are estimated to be in the order of £230,000 and are likely to fall within the 
2016/17 financial year.  There is currently no budget provision for this exceptional item and it will 
need to be included as part of the overall budget setting process for 2016/17.

The Plymouth Plan will bring a number of positive indirect financial and resource benefits. As a 
holistic and integrated plan, it will substantially reduce the need for the preparation of many individual 
strategies, bringing greater efficiency in strategy development together with a stronger articulation of 
the city’s vision and direction of travel. 

From a development perspective, the plan will provide a framework for development decisions to be 
made which will generate considerable Planning Obligation/Community Infrastructure Levy 
contributions and New Homes Bonus funds to support infrastructure development. Additionally, the 
Plymouth Plan will aid the prioritisation of resources and submission of funding bids in support of the 
sustainable growth of Plymouth.

It will also fulfil an enabling role in relation to delivering a ‘Co-operative Council’ by providing a 
strategic document that supports the Community and Voluntary Sector, as well as Social Enterprises, 
in seeking and attracting funding and financial support.

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

The Plymouth Plan will be a plan for both people and place. The creation of sustainable communities, 
and the theme of providing quality of life for everyone in the city, will run through the heart of the 
Plan. It will therefore provide an effective and integrated strategic framework for addressing and 
responding to issues such as community safety, community cohesion, child poverty and equalities and 
diversity. 



Final 

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   Yes (see report).

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

It is recommended Cabinet:

1. Recommend to Full Council that the Plymouth Plan Part One is formally approved as part of 
the Council’s Policy Framework.

Reason:  To ensure that the plan can be used to guide key decisions and investments in the 
city.

2. Request that the Plymouth Plan Working Group oversee the delivery of a Plymouth Plan 
monitoring and implementation framework for the plan, in consultation with key city 
partnerships.

Reason:  To ensure appropriate provisions are in place for driving the delivery of the plan.

Alternative options considered and rejected:

The alternatives to whether or not to prepare a Plymouth Plan have been considered in detail in 
previous reports on the Plymouth Plan to Cabinet. The relevant alternatives now relate to different 
strategic approaches that the plan might take. These alternatives were considered in the series of 
topic papers published as part of the Plymouth Plan Connections programme and in the Plymouth 
Plan Sustainability Appraisal.

Published work / information:

Plymouth Plan Cabinet Report 11 September 2012
Plymouth Plan Cabinet Report 25 March 2014
Plymouth Plan Cabinet Report 9 December 2014
Plymouth Plan topic papers 
Plymouth Core Strategy (adopted 2007)
National Planning Policy Framework
Plymouth Plan Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2014)
Evidence base reports as identified in Plymouth Plan Part One

Background papers:

Exemption Paragraph NumberTitle Part 1 Part II
1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Plymouth Plan Equality Impact 
Assessment

I

Plymouth Plan Consultation 
response report

1

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s40873/Plymouth%20Plan%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s53520/140325%20LDS%20and%20Plymouth%20Plan%20Cabinet%20report%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s53520/140325%20LDS%20and%20Plymouth%20Plan%20Cabinet%20report%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s59570/Plymouth%20Plan%20Part%20One%20consultation%20draft%20plan.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/environmentandplanning/planningpolicy/ldf/plymouthplan/pptopicpapers.htm
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/environmentandplanning/planningpolicy/ldf/plymouthplan/pptopicpapers.htm
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/homepage/environmentandplanning/planning/planningpolicy/ldf/ldfcorestrategy/csadoption.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6077/2116950.pdf
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sa_scoping_report_for_plymouth_plan.pdf


Final 

  

Sign off:  comment must be sought from those whose area of responsibility may be affected by the 
decision, as follows (insert references of Finance, Legal and Monitoring Officer reps, and of HR, 
Corporate Property, IT and Strat. Proc. as appropriate):

Fin Cdr1516.
29

Leg PL/23675
/JAR/Aug
15

Mon 
Off

23653/
DVS

HR n/a Assets n/a IT n/a Strat 
Proc

n/a

Originating SMT Member  Paul Barnard (Assistant Director for Strategic Planning & 
Infrastructure)
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  
Yes

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Work on the Plymouth Plan was formally commenced following Cabinet approval of a report 
in September 2012, when the concept of a ground-breaking plan which brings together a 
range of statutory and non-statutory strategies and plans into a single integrated plan was 
established. This led to programme known as the Plymouth Plan Conversation, where a range 
of discussions with partners, organisations, community groups and citizens of Plymouth took 
place, culminating in the Plymouth Plan Convention in summer 2013. 

1.2 During 2014 the plan preparation focus has been on putting in place a robust evidence base 
and running a further engagement programme called Plymouth Plan Connections. As part of 
this programme eight area assessments and twenty-four topic papers were published, 
highlighting the key issues and options and consulting on the potential direction of travel for 
the Plymouth Plan.

1.3 On 9 December 2014 Cabinet approved a draft Plymouth Plan Part One which was published 
for consultation purposes. This was subject to community engagement between 21 January 
and 4 March 2015. Additionally, the Council’s scrutiny panels considered the draft plan during 
their March cycle of meetings.

1.4 In July 2015 the pioneering nature of the plan was acknowledged both regionally and 
nationally. The Plymouth Plan won both the national RTPI award for Planning Excellence for 
Plan Making as well as the RTPI South West ‘Other Planning’ category. 

1.5 Also in July 2015 the Plymouth Plan Working Group (a cross party member group) was 
established to give consideration to the development of the Plymouth Plan by guiding officers 
and advising the Council and Cabinet on the preparation, implementation and review of the 
plan. The Working Group, which has now met twice, has guided the changes to the plan put 
before Cabinet in this report.

2.0 The Plymouth Plan timetable

2.1 The Plymouth Plan timetable is presented below.  This has been revised from the timetable 
presented to Cabinet at its meeting of 25 March 2014, and in part responds to legal advice 
regarding the consultation stages needed in relation to Part Two of the plan (an additional 
stage now being included). 



Final 

 Plymouth Plan Convention by July 2013
 Plymouth Plan evidence base by June 2014
 Engagement to help shape the plan (Connections) by August 2014
 Plymouth Plan Part One (draft) published by December 2014
 Consultation on Plymouth Plan Part One by March 2015
 Plymouth Plan Part One approved by September 2015
 Plymouth Plan Part Two evidence and engagement by October 2015
 Plymouth Plan Part Two (draft) published by June 2016 
 Combined Plymouth Plan (pre submission draft) published by October 2016
 Submission of Plymouth Plan by January 2017
 Public Examination by March 2017
 Adoption by August 2017

3.0 Plymouth Plan Part One engagement

3.1 A summary of responses received during the Plymouth Plan Part One consultation process is 
available in a separate response report. Over 400 representations were received during this 
process, many of which propose helpful improvements to the draft plan and also include 
significant levels of support for the pioneering nature of the plan and the overall direction of 
travel.

3.2 The Council’s scrutiny panels considered the consultation draft plan as set out below.  Each 
panel was able to scrutinise the content of parts of the plan particularly relevant to their remit 
and provide feedback which has helped with the further development of the plan. 

Panel Date of meeting
Caring Plymouth 5 March 2015
Your Plymouth 16 March 2015
Working Plymouth 18 March 2015
Ambitious Plymouth 30 March 2015

3.3 Ongoing dialogue the city’s partnership bodies identified below has taken place to ensure that 
the plan content meets their aspirations, as summarised below. Each partnership has 
expressed their support for using the plan as the guiding strategic document for their 
activities.  Additionally, officers have met with many individual organisations too as part of the 
process of engagement. 

Partnerships  
 Child Poverty Working Group
 Culture Board
 Health and Wellbeing Board
 One Plymouth
 Growth Board
 Safer Plymouth
 Children’s Partnership
 Plymouth Sports Board
 Plymouth Waterfront Partnership



Final 

4.0 Equality Impact Assessment for the Plymouth Plan

4.1 A draft Equality Impact Assessment was published alongside the draft Plymouth Plan Part One 
in January 2015, to encourage communities to think about whether the plan needs to address 
or include any other details.  This approach to the assessment was to make it easier for 
people to find the relevant areas of the plan and encourage a broad range of feedback.  It was 
well received by the public.

4.2 An updated Equality Impact Assessment has now been prepared using the comments received. 
This is published as a background paper.  The updated assessment identified a number of 
areas where the plan could be strengthened in order to support the nine protected 
characteristics. These changes are set out in the assessment with links provided to the 
relevant policies in the Plymouth Plan. 

5.0 The revised plan

5.1 Revisions to the plan are proposed in order to:
 Respond to representations and comments received from consultees, partnerships, and 

scrutiny panels.
 Update the plan where there is new information or evidence.
 Address gaps in information.
 Clarify the plan’s narrative and content where necessary.
 Respond to the plan’s equality impact assessment.

5.2 The following summary highlights the main changes made to the consultation draft.

Module One: Introducing the Plymouth Plan.
 Changes to list of statutory roles performed by plan (in response to representations 

received).
 Clarification of Plymouth Plan review process.
 Clarification of how Plymouth Plan Part One relates to/meets the statutory 

development plan requirements.

Module Two: Values and principles – The key things that underpin and connect the plan.
 Minor amendments to text relating to the five complementary principles underpinning 

the plan (in response to representations received).
 Clarifications to text and policy in relation to issues of child poverty, fairness and 

equality, and community safety (in response to partner comments).
 Clarification of the role of culture, the historic environment and good design as key 

policy principles for the city (in response to representations received and partner 
comments).

 Minor amendments/clarifications to green city theme (in response to representations 
received).

Module Three: The City Vision – What Plymouth will be like in 2031 and beyond.
 Some new elements of vision proposed to pick up more clearly themes of addressing 

child poverty, the needs of children and young people, the role of community and 
volunteering (mainly in response to partner comments).

 Other clarifications and minor adjustments (mainly in response to representations 
received).



Final 

Module Four: Plymouth in the Region - What Plymouth’s strategic role will be.
 Stronger recognition of strategic role of the waterfront and Derriford alongside the 

city centre (in response to representations; clarifications to plan).
 Strengthened emphasis of the strategic role of culture (in response to partner 

comments).
 Update of strategic connectivity policy, including strengthened airport policy (in 

response to representations; general updates).
 Policy on strategic environmental assets strengthened (in response to 

representations).
 A more strategic minerals policy (in response to representations).

Module Five: The Strategy – How Plymouth will be a healthy city.
 Editing changes proposed to strengthen the narrative, and communicate more 

effectively some of the key aspirations especially in relation to integrated health and 
wellbeing (in response to partner comments; clarifications).

 Strengthened references and policies in relation to needs of older people, including 
new adult social care policy (in response to partner comments and Equality Impact 
Assessment).

 Amendments to draw out more clearly themes such as child poverty, community 
safety as well as the continued role of care (in response to partner comments and 
Equality Impact Assessment).

 Amendments to takeaways policy to increase robustness of approach (in response to 
representations).

 Significant review of transport policy to provide stronger policy direction (in response 
to representations; clarifications).

 Amendments to ensure tie in with emerging Plan for Playing Pitches and need to 
safeguard facilities for healthy lifestyles (in response to representations).

 Updates and clarifications to housing policy (in response to representations, Equality 
Impact Assessment and responding to national review of standards and new national 
policy).

Module Six: The Strategy – How Plymouth will be a growing city.
 Amendments to better reflect role of design and architecture (in response to 

representations).
 Updates to reflect latest employment land evidence (in response to representations; 

update).
 Amendments to ensure plan adequately covers the wider role of centres for local 

communities (in response to representations; clarifications).
 Providing clearer direction in transport policy (in response to representations; 

clarifications).
 Minor amendments to the environmental policies in order to better emphasise 

particular policy aims and clarify text (in response to representations; clarifications).

Module Seven: The Strategy – How Plymouth will be an international city.
 Amendments to achieve better tie in with partner plans (in response to partner 

comments).
 Strengthened emphasis on Mayflower 400 (in response to partner comments).
 Strengthened approach to planning for and protecting visitor accommodation (in 

response to representations and partner comments).
 Greater acknowledgement of the role of architecture (in response to 

representations).



Final 

 Strengthening sporting policy and acknowledging role of local clubs (in response to 
representations).

 Emphasising the role of diversity, culture and young people to the city’s reputation 
internationally (in response to partner comments and Equality Impact Assessment).

Module Eight: The Spatial Strategy – Where change will take place.
 Integrating the role of transport into the spatial strategy more effectively (in response 

to representations).
 Clarifying the housing numbers used in the plan (in response to representations; 

clarifications).
 Minor amendments to urban fringe development principles (in response to 

representations).
 Extending scope of retail policy to cover main town centre uses (in response to 

representations).
 Improving city centre and waterfront policies to provide clearer focus on their pivotal 

role to the city’s prosperity (in response to representations; clarifications).
 Update of infrastructure policy to incorporate airport, key transport schemes and key 

flood related schemes (in response to representations; updates).
 Deletion of ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ (this policy is no longer 

required by PINS).

Module Nine: Delivery and monitoring – How we will implement the plan.
 Adding more detail to the delivery and monitoring framework and policies 

(clarification and filling in gaps).

6.0 The next steps

6.1 Once Plymouth Plan Part One is approved by Full Council, the key next steps include:

1. Delivering the plan’s monitoring and implementation framework, including the 
finalisation and publication of the suite of plan indicators and targets by December 
2015.  

2. Commencing the consultation and engagement process in relation to Plymouth Plan 
Part Two by October 2015, to ensure that local communities and stakeholders have 
the opportunity to influence and guide area and site specific policies for the city.

3. Continuing with the preparation of the Plymouth Plan evidence base to ensure that the 
combined Plymouth Plan (Parts One and Two) are based upon the most up-to-date 
and robust evidence available when submitted for public examination in 2017.

6.2 This work will be undertaken with our partners and under the overall co-ordination of the 
Plymouth Plan Working Group.  





FOREWORD



Plymouth Plan

2Index of Strategic Objectives and Policies

5Module One: Introducing the Plymouth Plan

10
Module Two: Philosophy and themes - The key things that underpin and
connect the plan

18
Module Three: The City Vision -What Plymouthwill be like in 2031 and beyond

25Module Four: The Strategy - What Plymouth's strategic role will be

39Module Five: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be a healthy city

61Module Six: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be a growing city

89Module Seven: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be an international city

103Module Eight: The Spatial Strategy - Where change will take place

129
Module Nine: Delivery and monitoring - How we will implement the Plymouth
Plan

1

C
ontents



Index of Strategic Objectives and Policies

12Strategic Objective 1 'Making the plan happen.'

13Theme 1 'Welcoming city.'

14Theme 2 'A city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods.'

16Theme 3 'Green city.'

24Strategic Objective 2 'Bringing the vision to life.'

26Strategic Objective 3 'Strengthening Plymouth's role in the region.'

27Policy 1 'Enhancing Plymouth's strategic role.'

28Policy 2 'Unlocking Plymouth's regional growth potential.'

29Policy 3 'Utilising Plymouth's regional economic assets.'

29Policy 4 'Enhancing Plymouth's strategic connectivity.'

34Policy 5 'Protecting and strengthening Devonport Naval Base and
Dockyard's strategic role.'

35Policy 6 'Enhancing Plymouth's role in maintaining the south west's
special natural environment.'

35Policy 7 'Safeguarding Plymouth's mineral resources.'

40Strategic Objective 4 'Delivering a healthy city.'

41Policy 8 'Addressing health inequalities and supporting healthy
lifestyles.'

45Policy 9 'Delivering the best outcomes for children, young people and
families.'

47Policy 10 'Supporting adults with health and social care needs.'

48Policy 11 'Playing an active role in the community.'

50Policy 12 'Delivering strong and safe communities and good quality
neighbourhoods.'

52Policy 13 'Delivering a safe, accessible, sustainable and
health-enabling transport system.'

54Policy 14 'Optimising the health and wellbeing benefits of the natural
environment.'

55Policy 15 'Meeting local housing needs.'

58Policy 16 'Delivering accessible health services and clinical excellence'

62Strategic Objective 5 'Creating a more prosperous city for all.'

2

Plymouth Plan

Index
ofS

trategic
O
bjectives

and
P
olicies



63Policy 17 'Creating the conditions for economic growth. '

66Policy 18 'Delivering sufficient land for new jobs.'

67Policy 19 'Delivering skills and talent development. '

69Policy 20 'Delivering sufficient land for new homes to meet Plymouth's
housing need.'

70Policy 21 'Provision for shops and services.'

72Policy 22 'Using transport investment to drive growth. '

74Policy 23 'Enhancing Plymouth's sporting facilities.'

75Policy 24 'Delivering Plymouth’s natural network.'

77Policy 25 'Reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change.'

79Policy 26 'Dealing with flood risk. '

81Policy 27 'Minimising Plymouth's waste.'

83Policy 28 'Promoting Plymouth’s heritage.'

84Policy 29 'Place shaping and the quality of the built environment.'

85Policy 30 'Safeguarding environmental quality, function and amenity.'

90Strategic Objective 6 'Enhancing Plymouth's profile as an international city.'

91Policy 31 'Implementing Britain’s Ocean City.'

92Policy 32 'Plymouth in the global market place.'

93Policy 33 'Positioning Plymouth as a major UK destination.'

95Policy 34 'Delivering a distinctive, dynamic cultural centre of regional,
national and international renown.'

97Policy 35 'Celebrating Plymouth's sporting excellence.'

98Policy 36 'Enhancing Plymouth's 'green city' credentials.'

99Policy 37 'Supporting world class universities and research institutions.'

100Policy 38 'Celebrating diverse communities.'

104Strategic Objective 7 'Strategic planning for the sub region.'

108Strategic Objective 8 'An effective spatial strategy for Plymouth.'

112Policy 39 'Defining the spatial distribution of housing in Plymouth.'

113Policy 40 'Principles for development in Plymouth's urban fringe.'

114Policy 41 'Defining the spatial provision of retail development and
main town centre uses. '

3

Index
ofS

trategic
O
bjectives

and
P
olicies



119Policy 42 'Improving Plymouth's city centre.'

122Policy 43 'Managing and enhancing Plymouth’s waterfront.'

126Policy 44 'Strategic transport and other infrastructure measures to
deliver the spatial strategy.'

129Strategic Objective 9 'Delivering infrastructure and investment.'

130Policy 45 'Plymouth’s investment priorities. '

131Policy 46 'Approach to development delivery and viability, planning
obligations and the community infrastructure levy.'

4

Plymouth Plan

Index
ofS

trategic
O
bjectives

and
P
olicies



Module One: Introducing the Plymouth Plan

What is the Plymouth Plan?

The Plymouth Plan is a ground-breaking plan which looks ahead to 2031. It sets a shared
direction of travel for the long term future of the city bringing together, for the first time in
Plymouth (and perhaps in the UK), a number of strategic planning processes into one place.
It talks about the future of the city's economy; it plans for the city's transport and housing
needs; it looks at how the city can improve the lives of children and young people and address
the issues which lead to child poverty; it sets out the aspiration to be a healthy and prosperous
city with a rich arts and cultural environment; and it incorporates emerging development plan
policy.

The Plymouth Plan is being published in two parts. Part One sets out an overarching strategy
for future change and growth in the city. Part Two will set out detailed policies for different
areas of Plymouth and site-specific policies for the development, improvement or conservation
of land in the city.

To enable a range of people to access the plan and find the information they need, the plan
is web based and interactive www.theplymouthplan.co.uk. However, a full document style
plan is also available.

Why do we need the Plymouth Plan?

Plymouth has for many years had a radical agenda to transform the city, driven by its ambition
to become one of the most vibrant waterfront cities in Europe where an outstanding quality
of life is enjoyed by everyone. Since 2004, when the so-called 'Mackay Vision', named after
one of its authors, was made part of the city’s planning policy (A Vision for Plymouth: A Past
with a Future, MBM Arquitectes with AZ Studio, 2003), Plymouth has been on a course to
increase its population through economic growth by over 20 per cent. Such a scale of growth
presents the city and the wider sub region with a huge opportunity to create a better future
everyone, as jobs are created, earnings are increased, productivity is raised, living standards
are improved, aspiration and skills are increased, the housing needs of local people are met,
and better quality services and facilities are provided. However, it also carries considerable
challenges to ensure that the benefits of growth are experienced by all Plymouth's people,
and that a fairer, healthier, safer and greener city is achieved.

Transforming the city is a long term venture; it does not take place by accident or overnight.
It needs careful planning and persistent delivery, keeping the vision in sight at all times. It
requires key decisions about investments and priority interventions to be strategically informed,
so that they complement one another and work together to secure quality outcomes. It
depends on partnership and co-operative working with local people, businesses, developers,
and a multitude of agencies and organisations, including neighbouring local authorities. In
short, it needs a strategic plan that the whole city can own.

5

M
odule

O
ne:Introducing

the
P
lym

outh
P
lan

http://www.theplymouthplan.co.uk


How will the Plymouth Plan deliver a shared vision?

Figure 1 shows how the Plymouth Plan will be used to drive the delivery of the city’s vision.
An important principle is that local people and communities of geography, identity and interest
are at the heart of the plan. A Plan for Investment and Infrastructure and an Investment
Prospectus will be prepared alongside the plan to identify and prioritise key infrastructure
and other investment needed over the short, medium and long-term. Other 'plans for ...' and
service specific delivery plans of Council departments and other organisations will be aligned
to the objectives of the plan, setting out the detail of how the higher level objectives and
policies of the plan will be implemented. The detailed implementation of those parts of the
plan to be delivered through the planning application process will be amplified by a
Supplementary Planning Document. Community-based initiatives, such as neighbourhood
plans, will be given a strategic context so that they help move the city towards achieving its
vision. A co-operative approach to monitoring and review will be an integral part of the
implementation process and will lead to regular updating of the plan.

Figure 1: How the plan will be used to drive
delivery

What statutory planning status will the Plymouth Plan have?

Once formally adopted through the planning process, the Plymouth Plan will become the
statutory development plan document for the city. It will replace the following Local
Development Framework development plan documents:

Plymouth Core Strategy, Adopted 2007.

6

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

O
ne:Introducing

the
P
lym

outh
P
lan



North Plymstock Area Action Plan & Minerals Development Plan Document, Adopted
2007.
Devonport Area Action Plan, Adopted 2007.
Millbay & Stonehouse Area Action Plan, Adopted 2007.
Waste Development Plan Document, Adopted 2008.
Sutton Harbour Area Action Plan, Adopted 2008.
Central Park Area Action Plan, Adopted 2008.
City Centre & University Area Action Plan, Adopted 2010.

Prior to adoption, all of the above documents will remain in place as the statutory development
plan for Plymouth. The emerging development plan policies contained in the Plymouth Plan
will however be a material consideration for planning purposes. Increasing weight will be
given to the draft policies as they go through the stages towards formal adoption. This will
include a 'pre-submission' consultation stage when Part Two of the Plymouth Plan is combined
with Part One. The entire combined Plymouth Plan will then be subject to a further consultation
process, before it is submitted for public examination, providing an early opportunity to review
the content of Part One as well as to extend the time horizon of the plan to 2036 with a longer
term view beyond.

What other statutory roles will the Plymouth Plan perform?

The Council along with other statutory bodies in the city have a number of statutory functions
that they are legally obliged to fulfil. The Plymouth Plan fulfils the Council's statutory role to
produce a strategy which demonstrates a strategic direction of travel and how particular
issues will be addressed in the following areas:

Transport (Transport Act 2000, as amended by the Local Transport Act 2008) - Local
Transport Plan 2011 - 2026.
Child Poverty (Part 2 of the Child Poverty Act 2010) - Child Poverty Strategy 2013 -
2016.
Health andWellbeing (Health and Social Care Act 2012) - Health andWellbeing Strategy.
Community Safety (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) - Safer Plymouth Partnership Plan
2014 - 2017.
Housing (Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2009) - Plymouth Housing Plan 2012
- 2017.
Natural Environment (The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006) - Plymouth Green Space Strategy
2008 - 2023.

Other strategic messages that will be absorbed into the Plymouth Plan from existing strategies
include those dealing with:

Economy - Local Economic Strategy Review 2013/14.
Children and young people - Children and Young People's Plan 2011 - 2014 (currently
under review).
Art and culture - The vital spark: A cultural strategy for the city of Plymouth 2009 - 2020.
Waste - Municipal Waste Strategy 2007 - 2030.

7

M
odule

O
ne:Introducing

the
P
lym

outh
P
lan



How is the Plymouth Plan structured?

The Plymouth Plan is structured around nine modules to help make the plan easier to navigate
and update. Each one deals with a separate aspect of the plan:

Module One introduces the plan and explains how it can be most effectively used.
Module Two identifies the key underlying principles that flow through the entire plan.
Module Three describes the vision for Plymouth and takes a look at what the future of
Plymouth might look like if this vision is realised.
Module Four explains Plymouth's role within the South West region and how this role
will be reinforced as the city vision is delivered.
Modules Five, Six and Seven explain how the vision will be implemented around three
key strategic outcomes - healthy city, growing city and international city.
Module Eight describes the spatial dimension of the vision, showing where change is
likely to take place.
Module Nine explains how the Plymouth Plan will be delivered and how its implementation
will be monitored and kept on track.

Additional modules will be added when Part Two of the Plymouth Plan is prepared during
2015 and 2016.

Strategic Outcomes set out what the city will look like in 2031; they identify the headline
changes that the Plymouth Plan seeks to achieve in order to make the city vision a reality.

Strategic Objectives set out in greater detail what the Plymouth Plan is seeking to deliver,
and how. In relation to the plan's development plan role, these objectives are part of the
emerging planning policy framework for the city.

Policies identify specifically what the Council, and where appropriate, its partners will do in
order to meet the strategic objectives. Policies which refer to 'the City' are those where there
is a lead partner or where partners may have a shared commitment or responsibility for
delivery. This may or may not include action on the part of the Council. Policies which refer
to 'the LPA' are policies which will be implemented solely through the Council's role as local
planning authority (LPA).

Measures of success, supported by a range of indicators, identify those measures that will
be monitored in order to know whether or not the Plymouth Plan is on track.

When will the plan first be reviewed?

The plan's effectiveness will be monitored on an ongoing basis with a full review undertaken
at least once every five years. However, as part of the process of ensuring that the Plymouth
Plan meets statutory development planning requirements there will be at least two further
iterations of the plan before this five-year review cycle commences. Firstly, when Part One
and Part Two of the plan are joined together in 2016, prior to the plan being submitted for
an independent examination by a planning inspector. Secondly, when the plan is formally
submitted for this independent examination, responding to any representations made at the

8

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

O
ne:Introducing

the
P
lym

outh
P
lan



earlier stage. Potentially there could be a third iteration before the plan is formally adopted
as the statutory development plan for the city, to address any matters the planning inspector
identifies in order that the plan can be adopted.

More information on the monitoring process is identified in Module Nine.

How is the plan best used?

Although you can read the plan from start to finish, the plan can be more easily navigated
using the interactive tools found at www.theplymouthplan.co.uk

1. Use these topic symbols to find strategic objectives and policies throughout the document
that might be of interest to you.

2. Look at the interactive plan to search the plan easily and see the latest news and progress
that has been made.

9

M
odule

O
ne:Introducing

the
P
lym

outh
P
lan

http://www.theplymouthplan.co.uk


Module Two: Philosophy and themes - The key things that
underpin and connect the plan

The philosophy that underpins the Plymouth Plan

Each strategic objective and policy in the Plymouth Plan is guided by one or more of five
complementary principles. These create an environment for the plan to be delivered in the
best possible way for people. They anchor the plan, demonstrating confidence and openness
about the basic values and beliefs that create the conditions to drive the city forward.

1. Roots: People feel like they belong in Plymouth and care for their own future and the
future of their communities and city.

The Plymouth Plan aims to create the conditions where people feel they are part of
the city and are sufficiently secure to contribute and invest in a diverse community and society.
This principle also places responsibility for caring for the future of the environment at its heart
and recognises that everyone plays a role in this.

The Plymouth Plan will create the conditions for this principle in a range of different ways,
for example:

Everyone in the city feels welcome and supported (Theme 1).
Puts sustainable development at the heart of decision making (Themes 1, 2 and 3).
Communities are sustainable and places where people enjoy living (Theme 2 and Policy
12).
High quality homes support people to feel settled, invested in and cared for (Policy 15).
Heritage is cared for and celebrated (Policy 28).
Local people feel positive about the city and are proud of their own and the city's culture
(Policies 31, 34 and 38).

2. Opportunity: People have more equal opportunities and the ability to contribute
to and benefit from being part of the city's future.

The Plymouth Plan aims to create the conditions that enable people to access the resources,
services and support they need in order to thrive.

The Plymouth Plan will do this in a range of different ways, for example:

Addressing health inequalities and long term health conditions (Policy 8).
Healthy lifestyle choices are supported through promotion of and access to the natural
environment (Policy 8).
Ensuring children and young people have the best possible start in life (Policy 9).
Transport options are accessible to support people to get to work, leisure and services
(Policy 13).
Creating an entrepreneurial culture which supports new business start ups and investment
among our existing businesses (Policy 17).
Ensuring that the city's residents have access to fulfilling careers (Policy 19).

10

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



The built environment respects people's rights and needs for access and high quality
spaces (Policies 29 and 30).
Diverse communities of geography, interest and identity are celebrated (Policy 38).
Planning obligations and the community infrastructure levy are used to benefit
communities and the natural environments affected by development (Policy 46).

3. Power: People have confidence that they can influence decisions that affect them.
Power is distributed in a way that makes the most of existing networks and systems.

Sometimes difficult strategic decisions will need to be made to move the city forward. The
Plymouth Plan aims to promote the sharing and devolving of power across the city to enable
action to happen, making use of democratic processes already in place and enabling local
communities to influence decisions or make decisions in fair and transparent ways.

The Plymouth Plan will create the conditions for this principle in a range of different ways,
for example:

Devolving power and supporting communities to lead change in their area (Policy 11).
Influencing decisions at a regional and national level (Policies 4 and 16).
Effective conservation and enhancement of the natural environment (Policy 6).
Empowering people, communities and institutions to drive their own economic success
(Policy 17).
Clear strategic decisions are made about land use and need (Policies 18, 20, 21, 39,
40 and 41).
Local stewardship of heritage assets (Policy 28).

4. Flourish: Individuals, communities and businesses thrive and there is an
environment that is creative, enterprising, diverse and open to new ways of doing
things.

The Plymouth Plan aims to enable exciting and resilient opportunities for business and
communities. Individuals should feel that making their aspirations happen is possible and be
supported to try new things.

The Plymouth Plan will create the conditions for this principle in a range of different ways,
for example:

Creating sustainable linked neighbourhoods (Theme 2).
Strategic and regional role is well promoted to support businesses and communities
(Policies 1, 2 and 3).
Regional centre of excellence for health (Policy 16).
Low carbon and green improvements that create spaces and facilities for people to thrive
(Theme 3 and Policies 24 and 25).
Sports are supported and developed as a key element of city life (Policies 8, 14, 23 and
35).
City profile is well promoted regionally and internationally (Policies 31 and 32).
Support for a global market place (Policy 32).
The city is a UK destination (Policy 33).

11

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



Celebrate green city credentials (Policy 36).
World Class Universities and research centres are supported (Policy 37).

5. Connections: People mix physically and socially, so they can interact, learn from
each other and work together.

The Plymouth Plan aims to create conditions that help people work together, meeting different
people and finding different ways to deliver change in the city and make things happen.
Resources, data and skills will be used more effectively in the city.

The Plymouth Plan will create the conditions for this principle in a range of different ways,
for example:

Encouraging joined up public services and shared resources (Module 9).
Working together with neighbouring authorities (Policy 40).
Joined up approach to managing the natural environment to protect and enhance it
(Policy 14).
Enabling communities to mix and share skills to contribute to sustainable neighbourhoods
(Policy 11).
Opening data where ever possible to improve our collective understanding of how the
city operates (Policy 17).

Key themes that run through the plan

Strategic Objective 1

Making the plan happen.

To implement the policies of the Plymouth Plan to achieve the city vision and manage
change and growth in Plymouth, in accordance with the following key themes:

1. Plymouth will be a welcoming city where people feel they belong and want to invest
personally and financially, where the services the City provides for people and the
physical environment are designed to express high value for young and old, resident
and visitor, local business and potential investor and where inequality and fairness
are addressed for those living and working in the city.

2. Plymouth will be a city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods, which meet the needs
of and provides quality places to live for all of Plymouth’s people.

3. Plymouth will be a green city, recognised internationally for its approach to
sustainable development, its enhancement of its natural infrastructure network and
its commitment to mitigating and adapting to climate change.

12

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



The key themes of the Plymouth Plan are the ‘golden threads’ that run through the entire
plan, ensuring that as the plan is implemented its principles are held to and fundamental
needs of the city are met, whilst at the same time meeting national statutory or policy
requirements.

Of crucial importance to the setting of these themes are both national and international
commitments to the delivery of sustainable development. The United Nations General
Assembly has defined sustainable development as meeting the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The UK Sustainable
Development Strategy Securing the Future set out five ‘guiding principles’ of sustainable
development: living within the planet’s environmental limits; ensuring a strong, healthy and
just society; achieving a sustainable economy; promoting good governance; and using sound
science responsibly. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 7) amplifies
this further by identifying three dimensions of sustainable development, and three key roles
for local plans in delivering sustainable development:

● An economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive
economy;

● A social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities; and

● An environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built
and historic environment, including moving to a low carbon economy.

In moving towards amore sustainable society the following key themes of plan implementation
are proposed, as expressed below.

Theme 1

Welcoming city.

The City aims to be a welcoming city where:

1. Every citizen of Plymouth, no matter how young or old feels safe, has the home they
need in an environment where they can thrive, and they are supported in playing a
full role in the life of their community, culture and city.

2. Every person who lives in or visits the city will be treated fairly and with respect
through prioritising the importance of physical, financial and intellectual access to
facilities, services and opportunities and promoting community cohesion.

3. Every child has access to an environment that prevents, reduces and mitigates the
impact of child poverty, and which provides outstanding early learning opportunities
and schools with a wide-ranging curriculum, as well as safe homes where they can
thrive and neighbourhoods designed with their wellbeing in mind.

4. Every young person has access to the opportunities they need to gain skills for
productive and fulfilling employment, and the housing, employment and
entrepreneurial opportunities they need to be able to remain in Plymouth should
they wish to do so.

13

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



5. Every student feels welcome and can contribute to the civic life of the city. They
have access to quality accommodation near their place of study, and have the
opportunity to remain in the city once they have graduated, with the support they
need to start a business or enter local employment.

6. Every business and investor / potential investor in Plymouth is provided with the
support and encouragement it needs to grow / invest, with the delivery of services
and the development of policy designed to reduce obstacles to growth and boost
investor confidence.

7. Every visitor will know that they are welcome in Plymouth through the provision of
a high quality visitor experience and cultural offer, with attractive public transport
gateways and services into the city, a quality and unique historic environment,
excellent hospitality services and visitor accommodation, and high quality information
and internet connectivity.

This key theme is a reminder that the Plymouth Plan is ultimately about people, and meeting
their needs (which is also at the heart of the United Nations definition of sustainable
development). The theme aims to ensure that delivery always occurs in a way which expresses
the highest value to the very people the policy is designed to support. A welcoming city can
be seen in the services that it delivers as well as the public spaces and physical environment
it provides. A welcoming city expresses values that should affect every aspect of Plymouth’s
governance.

Theme 2

A city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods.

The City aims to be a city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods, where each
neighbourhood:

1. Has a vibrant mixed use centre, whichmeets daily community needs for local services
such as neighbourhood shops, health and wellbeing services and community
facilities, and includes where appropriate dual uses of facilities in community hubs.

2. Provides for higher density living in the centres, as well as appropriate opportunities
for home working, reducing the need to travel.

3. Has high levels of digital connectivity and data is open, shared and used to better
understand the city and support communities and businesses.

4. Has good balance of housing types and tenures to support a range of household
sizes, ages and incomes to meet identified housing needs.

5. Has sufficient local population to provide demand which sustains key local services.

14

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



6. Is well served by consistent and reliable public transport, walking and cycling, both
within the neighbourhood, between adjoining neighbourhoods and to the rest of the
city.

7. Has a safe, accessible, healthy and wildlife-rich local environment, with well designed
public and natural spaces that are family friendly and welcoming to all.

8. Has services and facilities that promote equality and inclusion and that provide for
all sectors of the local population.

9. Has the facilities needed to meet the needs of all of the community, including
provision of education and training opportunities, employment uses, health care,
arts, culture, community facilities, leisure and recreation, and places of worship.

10. Provides a positive sense of place and identity, including through the recognition of
good quality urban design, unique character, the role of culture, and the protection
and enhancement of the historic environment.

Plymouth needs to be a place where people of all ages and circumstances want to live. To
deliver this, we need to start from the city’s foundations, its neighbourhoods, and build from
the bottom up. Whether the city functions efficiently and harmoniously will mainly be
determined by the relationships within and between neighbourhoods. The plan aims to support
local communities in improving their neighbourhoods and provide avenues for direct investment
so that it strengthens communities. Whilst many of our neighbourhoods already provide
attractive living environments with good access to local facilities, there are some areas that
are more disadvantaged and where improvement would be welcomed.

A sustainable neighbourhood has:

A sufficient number of people to engender a sense of belonging, vitality and safety,
as well as support the range of services that people need in their daily lives. Research
shows that the size of a sustainable neighbourhood is some 2,000 to 3,000 people.
A mix of land uses that works well together, providing for activity so that dead spaces
which are a hindrance to sense of community and safety, are avoided. To achieve this
will mean concentrating a range of public facilities and commercial activities in local and
district centres, and at other appropriate locations in a neighbourhood, to ensure a good
level of access to all residents. These centres will include the facilities that we all use
as part of our daily lives, such as shops, schools, health care and community facilities,
as well as higher density housing.
Good accessibility and is walkable. The centre of the community will be the public
transport hub, connecting the community to the rest of the city. Around the centre will
be predominantly residential areas, as well as parks and playing fields, with facilities in
walking distance along safe, accessible and convenient routes. Community safety will
be an important feature of their design. This will include structuring different uses so
they do not conflict and ensuring public places are overlooked.

15

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



Good digital connectivity where digital, information and communication technologies
are used to enhance the quality and performance of services, reduce costs, share
resources, and to engage more effectively and actively with local people and businesses.
Character and sense of place. Many parts of Plymouth are steeped in history, containing
important buildings providing character and identity, located within superb natural settings.
All these elements need to be respected; they are key assets in reshaping our
neighbourhoods, making places where people want to live.
Social inclusion. Equality and inclusion are goals that lie at the heart of creating
sustainable linked neighbourhoods, where the needs of all sections of the local population
for housing, transport, employment, leisure, safety and accessibility are recognised and
provided for. In particular, it is important that the needs of young and older people are
recognised but also the needs of race and faith groups, people with disabilities and the
needs of women and men (for example, the needs of parents / carers with dependent
children). People also need to be able to travel by public transport between communities
so that they can easily visit relatives, friends and access services and jobs wherever
they are in the city.

Theme 3

Green city.

The City aims to be one of Europe’s greenest cities where:

1. Challenging emissions reduction targets are met by:

a. Conserving energy in our homes, businesses and modes of travel.
b. Increasing energy generation from renewable and low carbon sources.
c. Supporting co-operative action on energy.

2. A thriving green economy is achieved, with a skilled and growing workforce.
3. A high quality and functional network of natural spaces is embedded across Plymouth

and provides for the needs of people, wildlife and businesses, now and in the future.
4. An ambitious housing and social policy is delivered which ensures affordable warmth,

addresses fuel poverty, provides healthier homes, and supports local people in
accessing cheaper and green energy.

5. A transport system is provided that delivers a step-change in walking, cycling, and
public transport as the travel modes of choice for journeys in the city.

6. Plymouth is a virtually nil-to-landfill city.
7. People and communities are aware of, value and contribute to, the sustainability of

the environment around them and are empowered to meet the challenges posed
by climate change.

8. Plymouth bathing waters are healthy to bathe in at all times, the city is resilient to
flooding.

9. Plymouth enjoys the benefits of some of the cleanest air of any city in the country.
10. Plymouth is known for its food; exceptional quality, locally grown, available to all,

building on its reputation as a 'sustainable food city'.

16

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



Plymouth has a substantial reputation for sustainability, being recognised as one of Forum
for the Future’s leading ‘green’ cities. For example, in recent years Plymouth has:

Almost doubled the area of land designated as Local Nature Reserves from 132 hectares
(ha) in 2008 to 258ha in 2014.
Directly involved 4,000 people at 200 regular project activities between 2010 - 2013
through it's Stepping Stones to Nature Project.
Secured £3million from the Department of Energy and Climate Change under the Green
Deal for Communities programme to support 1,400 improvements in home energy
efficiency.
Initiated a £1 million programme to supply schools with low cost renewable energy.
Secured £400,000 to install electric car charging points around the city.
Secured £4 million of funding to support walking and cycling initiatives.
Delivered personalised travel planning to almost 65,000 households.
Seen £140 million of investment in water infrastructure by South West Water.

However, being a leading 'green city' will require concerted action over a long time span. A
50 year Plan for the Environment will be developed as a visionary initiative, exploring and
establishing aspirational targets in relation to carbon reductions, environmental quality, and
delivering a socially and environmentally sustainable city. A University of Exeter research
report ('Analysis of Carbon Targets for Plymouth City Council', April 2014) shows that Plymouth
can realistically aspire to deliver a reduction in the city's carbon emissions by 50 per cent on
2005 levels provided that amulti-faceted programme of carbon reducingmeasures is delivered,
securing a step-change in green energy, energy efficiency and sustainable travel. This would
be a significant move towards supporting the UK government's target for 2050 of an 80 per
cent reduction on 2005 levels, as set out in the Climate Change Act 2008. Other major
outcomes that are within reach include delivering substantial progress towards overcoming
fuel poverty in the city, and taking our care and management of the city's precious natural
environment to even higher levels and engaging all of the city's schools in an environmental
learning network.

17

M
odule

Tw
o:

P
hilosophy

and
them

es
-The

key
things

thatunderpin
and

connectthe
plan



Module Three: The City Vision - What Plymouth will be like in
2031 and beyond

What will Plymouth be like in 2031 and beyond?

Plymouth’s vision is to be one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where an
outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone .

The vision statement was conceived through an extensive period of partnership working and
engagement in the early part of the 2000s, during which time the so-called ‘Mackay Vision’
was prepared (A Vision for Plymouth: A Past with a Future, Report of MBM Arquitectes with
AZ Studio, 2003). It was initially integrated into the city's planning policy in 2004 and then
formally adopted into the Local Development Framework Core Strategy in April 2007. Since
then it has been at the heart of policy and plan-making within the city.

As part of the partner and community engagement process for the Plymouth Plan during
2014, work was undertaken to amplify what this vision meant for how Plymouth might look
by 2031. In addition to identifying Plymouth's strategic role in the region (see Module Four),
three strategic outcomes were identified to capture the essence of Plymouth in 2031 and
build upon the city’s unique assets of people and place:

Plymouth as a healthy city.
Plymouth as a growing city.
Plymouth as an international city.

Plymouth as a healthy city

This is about enabling all of the city’s people to enjoy an outstanding quality of life, including
happy, healthy, safe and fulfilled lives.

Quality of life is essential to health and wellbeing and relates to every facet of life. For example,
the lack of skills needed to secure productive employment; an unfit and poorly insulated
home; poor access to public open space; not having access to affordable healthy food; fear
of crime; or a lack of social interaction and sense of community. These can all contribute to
problems with physical and mental health and dysfunction in families and communities,
resulting in significant disparities in individuals' health and wellbeing between neighbourhoods
as well as high levels of child poverty across Plymouth.

A key challenge of the Plymouth Plan is to improve health and wellbeing in the city overall
and particularly to reduce health inequalities. This is a key outcome of the agenda for creating
healthy communities. Such communities are places where basic needs of good housing and
employment are met, and where the social and physical environment enables children to get
the best start in life and older people's needs to be met. This drives change and supports
high levels of aspiration amongst children and adults alike, whilst advocating a positive sense
of community and social interaction.

18

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



Being in employment or running a business which is rewarding to the individual is also a key
driver of improved health, and there is evidence of a link between higher average wages and
better health. The aspirations of a city which is growing economically are therefore closely
aligned to those of a healthy city.

People are living longer in the UK, and it is no different in Plymouth. It is therefore a key
aspiration to enable these older years to be ones where a good quality of life is maintained
and where older people are enabled to continue to contribute to the economic, social and
environmental wellbeing of the city. This needs to be seen against a back-drop of reduced
public sector spending. Care services will be increasingly under pressure to meet the needs
of an ageing population. However, a healthy community will be a place where an ageing
population can live independently, reducing the need for residential care or hospitalisation,
and continue to make a valuable contribution to society.

A glimpse at what a ‘healthy city’ might look like in 2031:

The conditions for good health and wellbeing exist across the entire city, with health
inequalities significantly reduced and where people feel safe in the city and their
neighbourhoods.
Major in-roads have been made into key issues such as mental health, healthy
weight, substance misuse (including alcohol), integration of health and wellbeing
and everyone has equal access to primary care services.
Young people are equipped with the skills to improve their wellbeing, and all children
leave school with the ability to read and write.
Children, young people and their families are living in a city where child poverty is
not tolerated.
Older people are living independently for longer and there is a focus on self-care
where people are well placed to manage their conditions and care for themselves
wherever feasible, accessing support when needed.
Plymouth is known for being a dementia friendly city.
Major regeneration programmes have been completed for North Prospect, Devonport
and Millbay leaving a legacy of stronger communities, and communities facing
challenges in the city have been enabled to improve their own neighbourhoods.
Targeted interventions focusing on wellbeing, as well as projects focused on cultural
activity and the city's heritage, has significantly contributed to a healthier city.
Everyone has the opportunity to participate in sport and physical activity to develop
an active and healthy lifestyle.
Everyone has a decent home which suits their needs, with a well managed vibrant
housing stock across all sectors.
Huge strides have been made in addressing fuel poverty through programmes and
initiatives to address the cost and efficiency of energy in homes.
The education environment and infrastructure supports high levels of attainment.
Each neighbourhood provides good access to local employment opportunities, and
a transport system that protects the environment and encourages healthy lifestyles.

19

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



Each neighbourhood has an area at its heart which acts as a focal point and provides
a range of daily services, including access to healthy and affordable food and good
access to high quality open space.
Plymouth uses its city centre, waterfront and other high profile locations to support
the economic and social wellbeing of its sub region through providing opportunities
for farmers markets and promoting greater use of locally sourced food.
Plymouth is known as a centre for clinical excellence, where excellent health and
wellbeing services are provided for all of its residents.
Residents show great pride in the city's heritage, leading and supporting many
initiatives to promote the city's history and its historic built and natural environment.
Plymouth is a city where there is a rich vein of community spirit exemplified by a
vibrant volunteering culture which enables both increased self-esteem and improved
mental and physical health for the volunteers as well as those who receive help.

Plymouth as a growing city

This is about using Plymouth’s economic, social and environmental strengths to drive quality
growth which transforms the city’s long term prosperity, so that the needs of all of its people
are met and they benefit from the highest quality of services and facilities.

Plymouth’s vision for growth is led by improvements to the local economy. An economy led
growth strategy requires a strategic approach to economic development which supports all
sectors of the economy and builds upon the city's key strengths, such as the marine and
advanced manufacturing sectors. This helps address the city’s low productivity and delivers
economic growth. Part of this agenda is to optimise the benefits to be derived to the city from
its cultural offer, and to nurture businesses in the creative sector.

Since the ‘Mackay Vision’ was published, Plymouth has aspired to grow to a city with a
population in excess of 300,000. Although there is no precise science to this figure, large
and prosperous cities and their sub regions can sustain high-quality services through increased
demand in a way that smaller cities with less prosperous sub regions cannot. The Strategic
Housing Market Needs Assessment for Plymouth’s Housing Market Area provides evidence
that a high growth aspiration, driven by economic performance, could lead to a city with a
population in excess of 300,000 by 2031.

A key challenge will be to ensure that residents have the necessary training and skills and
that key infrastructure is in place to ensure the city has the right environment for growth and
investment. It will also be crucial to ensure that growth does not damage the city’s special
qualities but instead builds upon what is already good about the city; its local community
spirit, its exceptional waterfront and green spaces, and its culture and heritage.

Growth also provides the opportunity to support a low carbon economy, responding to the
challenge of climate change and making Plymouth more resilient to its impact. Cities that
pro-actively respond to the business challenges and opportunities presented by the shift to
a low carbon economy will be more competitive and resilient in the long term. The city already
has a substantial reputation for sustainability, being recognised as one of the Forum for the
Future’s leading ‘green’ cities. Research has shown that the city’s low carbon and

20

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



environmental industries will outstrip growth in other industries by a significant margin over
the decade to 2025 (The Low Carbon and Environmental Economy in Plymouth’ 2011, RED
Group, Plymouth Business School).

A glimpse at what a ‘growing city’ might look like in 2031:

Plymouth is a significant hub for the south west, bringing together business
infrastructure, world-class research facilities and expertise, with a thriving knowledge
economy.
Plymouth’s key economic strengths and assets (such as the marine and maritime
sector, advanced manufacturing, medical and healthcare, the visitor economy), and
its primary economic nodes (the City Centre / Waterfront and Derriford) have seen
strong and sustained growth over a protracted period, rebalancing and driving the
sub regional economy.
All people in the city have an increased ability to participate in, contribute to, and
benefit from its growth and economic prosperity.
Plymouth's creative and cultural industries have seen significant growth, with new
businesses and trade and investment on a national and international scale. This
has contributed to a greater retention of creative graduates and also attracts
graduates from other areas of the UK.
Plymouth’s young people have the skills they need to find productive employment,
through the provision of high quality education, and are supported by the momentum
generated through the Plymouth and South West Peninsula City Deal. The city's
graduates choose to stay in Plymouth, entering employment, starting businesses,
contributing to its success and contributing to its entrepreneurial spirit.
The City Centre is enhanced and regenerated as a vibrant modern mixed-use
regional shopping centre of appropriate scale for prevalent retail patterns, with high
levels of internet connectivity, high quality high density urban living, and a hub for
culture and leisure to serve the wider city.
The Waterfront is enhanced as the showcase piece for the city, a hub for culture
and major events, an international gateway with high quality waterside living and a
wholly accessible and inclusive destination.
Around 23,000 new homes have been provided to meet the housing needs of
economic growth and the local population, helping to build a city of quality sustainable
neighbourhoods.
Plymouth is a smart city having created a socio-digital eco-system where the City
shares data and information between partners and the community through an ‘open
first’ approach, delivering better co-operation, engagement and involvement, and
unlocking the full capacity of local people and businesses to contribute to the growth
of the city.
Key strategic transport and other infrastructure projects needed to enable this growth
have been delivered, as have projects to create the right environment for growth
and investment in the marine industries, knowledge-based industries and the visitor
economy.

21

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



The Central Park masterplan and major new strategic parks at Derriford and Saltram
are completed.
A new heart for the north of Plymouth has been delivered at Derriford and is thriving,
anchored by the new Derriford District Centre. Derriford is an established hub for
new industries and commerce delivering high quality jobs.
The value of Plymouth Sound and the estuaries is optimised in a way whichmaintains
its environmental status.
Plymouth's carbon footprint has been substantially reduced and the city is more
resilient to the social, economic and environmental impacts of climate change.
Plymouth's new architecture and innovative urban design are considered to be some
of the highest quality and most inspiring in the UK.

Plymouth as an international city

This is about how the city projects itself to the wider world, to people who might invest in or
visit the city, the sense of pride that local people take in their city and how Plymouth’s
businesses engage with an increasingly global market place.

Plymouth has adopted the branding of Britain’s Ocean City, reflecting the pride that the city
takes in its unique maritime heritage and stunning setting, but also the city’s ambition and
its confidence in what is has to offer. However, to be known as an international city it is vital
that Plymouth realises greater value from its unique assets.

Plymouth has a strong consensus around its aspirations to be recognised at an international
level for being a waterfront city; a university with world-wide reputation and world-class assets
in relation to marine science and technologies; one of the finest regional theatres in the
country; and a maritime heritage of world-wide significance, including Sir Francis Drake and
the Spanish Armada, and the sailing of the Pilgrim Fathers.

The 400th anniversary of the sailing of the Mayflower (‘Mayflower 400’) in 2020 provides the
potential for an internationally significant event. It will be a unique, once in a lifetime opportunity
to present ‘Britain’s Ocean City’ to the world and can act as a driver for business growth in
marine and related industries, the visitor economy, the culture of the city and raising the city’s
profile and reputation in the global market place. It also provides an opportunity to engage
with the local community, to engender public pride and to develop legacy projects and
significant partner relationships with overseas communities with links to the Mayflower story.
These and other unique assets need to be used to Plymouth’s advantage.

Plymouth’s businesses on average have a comparatively low propensity to export, and this
is one of the challenges that the Plymouth Plan needs to address in order to be a successful
international city. It has considerable marine and advanced manufacturing strengths, with a
number of international businesses, and there is clearly potential for businesses to do more
to reap the economic rewards from international trade.

22

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



A glimpse at what an ‘international city’ might look like in 2031:

Every resident can feel proud not just about Plymouth's unique past as a city of
great importance internationally, but also of its status as a modern international city.
Plymouth provides an internationally competitive cultural and visitor offer, optimising
the value of existing destinations such as Royal William Yard, The Hoe, The Barbican
and Sutton Harbour, the National Marine Aquarium, Plymouth Theatre Royal and
Plymouth Life Centre, and linking them to new destinations such as the Plymouth
History Centre, so that the city is recognised as a 'must do' visitor destination for
the UK.
The Plymouth History Centre is developed as a unique new asset, creating great
pride in the city amongst local people, and raising Plymouth’s profile to investors
and visitors from other parts of the country and world.
Plymouth has a major international programme with a range of live international
projects working across Europe, US and China that contributes to trade and
investment in the creative and cultural industries across the city.
Plymouth’s unique waterfront has been transformed through improvements to public
spaces and key heritage assets, such as The Hoe and The Barbican, as well as
hosting major events for art, culture and sport.
Water transport improvements have improved access to and opportunities at key
locations such as Mount Batten, Sutton Harbour, Millbay, Royal William Yard,
Devonport andMount Edgcumbe country park, as well as providing wider connections
to waterfront communities such as Turnchapel and Saltash.
The Mayflower 400 anniversary in 2020 has created a strong legacy both for the
visitor economy and for local people, through improved public realm and waterfront
access and lasting economic benefits, and has been a catalyst for cultural
development across the city.
Plymouth has built on its reputation for excellent hospitality and food and drink, with
major new investment in quality hotels and visitor accommodation.
Plymouth's position in the global market place has been greatly strengthened through
business growth, inward investment and well developed access to new markets.
The design of new buildings and of public spaces in the City Centre, along Plymouth’s
waterfront and at gateways to the city reflect the quality to be expected from
Plymouth’s Britain's Ocean City status.
A newMarine Industries Production Campus has been fully developed and is driving
wider investment in the city and regional economy, helping maintain Plymouth’s
reputation as a world leader in the marine science and technology sector.
Plymouth University’s campus has expanded and supported the regeneration of the
City Centre, and the city's three universities and research institutions are collectively
giving Plymouth a strong international profile.
Radical improvements are made to key city gateways, with high quality and modern
arrival points through the City Centre's railway station and coach station and an

23

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



accessible and modernised Millbay port, including the provision of a cruise liner
terminal.
Plymouth is recognised internationally as a leading sustainable city through its
environmental credentials.

Strategic Objective 2

Bringing the vision to life.

By 2031, for Plymouth to be one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities where an
outstanding quality of life is enjoyed by everyone and where the following strategic
outcomes have been realised:

1. Plymouth's strategic role is fulfilled as a regional city and a major economic driver
for the heart of the south west.

2. Plymouth as a healthy city, where its people live in happy, healthy, safe and aspiring
communities.

3. Plymouth as a growing city, which has used its economic, social, environmental and
cultural strengths to deliver quality and sustainable growth.

4. Plymouth as an international city, renowned as the UK’s premier marine city and
famous for its waterfront, maritime heritage and culture.

24

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Three:The
C
ity

Vision
-W

hatP
lym

outh
w
illbe

like
in
2031

and
beyond



Module Four: The Strategy - What Plymouth's strategic role will
be

What we are trying to achieve - our strategic objective for Plymouth's
strategic role

Strategic Outcome

Plymouth is fulfilling its role as a regional city and a major economic driver for the Heart
of the South West, building on its rich cultural, natural and built assets. It is stimulating
growth to the benefit of the city and its wider sub region. It has excellent transport and
communications connectivity regionally, nationally and internationally, and provides the
focus for culture, specialist health care, education, shopping and leisure services.

The UK’s cities are seeking to take more control over their fortunes. Initiatives such as City
Deal have helped to see a transfer of some powers and funding for infrastructure and economic
growth to cities and to their sub regions. In addition there are now legislative changes being
rolled out to hand greater powers to cities striving to become the economic powerhouses of
their sub regions – as can be seen most notably in places such as Greater Manchester and
the north west of England.

Although the forerunners in the use of these new powers have been the very largest
conurbations, Plymouth and its agenda for growth is also part of this movement. Plymouth
is one of England’s 'Key Cities' and is by far the most significant urban area of the south west
peninsula. Its population of approximately 260,000 means that it is over twice the size of
Exeter, and this is excluding those neighbourhoods which sit on the other side of the city's
administrative boundary. Plymouth’s economy is £4.5 billion and it supports 105,000 jobs.
In the whole of the south west only Bristol is of more significance on the national stage.

Plymouth is part of the Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership (HotSW LEP).
The HotSW LEP has developed its Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 2014-2030 and its
European Union Structural and Investment Funds Strategy (ESIF) 2014 - 2020, which aspire
to deliver strong and transformational levels of economic growth across the HotSW by focusing
on ‘People,’ ‘Place’ and 'Business' initiatives.

The SEP aspires to deliver transformational levels of growth by focusing on:

Creating the conditions for growth, e.g. transport infrastructure.
Maximising productivity and employment, e.g. stimulating jobs.
Capitalising on our distinctive assets, e.g. transformational opportunities.

The HotSW LEP priorities for growth align well with Plymouth’s priorities. The policies laid
out in this plan will contribute to a number of LEP priorities, particularly priorities around
‘place’, such as strategic connectivity, housing growth and specialist infrastructure needed
for higher value growth. The SEP highlighted four key ‘transformational opportunities’ for the

25

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



LEP area - nuclear, aerospace, environmental futures and marine. Of particular relevance
to Plymouth is the marine opportunity, given the strength of the sector in Plymouth and the
opportunity to develop the marine industries production campus through the City Deal. The
Plymouth Plan therefore has a good alignment with LEP priorities for higher value growth.
The LEP has been successful in securing considerable Government investment through the
Growth Deal process. Growth Deals 1 and 2 have successfully secured investment in a
number of transport and infrastructure projects in the City, aligned with the City’s growth
aspirations. As well as locally specific projects, the LEP has also been successful in securing
a number of investments that benefit the whole area, such as the development of a 'Growth
Hub' to create a more favourable business support environment.

Strategic Objective 3

Strengthening Plymouth's role in the region.

To consolidate and strengthen Plymouth’s role as the major regional city in the south
west peninsula of England, enhancing its contribution to the economic and social wellbeing
of the south west and providing the major commercial, service and employment centre.
This will be achieved through:

1. Strengthening the role of Plymouth City Centre, the Waterfront and Derriford as
regional hubs and economic drivers of primary importance within the south west.

2. Supporting further investment in strategic services that serve the region, including
the city's regional health, higher and further education and strategic sports and
cultural facilities.

3. Working with partners in the sub region to plan for and develop cultural opportunities,
international projects for trade and investment and strategic cultural programmes
to increase cultural investment in the south west.

4. Unlocking the regional growth potential of Plymouth's City Centre and Waterfront,
Derriford and the city's northern and eastern corridors.

5. Ensuring that strategic development proposals within the sub region support and
complement Plymouth's role as a sub-regional driver.

6. Working with partners in the region to deliver the Plymouth and SouthWest Peninsula
City Deal initiative, driving forward the growth of the marine sector across the whole
peninsula.

7. Working with partners in the region to see radical improvements to Plymouth and
the region’s strategic connectivity by road, rail, sea and air as well as digital
connectivity.

8. Safeguarding the strategic defence role that Plymouth plays for the UK's security
and optimising the benefits this brings to the regional economy.

9. Working with partners to enhance the region’s natural assets, particularly the network
of European, national and locally designated sites.

10. Working with partners to protect the region's mineral resources.

26

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



What we are going to do - our policies for Plymouth's strategic role

Policy 1

Enhancing Plymouth's strategic role.

Plymouth's strategic role as a centre and hub for regional services and culture will be
strengthened through partnership working and a positive planning environment which
encourages new investment in facilities and infrastructure.

Plymouth City Centre will be seen as the primary location for major comparison goods
shopping development, commercial leisure and office development within the city, in
order to maintain and strengthen its status as a regional shopping destination, as well
as a strategic location for higher / further education services. The LPA will therefore use
its planning powers to promote forms of development that enhance the City Centre in
order to reinforce its regional shopping role, whilst resisting developments in other parts
of the city and the sub region which would be prejudicial to this role.

Plymouth's waterfront will continue to be promoted and strengthened as amajor regional
hub in its own right for the economy, culture, tourism and leisure, and heritage.

The Derriford area will continue to be promoted and strengthened as a primary provider
of regionally significant health, economic, educational and sports services.

Plymouth’s influence extends far beyond its boundaries. A key challenge for the city and its
partners over the life of the Plymouth Plan will be to continue to strengthen its role and to
ensure that the benefits of a growing city are fully recognised in the south west.

Many of the institutions based in Plymouth already play a key regional role. For example:

Derriford Hospital provides health care for patients across Devon and Cornwall and is
the designated Major Trauma Centre for the peninsula – one of two Major Trauma
Centres (with Frenchay in Bristol) in the west country.
Plymouth’s three universities and its further education colleges provide a range of
educational opportunities for students in Devon and Cornwall, as well as attracting
students from the rest of the UK and overseas.

27

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



Plymouth’s employment opportunities attract people from an area reaching well beyond
Ivybridge in the east, Tavistock in the north and Liskeard in the west.
Plymouth also has a regionally significant sports complex (Plymouth Life Centre) and
hosts three sporting teams competing in national leagues, with loyal followings in the
region: Plymouth Raiders basketball team, Plymouth Albion Rugby Union team and
Plymouth Argyle Football Club.

Plymouth has a pivotal arts and cultural role in the south west and leads on regional initiatives
for culture to maximise investment, working in partnership across the peninsula. Plymouth
has the ability through the growth of the creative industries and its size as a city to become
a regional hub for creativity and culture specifically as a gateway for international practice
and development.

The role of Plymouth City Centre, the Waterfront and the Derriford area is of particular
importance to the city's strategic role, providing retail, cultural, tourism, leisure, transport,
health, further/higher education and employment services to the entire sub region and beyond.

Policy 2

Unlocking Plymouth's regional growth potential.

The City will deliver a regionally significant scale of growth in new jobs and new homes
in the City Centre/Waterfront Growth Area, the Derriford and the Northern Corridor Growth
Area, and the Eastern Corridor Growth Area. This will be through a co-ordinated approach
to economic development, spatial planning and infrastructure planning. Strategic
development proposals outside of Plymouth's administrative area should address any
cross-border infrastructure impacts within the city. Proposals which would put at risk
Plymouth's strategic role and regional growth potential will be resisted.

The HotSW LEP's SEP sets out a balanced approach to growth, recognising the need to
address barriers (such as transport, connectivity, skills), as well as seizing opportunities for
transformational growth through high value sectors (such as marine). The growth aspirations
set out and modelled in the SEP, highlight the link between higher growth rates, job creation
and resulting population increases and housing demand. Whilst the SEP is not a spatial
strategy for the area, there is clearly an important role for urban areas like Plymouth in
delivering the growth aspirations of the SEP. In Plymouth these opportunities exist particularly
but not exclusively in three Growth Areas: the City Centre and Waterfront, Derriford and the
Northern Corridor (including potential cross border growth at Woolwell), and the Eastern
Corridor (including Saltram Meadow, the new community at Sherford and Newnham). The
nature and scale of the opportunity is considered in more detail in Module Eight, and this will

28

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



be amplified by strategic and site specific policies for each Growth Area in Plymouth Plan
Part Two. The role of the policy is to acknowledge the City's commitment to working in
partnership in order to ensure that the city's regional growth potential is realised.

Policy 3

Utilising Plymouth's regional economic assets.

The City will work with the HotSW LEP, Plymouth and South West Peninsula City Deal
and the universities and colleges to strengthen its higher value industries, including it's
marine, advanced manufacturing, medical and health care and knowledge based
economic sectors, optimising the benefits that these assets bring to the regional economy.

Plymouth is the largest urban area in the LEP and is recognised as a key location for growth.
The strategy set out in the Plymouth Plan reflects and supports a regional agenda for the
city. It builds on its potential for economic growth, capitalising on the success of the Plymouth
and South West Peninsula City Deal as well as the opportunities its maritime location and
environment bring for pioneering research and development (see also Policy 32). The City
Deal was agreed with the Government in 2013 and sets out initiatives to drive the growth of
the marine sector across the peninsula. Much of the focus of the City Deal is on Plymouth,
as the regional hub for marine industries but also in terms of the city being the location for
the Marine Industries Production Campus at South Yard. The City Deal places Plymouth at
the centre of a web of initiatives spanning the far south west, covering investment in business
and infrastructure and also in skills and the development of the workforce of which Plymouth's
universities and colleges also play a key role.

Policy 4

Enhancing Plymouth's strategic connectivity.

The City will work with its partners in the south west to promote and secure the radical
improvements to the quality and resilience of Plymouth's transport and digital connectivity
to the rest of the country and to global markets, and to protect its key transport
infrastructure. Priority will be given to:

1. Safeguarding the opportunity for the potential future re-use of Plymouth airport as
a general aviation airport, whilst at the same time strengthening links to Exeter and
Bristol airports.

2. Securing improvements to capacity, frequency and journey times for rail services
to and from Plymouth to include making substantial progress in the plan period

29

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



towards achieving two to three trains per hour between London and Plymouth at an
average speed of 100mph or a journey time of 2 hours 15 minutes.

3. Securing electrification of all main line rail services to and from Plymouth by 2027.
4. Enhancing the resilience of the rail network against increasingly severe and frequent

extreme weather events including:

a. Enhancing the resilience of the existing coastal route at Dawlish.

b. Increasing the capacity of:

i. the Exeter to London Waterloo Line as far as Salisbury to enable the line
to Yeovil and on to Castle Cary to become an effective diversionary route,
also improving the strategic connectivity between the south east and the
south west.

ii. the rail network by progressing the Dawlish Avoiding Line, a new high
speed inland route between Exeter and Newton Abbot offering additional
capacity and journey time improvements for long distance services in and
out of the south west.

c. Delivering a longer term solution for resilience for the routes across the Somerset
levels between Taunton and Bridgewater and Taunton and Castle Cary by fully
implementing the Levels and Moors Flood Action Plan .

5. Promoting and supporting improvements to the Peninsula Metro rail network, placing
Plymouth at the hub of a local rail network connecting Devon and Cornwall.

6. Improving connectivity in order to increase access and rail freight opportunities
between Plymouth, Exeter and the rest of the country by reopening a northern rail
route between Plymouth and Exeter via Tavistock and Okehampton.

7. Upgrading and redeveloping Plymouth railway station as a regional hub station and
delivering a new coach station in the City Centre.

8. Plymouth's inclusion on the Department for Transport's network of Strategic National
Corridors.

9. Improvements to the strategic road networks that connect Plymouth to wider markets,
including improving journey time reliability on the A38/M5/M4 corridors and on the
second corridor to London and the south east via the A303/A358/A30 corridor.

10. Strengthening the strategic role of the A38 in supporting economic growth in
Plymouth, south and west Devon and Cornwall, including investigating the case and
options for upgrading the road to motorway standard.

11. Supporting the expansion of port activities with modernised and accessible port
infrastructure, and safeguarding the existing port infrastructure including the mineral
wharves.

12. Building upon Plymouth's digital connectivity to create high quality and technologically
advanced methods of communication for businesses and residents as well as a
network of shared and open data, which enables strategic decision making and
unlocks barriers to strategic connectivity with the rest of the world. Thereby to ensure
that the city is known for having 'best in class' digital connectivity,

30

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



The policy sets out a multifaceted approach, which tackles issues of connectivity at all levels
and seeks to protect key infrastructure assets such as the land and facilities at the site of the
now closed Plymouth airport. The measures will only be able to be implemented through
working effectively with others in the region, and many will require the explicit support of the
government.

Strategic connectivity from Plymouth to the wider economy is achieved digitally and through
road, rail, sea and air travel. This is a very significant issue for Plymouth, and for both the
HotSW and Cornwall & Isles of Scilly LEPs. By 2030 the HotSW LEP's SEP aims to have
significant improved the resilience of the region's transport infrastructure to bad weather
events, and to achieve full dualling of the A303/A30 corridor, rail journey times to Plymouth
of less than 2 hours 30 minutes and 100 per cent coverage of superfast broadband and
mobile.

The Plymouth Plan specifically safeguards the opportunity for the re-opening of Plymouth
airport for general aviation. It is for partners in the private sector to work with the City to
develop robust proposals to show how aviation uses will be reinstated at the airport. The
opportunity for future aviation use will be protected by ensuring that the airport site itself and
land that would be required to meet operational safety requirements is not subject to any
form of development which would prejudice this opportunity. In this respect, it should be
noted that the government committed in its Budget Statement 2015 to undertake a study into
whether there are viable options for the reopening of Plymouth Airport.

The need to enhance resilience of the rail network and to reduce journey times is a particular
challenge for the entire region. In relation to journey time, mainline rail journeys to London
from Plymouth are slower than to all other English cities with over 100,000 population.
Independent academic research by the University of Bath and the University of the West of
England has estimated that for every one hundredminutes travel time from London productivity
reduces by six per cent. On that basis, a package of measures to reduce average rail journey
times to the capital by 45 minutes could add about £1 billion to the peninsula economy.

In addition, strategic connectivity between Devon, Plymouth and Cornwall will be improved
through the concept of Peninsula Metro. This will make better use of the rail networks in the
sub region of which Plymouth is at the hub, including taking advantage of plans to re-open
the rail link to Tavistock as an initial step to reinstating the Plymouth to Exeter route via
Tavistock and Okehampton. Re-opening this line and introducing local services would bring
benefits to those two west Devon towns, to the wider rural community and increase connectivity
between Plymouth, Exeter and the wider rail network in the rest of the country. Large numbers
of people in south west Devon and south east Cornwall work in Plymouth, and improving
opportunities for them to travel by rail will benefit the economy of the wider area.

31

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



The strategic connectivity routes and key issues highlighted in the HotSW LEP's SEP are
shown in Figure 2, which is reproduced directly from the SEP.

32

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe





Policy 5

Protecting and strengthening Devonport Naval Base and Dockyard's strategic role.

The City will support and actively promote the safeguarding and strengthening of Her
Majesty's Naval Base (HMNB) Devonport, and the Dockyard as a major component of
the UK's strategic defence capability. It will seek to optimise the benefits that it brings to
the wider regional economy through supply chain development and knowledge transfer,
in order to help diversify the economy. Government commitment to support the future
of HMNBDevonport and Dockyard over the lifetime of this plan will continue to be sought,
to ensure the base porting of Type 26 frigates as replacements to the city's base porting
of Type 23 frigates, and to seek long term commitments about the strategic role of
Devonport as one of the UK's three Naval Bases. Where Ministry of Defence (MoD) land
in the city is surplus to the strategic defence requirement, priority will be sought for uses
which help to deliver the economic growth objectives of the Plymouth Plan or meet
neighbourhood needs for new community spaces and facilities in accordance with a
planned and coordinated programme of land release.

Devonport's Naval Base is the largest Naval Base in Western Europe and the primary UK
location for deep maintenance of surface ships and submarines with world class infrastructure
and a highly skilled workforce. The Dockyard and Naval Base encompasses recently upgraded
facilities for highly specialised engineering work including the refuelling of Nuclear Submarines.
HMNB Devonport plays a key role in the Plymouth and wider sub regional economy. It directly
supports 11 per cent (11,750) of Plymouth’s full time equivalent (FTE) employment and 16.5
per cent (£656m) of the value of its economic output. It is still vitally important to our economy
and our overall marine offer.

Recent announcements of a major contract commitment that guarantees the work programme
of the dockyard until 2020 are welcomed. This commitment underlines the importance of the
Dockyard and Naval Base, as outlined in the Devonport 2030 vision document.

The MoD owned waterfront provides a full range of support services to Royal Navy and
foreign visiting vessels. TheMoD continually seeks to optimise its land holding at the waterfront
in accordance with Devonport being a core site for defence. If MoD land is shown to be
surplus to requirements, it should be made available to support the growth of Plymouth or
to meet wider community aspirations.

34

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



Policy 6

Enhancing Plymouth's role in maintaining the south west's special natural
environment.

Plymouth's contribution to the overall environmental quality of the south west will be
through effective stewardship of the natural environment, working with national, regional
and local partners. This will be achieved by:

1. Planning positively for the natural environment.
2. Managing the city’s green and blue spaces.
3. Enhancing and restoring biodiversity and ecosystem services.
4. Promoting and defending the quality of Plymouth's marine environment and waters.
5. Improving links to regional and national walking routes, including the South West

Coast Path national trail and the National Cycle Network.
6. Use of culture to play a role in animating and raising the profile of the environment

through public realm development, public art and festivals.

The quality of the natural environment is one of the strongest assets in the south west. It is
a unique selling point which draws millions of visitors to the region every year. Rightly, both
the HotSW LEP and the Cornwall & Isles of Scilly LEP have given safeguarding the
environment a central place in their SEPs, understanding that the environment has huge
potential to attract high quality inward investment and support business growth.

Plymouth is set within the context of this outstanding environment, with the Tamar and South
Devon Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Plymouth Sound and the Tamar Estuaries
European Marine Site, Tamar Estuaries Marine Conservation Zone (to the north of the Tamar
Bridges) and Dartmoor National Park surrounding the city. But it also has an exceptional
landscape and natural environment within its borders, with green wedges such as the Plym
Valley and strategic walking and cycling links connecting city to countryside. These spaces
and the opportunities that they present for enjoyment and appreciation of the region's special
character, by local people and all who live in and visit the region, will be safeguarded and
enhanced. The City will work with and through the Plymouth Local Nature Partnership, and
with other partners such as the Marine Management Organisation and Sustrans to support
this outcome.

35

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



Policy 7

Safeguarding Plymouth's mineral resources.

The LPA working together with adjoining local minerals authorities will help to support
and facilitate the sustainable use of mineral reserves of national and local importance.
This will be achieved by:

1. Prioritising the use of recycled and secondary aggregates, including those derived
from construction and demolition waste, over the quarrying of primary aggregates.

2. Defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas in mineral resource areas so that the long
term minerals are not needlessly sterilised.

3. Safeguarding key infrastructure and facilities needed to support the handling,
processing and distribution of mineral resources.

4. The use of planning conditions and legal obligations to ensure the timely high quality
restoration and aftercare of mineral sites once they have been worked out. The
restoration will be required to take account of geodiversity, biodiversity, native
woodland, the historic environment and recreation.

5. Permitting small scale quarrying for conservation and heritage asset restorations
where it can be demonstrated that there are no alternative workable resources and
where amenity and environmental considerations can be met.

6. Ensuring that environmental controls and mitigation measures, as appropriate, are
put in place in relation to each operation to ensure that development does not give
rise to significant loss of amenity or unacceptable harmful impacts on the
environment. Open cast mining and other minerals operations that cannot be
achieved without causing unacceptable environmental and amenity impacts will not
be supported.

The policy provides a strategic framework for the use and extraction of minerals resources.
The starting principle is to prioritise the reuse and recycling of secondary aggregates. However,
Plymouth's growth will increase demand for primary aggregates to supply construction
projects. It is also important to recognise that the city and its sub region contains minerals
resources of local and national importance. There are no minerals of national importance
within Plymouth itself, although within close proximity there are nationally important reserves
of china clay at Lee Moor and tungsten at Drakelands. The EU has defined tungsten as a
critical raw material, and the British Geological Survey have placed tungsten joint top of its
global risk list due to its scarcity and risk to supply. These will be considered specifically
through the emerging Devon Minerals Plan, which is currently being prepared by Devon
County Council. Decisions made within Plymouth therefore need to have regard to these

36

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



wider interests, whilst also recognising the need for the Devon Minerals Plan to include
appropriate provisions to safeguard the city, its residents and its overall landscape setting
from damaging environmental and amenity impacts from these open cast operations.

Plymouth's limestone reserves in Plymstock are of local and regional importance. Plymouth
contains the farthest south western exposure of workable limestone in England. It provides
an important resource for the local and regional economy, providing a valuable supply of
building stone as well as a source of primary aggregate which supports the construction
industry. Whilst there are other areas in Devon where limestone is quarried, their value as
an alternative is limited because of constrained expansion opportunities and increased
transport costs.

Limestone has been extracted and processed at Moorcroft Quarry in Plymstock since the
1800s. Its extraction is now from Hazeldene Quarry, which was granted consent in 1994,
with processing still taking place in Moorcroft Quarry. Additional limestone reserves have
been proven to the east and north of Hazeldene. While the location of the proposed new
community at Sherford in South Hams will result in the loss of the reserves to the east, the
limestone resource to the north has the potential capacity, subject to planning permission,
to supply the local economy well into the next century. Proposals for major extraction of
limestone from former and abandoned quarries to the south and west of Plymstock are not
likely to come forward in the foreseeable future. However, there may remain opportunities
for small scale quarrying for conservation and heritage purposes.

Plymouth Plan Part Two will define a Minerals Safeguarding Area to ensure that the city's
minerals reserves are not needlessly sterilised. It is also important to ensure that the
infrastructure required for minerals purposes is protected. This includes for example minerals
wharves at Pomphlett and Cattedown as well as processing plants at key sites in the city.

Minerals extraction needs to be managed very carefully in order to safeguard residential
amenity and the local environment; this is especially so in urban locations and areas of high
quality landscape, such as is the case in Plymouth. It is essential that the impacts on both
existing and future residents from all operations are carefully considered and effective
mitigation and controls are provided to minimise impacts to an acceptable level. This could
include restrictions on the hours of operation, noise and dust monitoring, requiring tree planting
and landscape bunds to provide screening, securing net gain in biodiversity and monitoring
of the environment to ensure that any impacts are carefully controlled.

Furthermore, once minerals have been worked it is important that land is reclaimed at the
earliest opportunity. High quality restoration and aftercare on mineral sites will need to take
account of geodiversity, biodiversity, native woodland, the historic environment and recreation.
Planning conditions, and where appropriate legally binding obligations, may be used to ensure
that these are delivered as soon as possible once operations have finished.

The Council will continue to plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates through
supporting Devon County Council in preparing the Local Aggregate Assessment.

37

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



How we will know we have been successful - our measures of success of
Plymouth's strategic role.

A. Plymouth recognised as a key regional economic driver.

B. High quality strategic services and facilities that serve the people of Plymouth and
the sub region.

C. Improvements to the quality and resilience of Plymouth’s transport and digital
connectivity.

D. Safeguarding and strengthening of Plymouth’s strategic defence role.

E. Plymouth continues to enhance and harness its stunning setting, maritime heritage,
quality environment and natural assets.

List of evidence base documents.

'Plymouth Sustainable Growth Study Part 1', Llewelyn-Davis on behalf of Plymouth
City Council, Cornwall County Council and SWRegional Development Agency, May
2003
'A Vision for Plymouth', MBM Arquitectes with AZ Urban Studio, October 2003
'Plymouth Sustainable Growth Study Part 2', Llewelyn-Davis on behalf of Plymouth
City Council, July 2004
'Sustainable Growth Distribution Study', Baker Associates on behalf of Plymouth
Sub Regional Steering Group, March 2005
'Meeting the Productivity Challenge', University of Bath and the University of the
West of England, 2005
'Plymouth Sound and Estuaries Coastal Planning Study', for Tamar Estuaries
Consultative Forum, September 2006
'Plymouth Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan', Plymouth City Council, June 2010
Port of Plymouth Evidence Base Study', Atkins for Plymouth City Council, April 2010
'Tamar River Transportation Study', Cornwall Council, March 2011
'1st Devon Local Aggregates Area Assessment', Devon County Council, February,
2013
'The Somerset Levels and Moors Flood Action Plan', Somerset County Council &
broad range of local and national partners, March 2014
'Plymouth Airport Study: Final Report', Arup on behalf of Plymouth City Council,
September 2014
'Productivity and Wider Economic Impact Study', Parsons Brinkerhoff on behalf of
Peninsula Rail Task Force, 2015

38

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Four:The
S
trategy

-W
hatP

lym
outh's

strategic
role

w
illbe



Module Five: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be a healthy city

What we are trying to achieve - our strategic objective for a healthy city

Strategic Outcome

People in Plymouth live in happy, healthy, safe and aspiring communities, where social,
economic and environmental conditions and services enable choices that add quality
years to life and reduce the gap in health and wellbeing between communities.

Improved health and wellbeing for the population demands a whole system approach that
includes interventions in education, employment, transport, housing, green space and leisure
and supporting local communities, as well as health and wellbeing services that effectively
meet the needs of the population and deliver high value. This improvement will be delivered
through a combination of integrated health and wellbeing and the implementation of four
integrated commissioning strategies covering Wellbeing, Children and Young People,
Community Based Care and Enhanced and Specialised Care. It will be supported by the
formulation of health-enabling local policy, collaborative efforts to address child poverty,
spatial planning that explicitly addresses environmental inequalities and the effective use of
public protection and regulation.

Wellbeing is the whole system consideration of a person’s life experiences rather than just
their physical or mental health. Health, which is defined by the World Health Organisation
as a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of
disease or infirmity, is an important component of wellbeing. This also considers purpose
and meaning, life satisfaction and positive emotions and relationships. Wellbeing is important
because evidence shows that people with high levels of wellbeing live longer, have more
positive health behaviours and generally have better physical and mental health.

The relationship between health and wellbeing is not a simple one – not everyone who reports
having good health also reports having high levels of wellbeing. The definition of health and
wellbeing was a key consideration for the Health andWellbeing Board when developing their
vision for a Plymouth made up of 'Happy, Healthy, Aspiring Communities'.

Over the course of the Plymouth Plan, demographic changes and increasing complexity of
need will continue to put pressure on all vital front line services. The challenge for the public
sector is to meet the volume and complexity of need and demand with a limited and often
decreasing resource. A focus on prevention of ill health is evidenced to reduce the burden
of disease and consequently reduce demand on front line services. In addition, a move
towards a fully integrated population-based health and wellbeing system will provide an
efficient and streamlined system that delivers high quality services and improved user
experience. The Plymouth Plan will set out how the city can achieve this aspiration.

Alongside creating and sustaining economic growth, the Plymouth Plan aims to place residents
and communities in a position to take advantage of the opportunities growth brings. Some
areas of Plymouth have experienced consistently higher rates of economic inactivity and

39

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



unemployment, including youth and long term unemployment, and low incomes. This often
runs alongside other deep-rooted social-economic issues, all of which are key factors in
people's health and wellbeing. The policies set out in this module will help to address health
inequalities, tackle child poverty and support healthy lifestyles and therefore allow all residents
to take advantage of economic growth delivered in the city.

Strategic Objective 4

Delivering a healthy city.

To integrate health and wellbeing, promote choice and personal responsibility, formulate
health-enabling local policy and develop good quality local services. This will be achieved
by:

1. Delivering solutions and creating environments which address the wider determinants
of health and wellbeing and make healthy choices available.

2. Reducing health and wellbeing inequalities and the burden of chronic diseases in
the city.

3. Delivering the best health, wellbeing and social outcomes for children, young people
and families, and reducing and mitigating the impact of child poverty.

4. Helping ensure that children, young people and adults feel safe and confident in
their communities, with all people treated with dignity and respect.

5. Building strong and safe communities in good quality neighbourhoods with decent
homes for all, health-promoting natural and built environments, community facilities
and public spaces and accessible local services.

6. Enabling people of all ages to play an active role in their community and engage
with arts and culture and other activities to promote social cohesion and good mental
health and wellbeing.

7. Providing a safe, accessible and health-enabling transport network which supports
freedom of movement and active travel and promotes low carbon lifestyles that are
beneficial to physical and mental health.

8. Delivering quality lifelong learning which is available to everyone and can be tailored
to quality employment and social opportunities in a city aspiring to good population
wellbeing through a vibrant economy.

9. Ensuring people get the right care from the right people at the right time to improve
their health, wellbeing and social outcomes.

10. Making Plymouth a centre of clinical excellence and innovation to benefit the
sustainability and growth of the medical and health care sectors in the city and to
create education and employment opportunities.

40

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



What we are going to do - our policies for a healthy city

Policy 8

Addressing health inequalities and supporting healthy lifestyles.

The City will reduce health inequalities across all communities of interest, identity and
geography and improve health and wellbeing in Plymouth by addressing its wider
determinants, focusing on the prevention of ill health and supporting people to make
choices that benefit their physical, mental and emotional health. It will achieve this by:

1. Prioritising the promotion of health-enabling lifestyle choices and early detection of
the health conditions most strongly related to health inequalities, namely;

a. Encouraging a smoke-free Plymouth where future generations are protected
from tobacco related harm and live longer and healthier lives through reducing
the demand for and restricting the supply of illegal tobacco.

b. Reducing alcohol related harm in Plymouth by providing support for children,
young people, families and individuals who need it, and reducing the access
and availability of alcohol to those most vulnerable.

c. Changing attitudes towards alcohol by shifting the focus of the night time
economy towards more cultural and sporting activities to create a safer more
vibrant Plymouth.

d. Promoting healthy weight and ensuring effective prevention, identification, early
intervention and management of obesity in children and adults.

e. Increasing everyday activity and participation of all sectors of the community
in active lifestyles.

2. Working to prevent people misusing substances whilst ensuring that services focus
on prevention and recovery from substance misuse.

3. Promoting mental wellbeing, resilience and improved quality of life through improving
the range and access to mental health and early intervention services, integrating
physical and mental health care and becoming a Dementia Friendly City.

4. Supporting healthy eating and improving access to good food through:

a. Promoting access to food growing opportunities and allotments.

b. Ensuring access to healthy catering at sporting, leisure and cultural facilities
and events across the city.

c. Protecting the food environment within a 400 metre radius of providers of
secondary education.

5. Supporting and sustaining a vibrant sports sector and creating excellent opportunities
for physical activity through:

41

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



a. Delivering programmes that support the benefits of sport, walking and cycling
and other physical activity, including providing pleasant and secure environments
for active travel and improved opportunities for all sectors of the community.

b. Safeguarding the city's facilities that support opportunities for sport, physical
activity and active leisure, including resisting development proposals that result
in the loss of sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields,
unless:

i. An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the facilities
to be surplus to requirements; or

ii. The loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or

iii. The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the
needs for which clearly outweigh the loss.

Since 2000 - 2002 life expectancy has improved for both males and females in the city (from
75.5 to 78.3 years and from 80.4 to 82.1 years respectively), however male life expectancy
has consistently been below the England average. The latest 2010 - 2012 data reveals male
life expectancy in Plymouth is around one year below the England average.

The neighbourhoods of Leigham and Mainstone had the highest overall life expectancy in
2010 (85.8 years) which compares with Devonport where life expectancy was 73.6 years in
the same period. On this basis the gap in life expectancy between the neighbourhoods with
the highest and lowest life expectancy in 2010 - 2012 is 12.2 years.

People’s lifestyles and environment affect their health and wellbeing and each of these
lifestyle risk factors is unequally distributed across the city. Plymouth performs poorly against
key public health outcomes in life expectancy and causes of death as a result of inequalities
across the city.

Diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular and respiratory disease and stroke account for
more than half of all deaths in Plymouth each year. These diseases have common risk factors:
tobacco use, alcohol misuse, poor diet and physical inactivity. The 'Thrive Plymouth
Framework' aims to make a significant difference in reducing the current health inequalities
across the city, by addressing the four risk factors which together contribute to the four chronic
diseases and account for 54 per cent of deaths in Plymouth.

The Thrive framework (Figure 3) has been developed to provide a tool to help address these
risk factors. By avoiding these in the first place, through encouraging lifestyle change, we
can prevent the majority of deaths due to these diseases. This will require all partners to

42

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



work together to ensure effective prevention, identifying and recognising wider social
determinants, and delivering early intervention. Commissioning wellbeing services that
empower and enable people to live healthier lives for longer will be crucial to meet the future
demand for services and support health promotion and positive health outcomes. Additionally,
wider problematic substance use is a behaviour that can be influenced with the right support.
The City will aim to create an environment within which people can identify their motivation
and move to a focus on longer term change supported by the person’s family, peers and
community.

Figure 3: Thrive Plymouth framework.

These four risk factors are also well recognised modifiable risk factors for poor mental health
and more specifically dementia. With an ageing society, dementia is becoming increasingly
more common and generating significant emotional, social, and financial costs to the person,
family, community, and wider society. Understanding the local situation is very important to
providing early diagnosis and appropriate support to people and their carers. Over 3,130
over-65s in Plymouth are predicted to be living with dementia in 2014 and the number of
cases in Plymouth are predicted to increase to 4,850 by 2030.

43

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



Plymouth will aim to become a Dementia Friendly City, recognising the influence of the
modifiable risk factors and the great diversity among individuals with dementia and their
carers. It will promote the inclusion of people living with dementia in all areas of community
life, respecting their decisions and lifestyle choice, anticipating and responding flexibly to
their dementia related needs and preferences. Providing good information, advice and care
co-ordination can also support people to live with dementia.

Nearly 26,300 people aged 18-64 years suffer from some form of common mental disorder
in Plymouth. It is quite common for people to meet the diagnostic criteria for two or more
mental health problems; there are over 11,500 people in Plymouth aged 18 and over estimated
to have more than one mental health problem. Within the economic constraints that affect
public service commissioning and delivery, partners across the city will focus on how mental
health services can continue to meet the needs of the population. Key elements to the
approach will be to improve prevention, support recovery and improve access to mental
health services, particularly to those in crisis.

Physical activity is one of the best preventative medicines and if people who are currently
physically inactive or have a low level of physical activity increased their activity to a moderate
level this would substantially reduce their risk of developing heart disease and contribute to
their good mental health and wellbeing. There is also emerging evidence suggesting that the
arts, heritage and cultural activities, as well as other interventions that promote cognitive
stimulation, can be instrumental in improving wellbeing, including reducing the impact of mild
to moderate dementia and slowing the cognitive decline in people who already have dementia.
In order to ensure that people have access to opportunities to increase their physical activity
it is essential that appropriate facilities are provided, existing facilities are protected and
decisions relating to facilities are based on robust assessments of need.

Tackling food poverty is also recognised as an effective measure in reducing health
inequalities. The Health and Wellbeing Board identified obesity and healthy weight as a
priority for tackling health inequalities across the city and the City is committed to taking
co-ordinated and integrated action to tackle the issue through inter-agency working. The
Plymouth Report 2014 identifies that across the city 24.9 per cent of children are identified
as having excess weight or are obese. Schools are supported in gaining the Healthy Child
Quality Mark which ensures that nutrition is taught and that schools facilitate healthier
behaviour in children. A contributory measure is to protect the food environment around
schools so that uses such as hot food take aways are carefully controlled and healthy food
options provided. Detailed guidance on the implementation of this policy through the planning
process will be provided in the Plymouth Plan's Supplementary Planning Document. This is
to ensure that there is a proportionate and effective approach to managing the food
environment around schools.

In addition to this, the Food Plymouth Food Charter 2011 - 2014 under 'Health andWellbeing
For All' states that the city will raise awareness of the importance of a nutritious balanced
diet and will work to improve the availability of affordable healthy food. It will also provide a
wide range of community growing and other food related activities to improve physical and
mental health for people of all ages. The range of green spaces within Plymouth will play an

44

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



important role for providing these opportunities, not only around giving residents the opportunity
to grow their own healthy food, but also for improving socialisation, tackling isolation and
improving physical activity.

Policy 9

Delivering the best outcomes for children, young people and families.

The City will work to create the conditions where children, young people and families
can thrive, assisting them to build resilience through the early development of good
physical and emotional health and by equipping young people with the skills to improve
their wellbeing. This will be achieved through:

1. Ensuring the best possible start in life for all children by increasing the focus on the
first 1001 critical days from conception, ensuring that the best maternity services,
parenting programmes, childcare and early year's education are in place.

2. Providing accessible childcare which helps children become ready for school and
enables parents to work, by ensuring that there is high quality, safe and flexible
childcare and after-school/holiday provision.

3. Providing children and young people with the best and most appropriate learning
and vocational educational opportunities and experiences that inspire them to learn
and develop skills for future employment and life.

4. Ensuring that there are sufficient, high quality schools which aspire to achieve not
just better education provision but also support wider community cohesion in the
area.

5. Ensuring that early intervention, help and prevention meets the needs of children,
young people and their families who are ‘vulnerable’ to poor life outcomes.

6. Ensuring that integrated assessment and outcome-based care planning are carried
out for children with additional needs, including social, emotional, learning disabilities
or mental health problems, to include the voice of the child and of the parent.

7. Ensuring that all children, young people and their families have access and the
opportunity to participate in physical activity and the cultural life of the city.

8. Providing effective safeguarding and excellent services for children, young people
and families.

9. Ensuring that employers are sensitive to the needs of working parents by promoting
and delivering family-friendly policies.

The foundations for the educational achievements and subsequent economic status of an
individual are laid in childhood. Giving a child the best start in life is crucial to reducing health
inequalities and tackling child poverty. What happens in these early years, starting in the
womb, has a significant impact on the health and wellbeing of an individual in later life.

45

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



Working with childcare providers to improve the quantity, quality and range of childcare
provision in the city, will ensure children are afforded the best start in life and gives parents
the opportunity and confidence to seek or return to employment if they choose to. It’s important
that the City works together with employers to implement family friendly policies, such as
breastfeeding in the workplace, flexible working arrangements, parental leave, maternity
leave and carers leave which benefit employees whilst protecting business productivity.

Increasing the level of attainment, education and skills so that children and young people
will be ‘school ready’ and ‘work ready’ are also key drivers for change in the plan. Implementing
policies which address these issues, whilst also supporting parents and carers of young
children, will result in a fitter, healthier more economically active population that is better able
to break the cycle of intergenerational poverty.

By 2031 it is possible that many if not all schools will have left local authority control
and consequently the number of academies and free schools is likely to rise. The current
educational landscape of Plymouth demonstrates good potential for self-improvement.
School-to-school support blended with a local authority offer is emerging as a sustainable
part of a changing education system locally. The local authority role in assisting and influencing
the shape of educational provision is evolving. Current and future legislation will potentially
establish the role of the local authority as commissioner for highest need and this role will
be divested through integration with other agencies and partners. The national model in
shaping education provision is business focused and relies on competition between providers
to drive up standards. To mitigate the fragmentation that this model potentially creates, the
local authority will continue to work hard to promote collective responsibility for every child.

In addition to their primary education role, schools are a key facility within their local community
and can support wider cohesion in the area. They are unique in that they often are the only
service provider that will know the whole family and understand the needs of individuals in
the context of the whole family. Schools have a strong commitment to their area and an
interest in supporting parents, and despite the choices parents can make most on the whole
come from the locality.

The City needs to work together to provide excellent safeguarding services for children and
young people at risk or in need of support. Children should have a smooth and positive
journey through the care system that supports them to recover from negative childhood
experiences, builds their resilience and enables them to meet their full potential.

For some children and young people, times of transition and change can be particularly
difficult, so reducing these difficulties even by a little, can make a big difference to their lives.
There are many types of transition, these may include starting nursery, primary or secondary
school, parents separating, puberty, entering care or moving from one service providing
support to another. Transitions are stressful and can have far reaching effects on some
children’s emotional wellbeing and academic achievements. There are many strategies that
can be adopted in order to support children and young people through times of transition, it
is important that these strategies are identified early to minimise risk and promote positive
outcomes and resilience. In addition, for all children and young people with special educational
needs and disability, planning for these transitions is a priority to ensure good communication
and planning across all agencies involved.

46

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



Policy 10

Supporting adults with health and social care needs.

The City will work together to deliver a health and wellbeing system which provides high
quality services and care for those who need it by:

1. Creating the opportunity through integrated services to give people more control
over how their health, care and support is provided and ensuring people have a
positive experience of the health, care and support they receive.

2. Delivering high quality services that meet individual outcomes.
3. Implementing a system of whole person care which delivers care and support in a

way that makes sense to the person in the context of their whole life.
4. Providing effective safeguarding services to protect adults from harm and ensure

they are treated with dignity and respect.
5. Supporting carers to carry out their caring role and have a full life outside of caring.
6. Supporting people to manage their condition(s) to reduce their dependence on

professional help.

With an increasing and ageing population, and increasing prevalence of long term conditions,
there is a need to focus on prevention, integration and person centred care in order to deal
with the demand on Plymouth's health and wellbeing system. The number of new clients
assessed by Plymouth's Social Care Service increased by 25 per cent in 2013/14 and an
extra 760 admissions to the acute hospital are predicted in 2015/16. Long term illnesses
among the 65 and over population that limit day to day activities are expected to increase
by 228 in 2015/16. In light of this increase, the City needs to enable and assist communities
to play a much larger role in supporting people with complex needs to give them choice and
greater control over where and how the care they need is delivered.

The health and wellbeing system will promote a population-based comprehensive universal
offer, based around the promotion of wellbeing, information and advice and low level
preventative services. For people who need or are eligible for health and care services there
is a need to continue to ensure those who are most at risk of harm, abuse or neglect are
safe as well as helping people to live independently for as long as possible through
person-centred support.

The City will build on the integration of health and social care services already achieved, to
ensure accessible services through a single front door, and streamlined provision where
people only have to tell their story once. This enables the delivery of a system which removes
barriers to care caused by geographic, regulatory or any other kind of boundary.

47

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



People with health and care needs will be provided with relevant and comprehensive advice,
information and support to manage their life and condition independently. Alternatives to
traditional medical and clinical interventions will be explored, including using social networks
and communities alongside professionals.

Where and how services are delivered is also important. The City will deliver more community
based services using new and different technology in order to provide a range of services at
locations and times that are convenient for the people who need them. Carers will also be
recognised and valued and have the support they need to have a full, healthy life of their
own.

Adults should be treated with dignity and respect, receive high quality, compassionate care
and be safe from harm and abuse. The City will ensure people are safeguarded from harm
through prevention, empowering people to make their own choices and decisions, protecting
and representing people in greatest need, and working in partnership to develop local solutions
with communities. There will be transparency in local safeguarding process and clear
accountability for decision making.

Policy 11

Playing an active role in the community.

The City will enable engaged and supportive communities by:

1. Providing joined up and effective support at the request of communities from the
most appropriate organisations to:

a. Improve access to the information, advice and evidence needed to support
collaborative decision making and ensure communities and voluntary
organisations are informed of their rights.

b. Promote self-help and targeted volunteering to support locally led solutions,
reduce the need for ‘professional help’ and support positive outcomes for all.

c. Encourage intergenerational dialogue to create greater understanding and
empathy between generations within communities.

d. Encourage health and cultural opportunities that are community led or involve
communities and increase the quality of life for residents.

2. Supporting communities that wish to improve their local areas by:

a. Providing guidance on themost effective tool to achieve their intended outcomes
over the long term.

b. Devolving budgets where possible to enable community aspirations to be
delivered or facilitation of shared decision making, such as participatory
budgeting.

48

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



c. Providing guidance and support to those communities who want to protect local
services, own assets or run services in the city.

d. Recognising and supporting the benefits of temporary and meanwhile uses
of empty shops and public spaces that can add value to local communities.

3. Supporting children and young people’s rights to play an active role in the civic life
of the city and provide opportunities for the residents of Plymouth to recognise and
celebrate the creative talents of the city’s younger generation.

4. Ensuring that as a city we understand and recognise the social value and impact
that the voluntary and community sector make and that there is a joined up approach
to attracting investment.

5. Sharing knowledge through open data and information which enables communities
to have informed engagement, make suggestions for changes and initiate actions
relating to their services and lifestyles.

The communities and social networks to which a person belongs can have a significant
impact on their health and wellbeing. The link between a person and the community in which
they live can help to build the social capital (community networks and resources) that makes
communities strong, including for example reducing health inequalities, better educational
attainment, better employment outcomes and increased community safety.

A more engaged city means that local people, including children and young people, feel well
informed and able to influence change that takes place in their local communities. Consultation
results should be published and open for others to use and share where possible. A more
supportive and informed community means that people feel fully engaged and empowered
and they are better able to support one another through targeted volunteering and initiatives
that celebrate and encourage local talent and build relationships. This results in communities
that are less reliant on professional assistance and intervention.

Both formal and informal volunteers play a fundamental role in delivering a Healthy City. In
2013, the Plymouth Guild brokered 4,000 volunteering arrangements in the city and the Cities
of Service initiative is building on this. Time banking has developed in Plymouth over the last
four years and has proved highly successful in supporting engagement with communities,
promoting community cohesion within and between neighbourhoods and supporting individuals
to become more confident and aspirational. Plymouth aims to build on this volunteering
goodwill to target areas of greatest need, for example to help tackle food poverty, and reduce
social isolation and loneliness.

49

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



Other interventions, such as encouraging people to take up cultural activities within their
community can also improve peoples' health and wellbeing. For example, for older adults it
has been shown to lower blood pressure and reduce anxiety in cardiac patients and shorten
hospital stays for inpatients. Therefore supporting community led cultural activity that involves
local people will significantly contribute to a healthier city.

Communities and voluntary organisations have a number of tools to influence or control what
happens in their local area or how services are delivered. For example, they can apply to
run services or council buildings, list assets of community value to give extra time for them
to prepare to purchase assets on the open market, get permission to build housing or other
assets, and ask for public assets to be transferred into community ownership. By the end of
2014, three community assets were successfully registered on the Council's asset list using
community right to bid powers, with one of those assets being successfully taken over by
the community.

Community planning of local areas supports local solutions and local investment to develop
sustainable places to live. This can be supported through processes such as neighbourhood
planning and neighbourhood development orders as well as other community plans.

It is important that communities are supported to deliver their aspirations. This requires
organisations to work together to meet and prioritise their needs and ensure that information
informing communities of their rights and opportunities is clear and freely available. It is also
important to have a better understanding of the voluntary and community sector, alongside
implementing a more strategic partnership approach towards supporting the growth of the
sector and the role they play in meeting future needs. This includes a joined up strategic
approach to attracting funding and investment to support the sector.

Where possible and appropriate budgets should be devolved to a community level to enable
this. In addition, communities have the opportunity to consider how to mitigate the impact of
development through the use of Community Infrastructure Levy receipts, a proportion of
which are allocated for spend in the neighbourhood where the development occurs.

Policy 12

Delivering strong and safe communities and good quality neighbourhoods.

The City will support strong and inclusive communities where people have a sense of
belonging and ownership, feel safe and confident, with the opportunity to live, work and
play in good quality sustainable neighbourhoods. This will be through:

1. Ensuring that each neighbourhood has good access to a range of community facilities
and opportunities, including provision of education and training opportunities,
employment uses, health care, culture, community facilities, leisure and recreation,
and places of worship.

2. Ensuring the voice of children, young people and families is canvassed and valued
and influences community developments.

50

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



3. Encouraging schools to play a core hub role within communities so that facilities
can be used for the benefit of the local community.

4. Delivering a partnership approach to tackle crime and disorder that causes the most
harm and affects those most at risk. This approach will be complimented by well
considered use of the planning process and by enabling greater community control
to implement local solutions.

5. Reducing opportunities for crime and the fear of crime by requiring all new
development to incorporate good design principles.

6. Providing for good emergency vehicle accessibility in new developments and
infrastructure projects and encouraging the installation of sprinkler systems in
properties which accommodate children and vulnerable adults, including schools,
residential care homes and special housing.

7. In neighbourhoods where people are disadvantaged and do not have equal chances,
providing specific support to local communities and consider targeted regeneration
and other interventions as appropriate. The LPA will support this by identifying sites
for development and considering proposals for development in terms of the extent
to which they deliver the principle of sustainable linked neighbourhoods, strengthen
communities and address inequality, including where appropriate, using its planning
powers to control the number of betting shops, fixed odds betting terminals and pay
day lenders in the city.

8. Strengthening communities to build upon social value and social movement so that
people have control of the communities where they live.

The health and wellbeing of individuals is influenced by the communities in which they live.
People’s health is affected by the nature of their physical environment. Improving the quality
of housing, strengthening community relations, promoting a sense of pride and improving
access to green spaces all impact positively on an individual's physical and mental health
and overall feelings of safety.

People are at the heart of our communities so it is important that they are seen as being
central to the development of safe and sustainable neighbourhoods, that their views are
sought and listened to and they feel empowered to find their own solutions or play a part in
decisions that will affect them. Organisations and developers working in the city need to
recognise and invest in creating neighbourhoods that support strong communities that will
result in long term benefits such as increased social value and activity, and improve
opportunities in disadvantaged communities.

The City will develop an integrated approach, including Youth Justice Services, to deliver
high quality and co-ordinated services and interventions. These will protect those groups
most at risk, will tackle offending and crime/anti-social behaviour including, domestic and

51

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



sexual abuse, hate crime, violent extremism and substancemisuse. Additionally, it is important
that development, especially that which will accommodate vulnerable users, should be
designed to minimise the risk of fire and be accessible to all emergency services.

The City needs to create safe and accessible neighbourhoods where crime and disorder,
and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion. This will require
neighbourhoods and the built environment to maximise opportunities for good natural
surveillance, thoughtful design and use of public spaces and facilities, including those of local
schools, and intelligent use of high quality public realm and street-lighting design so that it
allows people to have a sense of safety and pride about the environments where they live.

Policy 13

Delivering a safe, accessible, sustainable and health-enabling transport system.

The City will deliver a transport system that enables and encourages sustainable and
active travel choices, provides good accessibility for the city's population to jobs and
services, and supports a healthy environment. This will involve:

1. Ensuring through the planning process that new development delivers safe and
convenient facilities for walking, cycling and public transport, considers air quality
and noise pollution, and where appropriate makes provision for travel plans to
optimise the use of sustainable travel choices.

2. Ensuring that highway infrastructure projects take full account of the needs of
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport operators, and the wider community and
place-shaping needs of the area, whilst also helping to minimise air quality and noise
pollution.

3. Facilitating and encouraging walking through protecting the amenity and safety of
the public realm, avoiding street clutter and other unnecessary obstructions and
structures, making specific provision for people with disabilities, and maintaining
and improving the Public Rights of Way network.

4. Delivering a strategic cycle network and facilities for cyclists which encourage both
recreational cycling and the greater use of cycling as a primary mode of transport.

5. Delivering a public transport system that everyone can use, including working with
the bus companies to provide easier ticketing, providing clear journey planning and
timetable information, and accessible boarding and alighting across the city where
all residents live within 400 metres of a bus stop.

6. Working with public transport providers to ensure that each neighbourhood in
Plymouth has good public transport accessibility to key destinations in the city, and
is well-connected to the city's High Quality Public Transport network.

7. Investing in and promoting the growth of an electric vehicle charging network and
other emerging alternative fuel technologies.

8. Delivering a co-ordinated approach to reduce road casualties, air and noise pollution
including 20mph zones where appropriate.

52

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



9. Working with our with partners, including the charitable sector, to provide community
transport to enable people who can not use conventional public transport to access
health, leisure, shopping and social opportunities within the city.

10. Working with regional partners, agencies and bus/rail/ferry operators to deliver a
joined up transport system across all modes with key locations within the Plymouth
Travel to Work Area.

Transport planning and investment can play a significant role in delivering a healthy city in
three primary ways. Firstly, through encouraging active travel such as walking and cycling,
with the significant direct health benefits that are derived from physical exercise; secondly,
through making it easier for people to get to services they need for their personal well-being
and the things that will help them live healthier lives; and thirdly, through designing a safer,
more accessible and more environmentally sustainable transport system.

The City will continue to remove barriers to pedestrian travel and encourage walking as a
sustainable and active mode. The continued delivery of the city's public rights of way and
strategic cycle networks and encouraging much higher levels of both walking and cycling will
help to address low levels of physical activity, which will in turn help to tackle increasing levels
of obesity and obesity-related illnesses such as diabetes and heart disease. Active travel
also promotes mental wellbeing.

The design of transport infrastructure should be of high quality, supporting the creation of
quality places, and with a view to removing street clutter and barriers to make it easier for
people to move around. Increased feelings of personal safety are also an important factor
for increasing levels of walking and cycling, particularly at night and this needs to be addressed
through considered design. People who are mobility impaired, through physical disability or
because they are carrying shopping or with a pushchair perhaps, are more likely to find it
difficult to travel around. Changes to the street environment such as dropped kerbs and
removing street clutter can significantly improve mobility and accessibility.

Vehicle emissions and noise can have a significant impact on the natural environment and
on human health. The City will continue to monitor air quality and noise and will implement
measures where appropriate. More journeys made by foot, bike and public transport will
reduce the number of journeys made by car, reduce air pollution and the respiratory illnesses
and premature deaths it contributes to. Investing in and promoting the growth of an electric
vehicle charging network and other emerging alternative fuel technologies will also help to
reduce air pollution and its health impacts by driving growth in ultra-low and zero emission
vehicles.

A comprehensive network of frequent, affordable, accessible bus services is vital to ensuring
access for many to the things that are essential to good physical and mental wellbeing -
health services, healthy food, sport and leisure opportunities and green space. Equally,

53

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



decisions about where to locate any new GP surgeries, health centres and services, shops
selling healthy food, new sport and leisure facilities can help to improve access to them. A
key requirement of the city's public transport network is that people can easily travel by bus
to other neighbourhoods within the city, as well as to the city's key destinations such as the
City Centre and Derriford via a High Quality Strategic Transport network (see Policies 22
and 44). People need to be able to use buses to conveniently travel to visit friends and
relatives, and community facilities across Plymouth.

Between 2000 and 2014 the number of people killed or seriously injured on Plymouth’s road
network has been reduced by 14 per cent with road safety education and engineering projects.
Additionally, speed management initiatives have played a significant role in reducing casualty
numbers. There is a strong link between speed and road casualties. Reducing the average
speed of traffic on a road by 1 mph leads to an expected reduction of 5 per cent in the number
of collisions on that road. There is a well-understood relationship between the speed of a
crash and the impact, and therefore the likely severity of any injuries. However, despite a
long term continued decrease in road casualties, there were still 792 people injured on
Plymouth’s roads in 2014, therefore taking action on improving safety for all road users will
remain of significant importance.

The fear of being injured in a traffic-related collision is a real concern for residents and the
perceived danger acts as a barrier to travel for many, often deterring people from choosing
to walk or cycle. Fear for safety is particularly prevalent when choosing how to travel to
school, for example. Parents who drive to school often cite safety as the main reason for
choosing to drive their child every day rather than walk or cycle. The City will continue to
deliver a targeted approach to road safety education and awareness raising. The phased
introduction of 20 mph speed limits in residential areas, especially near schools, and
increasingly efficient road maintenance will make the journeys around the city by all modes
safer and encourage active travel.

Policy 14

Optimising the health and wellbeing benefits of the natural environment.

The City will ensure the health and wellbeing benefits of Plymouth's natural environment
will be optimised through the following measures:

1. Providing high quality, health promoting places to play near to where children live
and that families are confident to enjoy and explore.

2. Working with schools, health centres, family support organisations and local sports
and community groups, and through cultural activities, to encourage the use of
natural spaces as places for relaxation, recreation and fun.

3. Utilising natural spaces near schools for curriculum based ‘learning outside of the
classroom’ experiences and continuing to facilitate a network of schools that utilise
natural spaces for learning outcomes.

4. Providing high quality outdoor facilities that encourage people to participate in sport
and active recreation, including:

54

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



a. Protecting and increasing the stock and capacity of playing pitch facilities.
b. Improving the quality of existing playing pitches and ancillary facilities.
c. Engaging in a co-operative and innovative way to improve the quantity and

quality of the playing pitches stock and ancillary facilities.

Policy 14 complements Policy 24 (where standards for the provision of playable and natural
spaces are identified) in promoting the health benefits of the natural environment. There is
clear evidence that interventions using the natural environment can deliver cost savings for
health and health-related services and improve physical and mental health outcomes. So
increasing the amount, and more crucially the quality, of green spaces can be part of a
cost-effective package to address health inequalities and improve health outcomes. The
Council's ‘Stepping Stones to Nature’ programme has demonstrated the significant benefits
of removing the perceptual and physical barriers to people accessing nature. The programme
continues to form a key part of maintaining and enhancing the number of people engaged
with natural spaces and realising the health and wellbeing benefits.

Participating in formal sport, as a key part of wider physical activity, can also play an important
role in getting and keeping people active and thereby improving their health and wellbeing.
Whatever the age, there is evidence that being physically active can help us lead healthier
lives. To encourage increasing levels of engagement in outdoor sport the provision of high
quality facilities must be an essential part of the growth of a healthy city.

Policy 15

Meeting local housing needs.

The City will ensure that everyone has access to a decent, safe and affordable home,
which is suited to their needs, promotes health and is located in a community where they
want to live, by:

1. Identifying sites and delivering programmes to develop a range of new and affordable
homes to rent and buy, this includes:

a. Bringing empty homes back into use, and converting vacant floorspace over
shops into new homes where appropriate.

b. Enabling older people and the most vulnerable to promote, secure and sustain
their independence in a home appropriate to their circumstances, including
through the provision of specialist housing across all tenures in sustainable
locations. This will include provision for retirement accommodation, extra care
and residential care housing and other forms of supported housing.

55

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



c. Enabling the provision of high quality housing for younger people and that
considers specialist needs and ensures that young people can live close to
their families in Plymouth.

d. Bringing forward suitable self build and custom build opportunities to help meet
identified needs in the city.

e. Increasing choice in housing for those in need by greater utilisation of the private
rented sector.

2. Targeting intervention and resources to improve the standard and quality of private
sector housing.

3. Focusing on the prevention of homelessness and its wider impact.
4. Tackling fuel poverty through supporting supplier switching, fuel debt relief, and

community-led energy supply services, and promoting domestic and non-domestic
energy efficiency.

The LPA will contribute to meeting local housing needs by:

5. Requiring that on private sector developments of above ten homes, at least 30 per
cent of the total number of dwellings should be affordable homes, subject to viability.
These homes should be provided on-site, except in the case of sites of between 11
and 14 dwellings where the requirement can be met by providing an off-site
contribution to deliver affordable housing elsewhere in the city. The affordable
housing should be indistinguishable from other development on the site, reflecting
the type and size of the development as a whole, and incorporate a mix of tenures
including, where viable, social rented accommodation.

6. Providing for a mix of housing sizes, types and tenure appropriate to the
neighbourhood and to ensure that there is a range of housing in the city, broadening
choice andmeeting specialist needs for existing and future residents. This will include
increasing the supply of:

a. Smaller dwellings most suited to younger and older people.
b. Housing suitable for households with specific needs.
c. Larger three and four bedroom houses, and executive homes at appropriate

locations.

7. Providing a mix of accessible housing units in new housing schemes representative
of the wider housing mix of the development, including:

a. Requiring at least 20 per cent of dwellings on all schemes over five dwellings
(including conversions) to meet national standards for accessibility and
adaptability (Category M4(2) of Building Regulations).

b. Requiring at least 4 per cent of dwellings on all schemes over 25 dwellings
(including new build housing and conversions) to meet national standards for
wheelchair user homes (Category M4(3) of Building Regulations). Category
M4(3) dwellings will be counted as contributing towards the category M4(2)
dwelling requirement.

56

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



8. Identifying sites to meet the demand for 49 pitches for the Gypsy and Traveller
community (25 permanent pitches and 24 temporary pitches). Sites should have
safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian access to the site and must be large
enough to provide for adequate on-site facilities for parking, storage, play and
residential amenity.

9. Supporting purpose built student accommodation in the form of cluster flats and
studio developments where these are in locations close to the education
establishment, support wider regeneration objectives, are acceptable in terms of
their impact on existing residential areas, and which provide decent accommodation
with support facilities and appropriate provisions for on-going management of the
development.

10. Ensuring that new dwellings are of sufficient size and layout to provide good quality
accommodation to meet the needs of their occupiers. Conversions of existing
properties into flats or large houses in multiple occupation (sui generis) will be
permitted only where:

a. The gross floor area of the property is more than 115 square metres.
b. The accommodation is of a decent standard including, in the case of flats,

self-contained.
c. The development will not harm the character of the area having regard to the

existing number of converted and non-family dwellings in the vicinity.

The policy aims to ensure that every householder in Plymouth has a decent home and that
the city's housing market matches the needs and requirements of current and future residents.
Inadequate housing exacerbates the impact of child poverty and causes or contributes to
many preventable diseases and injuries, including respiratory, nervous system and
cardiovascular diseases, and cancer. Poor housing is estimated to cost the NHS at least
£600 million per year. To achieve this aspiration, proactive measures are needed to overcome
a number of challenges the city currently faces. For example:

Plymouth's relatively high concentrations of poorly maintained and fuel inefficient private
homes occupied by older and vulnerable low income households.

More than 11,500 households are currently in fuel poverty.

About 12,000 private rented homes in the city are energy inefficient and are wasting
heat, energy, carbon and money.

Over 5,000 social houses are considered to be non-decent.

Relatively high levels of debt and housing affordability are a barrier to accessing housing.

57

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



The need for housing adaptations for Plymouth’s rising population of elderly or disabled
people, so that more people can live independently and safely in their own homes.

The need to utilise private rented accommodation more effectively so that households
in need can access decent private rented housing much more quickly, and in areas of
their choosing.

The need to focus activity on prevention of homelessness and rough sleeping at the
earliest possible stage and address the wider causes and impacts of homelessness.
The causes and consequences of homelessness are broad and extremely damaging to
health, wellbeing and life chances.

New development should ensure that a mixture of different types, tenure and sizes of homes
are provided to meet the varied needs of existing and future residents. This includes affordable
rented accommodation (including private rented), opportunities for low cost home ownership
and first time buyers, housing for older people, including Extra Care housing, supported
housing projects for vulnerable households, specialist housing projects for people with a
range of disability, and properties built to accessibility standards. Additionally, opportunities
also need to be provided for self build and custom build, with new and innovative models of
housing delivery explored.

There is a significant need for more affordable homes in Plymouth - even the lowest property
prices to be found in the city are over six times the earnings of those on the lowest wages.
In order to ensure that people in housing need in Plymouth can access affordable homes,
the policy sets out a multi layered approach combining proactive work with affordable housing
providers (Registered Providers) to bring forward the construction of affordable housing
developments, and using the planning process to require house builders to build affordable
homes as part of their developments. The analysis of the city's affordable housing needs
indicates that we require smaller properties, both now and in the future, with the need for
one and two bed properties making up a significant proportion of the total need. However
significantly lower levels of turnover in larger properties also suggests that in order to address
current and future needs, new larger affordable properties will also be required as part of the
mix.

Policy 16

Delivering accessible health services and clinical excellence

The City will continue to develop as a location of national and international excellence
in clinical and medical science, where everyone has access to the health care they need
by:

1. Focusing on integration and joining up services that benefit the people of Plymouth
and improving the sustainability of the health and care system.

58

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



2. Ensuring that all communities in the city have access to high quality primary care
services, with provision of technology-enabled care where appropriate.

3. Supporting the development and emergence of Derriford Hospital as a regional
centre of excellence for clinical specialisms that reflect its strengths, aspirations and
the health needs of the people of Plymouth and wider population.

The integration of health and wellbeing remains a crucial national and local policy objective
and it is important that the City builds on its current progress towards integrated health and
wellbeing services – not only in the spheres of commissioning and provision, but also in terms
of assets through intelligent use of the public sector estate. The innovation of an integrated
health and care system is likely to deliver population health and wellbeing benefits that
significantly outweigh the investments required to make it happen.

There is a national policy drive towards increasing the role of the health service in prevention
and advancing the public health agenda. Prevention is a key strand of a sustainable local
health service, as is an openness to technological innovation where there is evidence of
likely population benefit. However, there will remain a strong demand for health services to
be provided in an accessible way for all local communities and so it will be important to ensure
that growth of the city is matched by appropriate provision to meet these growing demands.

The Derriford area of Plymouth is an established commercial and academic area of the city.
Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust has a well established reputation for high quality research
and development and a strong record of participation in commercial and non-commercial
clinical trials and further development would result in the best outcomes for the people of
Plymouth and the wider population. A vibrant clinical research sector will not only yield positive
economic and reputational benefits for the city but will also, with equal focus on translational
and action research, advance the influence of research on industry and on population health.

There are multiple specialisms in Derriford hospitals and it is important that this diversity is
preserved. However, the sustainability of Derriford Hospital would be enhanced by its
emergence as a regional and / or national centre of excellence for specialisms that reflect
its sustainability aspirations and the needs of its wider catchment population.

Howwewill knowwe have been successful - ourmeasures of success of a healthy
city.

A. People in Plymouth have the best start to life and improved health, increased life
expectancy, and a better quality of life, helping to reduce the gap in health inequalities.

B. More people taking care of themselves or finding care within the community.

C. More residents are contributing to and being involved in their community.

59

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



D. People of Plymouth live in good quality neighbourhoods where they feel safe and
happy and where poverty is a thing of the past.

E. Good quality and sustainable health and wellbeing services for people who need
them.

List of evidence base documents.

'Plymouth Green Space Strategy 2008 - 2023 Background Report', Plymouth City
Council, 2009
'Strategic Housing Market Needs Assessment', GVA for Plymouth City Council,
South Hams District Council, West Devon Borough Council, Cornwall Council and
Dartmoor National Park Authority, July 2013
'Creating the Conditions for Fairness', Plymouth Fairness Commission, March 2014
'Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment', GVA for Plymouth City
Council, South Hams District Council, West Devon Borough Council, and Cornwall
Council, May 2014
'Plymouth Plan Area Assessments', Plymouth City Council, June 2014
'The Plymouth Report', Plymouth City Council, 2014
'Plan for Playing Pitches: Consultation Draft', NAA for Plymouth City Council, March
2015
'Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD Second Review: Evidence Base
Update', Plymouth City Council, July 2015
'Draft Wellbeing Needs Assessment 2015 - 2020', Plymouth City Council, July 2015
'Draft Children and Young People Needs Assessment 2015 - 2020', Plymouth City
Council, July 2015
'Draft Community Needs Assessment 2015 - 2020', Plymouth City Council, July
2015
'Draft Enhanced and Specialised Care Needs Assessment 2015 - 2020', Plymouth
City Council, July 2015
'Strategic Assessment (Crime and Disorder) 2014/15', Safer Plymouth

60

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

Five:
The

S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
healthy

city



Module Six: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be a growing city

What we are trying to achieve - our strategic objective for a growing city

Strategic Outcome

Plymouth has used its economic, social, environmental and cultural strengths to deliver
quality and sustainable growth. The city’s long term prosperity has been improved, and
its economy has been transformed and rebalanced. It has raised its productivity, and
provides higher average wages as well as employment opportunities to support a skilled
and talented workforce. Its population has grown to over 300,000 people by 2031.

Plymouth's vision is to become one of Europe's most vibrant waterfront cities. This vision is
underpinned by growth which achieves a transformation in the city’s long term prosperity.
This transformation will be driven by the economic, social and environmental strengths of
Plymouth which have the ability to generate long term, sustainable growth.

This strategic outcome has a very close alignment with the HotSW LEPs mission statement
'to reposition the Heart of the South West's profile and reputation, nationally and globally.
Connecting people, places, businesses and ideas to transform our economy, securing
investment in infrastructure and skills to create more jobs and enable rewarding careers.'

The Plymouth Plan will support the LEP's mission statement and position Plymouth as a
growing city in the following ways:

Economically growing – setting out the strategic framework for economic growth in the
city. This includes:

Ensuring that the measures are in place to transform the city’s economy, raising
productivity, growing our existing businesses, building on our natural and competitive
strengths, and creating new high wage job opportunities for people to find work in
Plymouth.

Enabling the delivery of homes to provide high quality places for new and existing
residents to live, and growing the city’s population to 300,000+ by 2031.

Ensuring that Plymouth is a place where investors find a positive and welcoming
environment for commercial projects and developments.

Socially growing – ensuring that the economic growth of the city delivers a better quality
of life for all. This includes:

61

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Managing the growth to ensure that it creates a quality city of well designed places
and buildings, a respected and utilised heritage.

Ensuring that growth contributes to the creation of sustainable linked
neighbourhoods, where local people can create opportunities to improve their
neighbourhoods and deliver quality places.

Environmentally growing – the city has an enviable environmental quality and setting
which is second to none in the UK. These assets must be utilised to create and promote
a city of natural networks. Additionally, the city's low carbon credentials must be built
upon, setting ambitious targets for reductions in emissions, ensuring Plymouth is resilient
to the impacts of climate change. The city has existing strengths in low carbon and
environmental industries and these must continue to play a significant role in the
transformation of the economy.

Strategic Objective 5

Creating a more prosperous city for all.

To create the conditions for high quality and sustainable growth, which meets the present
and future needs of Plymouth residents and businesses and transforms the city into a
prosperous place to live; and to empower people to equip themselves with the skills and
to find the opportunities to take advantage of that prosperity. This will be achieved by:

1. Transforming and rebalancing the economy to build a strong inward investment and
export portfolio with a focus on higher value, knowledge based industries (including
marine, advanced manufacturing, and the medical/healthcare sector).

2. Capitalising on Plymouth as a 'city of makers', using this wealth to drive the creative
economy by retaining more creative graduates and attracting makers on a national
scale to locate to Plymouth.

3. Ensuring that there is a supply of employment land and accommodation of the right
type and quality in the optimum locations to meet the needs of new and existing
businesses.

4. Identifying locations for new homes to meet Plymouth’s objectively assessed housing
needs in full and ensuring that at least a five year supply of deliverable sites for
housing is always available.

5. Managing the city’s growth in a way that is resilient and adaptive to future
environmental changes and impacts, and which provides sustainable solutions for
development, energy, waste and water catchment management.

6. Creating an environment to harness the aspiration and talent of the city's population
and attract new talent, ideas and innovation to the city.

7. Developing a pipeline of skilled staff and supporting those who are outside of the
labour market back into work.

62

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



8. Managing the city’s growth to ensure future investment in infrastructure can be
sustained and the highest quality of services and facilities can be provided for the
benefit of residents, businesses and visitors.

9. Maintaining and enhancing Plymouth’s natural networks, providing the green and
blue natural spaces needed to support the social and economic wellbeing of Plymouth
as well as safeguarding the natural environment for future generations.

10. Delivering a sustainable transport network that supports Plymouth’s long term growth.
11. Positively planning for retail development so that investment is directed to the City

Centre and, where appropriate, other key centres to support the overall growth
strategy.

12. Providing innovative and high quality architectural development, ensuring that place
shaping and design is at the heart of the city's growth, whilst recognising the value
that heritage assets provide.

What we are going to do - our policies for a growing city

Policy 17

Creating the conditions for economic growth.

The City will create the conditions for a transformed and rebalanced economy, attracting
inward investment in knowledge-based industries including the marine and advanced
manufacturing sectors and supporting new and existing city business, through the
following measures:

1. Delivering transformational economic infrastructure.

a. Developing its world class marine assets through South Yard and other key
developments and other key locations.

b. Adopting a proactive and innovative approach to utilising our significant marine
research assets, including the city's maritime location, and creating ‘test facilities’
in strategic locations.

c. Developing a world-class ‘knowledge campus’ in the north of the city, particularly
in the Derriford area, through proactive management of strategic employment
sites to achieve optimal outcomes.

2. Encouraging business growth and investment.

a. Creating an integrated and accessible business support offer for all businesses
looking for start-up support, advice, guidance and signposting.

63

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



b. Supporting the development of new business incubation environments to raise
business start-up rates, including space for connecting students, academics,
researchers and entrepreneurs.

c. Raising the proportion of businesses exporting (including trading online) and
helping those currently exporting to exploit new market opportunities through
targeted support.

d. Opening up data where possible to improve our collective understanding of
how the city operates and unlocking the potential of a smart city, thereby
supporting the growth of existing businesses, driving innovative business
opportunities and maximising the potential of the digital industry.

3. Empowering people, communities and institutions to develop social enterprise
initiatives to drive their own economic success.

a. Providing targeted support to social enterprises across the city, building on
Plymouth's status as a Social Enterprise City.

b. Empowering communities to develop new economic opportunities, including
through the transfer of community based assets and the growth of social
enterprises and the voluntary and community sector.

c. Boosting levels of local procurement and connecting residents to opportunities
arising from major developments and inward investments.

4. Supporting creative businesses.

a. Creating a renownedmajor creative industries programme that nurtures creative
talent including that of young entrepreneurs in Plymouth and assists with start
up capital, space, mentoring and skills development in order to retain talent
and attract national creative workers.

In support of these policy measures, the City will also implement a range of initiatives
through a 'Plan for Jobs' to ensure a proactive approach is taken to driving and
accelerating the delivery of the new jobs needed to meet the City's growth aspirations.

With a population of 258,000, economic output of £4.5 billion and 105,000 jobs, Plymouth is
the most significant urban area on the south west peninsula.

Whilst much progress has been made, Plymouth continues to experience a ‘productivity gap’
compared with other stronger performing city economies, and is yet to fully realise its potential
as the urban driver of economic growth across the south west. Allied to this, an
over-dependence on the public sector in output and employment terms has created an
economic vulnerability more akin to areas of northern England, rather than the relatively more
prosperous south.

64

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Therefore, at the heart of the approach set out in this plan are the overarching objectives of
raising average productivity across the city’s industry sectors, and rebalancing economic
activity in favour of business investment and exports, helping to deliver high value jobs with
increased average earnings.

This approach is underpinned by a strong understanding of what makes Plymouth’s economy
tick. The six drivers are:

1. Enterprise and entrepreneurship: in particular increasing the rate of business start-ups
in the city.

2. Indigenous and inward investment: supporting and attracting new investment to the city,
bringing in new jobs, skills and ideas.

3. Innovation and the knowledge economy: balanced, diversified and knowledge intensive
business base.

4. Employment and skills: raising skills levels and supporting people back to work.
5. Economic rebalancing: encouraging private sector jobs growth and higher levels of

exporting.
6. Connectivity: maximising the physical and digital connectivity to markets (see also Policy

4).

Significant areas of opportunity include:

The Plymouth and South West Peninsula City Deal, focused on exploiting the city and
wider peninsula’s unique strengths and assets to drive productivity led growth. This
initiative will be supported by the South Yard Enterprise Zone, which was designated
by the Treasury in August 2015.
Improving the coordination of current technologies, monitoring and facilities in Plymouth
Sound and the western English Channel and to promote and develop this marine
environment for the testing and development of marine technologies of the future, through
a 'Smart Sound Plymouth' initiative (see also Policy 32).
The HotSW LEP's Growth Deal and European Union Structural and Investment Fund
to deliver strong and transformational levels of economic growth across the Heart of the
South West.
Allied to this, Mayflower 400 will be a pivotal moment for the city’s economy. This is
intended to be designed and delivered as a dynamic and innovative event with the
potential to drive forward many aspects of the city’s economy (see also Policy 33).
Capitalising on Plymouth’s Social Enterprise City status as a driver of economic growth
and community regeneration. The accolade recognises the extent and quality of social
enterprise business activity in the city. In addition Plymouth University was the first
institution in the world to be awarded the Social Enterprise Mark in recognition of its
long-standing history of support for the sector. The University currently leads the national
Social Enterprise University Enterprise Network.
Supporting creative businesses. In the UK as a whole creative industries contribute 6
per cent of Gross Domestic Product and employs over two million people. The sector is
forecast to play a bigger role in coming years. If Plymouth is to achieve a balanced,
high-growth economy, it is vital that the key strengths of businesses in the creative sector

65

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



are nurtured. Programmes on a range of issues will therefore be developed to deliver
the conditions under which our creative industries can thrive.
Growing the green economy. Plymouth has among the lowest carbon emissions of UK
cities and there exists a real opportunity to capitalise upon its green credentials as a
driver of growth and investment. To maximise the benefits of green growth we need to
be aware of the opportunities and follow technological developments and trends closely,
prepare our workforce with appropriate knowledge and skills, ensure that plans and
strategies reflect infrastructure needs as they develop over time, and develop a reputation
in the UK and abroad as a centre for low carbon innovation.
Creating the landscape and culture for a smart city; one that allows Plymouth people
and businesses to fully utilise the power of accessible and machine readable open data.
A smart city will unlock the use of integrated digital and technological solutions leading
to efficiencies, sustainability and a better quality of life, and can drive new and existing
business growth.

Policy 18

Delivering sufficient land for new jobs.

The LPA will provide for at least 58 ha of employment land to ensure that land is available
in sufficient quantity and of the right quality to drive the growth of the city. It will ensure
that a flexible supply of employment land and premises is available to support investment
and expansion of indigenous businesses as well as for the inward investment of high-value
businesses, particularly but not exclusively those involved in the marine sector, advanced
manufacturing and knowledge based industries. Existing businesses proposing to expand
through the extension of existing premises or intensification of operations will be supported
in principle, subject to detailed considerations. Change of use of existing employment
sites will only be allowed if specifically provided for by the Plymouth Plan to deliver wider
strategic objectives, where there are overriding and demonstrable economic, regeneration
and sustainable neighbourhood benefits from doing so, or where there is no reasonable
prospect of a site being used for employment use in the future.

A fundamental element of delivering economic growth will be ensuring that there is sufficient
land to meet the need for new employment premises. New jobs will be created in many
different sectors, not simply those associated with business and manufacturing (the Town
and Country Planning 'B' use classes). Nevertheless, at the heart of the Plymouth Plan's
economic policy is a drive for businesses to grow and new businesses to locate in Plymouth,
particularly in marine industries and knowledge based industries. The policy sets out how
much new land will be needed to accommodate the growth in these businesses, and how

66

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



the LPA will ensure that a sufficient range and quality of land is available to meet the needs
of business. In order to do this it is useful to set out broadly how many new jobs it is expected
will be created over the period covered by the Plymouth Plan.

Over the life of the plan the City will seek to create 18,600 new jobs. This figure comes from
two key sources:

1. The Strategic HousingMarket Needs Assessment (SHMNA), which uses two employment
forecasts to set out numbers of jobs that may be created in Plymouth over the plan
period. The higher forecast by Experian gives a figure of 18,600 additional jobs.

2. The Plymouth Employment Land Review (ELR), which examines the numbers of jobs
that will be created by City Deal, the Council's 'Plan for Jobs' and other city initiatives in
order to verify the figure of 18,600 jobs set out in the SHMNA.

The ELR has also looked at whether there is enough land available for new employment
development to accommodate this growth in jobs. It has found that although there is enough
land available in the city's administrative area to accommodate the growth in B1 and B2 uses,
there is a shortfall of land for new B8 uses. If land which is located in the Plymouth Principal
Urban Area (as described in Module Eight) is considered there is sufficient land to
accommodate all new businesses which will create the additional jobs we expect to see in
Plymouth by 2031. Employment land at Langage, Broadley Park and Sherford in the South
Hams could contribute to meeting this need, as set out in Policy 40. The ELR has also
revealed that there are some types of land (for example marine employment sites with deep
water access) which are in short supply, and that in order to meet the needs of all businesses
it is important to be very cautious when considering proposals for the redevelopment of
existing employment sites.

Part Two of the Plymouth Plan will identify sites for new employment development.

Policy 19

Delivering skills and talent development.

The City will provide an accessible environment for high quality lifelong learning so that
all of its residents have the opportunity to access learning to develop their skills and
talents in order to progress in their working lives, contributing to the realisation of
Plymouth’s economic potential. In particular:

1. Skills will be matched with demand by:

a. Strengthening partnerships between the city's education institutions, communities
and employers to match skill levels with demand.

b. Enhancing 'advice, employability matching andmentoring' schemes to guarantee
that progression routes to skills training and work are fair.

2. Enterprise and innovation will be driven by:

67

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



a. Supporting the removal of barriers to innovative development, training, growth
and expansion, business start-up and advice.

b. Monitoring, communicating and supporting sector specific skills gaps and their
interventions.

3. People will be helped to prepare for and progress in work by:

a. Streamlining and co-ordinating high quality training and education courses to
ensure there is a fair and relevant city-wide offer.

b. Improving learner access to employability skills and STEM (Science, Technology,
Engineering and Maths) subjects.

c. Improving learner access to core skills, including English, maths, ICT, green,
interpersonal, life / social, relationships and customer skills.

d. Providing pre-vocational targets for people who can't meet academic targets
and providing support to enable those with additional needs to prepare for and
progress in work.

4. Learning environments will be provided that equip people with the skills they need
by:

a. Ensuring that new school places are provided to accommodate growth in the
city’s population, through a planned approach to expansion and where
necessary, through identifying locations for new schools. Development
proposals will be required to make financial contributions to the provision of
new school places where the local schools capacity is insufficient to meet the
increased demand.

b. Developing an employer led system, to ensure the city’s skills supply matches
demand and residents are productively and sustainably employed.

c. Placing the assets, facilities, talent and expertise of the city’s higher and further
education providers at the heart of business growth.

d. Using the LPA’s planning powers to help address skills deficiencies and training
needs, particularly (but not exclusively) in the construction industry.

The development of people’s skills and talents is at the heart of Plymouth's economic policy
for growth, whilst also strongly supporting its vision of a healthy and international city.
Fundamentally, lifelong learning helps people to progress in their working lives, whilst also
contributing to their personal sense of wellbeing and ability to contribute to their community
and city.

68

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Economic growth depends on the availability of the right skill levels, in the right place, at the
right time. Plymouth has a strong network of schools, colleges and higher education institutions
providing a talented workforce with a wealth of skills, knowledge and innovation that supports
the city’s growth. City College Plymouth for example, has excellent established relationships
with local employers and provides innovative, skills based vocational education, training and
apprenticeships linked to future employment opportunities in the city.

The aspiration of the City in general and the Employment and Skills Board in particular is
that employers and educators work in strong partnership to develop the highest possible
levels of skills linked to our economic strengths and plans. This is a vital component of fulfilling
Plymouth's strategic role as the urban driver of economic growth across the south west,
recognised nationally and internationally as Britain’s Ocean City.

Evidence suggests that there is a skills gap in the construction industry. Figures from the
Office for National Statistics (2014) suggest that only 3,300 people are currently employed
in the construction industry in Plymouth. Construction companies report a skills deficit
nationally (CBI 2013) and according to the Construction Industry Training Board the South
West is set to see the highest construction output growth in the UK to 2020. The construction
sector is also notoriously cyclical with skills shortages in periods of growth and redundancies
during recessions. The LPA will seek to use planning powers such as developer contributions,
planning obligations, conditions and other powers to implement employment and skills plans
during the construction (and, if appropriate, the operational) phase of developments.

Policy 20

Delivering sufficient land for new homes to meet Plymouth's housing need.

The LPA will make provision for meeting the full objective assessment of the housing
need of Plymouth. Plymouth's provisional housing need for 2031 is for 22,766 new
dwellings, of which at least 7,242 should be affordable homes. The LPA will allocate
sites for new dwellings in accordance with the principle of sustainable linked
neighbourhoods. To support these wider objectives the City will implement a range of
initiatives in a 'Plan for Homes' to ensure that a proactive approach is taken to driving
and accelerating the delivery of the new homes needed to meet the City's growth
aspirations.

The Plymouth Plan sets out the strategy for meeting the housing needs of a growing city.
The policy aims to ensure that enough homes are built to meet Plymouth's full housing need.
This complements Policy 15 which seeks to ensure that new homes and the existing housing
stock are of a quality, mix and type that meets the aspirations of the city's current and future
population.

69

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



A provisional housing need of 22,766 new dwellings over the life of the plan is identified to
support Plymouth's growth agenda. This need is based upon the findings of the Strategic
Housing Market Needs Assessment for the Plymouth sub region, reflecting the number of
new homes that should be planned for in order to support the growth in jobs over the plan
period. It therefore represents the needs of a growing city - a city which is aiming to grow
faster and to a greater extent than is suggested by the national trend based population
forecasts produced by the Office for National Statistics.

Policy 39 provides for 15,500 of these new dwellings to be delivered in the administrative
area of Plymouth, on the basis of the findings of the Plymouth Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment. The new community at Sherford in the South Hams will provide for
5,180 of the housing residual requirement, leaving a balance of 2,086 new dwellings which
may need to be delivered in other urban fringe locations in Plymouth's Principal Urban Area.
These are matters that will be considered through 'duty to cooperate' arrangements with
adjoining local authorities, in association with ongoing work on the site allocations evidence
base associated with Part Two of the Plymouth Plan.

The affordable housing target of 7,242 dwellings over the plan period is based on an
assumption that Plymouth's recent performance of 36 per cent of new affordable dwellings
will be continued (equating to 5,580 dwellings), as well as allowing for the actual level of
affordable housing planned in the new community at Sherford (1,036 dwellings), and an
assumed 'policy level' provision of 30 per cent for any residual development that may need
to be provided.

The evidence relating to the total housing (and affordable housing) requirement for Plymouth
and its Housing Market Area will be updated over the next fewmonths using the latest national
guidance on calculating housing need. This will be done through joint working with
neighbouring authorities. Their inclusion is therefore provisional pending a further iteration
of the Plymouth Plan when it is prepared for submission for public examination in 2016.

In order to contribute to the delivery of sustainable linked neighbourhoods (see Plymouth
Plan Theme 2 in Module Two) it is important that housing development promotes a wide
choice of housing types, for both affordable and market housing, to meet the needs of all
members of the community, ensuring a better balance between housing demand and supply
as well as improving affordability. Site specific policies setting out where these dwellings will
be provided will be included in Part Two of the Plymouth Plan.

Monitoring arrangements set out in Module Nine will keep the city's housing requirements
and the ways in which they are being met under regular review.

Policy 21

Provision for shops and services.

The LPA will provide for the delivery of sites and opportunities to meet an estimated
need for a net increase of 12,000 sq.m. of new food retail floorspace and 52,600 sq.m.
of new non food retail floorspace. The allocation of sites and the consideration of

70

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



proposals to meet this provision will give primacy to the regional shopping role of the
City Centre and support the city's shopping hierarchy set out in the spatial strategy of
this plan. In considering retail development proposals the LPA will also have regard to
the adequacy of the spatial distribution of food shopping within the city and the wider
economic and regeneration benefits of retail development.

In support of the principle of sustainable linked neighbourhoods, the LPA will seek to
ensure that every residential area has at least one local convenience store within a
reasonable walking distance, and that each neighbourhood supports a good mix of
accessible community and other non-retail services.

The policy identifies howmuch and what type of new retail floorspace will need to be delivered
in Plymouth over the plan period in support of the growing city. The retail floorspace figures
identified in the policy indicate the quantitative need for new floorspace and are based upon
the population growth assumptions contained in the 2013 Strategic Housing Market Needs
Assessment and economic growth forecasts. These figures will be updated in future iterations
of this plan to reflect the most up to date economic growth forecasts and population growth
assumptions.

Retail development is usually the most valuable form of development, generating higher
returns for an investor even than residential development, and food retail tends to generate
the highest returns of all. Decisions about where to locate retail development therefore have
an added layer of complexity; because of the value of the development, retail uses can
underpin regeneration proposals which can deliver much wider social benefits.

In determining where new retail developments should be located, there will also be a need
to address qualitative issues so that everyone in Plymouth will have access to good quality
shopping facilities and in particular good quality food. Qualitative issues can exist where
there is a need to respond to deficiencies in the local retail market; for example, an under
provision of food shopping in parts of the city, or where a store which is over-trading and
being used by more people than it was designed to accommodate.

In order to support the overarching aspirations of the Plymouth Plan, which include the
creation of a city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods (Plymouth Plan Theme 2 in Module
Two), it is important to understand where new shopping floorspace should be located, and
to recognise the importance of access to convenience stores selling good quality food for
everyone living in Plymouth. Access to fresh food within neighbourhoods is an important
determinant of health in communities as well as contributing to sustainable patterns of
movement and the creation of strong communities. A sustainable neighbourhood should
have access to a local convenience store within reasonable walking distance of residents
and an appropriate level of provision of shops and non-retail services, such as GP surgeries,
community meeting facilities and places of worship at neighbourhood level. The precise

71

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



needs of each neighbourhood will be unique and therefore the information contained in the
Plymouth Plan Area Assessments will be helpful to understanding these needs. Nevertheless,
Policy 41 sets out the spatial strategy for retail in Plymouth in support of Policy 21, and
indicates where retail provision will be located to respond to strategic priorities and local
community needs.

Policy 22

Using transport investment to drive growth.

The City will deliver targeted integrated transport measures based upon a strategic
understanding of the city's transport network which will support Plymouth’s growth by:

1. Promoting transport measures that maximise modal shift from car to alternative
sustainable travel choices, including more accessible, efficient and reliable bus
travel, developing ferry services, extending the application of multi operator ticketing
on Plymouth's public transport, creating exemplar public rights of way, walking and
cycling routes, and requiring the development and implementation of travel plans
where appropriate.

2. Delivery and maintenance of a High Quality Public Transport network connecting
Plymouth's growth areas along key routes.

3. Where infrastructure improvements are demonstrated as being necessary, investing
in targeted and strategic projects which optimise the efficiency of the network, tackle
pinch points and deliver highway capacity enhancement. These measures will open
up connections to key growth areas to enable development to take place, and
facilitate the safe and convenient movement of people and goods in support of the
regional and national economy.

4. Setting out in a 'Plan for Parking' an approach to the provision and management of
parking in the city to enable accessibility, growth and an enhanced quality of life.

5. Promoting further investment in air, rail (including rail freight) and sea port
infrastructure, including a new cruise liner terminal and the European ferry port at
Millbay, whilst safeguarding the opportunities for this investment through protecting
key access routes and where appropriate safeguarding existing land and
infrastructure.

Transport planning and investment will be critical to delivering high quality and sustainable
growth for the city. The strategic approach proposed in the Plymouth Plan is set out in a
range of strategic objectives and policies of the Plymouth Plan (identified by the 'Getting
Around' symbol) which taken together will support the delivery of all aspects of the city vision,
whilst also supporting the local highway authority in its statutory Network Management Duty
(Traffic Management Act 2004). The focus of Policy 22 is particularly on the crucial role of

72

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



transport in supporting the city's sustainable growth and wider economic objectives. Many
transport interventions needed to support the growth agenda will require significant capital
investment, which will be delivered from a combination of funding sources. The funding and
programming of the city's transport investment priorities will be identified in the Plan for
Investment and Infrastructure, which will provide the delivery framework for the Plymouth
Plan, with detailed transport implementation plans developed through the local transport plan
process.

Overall, the strategic approach seeks to make effective and efficient use of transport assets
and resources to:

Ensure that travel around the city is efficient, predictable and affordable for all by reducing
the direct effects of congestion.
Enhance Plymouth's air quality, and reputation as an attractive place to live, by controlling
the indirect effects of congestion.
Maximise the business benefits of increased levels of walking and cycling, delivering a
healthier workforce, reduced absenteeism and increased productivity and reduced
workplace parking requirements.
Enhance the reputation of the city and the experience of travelling around Plymouth for
everyone by improving the city’s key transport gateways – including a rejuvenated railway
station and a new coach station (see Policy 7 and 36) and establishing a reputation as
a city at the forefront of new and innovative transport technologies.

Policy 22 supports this strategic approach through a hierarchy of measures that the City will
use when developing transport solutions and delivery plans:

First priority will be to promote 'softer' measures which encourage and enable use of
sustainable means of travel rather than the car. Such measures include travel plans,
which the LPA may require of new developments, setting up car clubs to provide car
sharing facilities, and encouraging 'active travel' - walking and cycling which also have
clear health benefits.

Secondly, the City will continue to work with bus operators to develop a strategic network
of high quality public transport (HQPT) routes connecting Plymouth's three growth areas
(City Centre / Waterfront; Derriford and the Northern Corridor; Eastern Corridor). In these
areas, growth will lead to an increased demand for travel which should be met through
an improved multi modal transport network, in addition to the softer measures above.
Key to the creation of attractive and popular public transport services will be securing a
modern, high quality fleet of fully accessible buses to meet the needs of all passengers.

Finally, it is recognised that in the shorter term it will be necessary to invest in targeted
network improvements to both increase highway capacity and improve bus journey
times, in order to fully open up parts of the city to growth. Such investments will target
the growth areas where most of the new homes and jobs will occur.

It is anticipated that the High Quality Public Transport network will have the following attributes:

73

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



1. A clearly defined and efficient network.
2. Modern good quality, clean and welcoming buses operating at regular frequencies.
3. Safe, accessible and attractive bus stop environments with real time electronic information

displays at key locations.
4. Bus priority measures delivered where practicable along the entire route to ensure

reliability.
5. Future potential built in to allow for responding to new technologies and funding

opportunities.
6. Effective marketing of Plymouth as a welcoming city and a place for business and tourism

realised through the design of the HQPT infrastructure.
7. Multi-operator ticketing through technologies designed to speed up passenger boarding

times and remove a perceived barrier to travel by non-bus users.

The delivery of such a network will require strong partnership working with public transport
operators, with the City Council playing a key role in influencing and creating the right
environment for the required investment in the local bus network.

Additionally, the policy acknowledges the importance to growth of supporting further investment
in infrastructure that enhances Plymouth's strategic connectivity in support of the measures
set out in Policy 4. This includes the need to support demand-driven investment in
road-rail-port interchanges, in order to optimise the economic value to the city of its port and
help meet demand for storage and distribution uses.

Policy 23

Enhancing Plymouth's sporting facilities.

The City will support and enhance Plymouth's excellent sporting facilities so that they
broaden the city's sporting success and act as catalysts for regeneration, by:

1. Supporting the development of first class strategic sports facilities and venues to
meet the needs of a growing city.

2. Ensuring that local neighbourhoods have access to sporting facilities to meet the
needs of the local population.

3. Identifying gaps in the provision of sporting facilities across Plymouth and ensuring
that new developments contribute to the provision of facilities to address those gaps,
including, where appropriate, providing financial contributions to enable local schools
to make their facilities available for wider community use.

4. Ensuring that the city’s sporting offer, and the enthusiasm of its residents for sporting
events, is used effectively as part of the marketing of Plymouth to investors.

74

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Plymouth has a growing reputation for sporting excellence, both in terms of its facilities and
in terms of the performance of its teams and individuals. This excellence can be seen in the
quality of Plymouth Life Centre (which is one of the premier aquatics centres in the country
and was used as an Olympic training venue for London 2012), in the reputation of the
University College of St Mark and St John (as a specialist sports university training elite
athletes), and in the success the city experienced as the host of the America's Cup in 2011.
Sport is a key element of the city's offer. Sport England has estimated an annual total direct
economic value of sport to the city of £84.5m and as such sport is seen as a significant
contributor to a growing Plymouth.

Plymouth's sporting reputation and its facilities are something which the City will support and
enhance through promoting and encouraging the development of further strategic and
neighbourhood sports facilities, including encouraging the community use of sport's facilities
in local schools. New sporting facilities can be a catalyst to the regeneration of places across
the city. For example Plymouth Life Centre and its relationship to Home Park. A strong
sporting offer driven by enthusiastic fans and followers can create a strong identity which is
attractive to investors. However, the policy also picks up the importance of local sporting
facilities which allow teams and organisations to play and host sporting events within the
local community.

Policy 24

Delivering Plymouth’s natural network.

The City will ensure that the natural environment is fully considered and embedded in
the delivery of the city's vision for growth. A functional network of green and blue spaces
will support a high quality of life for communities as well as providing an attractive
environment for investment, space for nature to thrive and increased resilience to the
impacts of climate change. Plymouth’s natural network will be delivered through the
following measures:

1. Ensuring the network is accessible and welcoming by:

a. Ensuring everyone has access to a high quality natural space within 400m of
where they live.

b. Ensuring everyone has access to a high quality playable space within 600m of
where they live.

c. Ensuring everyone has access to a high quality strategic natural space within
2km of where they live.

d. Enabling the designation of 1 ha of Local Nature Reserve (LNR) for every 1,000
people in Plymouth.

2. Focusing on the water environment by:

a. Ensuring our bathing water quality achieves ‘Excellent’ under the new more
stringent EU standards and continues to provide a high quality cultural, wildlife
and recreational resource for the city. This work will be delivered with the support

75

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



of South West Water, the Environment Agency, the Marine Management
Organisation and other partners.

b. Sustainably managing the city’s water environment by adopting a catchment
based approach to ensure reductions in flood risk and enhanced water quality,
wildlife, amenity value and designated shellfish waters.

3. Delivering a co-operative approach to managing the network by:

a. Developing a newmodel for managing natural spaces that enables communities
to have more involvement and ownership of their local spaces.

b. Enabling co-operative working with partners from other sectors, such as health,
to manage the network in a manner that delivers for other agendas.

c. Enabling new funding streams to be directed towards natural spaces, including
taking a more entrepreneurial approach to revenue generation providing it does
not result in exclusion or inequality of use.

The LPA will contribute to enhancing the natural network by:

4. Identifying and enhancing a functional natural network that crosses the city and links
to the countryside and coast beyond the Plymouth boundary. This includes identifying
opportunities to create new habitat, including in inter-tidal areas, and reconnect
existing habitats through new corridors and stepping stones.

5. Assessing the impact of development on the function(s) of natural spaces and
resisting development where it would result in an unacceptable conflict with the
function(s) or characteristic of these spaces.

6. Protecting, improving and encouraging the high quality management of our natural
spaces and ensuring that protected and rare species can thrive.

7. Ensuring all new development delivers a positive benefit for wildlife through avoiding
and limiting impacts, mitigating and/or compensating for unavoidable impacts and
providing an enhancement of the wildlife value within the city.

8. Designating sites of intrinsic community value as ‘Local Greenspaces’.
9. Protecting and valuing iconic and historic landscapes, green space sites that enable

a visual and physical connection to the water environment, and seascapes and
views that define the city, whilst enhancing the relationship between Plymouth and
the surrounding landscapes that provide its enviable setting.

10. Ensuring Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) within developments also,
where practical, deliver biodiversity and amenity benefits in addition to water
management.

76

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Plymouth has one of the most unique and diverse natural environments of any city in the
country. Over 40 per cent of the city is designated as green space, and is surrounded by
three Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB’s), a European Marine Site, a Marine
Conservation Zone and Dartmoor National Park. This provides an enviable setting and a
distinctive collection of assets that can support the growth of Plymouth. Green and blue
spaces that are healthy and able to function naturally also provide solutions to climate change
impacts, including reducing flooding, improving water quality and enabling wildlife to thrive.

The delivery of Plymouth’s natural network will include green spaces (including parks, nature
reserves, woodlands and allotments) and blue spaces (including rivers, streams, the coast
and sea). As natural networks do not conform to administrative boundaries, the delivery of
the network will happen both within and around the city. This will require cross border
co-operation.

High quality natural spaces, and the network of links between them, are essential in the
delivery of services that provide significant social, economic and environmental benefits. A
high quality and properly functioning natural network will therefore provide the following:

Space for recreation and relaxation - There is a key relationship between the quantity
of accessible green space and quality of life. As Plymouth grows we must ensure that
we provide high quality natural spaces that are accessible to everyone to enable them
to access the health and wellbeing benefits these spaces offer.
Playful spaces - The time children play outside during the week has halved in one
generation. This shows how vital it now is to provide high quality places to play that are
near to where children live and that families are confident to enjoy and explore.
Engaging learning environments - The design of our natural spaces will therefore
incorporate features that allow them to become exciting and thought provoking learning
environments where students can flourish.
Benefits to businesses - An attractive natural setting encourages inward investment and
the relocation of businesses. As a result of Plymouth’s distinctive natural environment,
this will be a unique selling point for city businesses.
Climate change support measures – The natural network will form an important part of
the solution to managing the unavoidable impacts of climate change.
Spaces for Nature - Plymouth's wealth of rare and protected habitats and species will
be protected and enhanced so that they can thrive within the natural network.

Policy 25

Reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change.

The City will pursue the following approaches to deliver significant reductions in carbon
emissions in Plymouth, aiming to halve 2005 levels of carbon emissions by 2031:

1. Encouraging and enabling large scale uptake of retrofit insulation, and renewable /
low carbon energy generation equipment and infrastructure to existing buildings,
and promoting other energy demand reduction measures.

77

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



2. Supporting and enabling the installation of renewable and low carbon energy
generation capacity, including encouraging community owned installations and
identifying land for large scale renewable energy installations.

3. Promoting and supporting exemplar low carbon development that adopts higher
design and construction standards, such as BREEAM, Passivhaus and the Code
for Sustainable Homes etc.

4. Promoting the creation of infrastructure to supply low carbon heat through the delivery
and expansion of district energy networks.

5. Support the development of resilient, efficient local energy markets through the
identification and promotion of local opportunities for SMART energy infrastructure
that helps to balance local supply and demand.

6. Seeking solutions that reduce the need to travel, and encourage the move towards
sustainable modes of movement.

The LPA will promote development that reflects the risks posed by climate change and
the need for society to move towards a low carbon future, by:

7. Expecting development to:

a. Take account of the likely changes in temperature, rainfall, wind and sea level
in its design with the aim of mitigating carbon emissions and remaining resilient
to the effects of changing climate.

b. Optimise solar gain and solar access in the layout of development aiming to
achieve a minimum of 10 per cent Winter Probable Sunlight Hours (WPSH),
and a minimum Vertical Sky Component (VSC)* of 27 per cent.

c. Incorporate low carbon or renewable energy generation to achieve regulated
carbon emissions levels of 20 per cent less than that required to comply with
Building Regulations.

d. Connect to existing district energy networks in the locality or to be designed to
be capable of connection to a future planned network. Where appropriate
proportionate contributions to the completion or establishment of the network
off-site will be sought.

8. Identifying ‘Allowable Solutions’ projects to provide developers with the opportunity
for local off-site projects to achieve compliance with carbon emissions standards
required through Building Regulations.

9. Seeking solutions that deliver co-location of high energy users and consumers to
ensure the efficient use of heat. Large scale energy generation proposals will be
required to include measures to utilise waste heat from any combustion processes.

10. Safeguarding the role of undeveloped estuarine coastal margins in providing
resilience to climate change.

78

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Research commissioned by the Council has established themain sources of carbon emissions
from Plymouth. It indicates that the commercial and industrial sector is responsible for 39
per cent of the city’s carbon dioxide emissions, the residential sector 34 per cent, and the
transport sector 27 per cent. The research has identified the elements of a strategy, with
associated targets for 2031, which could help deliver this challenging carbon reduction goal.
These are supported by the policy. Its success will rely on proactive local implementation of
national schemes to reduce energy use, drive energy efficiency in how we live, work and
move around; and an increased uptake of renewable forms of generation.

The LPA will play an important role through seeking development that contributes to mitigating
and adapting to climate change. Sustainable design and construction will be integral to new
development in Plymouth, including the delivery of zero carbon development where possible.
Development should minimise energy demand, maximise energy efficiency and integrate
the use of renewable and low carbon energy. Undeveloped estuarine coastal margins will
play an important role in ensuring resilience to climate change, enabling habitat to migrate
in response to sea level rise. They also provide a location for habitat creation to mitigate
habitat loss elsewhere.

Policy 26

Dealing with flood risk.

The City will manage risk in association with flooding by:

1. Working with South West Water, the Environment Agency and other relevant
organisations including asset owners to ensure that Plymouth’s flood defence, coast
protection, drainage and sewerage infrastructure is sustainable and meets the
requirements placed upon it by population growth and climate change. Flood defence,
water supply, surface water and waste water infrastructure requirements should be
put in place in tandem with planned growth to avoid adverse social, economic and
environmental impacts.

2. Working with the Environment Agency and South West Water to align priorities for
the efficient and effective management of tidal, fluvial, surface water and sewer
flood risk, and to improve and ensure the effective functioning of the city’s sewerage
and drainage infrastructure.

3. Maintaining an emergency response plan, sufficient to address the risks to life and
livelihood from extreme weather events.

The LPA will follow a sequential approach to flood risk management, by:

4. Only considering the development of sites with a risk of flooding where essential for
regeneration or where necessary to meet the development requirements of the city.

5. Requiring development in areas at risk of flooding to be resilient to flooding through
design and layout, and to incorporate sensitively designed mitigation measures.
Thesemay take the form of on-site flood defence works and/or a contribution towards,
or a commitment to undertake such, off-site measures as may be necessary, in

79

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



order to ensure that the development remains safe from flooding over its lifetime
and does not increase flood risk elsewhere.

6. Requiring development to incorporate sustainable water management measures to
minimise surface water run-off and ensure that it does not increase flood risks
elsewhere, in compliance with a 'Plan for Managing Local Flood Risk' and national
standards for sustainable urban drainage systems.

Intense rainfall events are expected to continue to increase in frequency in the coming
decades throughout the UK. Sea levels are rising and will continue to do so, and storms are
expected to increase in frequency and severity.

UK climate projections indicate that by the 2080s there could be around three times as many
days in winter with heavy rainfall (more than 25mm in a day). It is plausible that the amount
of rain in extreme storms could increase locally by up to 40 per cent. Peak river flows in a
typical catchment are predicted to increase between 11 per cent and 21 per cent and sea
levels are anticipated to increase from between 12 and 42cm from 1990 levels.

National flood risk mapping indicates that there are more than 900 properties at high risk of
flooding (Flood Zone 3) in Plymouth from the sea or main rivers. Over 3,000 properties are
at risk from surface water flooding. There is also a risk of damage to key transport
infrastructure and services that would have a significant economic cost. Plymouth's Plan for
Managing Local Flood Risks will include maps of risk areas for sea, fluvial and surface water
flooding and information on strategic flood risk management infrastructure requirements. The
South Devon and Dorset Shoreline Management Plan has a policy of ‘hold the line’ for the
majority of Plymouth’s coast, having considered and rejected the alternative options of no
active intervention and retreating defences further inland.

In order to mitigate these risks, the policy will help to:

Reduce the amount of rainwater reaching the sewers and water courses in Plymouth.
Improve the capacity of particular water courses and sewers, so that flood risk is
significantly reduced during storm events.
Restrict the volume and nature of development in risk areas, and ensure any development
in these areas is resilient to flooding and coastal erosion / storm damage.
Secure financial contributions to the maintenance and improvement of strategic drainage
infrastructure, fluvial and tidal flood defences, and erosion defences.

Flood risk management strategies for specific risk areas will be developed as necessary to
help define and quantify essential infrastructure needs.

80

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Policy 27

Minimising Plymouth's waste.

The City will adopt an approach to waste management that strives to achieve the most
sustainable solution, subject to the constraints of feasibility and financial viability. As
such, the City will proactively support the development of a circular economy to gain
maximum value from materials and products by keeping resources in use for as long as
possible, and then recovering material value at the end of life. In order to achieve this
outcome, the City will develop and keep under ongoing review a 'Plan for Waste', which
will follow the waste management hierarchy which prioritises waste management in the
following order: 1. Prevention; 2. Preparing for reuse; 3. Recycling; 4. Other recovery;
5. Disposal, and will aim to achieve a 50 per cent recycling rate. Particular measures
include:

1. Waste prevention. In order to sustain the delivery of high levels of waste reduction,
the City will:

a. Continue to actively undertake waste prevention and minimisation awareness
raising campaigns and educational activities.

b. Promote and support home composting for garden, vegetable and fruit wastes.
c. Support the development of community composting schemes.
d. Support those engaged in the development of a circular economy and the

extension of product life.
e. Require all planning applications for major development to include a site waste

management plan demonstrating how the demolition, construction and
operational phases of the development will minimise the generation of waste.

2. Waste reuse and recycling. The City will:

a. Continue to proactively assist community and voluntary groups, and businesses
which seek to explore, pilot and develop reuse and recycling activities and
projects to generate economic and social value.

b. Use the planning process to encourage the reuse and recycling of construction
and demolition waste in the city in delivering regeneration and infrastructure
projects that support the delivery of Plymouth's growth vision, and identifying
a site for a facility to manage such waste arisings.

c. Enhance its recycling infrastructure and continually seek opportunities to support
investment in its Materials Recycling Facility, Household Waste Recycling
Centres and the expansion of these and other facilities as viable options for
increasing recycling.

d. Use the planning process to ensure that new developments provide integrated
facilities for the storage of recyclable and non-recyclable waste, allowing for
the development of new technologies which deliver green and practical solutions
to recycling in the home.

81

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



3. Waste recovery. In relation to residual waste that is still left to be managed and
which is not committed as part of the waste stream to be processed through the
Devonport North Yard Energy from Waste Plant, the City will strongly encourage
the use of emerging green technologies for waste recovery. In this respect, the City
will give proactive assistance to public sector organisations, community and voluntary
groups, and businesses which seek to explore, pilot and develop the use of green
technologies.

4. Municipal waste management outcomes. The City will minimise the amount of
municipal waste that is landfilled, so that less than 2 per cent of waste arising are
landfilled by 2016. Additionally, through a 'Plan for Waste', the City will identify
detailed actions to achieve ambitious waste management outcomes to maximise
the prevention, reuse and recycling of waste.

5. Proposals for Commercial and Industrial (C&I) facilities will need to demonstrate
that there is a need for the facility and that there are no other appropriate facilities
for waste management in a reasonable proximity. Landfill of C&I waste arisings will
not be supported in Plymouth and the City will work jointly with adjoining waste
planning authorities to ensure that adequate capacity remains available to meet the
city's needs. In respect of the processing of incinerator bottom ash from the Energy
from Waste plant, which forms part of the waste stream generated for Torbay and
south and west Devon, the City will expect a regional solution to be found given the
city's urban nature.

The management of all of the waste streams generated by people and businesses and that
arise in Plymouth are guided by the waste hierarchy. These are identified as municipal,
commercial and industrial, and construction and demolition waste. The principle that waste
should be driven higher up the hierarchy is set out in the policy, in order to achieve the most
environmentally sustainable approach to waste management. The guiding principle behind
this approach is that waste should be seen as a resource to be reused either directly or
through recycling, rather than being disposed of.

From 2007 to 2014 waste municipal arisings have fallen by 18 per cent. Recycling rates have
also improved significantly across the city. Plymouth’s recycling rate, for municipal waste,
has nearly doubled from just over 20 per cent in 2005 to nearly 40 per cent in 2013. These
are real achievements for Plymouth and demonstrate the ability for progress to be made that
the city can be proud of as it moves on the journey to becoming a greener city.

In this respect, it is important that the opportunities for enhancing the reputation of the city
for environmental stewardship and as a green city is maximised. Waste as a resource and
the waste hierarchy is an important part of this strategy.

82

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Plymouth's waste needs assessment (2014) identifies that there are small quantities of low
level radioactive waste generated in Plymouth, primarily from the healthcare sector. Given
the specialist nature of treatment/management requirements it is not anticipated that any
specific provision will need to be made in Plymouth for the management of this waste. It also
identifies that there are movements of hazardous waste in and out of the city for treatment
at specialist facilities. It is not expected that significant new specialist treatment facilities for
such waste will be needed during the time covered by the Plymouth Plan.

Finally, Devonport Dockyard undertakes strategic defence operations, including work on
nuclear submarines. Any specialist waste streams that arise from these operations will be
expected to be managed by the site operators. Proposals which facilitate the safe and efficient
transportation of any wastes from the City are supported but it is not considered that a
treatment facility within the city would be appropriate.

Policy 28

Promoting Plymouth’s heritage.

The City will pursue a proactive and solution-orientated approach for the conservation
of the historic environment, ensuring that it is promoted as a key element of local character
and distinctiveness, forms a strategic context for regeneration and development, and is
conserved as part of the city's cultural offer, by:

1. Safeguarding and enhancing historic assets and the character and setting of areas
of acknowledged importance, including:

a. Scheduled ancient monuments, listed buildings (both statutory and locally listed),
registered parks and gardens, conservation areas and archaeological remains
(including marine archaeology).

b. Non-designated heritage assets, including areas of archaeological interest,
unregistered parks and gardens and landscapes positively identified as having
significance in terms of the historic environment.

2. Requiring that decisions are informed by proportionate investigations into the
significance and impact of proposals, following best practise guidance.

3. Encouraging communities to take ownership of their historic assets by understanding
them, valuing them and working with owners to maintain and use them for the benefit
of the community.

4. Ensuring that owners and those responsible for the management of historic buildings
are aware of their responsibilities and maintain and care for those buildings.

5. Supporting proposals for heritage-led regeneration and working with developers
and investors to encourage them to see historic and culturally led regeneration as
the first choice method to achieve a quality legacy for Plymouth. In this respect,
development should make a positive contribution to local character and the
enhancement of local distinctiveness in the city.

6. Maintaining a record of Plymouth's historic assets.

83

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



The historic environment is part of our everyday lives. It gives us a sense of place, wellbeing
and cultural identity. The way we value and nurture our historic environment has the potential
to bring economic, social and environmental benefits to Plymouth.

The Plymouth Plan seeks to celebrate and strengthen the unique quality and inherent value
that historic assets and culture offer, as well as sharing and communicating the content
contained within those assets. It is important to understand the significance of the quality of
the historic environment so that its additional and ancillary benefits are fully considered in
decisions that affect, and are supported by, historic assets. Historic assets might also include
intangible assets (e.g. memories), portable assets (e.g. film, photos and objects) and future
assets (e.g. tomorrow’s heritage).

It is also important to recognise that the quality and maintenance of heritage assets relies
on the continued stewardship of existing owners and those accountable for the management
of the buildings. Such stewardship must be recognised for its positive contribution to the city.
The Council will maintain an up to date record of Plymouth's historic assets, drawing particular
attention to heritage at risk.

Policy 29

Place shaping and the quality of the built environment.

Development proposals will be required to meet good standards of design and protect
and improve the quality of the city's built environment through:

1. Ensuring that development complies with the principle of sustainable linked
neighbourhoods.

2. Designing places that meet the needs of people who live, work and visit the city,
either now or in the future, by recognising how people interact with their environment.

3. Positively contributing to the townscape and landscape of the city, especially at
locations which are gateways to and along key routes into the city, to create positive
first impressions.

4. Making efficient use of land and best use of existing assets by safeguarding and
incorporating quality buildings, trees, hedges and other landscape features into the
layout and design of schemes and creating new habitat including woodland, where
possible.

5. Ensuring that opportunities are taken to maximise the positive legacy of decisions
by ensuring that the lifetime of buildings, the effects of continuing benefits and the
quality of design have been considered.

6. Achieving a quality sense of place and character through good design and urban
greening, with particular attention to the design details of the scheme, sensitive

84

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



integration of the historic environment, opportunities to create public spaces and
support the creation of quality public rights of way, walking and cycling routes through
the scheme and to adjoining areas, and the use of landscaping and public art to
create a strong local identity.

7. Having proper regard to the developments context and surroundings in terms of
style, local distinctiveness, siting, layout, orientation, visual impact, local context
and views, scale, massing, height, density, materials, detailing and historic value
and character.

8. Ensuring that the layout and details of new development adequately contributes
towards high standards of community safety.

9. Ensuring, where appropriate, equality of access and use for all sections of the
community.

The quality of the built environment is important to meeting the aspirations of the city. It affects
the way we interact with our city and can contribute positively to people's lives. Sometimes
the benefits of design are overlooked, but the considerations set out above are intended to
guide the way the city operates.

The policy sets out some of the considerations the LPA will use to make decisions about the
quality of design and the place shaping merits of planning applications. It seeks to ensure
that all development has regard to key design principles in support of the city vision for a
high quality city. Design is not just about the architecture of a building. It is also about the
spaces within which the development sits, the quality of the relationships between the
development and surrounding areas, and the appropriateness of the function of the building
in its context. Together these types of consideration combine to create high quality places
that people find attractive, accessible and easy to live in. These characteristics therefore
contribute to the creation of sustainable linked neighbourhoods through new development.

Policy 30

Safeguarding environmental quality, function and amenity.

Development proposals will be required to protect and improve the quality of the
environment and protect amenity through:

1. Adequately considering and where appropriate protecting against the on and off-site
impacts of the proposal on local communities and the physical environment, including
flood risk, wildlife, biodiversity, landscape, marine environment, water and air quality,
land contamination, and odour, noise and light pollution.

2. Protecting wildlife and prioritising statutory protected sites and species according
to their international, national and local status.

85

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



3. Protecting the amenity of the area, including residential amenity in terms of
satisfactory daylight, sunlight, outlook, privacy and soft landscaping.

4. Ensuring that sustainable and safe transport provision is dealt with comprehensively,
including consideration of the impact on the transport network, provision of safe and
convenient road traffic movement, provision of sustainable transport measures
(including cycle parking facilities), and provision of safe and satisfactory vehicular
access.

5. Ensuring that sufficient provision is made for car parking in order to protect the
amenity of surrounding residential areas and ensure safety of the highway network.
The overall level of car parking provision at employment, retail and other destination
locations will be limited where appropriate in order to promote sustainable travel
and to ensure an efficient highway network, a high quality environment, public
amenity and safety.

6. Having reasonable consideration to the impact of the development on the transport
network, including its implications on congestion and delay to the detriment of
business and domestic travellers.

7. Recognising the relevance and importance of up-to-date design guidance (such as
the latest Building for Life Criteria) and utilising these tools when assessing the
acceptability of development.

8. Adequately considering the opportunities to minimise the use of natural resources
in the development over its lifetime, such as water, minerals and consumable
products, by making the greatest possible reuse or recycling of materials in new
construction, and by making best use of existing buildings and infrastructure.

9. Making adequate provision for the storage of waste, including recyclable materials,
for collection, in a way which is a considered part of the design of the overall
development.

10. Where appropriate, requiring a Health Impact Assessment to be submitted as part
of any Environmental Impact Assessment submitted in relation to planning
applications.

Development can have negative impacts and it is important to ensure that they are not
significantly harmful to the existing environment and residents. The policy sets out general
planning considerations relevant to the consideration of all planning applications. It is not a
fully comprehensive list of all of the considerations, rather it builds upon the other policies of
the Plymouth Plan to ensure that development takes place in the right locations and is
designed to ensure acceptable impacts on others and on the environment. The policy will
help to ensure that development takes places in a sustainable manner, having regard to the
environmental, social and economic impacts.

86

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Howwewill knowwe have been successful - ourmeasures of success of a growing
city.

A. The population has grown to achieve the city’s ambition.

B. Plymouth continues to be recognised as a leading Green City.

C. Plymouth has a vibrant, productive and innovative business sector with a workforce
that is paid a living wage.

D. The people of Plymouth have the skills to be school ready and work ready to meet
the needs of the city.

E. Plymouth continues to strengthen the conditions for increased growth and investment
including accelerated infrastructure delivery.

List of evidence base documents.

'Plymouth Rapid Urban Characterisation Study', Alan Baxter and Associates for
Plymouth City Council, February 2005
'Plymouth Strategic High Quality Public Transport Network', Atkins for Plymouth
City Council, March 2006
'Strategic Flood Risk Assessment', Pell Frischmann for Plymouth City Council, July
2006
'Plymouth Renewable Energy Strategic Viability Study', Centre for Sustainable
Energy for Plymouth City Council, March 2007
'South West River Basin Management Plan', Environment Agency, 2009
'Plymouth City Centre and Derriford Sustainable Energy Studies', Centre for
Sustainable Energy/Wardell Armstrong, June 2009
Port of Plymouth Evidence Base Study', Atkins for Plymouth City Council, April 2010
'Plymouth Palmerston Forts Strategic Scoping Study', URS and Scott Wilson for
Plymouth City Council, January 2011
'Local Transport Plan 2011- 2026', Plymouth City Council, 2011
'Analysis of Carbon Reduction Policies for Plymouth', University of Exeter for
Plymouth City Council, June 2011
'Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment Report', Plymouth City Council, June 2011
‘Prospects for Plymouth’s Priority Economic Sectors’, Arup for Plymouth City Council,
July 2011
'Strategic Housing Market Needs Assessment', Plymouth City Council, GVA for
South Hams District Council, West Devon Borough Council, Cornwall Council and
Dartmoor National Park Authority, July 2013
'Local economic strategy review 2013 to 2014', Plymouth Growth Board, 2013
'Analysis of Carbon Targets for Plymouth City Council', University of Exeter, April
2014

87

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



'Review ofWaste Strategy, Future Needs and Sites', Amec for Plymouth City Council,
August 2014
'Plymouth City Centre Development Study-draft', GVA for Plymouth City Council,
September 2014
'Plymouth Employment Land Review 2011 - 2031', Arup for Plymouth City Council
March 2015

88

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
ix:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
ill

be
a
grow

ing
city



Module Seven: The Strategy - How Plymouth will be an
international city

What we are trying to achieve - our strategic objective for an international
city

Strategic Outcome

Plymouth is internationally renowned as Britain's Ocean City and is the UK’s premier
marine city, famous for its waterfront. It is recognised as unique among UK cities for its
natural drama and for its 500 year old history as a place of embarkation and exploration.
Plymouth’s continuing journey towards a world leading marine city supports the cultural
experiences it offers to visitors who are looking for authenticity and character. The city's
world class universities and research institutions are recognised for their innovation, and
Plymouth is a place where businesses can capitalise on a unique economic position and
talented workforce. Visitors from around the world are welcomed to a city that provides
a diverse cultural experience. Plymouth is an international city that local communities
can enjoy, be a part of and be proud of.

Plymouth is a city with assets that are internationally significant. They are assets which if
harnessed correctly will play a major role in supporting the long term transformation of the
city and the achievement of its vision to be known as one of Europe's most vibrant waterfront
cities.

Plymouth has a world class natural setting. With the backdrop of Dartmoor to the north, it
has an outstanding waterfront with the deep harbour of Plymouth Sound to the south and
the rivers of the Plym and Tamar to the east and west. It is also in close proximity to some
of the best beaches and landscapes in the UK.

The city’s maritime heritage is one of worldwide significance, including Sir Francis Drake and
the Spanish Armada and the sailing of the Pilgrim Fathers from the Mayflower Steps situated
in the historic Barbican. With dramatic views across the Sound, Plymouth Hoe also provides
a natural auditorium for national and international events and is the location of the iconic
Smeaton’s Tower and one of the finest art deco lidos in England. Additionally, Royal William
Yard is considered to be one of the most important groups of historic military buildings in
Britain, and includes the largest collection of Grade 1 listed military buildings in Europe.

Plymouth also plays host to significant national attractions with one of the finest regional
theatres in the country (Theatre Royal Plymouth), the National Marine Aquarium and Plymouth
Life Centre.

The city has considerable marine and advanced manufacturing strengths, with a number of
international businesses, and there is clearly potential for businesses to do more to reap the
economic rewards from international trade, while our universities and research institutions
continue to attract attention around the world.

89

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



These unique assets provide an excellent foundation for the city’s international aspirations
and must be used to Plymouth’s advantage, building on the existing sense of pride in the
city. On the journey to becoming an international city, the people and communities of Plymouth
will remain at the heart of the city's ambitions and share in the benefits of its achievements.

Strategic Objective 6

Enhancing Plymouth's profile as an international city.

To enhance Plymouth’s profile as an international city where the city projects itself to
people who might invest, study or visit the city; to encourage and support Plymouth’s
businesses to engage in trading terms in an increasingly global market place; and to
ensure the city fulfils its potential as a distinctive, dynamic, cultural centre of international
renown. This will be achieved by:

1. Raising the profile of Plymouth internationally through it's Britain’s Ocean City brand
and through using Mayflower 400 in 2020 as a key catalyst and driver.

2. Promoting Plymouth as an internationally competitive tourist destination, providing
an accessible and well connected visitor experience which capitalises on the city’s
world class waterfront and maritime heritage and delivers a long standing economic
legacy for the city.

3. Supporting the growth of internationally significant businesses, attracting new
investment into the city and encouraging all businesses to expand trading in the
global market place.

4. Establishing Plymouth as a distinctive, vibrant, cultural city known on the international
stage for its rich heritage, creative industries and unparallelled natural setting, having
an equally strong appeal for residents, visitors and investors.

5. Providing innovative, high quality architectural development to set the city apart and
create an attractive, forward looking environment.

6. Providing a full range of hotel and visitor accommodation, including new high quality
provision, to ensure that there is adequate accommodation capacity for all visitors.

7. Recognising Plymouth internationally as a leading green city.
8. Further developing our universities, research institutions and knowledge based

industries which are widely known for their innovation and world class assets.
9. Delivering a strong, diverse and dynamic city that welcomes new residents, students

and visitors and that celebrates cultural diversity.

90

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



What we are going to do - our policies for an international city

Policy 31

Implementing Britain’s Ocean City.

The City will create worldwide recognition and interest in Plymouth and use Mayflower
400 in 2020 as a key catalyst and driver to bring in more investment, attract more visitors
and make Plymouth's case at a national and international level, by:

1. Raising the international profile of Plymouth through increasingly and consistently
promoting the Britain’s Ocean City brand in all promotional plans for Plymouth.

2. Proactively seeking the highest quality of architecture on key and prominent city
centre and waterfront sites, which reflects and enhances Plymouth's unique maritime
and heritage offer, using architectural competitions where appropriate.

3. Investigating opportunities to build and strengthen links with other cities around the
world for mutual benefit. This will include:

a. Exploring the benefits of increased international links on trade, tourism and
culture.

b. Identifying a coordinated approach tomaximising the city's collective international
links through businesses, visitors, cultural activity, education and research
institutions and the Council.

c. Exploring opportunities for schools and colleges to further strengthen
international relationships through learning.

At the heart of this policy is creating a city that all of its residents and businesses can be
proud of and that attracts more people to visit and invest. The city must promote itself with
real pride, in a way that communicates complete confidence in Plymouth's unique assets.
This is something that should also be recognisable from the quality of its built environment
and in particular through the use of high quality, distinctive and innovative architecture for
prominent sites. It's Britain's Ocean City brand will help promote the city's competitive
advantages and create worldwide recognition and interest. The city's waterfront is a huge
asset; it is a place that captures Plymouth's history and showcases the city at its best.

Strengthening existing relationships with cities such as Brest in France and Plymouth,
Massachusetts, and identifying opportunities to build new relationships for the benefits of
trade, culture and tourism should be explored. TheMayflower 400 celebrations are an excellent
opportunity to present Britain's Ocean City to the world, raising the profile and reputation of
Plymouth across the globe through commercial and cultural activities.

91

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



The city already has a number of established international links through educational institutions
in France, US, Ghana, China and the Gambia. Building international links is increasingly
important in a globalised society and international educational links provide opportunities for
young people to learn the values and cultures of different societies while developing their
ICT, language, professional and enterprising skills.

The Council, businesses, creative sector, education and research institutions will work to
collectively advocate for Plymouth and its residents, to put Britain's Ocean City on the
international map.

Policy 32

Plymouth in the global market place.

The City will actively work to promote Plymouth's position in the global market place,
using the Britain’s Ocean City brand and building on the strengths that the city already
has, particularly in relation to marine sciences and high technology manufacturing as
well as its maritime location. The City will encourage business growth and inward
investment and assist more businesses to export and access new markets.

Plymouth needs to continue to play to its strengths. It needs to take account of what makes
the city stand out in an increasingly crowded global market place to foster and attract enterprise
and investment. The City must help more businesses to start trading internationally and
support those currently exporting to exploit new markets as set out in Policy 17. Businesses
that export tend to experience higher levels of productivity, improved competitiveness in
domestic markets and by tapping into global markets, greater incentives to innovate. In order
to ensure that Plymouth has international links that provide businesses with access to wider
markets for themovement of goods and services and which supports a vibrant visitor economy,
it is important to safeguard and support the city's strategic connectivity to global markets as
set out in Policy 4.

The Mayflower 400 celebrations will be a pivotal moment for the city's economy, raising the
profile and reputation of Plymouth in global markets through the development of trade links
with US businesses, culminating in a Trade and Investment Expo as part of the celebrations.

There is also a need to build on the successes of the Plymouth and South West Peninsula
City Deal and the regeneration of South Yard to drive productivity led growth and exploit the
commercial potential of our marine technology, knowledge and natural assets. A key strand
will be the development of a Technology Centre, providing a jumping off point for businesses
wanting to test and commercialise prototypes in open water, linked to a wider initiative called
'Smart Sound Plymouth'. Today many companies and organisations such as Plymouth
Marine Laboratories and Plymouth University use the waters in and around Plymouth Sound

92

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



to monitor and test equipment for scientific and commercial benefit. The 'Smart Sound
Plymouth' initiative aims to improve the coordination of current technologies, monitoring and
facilities in Plymouth Sound and the western English Channel and to promote and develop
this marine environment for the testing and development of marine technologies of the future.
With the Technology Centre, it will provide unique facilities attracting both national and
international interest and significant commercial investment, helping make Plymouth a global
centre for marine research.

Policy 33

Positioning Plymouth as a major UK destination.

The City will support and secure additional investment in its visitor economy, with
programmes and actions to enhance Plymouth as a destination for all seasons, to market
the city effectively, and support business tourism and tourist related business
development. This will include:

1. Delivering high quality and high capacity visitor accommodation offer for all visitors
in its core tourism and business areas, including:

a. Working proactively to attract 4 and 5 star and boutique hotels to the city and
in particular to its core tourism, waterfront and business areas, filling a current
gap in provision in the city's visitor accommodation offer.

b. Supporting investment in alternative visitor accommodation models such as
high quality self-catering accommodation, serviced apartments and improving
the offer currently provided.

c. Identifying and protecting through the planning process strategic opportunities
for new high quality hotels, especially on sites which reinforce Plymouth's unique
assets such as its waterfront, heritage and culture, including offering views over
Plymouth Sound.

d. Using planning powers to address current capacity shortages in the provision
of visitor accommodation in the city by:

i. Supporting the development of all forms of visitor accommodation on
appropriate sites, including small hotels, bed and breakfasts and
self-catering accommodation in the core tourism and waterfront area.

ii. Resisting the loss of hotels and other forms of visitor accommodation, and
of sites where this has been the previous use, particularly those that provide
high quality accommodation, unless there is no reasonable prospect of a
viable use continuing or being re-established on the site.

2. Recognising Plymouth as a destination for high quality restaurants and catering,
and supporting proposals that strengthen this offer.

3. Enhancing the overall experience of visitors in travelling to and within the city through:

93

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



a. Promoting high quality strategic and local public transport into and around the
city, with good quality visitor information and additional efficient transport
management for major events.

b. Transforming the gateways to the city, including delivering comprehensive
improvements to Plymouth railway station and coach station, and a new
international cruise liner terminal at Millbay Port.

c. Providing and promoting high quality pick up and drop off facilities for visitor
coaches at accessible and convenient locations around the City Centre and
Waterfront.

d. Delivering a quality public realm for the City Centre and core tourism areas
along the waterfront.

4. Maintaining and delivering a vibrant mix of attractions and destinations to support
the visitor economy, including in the cultural, arts, leisure, heritage and retail sectors,
as provided for by other policies of this plan.

5. Delivering a strategic programme of major events, including the Mayflower 400
celebrations, which deliver a long term economic and cultural development legacy
for the city and will provide a vibrant and rich educational resource.

6. Enhancing Plymouth's offer for hosting major conferences and as a meeting place
for national and international business events through delivering a conference and
meetings strategy and associated campaigns to attract targeted groups.

Tourist demand for Plymouth is growing and significant efforts are being made to increase
visitor numbers through events planning and improving the destination offer. In particular,
the Mayflower 400 celebrations are a key focal point and opportunity for enhancing the tourism
experience. The visitor economy attracts significant numbers of visitors annually. In 2012,
5.5 million visitors visited the city and contributed £314 million to the economy. Culture and
heritage must be an integral part of the visitor experience and part of the reason they choose
Plymouth.

It is also essential that if Plymouth is to become a major UK destination then it must provide
outstanding quality facilities and amenities to welcome visitors to the city. This is not only
important for attracting visitors and investors but is also important for the reputation of the
city.

Current occupancy levels in the city are running at 78 per cent which is one of the highest
in any city outside of London. The core city area has approximately 24 hotels providing 1,746
rooms of predominantly 3 star and below. Due to the seasonal nature of tourism in the city
many accommodation providers are at full capacity between June and the end of September
and this is stifling the opportunity to further grow the staying and overseas visitor markets
which are a key to overall economic growth and additional jobs.

94

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



Currently UK staying visitors account for only 14 per cent of total visitor numbers (645,000
per annum) and yet provide 35 per cent of total spend. Overseas visitors provide a further
1.9 per cent of visitors (89,000) and a further 13 per cent of total spend.

A hotel demand study in September 2014 provided detailed analysis of the drivers for
accommodation in the city and identified that there is a gap in the market for good quality 4
star and above provision. There is clear and evidenced potential for new hotel supply with
high standards, leisure facilities and international brand to benefit from a global distribution
system. The ideal site characteristics for new high quality hotels in Plymouth include: good
views to sights that make Plymouth unique (particularly the sea and waterfront) and good
access to the main business and tourist areas.

Improving the sense of arrival and departure to and from the city through ensuring that the
city has a high quality transport infrastructure which is welcoming, easy to use and efficient
for everyone is also important, along with ensuring this achieves a positive impression of the
city.

Large cruise liner operators are attracted by the offer that Plymouth and the wider region can
provide, and visits have included Princess Cruise Line’s 'Royal Princess' and 'Crown Princess'
and the Royal Caribbean 'Splendour of the Seas'. There is a real opportunity for the city to
provide purpose built facilities to deliver the infrastructure that would support Plymouth in the
Northern European cruise market.

Plymouth also has a growing reputation as a destination for high quality restaurants and
catering on which it should build. This offer ranges from high-end restaurants with world class
chefs through to excellent mid-range offerings and great pubs and cafés. The city also
promotes and celebrates the food and culinary traditions of all cultures through public events
such as Plymouth’s Flavourfest. The main food quarters, at the Royal William Yard and the
Barbican, provide both residents and visitors with fantastic environments to eat and drink.

Plymouth Hoe and Plymouth Sound are key assets to be used for major events, which bring
economic benefits not just in terms of spend but also supply chain opportunities for local
businesses. In 2020 the City of Plymouth, Plymouth Massachusetts and their wider partners
in the US and UK will commemorate and celebrate the 400-year anniversary of the sailing
of the Mayflower. Plymouth has ambitions for this celebration to be a year of both national
and international significance for the city that will bring about commercial opportunities and
create a truly transatlantic cultural celebration fit for a global audience.

Policy 34

Delivering a distinctive, dynamic cultural centre of regional, national and
international renown.

The City will support a thriving arts and cultural sector and promote Plymouth’s reputation
at a national and international level by:

95

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



1. Developing amajor international cultural programme stimulating trade and investment
with cities in Europe, the United States and China.

2. Establishing three cultural hubs in the following general locations:

a. Royal Parade, The Hoe and historic waterfront (to include Royal William Yard,
Millbay and The Barbican / Sutton Harbour)

b. North Hill / Tavistock Place (including the area around Plymouth University,
College of Art, Museum and proposed History Centre).

c. Devonport (centred around Devonport Guildhall, Market building, and Plymouth
Music Zone and Music Hub)

3. Supporting the cultural hubs and the places that connect the hubs as locations where
it will be easier for people to occupy temporarily vacant spaces for artistic and cultural
ventures.

4. Developing and providing more music venues for local and underground talent, and
seeking to build on opportunities to stimulate further cultural opportunities across
the city.

5. Raising the profile of key cultural assets through high quality national public relations.
6. Investing in the delivery of major new cultural assets, including the Plymouth History

Centre, Ocean Studios and The House, and identifying priorities for new future
cultural assets.

7. Developing a coherent and structured offer to nurture new creative talent within the
city to grow creative industries and increase graduate retention.

8. Delivering public art through key infrastructure and development proposals at key
gateway locations.

9. Increasing community engagement and development in the least engaged
communities through targeted investment, training and development.

10. Supporting coherent cultural programming and the delivery of distinctive events,
festivals, projects and commissions, to develop capacity and raise the profile of the
city.

Plymouth's unique geography and access to the international community, combined with its
rich higher education institutions and cultural and creative organisations places the city in a
prime position to engage strategically with international cities frommainland Europe, the east
coast of the United States (US) and China. In order to attract interest in international trade
and investment, and draw more visitors to the city, Plymouth needs to collaborate more with
the cultural sector internationally. Through an international cultural programme that stimulates
trade and investment with cities in Europe, the US and China there is an opportunity for
Plymouth to place itself as a major centre for international collaboration in the south west of
England.

96

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



The Plymouth Plan seeks to support cultural activities and experiences in communities across
the whole of Plymouth through a ‘hub and spoke’ concept. The policy sets out proposals for
establishing three cultural hubs in the locations of Royal Parade, The Hoe and historic
waterfront; North Hill/Tavistock Place; and Devonport which build on existing community
activity, assets and infrastructure. Investment in the three hubs will seek to stimulate further
cultural opportunities across the city that gives greater local accessibility to cultural activities.

Developing a distinctive and dynamic cultural sector in Plymouth that will unlock the potential
of the city’s arts, creative sector and cultural heritage will help raise the profile of Plymouth
and support the visitor economy. It will also provide opportunities for local communities and
attract those seeking to relocate for business offering a lifestyle that cannot be found
elsewhere, with arts, music, drama, comedy and entertainment forming a unique city identity
that supports growth.

Policy 35

Celebrating Plymouth's sporting excellence.

The City will promote and celebrate Plymouth's reputation for sporting success and its
provision of first class sports facilities by:

1. Establishing Plymouth as a nationally and internationally recognised venue for
sporting events, particularly in aquatic and water sports.

2. Developing an international major events calendar to raise the profile of Plymouth
as a leading international sports destination.

3. Seeking opportunities to celebrate the successes of the city’s sport’s clubs and
athletes, and assisting them to expand and improve their facilities and performance.

4. Recognising and supporting the work and achievements of locally led sports clubs
and the positive impact they have on communities.

5. Working with partners to provide a second chance swimming programme for schools
so that as many primary aged children learn to swim as possible.

6. Working with the University College of St Mark and St John, and with Plymouth
University, to raise the profile of their sports specialisms, particularly the work with
elite athletes.

Plymouth has some of the best sailing waters in the country, and has hosted a number of
prestigious competitive sailing events, including the America’s CupWorld Series in 2011 and
the Rolex Fastnet in 2013. Plymouth Life Centre also has aquatic facilities that are the largest
of their kind in southern England and were used by a number of international swimming and
diving teams in preparation for the London 2012 Olympics.

97

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



The city has an enviable range of sporting attractions and nationally significant sports training
facilities. The University College of St Mark & St John has a reputation for sporting excellence
and training elite athletes with one of the most comprehensive programmes of sport
participation, performance, education and research in the UK. It is renowned for its world-class
facilities and expertise which it is committed to sharing with international partners. Additionally,
in Plymouth Argyle (football), Plymouth Albion (rugby union) and Plymouth Raiders (basketball)
it has three teams that play within their respective national leagues.

There is also a well established network of local community led sports teams that promote
participation and work with communities to improve levels of physical activity which continue
to deliver world class athletes.

Policy 36

Enhancing Plymouth's 'green city' credentials.

The City will actively pursue measures that build upon its current strengths in green
technologies as well as its exceptional natural environment, to become one of the leading
green cities in Europe. This will include:

1. Developing and promoting our contribution to managing climate change and sea
level rise through continuing to pursue ambitious carbon reduction emission targets
and proactive natural network management, and putting in place infrastructure to
enable businesses to make the transition to a low carbon economy.

2. Promoting our marine renewable energy technological and operational expertise,
through the creation and promotion of a Marine Renewable Energy Hub and a well
trained and qualified, carbon literate workforce able to recognise and respond to
the green growth opportunities of a low carbon economy. This will provide a basis
for inward investment and international collaborations in the energy sector.

3. Reducing transport related carbon emissions by offering an attractive choice of
sustainable travel for all sectors of the community, visitors, businesses and
commuters within pleasant and secure environments.

4. Safeguarding the special conservation status and environmental quality of the
Plymouth Sound and Tamar Estuaries European Marine Site, the Tamar Estuaries
Special Conservation Zone and other sites, species and habitats of European
importance.

5. Recognising organisations that demonstrate excellence in green and sustainable
solutions across the city.

6. Continuing to lead the way nationally in natural infrastructure delivery.
7. Developing innovative approaches through culture to engage communities and

address issues of sustainable living using international models of best practise.
8. Working closely with our local businesses to develop a ‘green’ culture and to support

and encourage them to use best practise to benefit their business as well as the
wider city environmental aims.

98

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



This policy builds on the City's commitment to be a leading green city. This means working
to substantially reduce carbon emissions therefore making our own contribution to the
international effort to manage climate change. This commitment includes big efforts to help
people and businesses save energy, generate low carbon energy, protect Plymouth's special
natural environment and reduce transport-related carbon emissions and utilise the services
nature provides.

It is recognised that climate change will have unavoidable impacts for which wemust prepare,
such as improving resilience to flood risk from heavy rainfall and rising sea levels and to
wave damage from the sea. The Plymouth Plan's commitment to sustainable development
is also reflected in its policies relating to waste management, natural space enhancement
and local food.

Policy 37

Supporting world class universities and research institutions.

The City will support the continued growth of its higher education and research institutions
to raise their profile internationally by:

1. Recognising the competitive strengths of the city's higher education and research
institutions and supporting their development and marketing on an international
stage.

2. Providing the physical space, networks and facilities to capture the commercialisation
of Plymouth's strong knowledge base into new higher value, exporting businesses.

Master planning processes will be strongly encouraged to ensure that future investment
delivers high quality design reflecting their growing status and to deliver maximum benefits
for Plymouth's economy and the local communities that live nearby.

The city has a significant pool of knowledge and innovative potential with an extensive network
of colleges and research facilities as well as three universities; Plymouth University, Plymouth
College of Art and the University College of St Mark & St John.

99

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



The city's considerable strengths in marine science and technology include research
institutions such as Plymouth Marine Laboratories, Marine Biological Association, and South
West Marine Energy Park, backed by a number of leading companies in themarine technology
sector (including Babcock in Plymouth and Appledore and Princess Yachts) in various
locations in Plymouth and the South Hams.

Plymouth's marine research institutes present a unique research and development opportunity
with the combination of expertise in marine science, education, and technology. Together
these organisations put Plymouth in a unique position within the UK and internationally to
derive scientific, academic, and economic benefits for the local community, the region and
the UK. Plymouth therefore provides opportunities for governments, agencies and industry
through technology transfer, joint ventures, collaborative research, international partnerships
and multi-disciplinary conservation efforts. Embedded within the science base is also a unique
capability for the dissemination of knowledge and public understanding of science.

Plymouth University's Marine Innovation Centre (MARIC) operates across the south west,
with offices in Plymouth, the Brixham Blue Environmental Hub and an outreach office at the
Bristol & Bath Science Park. This Business Technology Centre operates across the region
making intelligent connections between small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) and
academia, to help increase the competitiveness of the south west marine sector businesses.
The Centre provides an intelligent brokerage service to support SMEs access the knowledge,
expertise and world class facilities that sit in the marine institutions, universities and public
sector research establishments. The University Technical College also supports the city in
becoming a world leader in marine technology as a centre of educational excellence for
marine engineering and advanced manufacturing.

Plymouth's rapidly developing medical and health care sector includes a mix of activity from
teaching to medical-engineering, medical informatics and biomedical science. Plymouth
Hospitals NHS Trust is the largest hospital trust in the south west peninsula and is a teaching
trust that forms part of the Plymouth University Peninsula Schools of Medicine and Dentistry
and conducts a wide research programme.

The city is developing a growing knowledge-based manufacturing and service industry by
linking to the work of Plymouth University, the hospital and the advanced engineering sector.
Plymouth Science Park hosts some of the most innovative businesses in the south west
which includemedical, science, technology and knowledge based companies. The Plymouth
International Medical and Technology Park has supported Derriford to become a centre of
excellence for knowledge based industries.

Plymouth is also increasingly recognised as having a diverse and vibrant creative industries
sector which includes creative and digital media, audio-visual, design, TV and film production
and visual arts, music technology and software games development. Plymouth College of
Art is a specialist provider of education in art, craft, design and media which aspires to develop
its distinctive profile of work nationally and internationally. The College runs a busy national
and international programme of visiting artists, exhibitions, public events and partnership
activities. Plymouth University Peninsula Arts also hosts the largest contemporary art space
in Plymouth with year round exhibitions from local and international artists.

100

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



Policy 38

Celebrating diverse communities.

As the city grows and attracts new international businesses, visitors and students,
Plymouth will need to strengthen its reputation as a welcoming, multicultural city where
a broad range of partners promote the benefits of diversity and challenge unfair
discrimination. Plymouth will be a fair city where people take pride in their communities,
are listened to and can make a real contribution to Plymouth as a place to live, work and
visit.

The City will:

1. Ensure that the needs of different communities of geography, identity and interest
are respected, celebrated, and valued for and enabled in their contribution to the
economy and culture of the city.

2. Ensure that people feel safe and secure, with good levels of community cohesion
and where people from different backgrounds get on well together.

3. Ensure that as service providers it understands and responds to the needs of
Plymouth's increasingly diverse communities and service users.

4. Ensure that diverse communities have access to contribute to, lead and develop
culture based projects in the city and this work is profiled and supported accordingly.

5. Ensure that young people are prepared for a life in a modern, globalised and
increasingly diverse Britain, enabling them to take up their roles in the Plymouth of
the 21st Century.

If Plymouth is to fulfil its city vision and deliver an ambitious growth agenda it must strengthen
its reputation as a welcoming city with good community cohesion. Community cohesion is a
state of harmony between people from different backgrounds living within a community and
is strongly linked to the concept of social capital. A socially cohesive society is one that 'works
towards the wellbeing of its members, fights exclusion and marginalisation, creates a sense
of belonging, promotes trust and offers its members the opportunity of upward mobility' (OECD
2012:14). Strong and positive relationships are developed between people from different
backgrounds and circumstances, in the workplace, schools and within neighbourhoods.
'Guidance on community cohesion' (LGA, December 2002) and 'Community cohesion - an
action guide' (LGA, 2004).

As the population of Plymouth grows, it will become more diverse with a growing number of
people from different backgrounds. It is therefore essential that we celebrate this diversity,
harness talent and ensure an outstanding quality of life for everyone – newcomers and

101

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



established populations alike. Our approach will help ensure Plymouth has a strong reputation
and is an attractive, safe place to live, visit, work and invest in, and one which understands
and provides for different cultural needs.

The City will also look to promote the effective teaching of Citizenship Education across all
our schools which will support the increased awareness, knowledge and understanding of
Plymouth's diverse cultural profile. Children and young people in the city will therefore be
active and informed members of their communities able to appreciate, celebrate and exploit
the links between the Plymouth of the 21st Century and the rest of the world.

How we will know we have been successful - our measures of success of an
international city.

A. Plymouth continues to improve its diverse cultural and sporting experience with major
events, good food and hospitality offer.

B. Plymouth is internationally renowned as a leading UK tourist destination.

C. Plymouth is recognised internationally for expertise in marine science and high
technology manufacturing.

D. Plymouth’s reputation for world class universities and research institutions continues
to grow.

E. Plymouth’s reputation is strengthened as a welcoming, multicultural city where a broad
range of partners promote the benefits of diversity.

List of primary evidence base documents used in preparing this module.

'The Plymouth Visitor Market Research Study', Arkenfold Ltd., July 2009
'Towards a Visitor Strategy and Action Plan for Plymouth', Locum Consulting, June
2010
'Plymouth Destination Infrastructure Study Part 1 Destination Assessment', Locum
Consulting and Roger Tym & Partners, June 2010
'Analysis of Carbon Reduction Policies for Plymouth', University of Exeter for
Plymouth City Council, June 2011
'Plymouth Visitor Plan', Blue Sail for Destination Plymouth, November 2011
'The economic impact of visitors to the 2011 America's Cup Event in Plymouth',
Serio Insight with Plymouth University, February 2012
'Analysis of Carbon Targets for Plymouth City Council', University of Exeter, April
2014
'Plymouth Hotel Market Study', Colliers International for Plymouth City Council,
September 2014
'Local economic strategy review 2013 to 2014', Plymouth Growth Board, 2013

102

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

S
even:

The
S
trategy

-H
ow

P
lym

outh
w
illbe

an
internationalcity



Module Eight: The Spatial Strategy -Where changewill take place

What we are trying to achieve - our spatial strategy

Plymouth’s spatial strategy operates at four levels:

1. The Plymouth sub region, which represents the area around the city where functional
relationships are the strongest and also includes the city's marine context. It includes
the Plymouth Housing Market Area which is shown indicatively in Figure 4.

2. The Plymouth Principal Urban Area, which incorporates those parts of Plymouth’s urban
fringe that are part of the wider urban area (e.g. Woolwell, Langage) and those locations
where major development is committed (e.g. The new community at Sherford).

3. Plymouth’s administrative area.
4. Individual areas of Plymouth, including the City Centre as well as the city’s

neighbourhoods.

Figure 4: Plymouth sub-region and Principal Urban Area

103

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The Plymouth Plan addresses these levels in a number of ways.

In relation to the sub region, it sets out key strategic principles that it is seeking to deliver, in
co-operation with the adjoining local authorities and, where appropriate, the responsible
bodies for the marine areas. The hope is that these principles will be incorporated into each
of the area's local plans.

In relation to the Principal Urban Area (PUA) and the city’s administrative boundaries, it sets
out the key principles relating to the future growth of Plymouth, particularly in relation to
meeting the city's housing and employment needs, and it provides a context for the site
allocations in Part Two of the Plymouth Plan and the preparation by local communities of
neighbourhood plans.

Strategic Objective 7

Strategic planning for the sub region.

To deliver an integrated approach to the strategic planning of the sub region of Plymouth,
South East Cornwall and South West Devon, based upon the following principles:

1. Plymouth’s role as a major centre of employment and higher-level services for the
sub region, a regional transport hub, and a market place for rural businesses,
fisheries, agriculture and tourism, to be acknowledged and strengthened.

2. Plymouth’s growth to be focused around the creation of a city of sustainable linked
neighbourhoods, and developing in sustainable locations with good access to public
transport.

3. The self-sufficiency, vitality and distinctiveness of key settlements and market towns
to be strengthened so that they function as sustainable communities in their own
right, reducing the need to travel and recognising the functional economic and social
linkages that people in the sub region have with Plymouth.

4. Growth and change throughout the sub region to be managed in a way which
safeguards the special environmental quality and local distinctiveness of the city,
the surrounding rural areas and adjacent marine waters, using these as positive
assets to enhance the prosperity of the area.

5. Delivery of a cross border approach to ensure that the strategic infrastructure needs
of the city and the sub region are provided for as growth takes place.

6. Delivery of strong, integrated and sustainable transport network, including road, rail
and water transport, to be provided to connect Plymouth with surrounding
communities.

104

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



Local planning authorities (LPAs) have a statutory obligation (through what is known as the
‘duty to co-operate’) to identify cross boundary issues that affect the delivery of growth in
their areas and to work together to manage the implications for neighbouring areas. This
includes not just neighbouring authorities, but also extends out into our marine waters. The
starting point for such co-operative working is the establishment of some shared principles
that can then be followed through into the detailed policies and levels of provision (particularly
in relation to housing and employment land) in each affected local plan. This will help enable
all of the LPAs to ensure that their local plans set out strategies with a clear understanding
of the relationships and roles of the various settlements in the sub region, and particularly
their relationship to Plymouth as the higher order centre.

Strategic Objective 7 sets out the key principles that the LPA considers should guide planning
at a ‘larger than local’ level. These seek to build on many years of working at a sub regional
level, initially through joint working on the former Regional Spatial Strategy and more recently
through meetings between the relevant local authorities that have been taking place on a
formal basis since December 2012. They acknowledge the importance of taking a strategic
and integrated approach to growth, which reduces the need for travel and places sustainable
development at the heart. The principles aim to reflect positively the aspirations of each LPA
as set out below and as illustrated in Figure 5:

Plymouth – Britain’s Ocean City; one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities; the
major service centre and economic powerhouse for the sub region; the main destination
for economic growth and marine industries, higher level health and leisure services, a
regional shopping destination and a centre of sporting excellence; high levels of housing
growth to support strong economic growth.

West Devon and South Hams – Promote self reliance and sustainable development;
provide housing which meets local needs and supports a sustainable level of economic
growth; look to Plymouth and Exeter as major centres for economic growth and activity;
complement the roles of Plymouth and Exeter by offering alternatives to city living and
being attractive destinations for recreation and tourism.

Dartmoor National Park – Balance conservation of the protected environment with
the provision of housing to meet local needs.

Cornwall – Supporting economic development in South East Cornwall to meet the
areas own needs and recognise the opportunities from the growth of Plymouth as a
major urban centre.

Strategic Objective 7 takes into consideration both the opportunities and issues created by
a growing city situated in a sub region with a coastal and rural character and particularly high
quality environments of national importance. The principles acknowledge the
inter-dependencies that the city and the sub region have and the importance of public transport
accessibility and sustainable development in guiding where growth takes place. They provide
for outcomes that will benefit all people in the area by allowing for the growth of Plymouth
within the context of a strong and sustainable rural environment. The delivery of these
outcomes will require close cooperation with all of the neighbouring authorities.

105

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



106

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



There is a strong and established set of functional relationships between Plymouth and its
sub region. Plymouth's travel to work area extends from Ivybridge in the east to Liskeard in
the west and to Tavistock in the north. Within this area over 70 per cent of all jobs are found
within the city. Many people from the wider area travel to Plymouth for work, whilst the city's
economic potential is based on attracting workers from these areas and promoting a city
which is set within a world class environment. Plymouth is the most frequent destination for
work from areas in south west Devon and south east Cornwall. For example, 73 per cent of
trips from Wembury and 50 per cent of trips from Liskeard are to the city. This pattern is
repeated across the area with some wards closer to the city in Cornwall and Devon seeing
nearly three quarters of all commuting trips to Plymouth. These linkages are repeated in the
housing market with the Plymouth Housing Market Area extending into south west Devon
and south east Cornwall. They are also reflected in relation to shopping, where it is notable
that the first choice destination for non food shopping trips for three quarters of people in
parts of south east Cornwall is Plymouth. Even for locations further afield such as Liskeard,
half of all first choice non food shopping trips are to Plymouth.

Strategic Objective 7 draws attention to the need to plan together for infrastructure
improvements, and particularly to look closely at transport infrastructure connecting Plymouth
to its sub region.

Particular challenges exist in relation to links from Cornwall. Movements across the Tamar
are constrained by the capacity of the bridges and the ferries. Capacity on the Tamar road
bridge is managed through the use of a tidal flow system, but this means that capacity out
of the city in the mornings and into the city in the evenings is sacrificed to accommodate
commuter flows into Plymouth in the mornings and out of Plymouth in the evenings. The
bridge is coping but it and the wider strategic road network is vulnerable to increases in
demand, and this has an implication for the role South East Cornwall is able to play in
supporting sub regional growth and particularly in regards to accommodating new homes
and jobs to meet the needs of the Housing Market Area. Given the inter-dependence between
south east Cornwall and Plymouth for growth, jobs, housing, health, and leisure, these
functional links and needs will be explored in detail with the affected communities and
stakeholders. Provision will need to be made for further transport investment on Plymouth's
western approaches, including potentially a new park and ride site.

There are also important cross border transport infrastructure needs looking east and north.
Investment is required and programmed to link the new community at Sherford with Plymouth,
including improvements to the Deep Lane junction on the A38 and a new park and ride site
as part of a suite of transport measures along Plymouth’s eastern corridor. Furthermore,
there is a long standing aspiration to restore the Tavistock to Plymouth rail link which will
help ease congestion on the A386 and provide better access to the city for residents of West
Devon. This proposal would link to Peninsula Metro, as described in Policy 4.

Cross border co-operation is also needed for other types of infrastructure. For example,
communities outside of Plymouth seek access to schools, sports facilities, local centres and
recycling facilities within the city.

107

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



Additionally, there is a need to identify and develop an approach to the areas of sensitive
landscape, and the natural networks which surround Plymouth which form its high quality
natural setting. The setting of the city is created by Plymouth Sound and the Tamar Estuary,
and its associated seascapes to the south, along with the high quality adjacent coastal
landscapes of the South Devon and Cornwall Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. To the
north, the city merges within a short distance into Dartmoor National Park and the Tamar
Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Green networks like the Plym Valley form an
important link between the city and these spaces, forming important habitats as well as much
loved recreational resources for people from Plymouth and its wider region.

Strategic Objective 8

An effective spatial strategy for Plymouth.

To manage change and growth in Plymouth in accordance with the following spatial
principles and priorities:

1. Priority to be given to delivering major growth in the city’s primary economic nodes
of the City Centre / Waterfront and Derriford/Northern Corridor, as well as the Eastern
Corridor, in order to drive a step change in Plymouth’s economy and housing delivery.

2. Priority to be given to meeting Plymouth’s housing need within the city’s
administrative boundaries, provided that this can be delivered on appropriate sites
and in a way which supports quality places and sustainable linked neighbourhoods.

3. Development to be planned in a manner which helps to reduce the need to travel,
supported by an integrated transport system which supports growth and delivers
quality sustainable transport links to and between the city's neighbourhoods.

4. Future housing growth outside of the city’s boundaries, if required, to be provided
in the most sustainable locations at the north-eastern or eastern fringes of the city,
and be delivered in line with the principles of quality places and sustainable linked
neighbourhoods.

5. Priority to be given to meeting the city’s employment and economic development
needs within Plymouth’s Principal Urban Area.

6. Plymouth’s waterfront to be safeguarded and managed such that it fulfils its role in
strengthening Plymouth’s economy, supporting the UK’s strategic defence needs,
providing quality recreational spaces for the city’s population and visitors to enjoy,
supporting the strengthening of disadvantaged communities, celebrating Plymouth’s
cultural and maritime heritage, enriching the city’s biodiversity and meeting the
needs of sustainable flood management.

7. The Derriford area to be intensified to provide a new heart and focal point for the
communities in the north of Plymouth, with new commercial, residential, community,
educational and health developments and strategic green space.

8. A proactive approach to be taken to strengthen local communities, particularly in
the west and north-west of Plymouth and in some central locations.

108

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The Plymouth Core Strategy (Adopted 2007) identified three spatial priorities for change and
growth, namely: the City Centre / Waterfront; the Northern Corridor (with Derriford is at its
heart); and the Eastern Corridor (which includes SaltramMeadow but also the new community
at Sherford, which is predominantly in the South Hams). These were identified because of
their strategic importance from an economic perspective and their great potential for change
and growth, as well as being the most sustainable locations in terms of their relationship to
key transport corridors and public transport accessibility. They remain the parts of Plymouth
with the greatest opportunity for significant growth, and the Plymouth Plan maintains them
as the city's priority Growth Areas.

The Derriford area has a particularly significant role to play in providing a new heart for the
north of Plymouth. It is strategically located in relation to public transport routes and the
geography and topography of the city. Additionally, it's currently low density and disparate
use of land, it's existing high value and regionally/sub regionally significant health, education,
and employment facilities, and it's relationship to important natural spaces and heritage
provide a unique opportunity to deliver a transformational scale of growth and regeneration
which will be significant at a regional level.

However, these are not the only areas where change is needed. Although not all parts of the
city are likely to receive large amounts of new housing or economic development, the plan
seeks to support the creation of a high quality city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods for
everyone. Some parts of the city have a particular need for further regeneration and the
strengthening of the local community. Where this is the case the Council will take a proactive
approach with its partners to support and enable positive change to happen within these
communities.

The LPA’s preferred approach to housing development and growth is to optimise the amount
of development taking place within the administrative boundary, but within the context of
safeguarding greenspace, employment sites and community assets to ensure that a high
quality and attractive built environment is created. Under this ‘quality city’ agenda, based on
the findings of the Plymouth Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment, about 15,500
new dwellings can be accommodated within Plymouth’s boundaries (this figure will be tested
through work planned on a Land Availability Assessment of Plymouth, taking place in 2015).
The city's housing need for 2031 is estimated at 22,766 dwellings, so approximately 7,266
dwellingsmay need to be found outside of the city boundaries. The new community at Sherford
currently plans to deliver 5,180 of these homes within the South Hams, leaving potentially a
residual of 2,086 dwellings to be found elsewhere to meet Plymouth's needs.
In relation to employment land, the PUA is the appropriate spatial unit for planning purposes.
The Plymouth Employment Land Review identifies that there is sufficient land to meet the
city’s employment land needs for offices and light industry (Use Classes B1) (14.75ha),
general industry (B2) (14.4ha) and distribution and warehousing (B8) (28.5ha). However, in
relation to B8 there is likely to be a need for land within the wider PUA to be used, particularly

109

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



given the importance of accessibility to the strategic road network for such uses. This sector
has not traditionally been a key driver of the city’s economy, but nationally is growing in
response to the demands of retailers and high fuel costs.

The spatial strategy of the Plymouth Plan is shown in Figure 6. Its purpose is to give
expression to the broad spatial distribution of the significant new investments, opportunities
and interventions that will help move the city towards realising its 2031 vision. As an illustrative
diagram it is not all-encompassing. Detailed projects and proposals will be developed through
separate delivery plans and as part of Plymouth Plan Part Two, which will identify site specific
policies.

110

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place





What we are going to do - our spatial policies

Policy 39

Defining the spatial distribution of housing in Plymouth.

The LPA will seek to make provision to meet Plymouth's full objectively assessed housing
need of 22,766 dwellings. The LPA will make provision for meeting this need within
Plymouth's administrative area where this supports the delivery of quality places and a
city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods.

Subject to final analysis of evidence on housing supply in Plymouth, through a Land
Availability Assessment, the distribution of housing within the city is anticipated to be
broadly as follows:

Southern Plymouth - approximately 7,900 dwellings.
Northern Plymouth - approximately 4,300 dwellings.
Eastern Plymouth - approximately 2,930 dwellings.
Small site windfall allowance - 1,120 dwellings.

Subject to 'duty to co-operate' engagement between the LPA and adjoining councils,
any shortfall in meeting Plymouth's housing need will be provided in Plymouth's Principal
Urban Area, with greatest priority to Urban Fringe locations within South Hams.

Land within the city will be identified through the allocation of sufficient sites for
development in accordance with sustainable development principles, including reducing
the need to travel, optimising the use of sustainable travel modes, reusing land that has
been previously developed and promoting the efficient use of land compatible with the
creation of an attractive living environment. Greenfield and garden development will only
be permitted where this is acceptable in terms of the impact on the city’s green space
resource and the character and amenities of the area, and where the proposal can
demonstrate that it contributes to the creation of sustainable linked neighbourhoods.

Part Two of the Plymouth Plan will identify the sites which will contribute to delivering the
city's objectively assessed housing need, as well as making provision for meeting the full
need. Current evidence suggests that in the order of 15,500 dwellings of the total need of
22,766 will be able to be accommodated within the city's administrative area, leaving a residual
of 7,266 dwellings that may need to be accommodated elsewhere in the Principal Urban
Area. The provisional distribution of housing identified in the policy is greater than 15,500
dwellings, however this includes some consented detailed development schemes yet to
commence. A 10 per cent non-implementation allowance is applied to these schemes which
brings the provisional deliverable supply down to approx.15,500 dwellings.

112

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The policy sets out a broad distribution based upon the Plymouth Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment but which also matches the Plymouth Plan's emphasis placed on
growth and regeneration. The numbers contained in the policy may be subject to further
modification as further evidence is collected though a separate Land Availability Assessment,
but the broad distribution is unlikely to change significantly. Consideration to meeting the
residual housing need will be undertaken with adjoining local authorities in accordance with
the principles set out in this plan.

The policy also sets out the strategic considerations which will be used when identifying
housing allocations and considering housing proposals. It will ensure that housing development
contributes to the creation of sustainable linked neighbourhoods, with access to facilities and
green space, creating a high quality of life for existing and new residents.

Policy 40

Principles for development in Plymouth's urban fringe.

The LPA will work proactively with adjoining local authorities on a joint approach to
Plymouth's northern, eastern and southern urban fringe within Plymouth's Principal Urban
Area, in support of the city’s housing and employment needs and the protection of the
city’s high quality setting. Future growth in the urban fringe will reflect the following
principles:

1. Developments in Plymouth's Urban Fringe, by virtue of their location adjoining the
city, are primarily meeting the needs of the growth of the city.

2. The joint approach will set out how these needs are met, and will ensure that the
spatial plan is fully integrated with plans for the city and the planning of the wider
South Hams area.

3. The delivery of the new community at Sherford, including any future expansion, to
meet the needs of the growth of the city, will be actively pursued and monitored by
both Plymouth City Council and South Hams District Council.

4. New locations for urban extensions to meet the needs of the growth of the city will
be explored at Woolwell and Newnham.

5. New housing development will accord with the principles of sustainable linked
neighbourhoods.

6. The provision of employment land to meet the city's employment needs will be
explored at Langage and Broadley Park.

7. The high quality landscape setting of the city, and the natural networks which extend
from within Plymouth out into surrounding areas, will be identified and their role for
leisure, visual amenity, historic importance and in setting the city’s limits to growth
will be recognised.

8. Any proposals for the future extensions of operations at Drakelands Mine in
Hemerdon will be closely examined to ensure that the social, economic and
environmental impacts on communities in the urban fringe and in Plympton are fully

113

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



safeguarded, and that they do not limit the city's ability to meet its future housing
and economic growth needs.

9. Developments in the urban fringe will need to provide a high quality edge to the city,
with an effective visual transition from an urban to a rural environment.

The growth of Plymouth is constrained by its exceptional natural setting, much of which is
protected through environmental designations. To the west the River Tamar and its estuary
present a physical barrier to expansion. Although growth at Saltash could feasibly meet some
of the city’s needs, the capacity of the transport infrastructure limits this potential, particularly
given that there is only one direct road access into the city (the Tamar Bridge). The extent
to which Plymouth's housing needs could be met in Cornwall depends to a large degree on
the capacity of the bridge as well as the ability to deliver sustainable transport measures that
realise a significant modal shift on journeys from Cornwall to the city. To the south is Plymouth
Sound, and the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Furthermore much of the
area, particularly to the north of the city, is characterised by deep valley systems and a high
quality landscape. Taking all of these things into account, the primary where significant growth
is able to be accommodated in a sustainable manner is to the north east and east of Plymouth.

A significant level of growth is already planned to the east of the city through the proposed
new community at Sherford. Additionally, Drakelands Mine at Hemerdon is close to parts of
Newnham within the city boundary, and to areas which may need to be explored to meet the
city's housing needs over the lifetime of the plan. The mine extracts a number of rare earth
minerals, including tungsten. There will be a need to carefully balance the importance of its
mineral resources against the city's need to grow and to boost its supply of land for homes
and jobs, and the potential impact of any development on the environment and local
communities will be a primary consideration.

The Plymouth Plan provides an opportunity for the local authorities to jointly set out a strategic
approach for the urban fringe, including further sustainable urban extensions to meet the
needs of the city, to establish the role of employment areas and to also set out a policy
framework for the planning of the whole area. The key principles which should inform this
joint approach are set out in the policy.

Policy 41

Defining the spatial provision of retail development and main town centre uses.

The provision of new retail floorspace and other main town centre uses will be positively
planned for in accordance with the following principles and spatial priorities:

1. Development will have full regard to the following hierarchy of centres:

114

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



Plymouth City Centre - the major destination for retail and main town centre
uses, including commercial leisure.

a.

b. A new mixed use district centre proposed at Derriford, as a major part of a new
heart and focal point for the communities in the north of Plymouth and to provide
services which support the wider economic role of the Derriford area. New retail
floorspace should meet the need for main food shopping facilities in Derriford.
Non food shopping floorspace should be provided at a level which does not
have a significant adverse affect on the City Centre and is complementary with
the role of the City Centre as the major retail destination in the city.

c. Existing district centres and a proposed new district centre in the west/south
west of Plymouth - primarily for main food shopping but including a range of
smaller retail units and non retail main town centre uses which create vitality.

d. Local centres - primarily for top-up food shopping and local services.

2. Limited development of main town centre uses including retail may be permitted
within core tourism areas, particularly in the waterfront area, provided that they are
complementary to the role of the City Centre and other centres and specifically
support the visitor economy of these key destinations.

3. A limited amount of out of centre retail floorspace to meet the need for bulky goods
retail warehouse provision will be provided for. The primary location for this floorspace
will be at the existing out of centre retail parks at Marsh Mills, where it relates to a
format of store which practically or economically cannot be located in the City Centre
or another centre in the retail hierarchy. This floorspace will be closely controlled in
terms of size of units, overall amount of floorspace and type of occupier, and will
only be permitted if it is shown through a retail impact assessment that there is no
significant adverse impact on any other centre in the city, existing or proposed.

4. Any proposals for new retail floorspace or other main town centre uses that come
forward must be of a scale that is appropriate to the role and scale of the centre.
Furthermore, proposals will only be granted consent if they do not have a significant
adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the City Centre or other centres higher
up the hierarchy of centres.

5. All proposals for new edge of centre and out of centre retail development with a
floorspace greater than 500 square metres (net) must be accompanied by a retail
impact assessment, including proposals for extensions andmezzanines which would
take the total floorspace over 500 square metres (net). Any proposal which would
have a significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of an existing centre
or prejudice the deliverability, vitality and viability of a proposed centre will not be
permitted.

6. Within the district and local centres the LPA will permit the change of use of ground
floor retail premises (A1) provided that the new use complements and would not
undermine the primary retail function of the centre, including helping people to meet
their daily community needs for local services.

115

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The amount of new retail floorspace to be delivered in the city over the plan period in support
of the growing city is set out in Policy 21. The above policy identifies the priority locations for
delivering new retail floorspace, in addition to proposing new centres to be included in the
retail hierarchy. It is a proactive policy aimed at supporting the city's spatial growth priorities,
addressing gaps in shopping provision in the city, and delivering regeneration and economic
development benefits for the city. The policy also indicates how changes of use within district
and local centres should be considered, in particular to ensure that these centres are vibrant,
mixed use places which are underpinned by retail activities. The policy therefore aims to
prevent a harmful over concentration of non retail (A1) uses in centres which could undermine
this role. The retail hierarchy is shown in Table 1. Sites and detailed policies in relation to
these centres will be set out in Part Two of the Plymouth Plan.

A healthy and vibrant city centre is essential to Plymouth’s economic wellbeing. The City
Centre will therefore remain the primary destination for non-food retailing in the city. The
policy sets out the primacy of the City Centre and the tests which will be applied to retail
floorspace coming forward in other parts of Plymouth.

Two new district centres are proposed, one at Derriford and the other to be located in the
south west of the city. These will both address gaps in shopping provision. The Derriford
proposal will also respond to major population growth planned for in the north of the city,
over trading of nearby superstores, provide important services to support existing employment
uses and to help attract new businesses to the Derriford area, and put a new heart into the
north of Plymouth. The proposal for a new district centre in the south west of the city will
serve to improve access to main foodstore shopping facilities, reduce the need for travel to
other main foodstores elsewhere in the city, and help to create an area of community focus
supporting the principle of a city of sustainable linked neighbourhoods.

The policy also recognises that there are particular types and formats of retail development
which can be difficult to accommodate in shopping centres. Therefore, provision is made for
a limited amount of out of centre floorspace which provides for bulky goods retailing. This
particular type of retail floorspace will be located in existing retail parks at Marsh Mills and
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no significant harm to
the retail hierarchy. The policy also recognises that the range of uses which are most
appropriate in town centres is wider than just retail. The NPPF contains a definition of 'main
town centre' uses which includes retail but which also extends to uses such as leisure,
entertainment uses, offices, arts and culture and tourism development.

All retail proposals coming forward in Plymouth will need to meet the tests set out in the
NPPF. The policy sets out the Plymouth-specific considerations which proposals should also
meet. Retail impact assessments provide an assessment of a proposal's impact on existing
or planned shopping centres. Under the provisions of the NPPF, the policy sets out a locally
defined threshold requirement for all proposals for new, edge of centre and out of centre

116

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



retail developments. This local threshold will enable the LPA to manage proposals for new
retail floorspace more effectively, by ensuring that retail developments are delivered in the
right locations, in support of the wider growth and regeneration priorities set out in the Plymouth
Plan.

City Centre (regional / sub-regional)

Plymouth City Centre

District Centres (main food / convenience shopping and other retail
and services as appropriate to role of the centre)

Plympton RidgewayMutley PlainEstover

St BudeauxRoboroughPlymstock Broadway

South-west of city
(proposed)

Derriford (Proposed)Transit Way

Local Centres (daily / top-up food / convenience shopping and local
/ neighbourhood level services)

ChaddlewoodThe Barbican (also a
core tourism area)

Albert Road

Cumberland StreetCrownhillColebrook

EffordEbrington StreetDelamere Road

ErnesettleEmbankment RoadElburton

Higher ComptonHam GreenGlenholt

Hyde Park RoadHooeHonicknowle Green

North ProspectMarlborough StreetLeigham

Peverell Park RoadPeverell CornerOreston

Stoke VillageSouthwaySalisbury Road

Union StreetTamerton FoliotStone Barton

West HoeVictoria RoadUpland Drive

Wolseley RoadWhitleigh GreenWest Park

Millbay (Proposed)
(also a core tourism
area)

North West Quadrant
(Proposed)

Seaton (Proposed)

Woolwell (in South
Hams)

Plymstock (Proposed)

Table 1: Plymouth's retail hierarchy

117

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place





Policy 42

Improving Plymouth's city centre.

Plymouth City Centre will be renewed and enhanced through a combination of major
new developments, proactive management of change and support for community and
trader led initiatives. This will deliver a modern, high quality, vibrant, accessible and
adaptable centre that reflects its status alongside the Waterfront as the showcase of
Plymouth; a major regional centre; and a place for high quality urban living, leisure, city
pride and cultural expression. This will be achieved throughmaking sure that development
and change:

1. Capitalises on and strengthens the City Centre’s position as the main centre for
non-food shopping for Plymouth and its sub region to ensure that the centre has a
solid foundation for its future growth and prosperity.

2. Celebrates the centre’s heritage, including preserving and enhancing the Beaux
Arts grid of the 1943 Abercrombie Plan and adopting key design principles to inspire
the design and scale of future development.

3. Supports the intensification and diversification of uses through redevelopment of
city centre blocks, with specific sites identified where tall buildings will be acceptable
in principle.

4. Addresses the size and need for clearer focus of the retail area, through prioritising
the prime retail role to the east of Armada Way, and through diversification of uses
for the centre as a whole.

5. Strengthens the role of the West End as an Independent Quarter, anchored by the
City Market, which supports independent traders, niche retail and food shopping to
serve the nearby residential communities, and provides for the introduction of
alternative higher value business uses and creative business clusters.

6. Delivers a vibrant mix of uses to diversify the centre including, in addition to retail:

a. A vibrant destination, with leisure, culture, visitor accommodation and food and
drink uses, especially making best use of key assets such as the Armada Way
boulevard and piazza, and creating greater synergy with the cultural hubs at
Royal Parade, The Hoe and historic Waterfront and North Hill/Tavistock Place.

b. A new residential community, through development and environmental changes
which provides high quality urban living environments and meets affordable
and other housing needs. Proposals for student accommodation will form a part
of the residential mix as part of the development of a balanced community and
be targeted to support prioritised regeneration opportunities.

c. Education and community uses, optimising the benefits from the proximity of
Plymouth University and Plymouth College of Art, and the potential for a more
vibrant mix of uses especially along Armada Way and to its west.

d. Regionally significant employment and office uses, including new Grade
A/BREEAMExcellent (or equivalent) office accommodation and the coordination
of public sector investment as a catalyst for transformational changes.

119

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



7. Supports a diverse and active evening and night time economy catering for a wide
cross section of the public.

8. Delivers better public car parks in strategic locations around the edge of the centre
with excellent pedestrian connections to key attractions.

9. Facilitates and delivers the transition from vehicular dominated access andmovement
in and around the city centre, to better walking, cycling and public transport. Measures
will include:

a. Transforming the public transport gateways.
b. Improving the public realm and pedestrian / cycle movement corridors.
c. Decluttering the public realm and removing physical obstacles to pedestrian

and cycle movement.
d. Continuing to work with partners including the charitable sector to provide a

shopmobility service providing access to the City Centre shopping areas for
visitors and residents with limited mobility.

10. Delivers a new plan for public art with temporary, permanent and festival work to
improve and animate the public realm of the centre.

A successful, revitalised and exciting city centre is a key part of the city vision. The City
Centre is not only the heart of the city and a place where people live, but is also the commercial
and cultural centre, driving the economy and attracting visitors; it is Plymouth’s shop window.
The policy sets out a strategic framework to create a City Centre worthy of one of Europe’s
most vibrant waterfront cities.

The City Centre is underpinned by its role as the primary destination for non food shopping
in the sub region. Retailing has been through a period of decline since the economic crisis
of 2008, and is only now showing signs of recovering. Plymouth's retailers have weathered
the recession relatively well, with Drake Circus and NewGeorge Street to the east of Armada
Way seeing few vacancies and performing strongly. The independent shops of the West End
have also performed well, with footfall remaining strong even through the worst years of
economic decline and in 2014 having a zero vacancy rate. Nevertheless, some parts of the
centre have suffered, most notably to the west of Armada Way along New George Street
and Cornwall Street, where there are significant vacancies both in terms of numbers and the
size of the vacant units. Armada Way has also continued to struggle to find a strong identity.

To inform the Plymouth Plan, a City Centre Study has been produced which looks specifically
at some of the issues facing the centre which have changed since the onset of the economic
downturn, and also points to the opportunities which could be used as part of a strategic
framework for improvements and strengthening of the centre. These opportunities include
for example:

120

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The celebration of the heritage of the City Centre. The Abercrombie Plan of 1943 may
not have been implemented in full, but it remains as one of the most complete and
important examples of post war planning and rebuilding in the country. This legacy is a
unique selling point of the centre.
The prime role the centre plays as the destination for non food shopping trips over a
wide geographical area, providing a strong commercial basis for investment as can be
seen by British Land's acquisition of Drake Circus.
The thriving Independent Quarter which has the potential to drive diversification of the
West End. This part of the City Centre has the opportunity to bring in alternative uses
which will provide assets for local people and attract visitors - leisure uses, creative and
cultural activities, including the ability to utilise existing empty buildings to accommodate
innovative businesses and a hub for creative activities and industries.
The provision of additional residential development, including student accommodation
as part of a more balanced community.
The alignment of public sector investment programmes to explore the potential to create
a public sector hub to unlock challenging regeneration sites.

Figure 8: Plymouth city centre

121

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



The policy sets out the framework within which these initiatives could take place. Part Two
of the Plymouth Plan will set out detailed area policies and site allocations for the City Centre,
amplified by a City Centre masterplan. Detailed masterplanning principles will be identified
for the key places where redevelopment and improvements will take place, including setting
out guides for building heights and how to ensure consistency with the Abercrombie legacy.

Policy 43

Managing and enhancing Plymouth’s waterfront.

Plymouth's waterfront will be renewed, enhanced andmaintained as Plymouth's showcase
and as a unique, sustainable and vibrant asset that drives the city's economic, cultural,
social and environmental wellbeing. This will be achieved by:

1. Adopting an integrated coastal management approach that considers the land-sea
planning interface, has regard for the range of activities in the coastal zone, gives
priority to development that requires close proximity to the sea, improves connectivity,
delivers community benefits and protects and enhances the high quality marine
environment and seascape.

2. Improving key waterfront destinations, assets and opportunities, through a strategic
approach which ensures that the waterfront's potential is fulfilled as the centrepiece
of the Mayflower 400 celebrations, a regional visitor economy hub and a high quality
place for the local community to enjoy. This includes:

a. Strengthening The Barbican and Sutton Harbour at the heart of the city's historic
quarter, supporting independent traders, businesses and key attractions.

b. Protecting and enhancing The Hoe's unique man-made and natural heritage
and using development and public realm measures proactively to repair
damaged environments and enhance the overall enjoyment of the area by
visitors and residents.

c. Strengthening the international gateway at Millbay, incorporating a new cruise
ship terminal and European ferry link, with major waterfront regeneration.

d. Supporting the continued regeneration and restoration of Royal William Yard
as a vibrant heritage led residential community and cultural destination.

e. Deliveringmajor improvements to the connecting routes between the City Centre
and Waterfront, including through Bretonside and along Armada Way, and a
new boulevard to Millbay.

f. Delivering high quality and integrated public realm improvements, including
public art, as well as making good use of waterfront public spaces cultural
events and festivals.

3. Ensuring that waterfront development is of high quality design, safeguards the
waterfront's primary functions, improves use of and access to underused waterfront
sites, delivers marine recreation opportunities where appropriate, and supports the
regeneration of waterfront communities.

122

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



4. Identifying and celebrating views of Plymouth Sound and the estuaries from public
places and other locations in the city.

5. Safeguarding and further enhancing public access to and along the waterfront and
water access points, providing increased opportunity for enjoyment of the marine
environment for residents and visitors alike.

6. Safeguarding and enhancing the natural environment and key historic heritage
features, including the city's marine archaeology.

7. Safeguarding the port functions and the area’s key role in providing key infrastructure
and land to support the priority marine employment sector, particularly for those
sites with deep water berths. This will include naval, defence, port, fishing andmarine
recreation related activities. Strategic transport corridors to the ports and dockyard
will be protected.

8. Using development and technological solutions through the planning process in
order to minimise the risk of hazardous installations at Cattedown port and to increase
the opportunity for new economic and other development in the Cattedown area.

The 30 miles of Plymouth's waterfront (accounting for inlets), consisting of the land and the
adjacent waters, is arguably the city’s most valuable asset and is central to its identity as
Britain’s Ocean City and one of Europe’s most vibrant waterfront cities. Plymouth’s waterfront
is home to the Royal Navy, strategic defence facilities in the navy dockyard and at Ernesettle,
commercial ports in the Cattewater, international ferry terminal at Millbay, a large fishing fleet
in Sutton Harbour as well as various marinas and other marine-related uses. It is a focus for
leisure and tourism and includes key historic parts of the city of Sutton Harbour, The Hoe,
Royal William Yard and Drakes Island as well as being a highly desirable area for housing.
There are beaches, some of the country’s finest sailing waters hosting over 700 sailing events
a year, and our coast is much loved by many whilst providing a critical flood defence role.
The waters themselves are arguably one of the most critical habitat areas containing many
sites of international and national importance and providing homes to migrating birds, fish
and many other marine species. The complex relationships between the marine dependant
economic uses, the natural functions and the natural habitat areas are a pressing issue to
address in this area.

An integrated coastal management approach will therefore seek to balance these competing
demands on the waterfront and adjacent marine area. The Marine Management Organisation
is responsible for all aspects of marine planning and licensing below the high water mark
and the Council along with the Tamar Estuaries Consultative Forum will continue to work
together to deliver this function along with other partners. Any proposed developments which
require both marine and terrestrial planning consents will be dealt with under the Coastal
Concordat which will ensure a coordinated approach between the local planning authority,
the Marine Management Organisation and Environment Agency. Additionally, the City will
ensure through masterplanning that the area's unique assets and potential along Plymouth's
historic waterfront are optimised for the benefit of local communities and the economy.

123

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



Transforming the marine economy is at the heart of Plymouth’s vision for growth. As part of
this it will be important to protect waterfront marine employment land from being lost,
particularly land which is adjacent to deep-water berths or critical port related infrastructure.
Careful management will also be needed of the impact of development and research activity
on the marine environment to ensure that its conservation status is safeguarded.

Connections from the land to the waterfront and out to sea enable the waterfront to function
effectively. Strategic transport corridors allow goods and vehicles to pass through the ports
and a new boulevard will link the City Centre to Millbay. Clear marked routes will enable
residents and visitors to create footfall and deliver a vibrant waterfront and a high quality
network of quays, pontoons and slipways will enable recreational users to step from land to
water. The South West Coast Path, part of the national trail network, provides a route along
the waterfront but there are still sections which could be improved. Opportunities will be
sought to deliver water transport improvements and waterfront city gateways will deliver an
enhanced visitor experience.

Sutton Harbour, The Hoe, parts of Millbay and the Royal William Yard are key parts of the
waterfront that have been identified for their recreational and visitor role. Opportunities will
be sought to enhance this function by creating vibrant areas which make full use of their
historic features. Flexible waterfront spaces will be retained which can provide the focus for
marine events and ensure that recreational marine activities can be accommodated.

The Environment Agency's ‘hold-the-line’ policy for Plymouth’s developed waterfront provides
the basis for continued maintenance and improvement of coastal defences against erosion
and flooding, and thus the protection of existing infrastructure and the development of coastal
sites. Developments will be expected to contribute to the costs of new and improved defences.

These key principles are illustrated in Figure 9.

124

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place





Policy 44

Strategic transport and other infrastructuremeasures to deliver the spatial strategy.

The following key strategic measures and infrastructure projects will be provided during
the plan period in order to support the delivery of the spatial strategy of the plan and the
realisation of the city's growth potential. Any land required to deliver these measures
and infrastructure projects will be safeguarded.

1. City Centre and Waterfront Growth Area:

a. City Centre public realm and transport improvements, including gateway and
access improvements at Charles Cross, Drake Circus, St Andrews Cross / Old
Town Street and Royal Parade.

b. Millbay boulevard and the Octagon to Derry's Cross public realm and transport
improvements, enhancing the link between the City Centre and waterfront.

c. Mayflower 400 - associated waterfront public realm and transport improvements.
d. Plymouth Railway Station Improvement Scheme.
e. Milllbay Cruise Liner terminal.
f. Strategic drainage improvements in the City Centre.
g. Upgrading of flood defences at Sutton Harbour.
h. Central Park masterplan.

2. Derriford and Northern Corridor Growth Area:

a. North Plymouth - Forder Valley Link Road, with associated improvements at
Forder Valley and Marsh Mills roundabout.

b. Derriford Transport Scheme incorporating William Prance Road.
c. Woolwell to The George Transport Scheme.
d. Morlaix Drive widening as part of strategic public transport improvements in the

Derriford hospital area.
e. Manadon - Crownhill Transport Scheme.
f. Tavistock rail line re-opening (part of wider Peninsula Metro initiative).
g. Plymouth Airport reopening (subject to feasibility study).
h. New primary school in the Derriford area.
i. Derriford community park.
j. Derriford water works relocation, to Roborough (South Hams).

3. Eastern Corridor Growth Area:

a. Cattedown roundabout improvements.

b. Pomphlett to the Ride transport scheme.
c. Deep Lane Junction Improvement Scheme and new park & ride (in South

Hams).

126

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



d. Sherford public transport measures incorporating improvements on the A379.
e. Walking and cycling improvements (Saltram Meadow to the new community at

Sherford).
f. Langage southern access (in South Hams).
g. Saltram countryside park.
h. Community infrastructure, including new schools, a sports hub and community

park as part of the development of the new community at Sherford (in South
Hams).

i. New primary school in Saltram Meadow area.
j. New primary school in Plympton area (subject to the requirements of future

growth).

4. Additionally, the delivery of new park & ride facilities on the western approaches to
Plymouth will be explored.

The successful delivery of the spatial and growth strategy set out in the plan will to a large
extent be depending on significant improvements to and investments in the city's infrastructure.
The measures and projects identified in the policy have been identified in tandem with the
preparation of the plan.

Although much can be achieved through making more efficient use of existing infrastructure
such as transport systems and schools, the city's potential to deliver economic growth and
quality of life improvements will be constrained without the delivery of some targeted
programmes and projects. The policy focuses on the key strategic interventions that need
to be delivered by different agencies over the plan period in order to realise the spatial strategy
of the Plymouth Plan. These will be in addition to many smaller scale interventions which will
often take place at a neighbourhood level which help drive quality of life improvements across
the city.

The specific interventions identified for the Growth Areas are seen as the primary projects
needed to deliver a step change in growth and quality of place. This includes transport, public
realm, greenspace, and other infrastructure projects that have been identified through
consultation and evidence base work that has informed and preceded the preparation of the
Plymouth Plan.

The Plan for Investment and Infrastructure, together with associated detailed transport
implementation plans, will expand upon the funding and programming of these projects. Part
Two of the Plymouth Plan will identify land to support the delivery of these projects.

127

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



List of evidence base documents.

'Plymouth Rapid Urban Characterisation Study', Alan Baxter and Associates for
Plymouth City Council, February 2005
'Sustainable Growth Distribution Study', Baker Associates on behalf of Plymouth
Sub Regional Steering Group, March 2005
'Plymouth Waterfront Characterisation Study', Alan Baxter and Associates for
Plymouth City Council and English Heritage, June 2006
'Derriford Development Framework Evidence Report', LDA Design for Plymouth
City Council. January 2009
'Report on Proposed NewDistrict Shopping Centre (Derriford)', Cushman &Wakefield
for Plymouth City Council, November 2009
'Port of Plymouth Evidence Base Study', Atkins for Plymouth City Council, April 2010
'Plymouth Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan', Plymouth City Council, June 2010
'Plymouth Travel to Work Area - Settlements Roles and Relationships Study', Final
Report, June 2010
'Plymouth District and Local Centres Study', Cushman &Wakefield, November 2010
'South Devon and Dorset Shoreline Management Plan Review', Halcrow on behalf
of South Devon & Dorset Coastal Advisory Group, June 2011
'Plymouth Infrastructure Needs Assessment', Plymouth City Council, July 2011
'Plymouth Retail and Centres Study', Roger Tym & Partners for Plymouth City
Council, May 2012
'Strategic Housing Land Assessment Review', PBA for Plymouth City Council, April
2014
'Waterfront Evidence Base', Plymouth City Council, July 2014
'Plymouth Airport Study: Final Report', Arup on behalf of Plymouth City Council,
September 2014
'Plymouth City Centre Development Study-draft', GVA for Plymouth City Council,
September 2014
'Employment Land Review', Arup for Plymouth City Council, March 2015
'Planning Obligations & Affordable Housing SPD Second Review: Evidence Base
Update', Plymouth City Council, July 2015

128

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

E
ight:The

S
patialS

trategy
-W

here
change

w
illtake

place



Module Nine: Delivery and monitoring - How we will implement
the Plymouth Plan

What we are trying to achieve - our strategic objective for delivering the
Plymouth Plan

This module sets out the Plymouth Plan's overarching approach to delivery, as well as setting
out a framework for monitoring which will play an active role in tracking delivery and supporting
future reviews of the plan and its delivery programme. It considers the infrastructure that the
city needs as well as the investment required to achieve the plan's objectives.

Delivery of the Plymouth Plan is a complex challenge, but also a major opportunity. In
integrating many different policy strands that in the past would have been considered
separately, the plan will support the city in transforming how services and other interventions
are delivered. It enables the city to move delivery away from being undertaken by individual
agencies or departments towards a more joined up approach where partners work together
to deliver shared outcomes. Because of the increasing complexity of Plymouth and its needs,
future delivery will be less about management or control of resources and processes, and
more about leadership, which in contrast relies on influence to achieve a desired purpose.
A systems leadership approach gives us the mechanism to achieve this shift in behaviour.

Delivery of the Plymouth Plan will require significant investment from many different partners
and sectors. This will not just be in delivering the specific policies identified in the plan, but
also in the infrastructure that is needed so that Plymouth grows in a socially, economically
and environmentally sustainable way. Infrastructure includes the public systems, services,
and facilities that are necessary for economic and social activity, including roads, schools,
telecommunications, power and water supplies. Collectively, these constitute the physical
and social foundations of a strong society. Infrastructure affects us every day, when the right
infrastructure is in place and it works well it goes unnoticed but nevertheless continues to
contribute to economic growth and social wellbeing. When it doesn’t work - when the storm
drains overflow, when the power goes off, when the rail line is closed, it can have dramatic
and serious implications.

Strategic Objective 9

Delivering infrastructure and investment.

To take a proactive and co-ordinated approach to delivering the infrastructure and
investment needed to realise the city vision and deliver the strategic objectives and
policies of the Plymouth Plan. This will be achieved by:

1. Working with the key infrastructure providers and other agencies in the city and the
sub region to identify and deliver the improvements needed to support the sustainable
growth of Plymouth.

2. Co-ordinating infrastructure and investment in the context of a long term perspective
and medium term resource planning.

129

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



3. Ensuring that infrastructure provision keeps pace with development to avoid
disruption to local communities.

4. Identifying and managing key risks to delivery of the Plymouth Plan and devising
contingency scenarios.

5. Using developer contributions to help deliver the city vision and mitigate the impacts
of growth on the city.

6. Creating supportive conditions that enable and encourage private, public and
community sector investment in new homes, jobs and infrastructure.

7. Ensuring that infrastructure and assets are used efficiently, through for example,
demand management measures and co-location of services.

8. Engaging partners in actively monitoring the delivery of the Plymouth Plan.

.

What we are going to do - our policies for delivering infrastructure and
investment

Policy 45

Plymouth’s investment priorities.

The City will prioritise investment and support towards projects which are critical to
meeting the plan’s vision and objectives. These include:

1. Addressing Plymouth’s strategic connectivity needs.
2. Delivering transport initiatives which increases capacity to move people and goods

efficiently, effectively and reliably, thereby unlocking the city’s growth potential.
3. Accelerating housing delivery.
4. Underpinning economic growth for example by supporting the Plymouth and South

West Peninsula City Deal and Plymouth's Plan for Jobs.
5. Providing healthy lifestyle opportunities, including new sports facilities, sustainable

and active transport schemes and accessible natural spaces.
6. Delivering City Centre public realm, gateway and regeneration projects.
7. Delivering Britain's Ocean City initiatives, developing the cultural capital infrastructure

and the Mayflower 400 programme.
8. Delivering low carbon infrastructure to help respond to climate change whilst also

addressing social inequalities such as fuel poverty.

130

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



9. Providing the education infrastructure required in order to meet the needs of a
growing city.

10. Improving flood defences and water quality.

In making decisions to invest in maintaining and improving existing infrastructure, priority
will be given to proposals that address the following:

11. Directly support the achievement of the city vision and objectives of the Plymouth
Plan.

12. Help to mitigate the negative impacts of the growth of the city (e.g. protecting the
European Marine Site).

13. Offer a better cost / benefit ratio than delivering new infrastructure, whilst being able
to meet the same objective, also taking into account the ongoing running costs.

14. Are an integral part of a programme of investment.

Much of what is known as infrastructure is provided directly by agencies funded through
customer charges e.g. water, electricity, telecommunications. Whilst the city has little direct
input into the delivery of this infrastructure, it is essential that forward planning and
co-ordination takes place to ensure that services are available in time and that economies
of scale, including those derived from working together, are captured. The priorities for new
infrastructure identified above are aligned directly with the objectives identified elsewhere in
this plan. It is important however to take a balanced view of the need for new infrastructure
and the maintenance of existing infrastructure.

Policy 46

Approach to development delivery and viability, planning obligations and the
community infrastructure levy.

The LPA will take a positive and strategic approach to the use of its powers in relation
to planning consents, planning obligations or agreements and the community infrastructure
levy (CIL) in order to accelerate the delivery of development and secure developer
contributions to meet the infrastructure needs of the city. This approach will involve:

1. Positive use of planning conditions (including where appropriate varying from the
standard 3 year time consent for commencement of development) to encourage
early delivery and a strong pipeline of projects.

2. Seeking to maximise the use of CIL for the securing of developer contributions
towards the city's infrastructure requirements.

3. Seeking to negotiate planning obligations where they are needed to:

131

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



a. Prescribe the nature of the development so that it meets policy requirements
(such as the delivery of affordable housing).

b. Offset the loss of any significant amenity or resource through compensatory
provision elsewhere (such as an impact on wildlife).

c. Provide for the ongoing maintenance of facilities provided as a result of the
development, or secure commuted maintenance sums for facilities that a
developer would like the responsible agency to adopt.

d. Mitigate the impact of development on infrastructure, including its cumulative
impact, through direct provision or a financial infrastructure contribution.

4. Maximising the effectiveness of developer contributions secured through prioritising
their use as a match funding / gap funding source, linked to other infrastructure
funding, and through programming spend in accordance with a 'Plan for Investment
and Infrastructure'.

5. Requiring robust viability evidence to be submitted where a developer contends that
planning obligations sought would make a proposal economically unviable. The LPA
will seek an open book approach in these cases. In determining whether or not to
grant planning permission in these circumstances, the LPA will have regard to the
overall economic, social and environmental benefits of the development and whether,
on balance, some relaxation of planning obligations is justified.

The Plymouth Plan acknowledges that a positive approach to delivery of development and
its relationship to communities, infrastructure and the environment is critical to the achievement
of the plan's vision and strategic outcomes. This will involve making proactive use of the legal
and policy tools available to the LPA to accelerate the delivery of development, especially
housing and job-creating projects, and ensure that it takes place in a way that helps the city
to grow sustainably.

When assessing a planning application, the LPA can take into account specific conditions,
restrictions, activities or operations which would make the development proposal acceptable
in planning terms. These are referred to as ‘planning obligations’. Planning obligations
(delivered through what are known as 'Section 106 agreements') are an established and
valuable mechanism for securing developer contributions towards meeting the infrastructure
needs of a development. They are commonly used to bring development in line with the
objectives of sustainable development as articulated through the relevant local, regional and
national planning policies.

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge which local authorities can place on
developers to help fund infrastructure needed to support new development in their areas. To
charge CIL the authority must have an adopted CIL Charging Schedule in place. CIL partially
replaces the Section 106 planning obligations process by reducing the range of infrastructure

132

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



types or projects that it will be appropriate to secure planning obligations for. Unlike planning
obligations, CIL receipts are not earmarked for particular infrastructure. Instead, CIL monies
are pooled into one fund which can be used to pay for a wide range of community infrastructure
(strategic, citywide and local) that is required to support the needs of sustainable development.
The Council is required to maintain a list, prepared under Regulation 123 of the CIL
Regulations, which sets out the infrastructure that can be funded by CIL.

Plymouth's CIL Charging Schedule came into effect on 1 June 2013. A review of the schedule
is currently being undertaken. This will consider changes to the CIL process to enable the
greater proportion of infrastructure contributions to be secured through CIL in preference to
planning obligations.

The framework for delivery

The following framework will identify the provision of the infrastructure and investment that
is needed to deliver the Plymouth Plan, which will include preparing:

1. An Infrastructure Needs Assessment. This will set out what the city's infrastructure needs
are over the plan period in order to ensure that the city's growth takes place in a
sustainable way and the plan's objectives are achieved.

2. A Plan for Investment and Infrastructure. This will be the City's infrastructure delivery
plan, identifying how the city will deliver the infrastructure needed to achieve the outcomes
of the plan, setting out the anticipated delivery mechanisms and co-ordination of funding
and investment programmes, and considering contingencies in the event that investment
is deferred or not forthcoming.

3. An Investment Prospectus. This will be used to identify and promote investment
opportunities for key infrastructure projects.

4. Delivery plans and programmes. These will be outcome driven plans that set out the
detailed implementation programmes for different parts of the Plymouth Plan.

This process is illustrated in Figure 10.

133

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



Figure 10: The infrastructure and delivery process showing the main
linkages

The delivery plans will mainly be focused around the objectives of the Plymouth Plan, rather
than being seen as the plans of individual agencies. For example, in order to deliver the
plan's healthy lifestyle and life expectancy objectives, the City will need to adopt a joined up
approach that encompasses not only health and care services but also the societal,
behavioural and environmental issues that impact on a person’s ability to live a healthy life
– such as housing conditions, access to green space, peer pressure, employability and
opportunities for physical activity.

The delivery plans will include a family of 'Plan for ...s', together with a range of service
specific delivery plans from the different partner agencies. Some of the 'Plan for ...s' are
specifically mentioned in the Plymouth Plan. These include for example the Plan for Jobs
and the Plan for Homes. Others will be developed as required in response to policies that
require this kind of focused and action-orientated approach.

Clearly the planning system itself will be a key mechanism for delivery, through guiding private
sector investment opportunities and managing the process of development in support of the
plan's vision and objectives. Separate guidance will be published in a Supplementary Planning
Document to amplify the policies of the plan and demonstrate how they are delivered in the
context of the planning consents process.

Delivery of the Plymouth Plan relies also on a range of other interventions from the Council
and partners, including in relation to marketing, lobbying and presenting a clear and consistent
message about the city's direction of travel and priorities. Corporate, service and business
plans of City partners will therefore be expected to take their lead from the Plymouth Plan
and the family of 'Plan for ...s'.

134

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



The plan also advocates giving greater levels of power to local people both to enable them
to take control of their own lives but also to influence their communities and the city as a
whole. The more strategic approach to neighbourhood plans advocated elsewhere in this
plan is one of the tools we can use to achieve greater personal and community engagement.

The framework for monitoring and management

The monitoring framework:

1. An integral part of the Plymouth Plan.
2. Based on a co-operative systems leadership approach.
3. Set within the context of a ‘state of the city’ report and dashboard which will clearly

articulate where the city is now, where we want it to be in the future, and how we
are progressing.

4. Encompasses both the high level ‘outcomes’ of the Plymouth Plan as well as more
detailed measures of success and detailed indicator sets.

5. Takes account of the existing monitoring regimes and reporting requirements of our
partners and rely where possible on data that is already being collected.

6. Takes into account ‘wider than local’ issues through co-operation with neighbouring
authorities.

7. Monitors the impact of the plan on the Protected Characteristics of the Equality Act
2010.

8. Provides sufficient intelligence to enable prompt changes to bemade where progress
is below that required, by establishing the means by which these changes can be
discussed and agreed.

9. Involves presentation of monitoring in an accessible format and communicated
regularly to all stakeholders and interested parties.

10. Enables the city to celebrate its achievements.

Monitoring and management is critical to the delivery of the plan, it provides an understanding
of how the Plan is doing against its targets, and whether the approach needs to be changed.

Monitoring of the Plymouth Plan will have two distinct components:

1. The overall direction, as encapsulated within the plan's Philosophy and Themes (Module
Two) and the Strategic Outcomes (set out in Modules Four, Five, Six, Seven and Eight),
will be tracked to ensure that it's making sufficient and timely progress towards the City
Vision (Module Three). This will be done on a regular basis, with reports to City leaders
, culminating in an annual report and a Plymouth 'state of the city' conference.

2. Monitoring of the detailed delivery of the plan, as contained within its Strategic Objectives
and Policies, and associated delivery plans, will be undertaken by the relevant partners,
and only reported to City leaders where specific delivery risks have been identified.

All monitoring will be a combination of three levels:

135

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



1. Indicators and other data against a baseline and targets - targets which are set to be
challenging but deliverable, with longer term aspirations also identified where appropriate.

2. Physical milestones - expected dates of completion of significant events for the key
'flagship' projects.

3. Community inputs - community insight into the state of the city and perceived progress
of the plan on the ground.

Management of the plan will enable the results of monitoring to be turned into useful analysis
and intelligence able to influence decision making and review. Contextual indicators will be
assessed together with horizon scanning to give a full picture of decision making.

Monitoring of the overall direction.

Themes or Strategic Outcomes:

The high level Strategic Outcomes are:

Plymouth's strategic role
Healthy city
Growing city
International city

Each Strategic Outcome has five measures of success attributed to it, and each with a
suite of approximately four indicators and targets. Together they will provide a
comprehensive picture of the direction of travel of the plan.

See Figures 11-14

Philosophy and Themes

Two or three of the indicators from the high level indicator set will be attributed to each
of these, to understand how these conditions and characteristics are evolving.

Roots
Opportunity
Power
Flourish
Connections

Responsibility for delivering against the Strategic Objectives and Policies of the plan will be
clearly attributed to specific agencies and their relevant service areas. They will also have
responsibility for monitoring and managing their delivery. They will be guided in this task by
relevant elements of the high level indicator set, together with any further indicators they
deem necessary. These should be clearly identified within their delivery plans. Where the
delivery of a particular policy is deemed to be critical to the delivery of strategic outcomes or
considered to be high risk, for example because of its complexity or a lack of previous track

136

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



record, then delivery progress might also be reported to City leaders alongside the high level
monitoring. This will ensure that accountability for delivery exists at the right level but that an
appropriate level of high level monitoring is also undertaken.

Where there is a clearly identifiable need for co-ordination across a number of policies such
as for example around the healthy city outcome (where there are much wider determinants
of health and wellbeing), mechanisms will be established that ensure that the evidence
gathering, analysis and subsequent resource allocation can be effectively co-ordinated.

The framework for plan review

There will be a full review of the Plymouth Plan every five years from adoption which is
anticipated to be during 2017.

Where monitoring identifies issues that require a change to be made to the plan itself, these
will be collected and dealt with at the next five yearly review unless they are so significant
that they precipitate an earlier urgent review.

Where monitoring identifies issues that can be dealt with through changes to delivery plans,
a review of the Plymouth Plan will not be necessary. Where such changes to delivery plans
create some inconsistency between the delivery plan and the Plymouth Plan, it will be the
delivery plan (i.e. the most up to date document) which normally takes precedence, although
in the arena of planning decisions this will depend upon tests that the LPA must use to
determine how much weight is given to different considerations. It is not expected that the
delivery plans would set high level policy, they are more likely to deal with issues such as
policy interpretation, prioritisation and resource allocation.

137

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



Figure 11: Strategic Role measures of success and indicator set

138

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



Figure 12: Healthy City measures of success and indicator sets

139

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



Figure 13: Growing City measures of success and indicator set

140

Plymouth Plan

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



Figure 14: International City measures of success and indicator set

141

M
odule

N
ine:

D
elivery

and
m
onitoring

-H
ow

w
e

w
illim

plem
entthe

P
lym

outh
P
lan



50%
carbon emissions

reduced by

2%less than of our
waste going to landfill

300,000
population of

22,700
new homes

18,600
new jobs

live within

400m
of a bus stop

100% of children leave school
able to read and write

play space

600m
from where

they live

Create Expand InvestDiversify

£
Optimise

ACTIONS

Minerals

Medical sector

Digital
connectivity

Advanced
manufacturing

Business support
& start ups

Talent &
innovation

Utilities
infrastructure

Social enterprise

£

Mental
Wellbeing

Commissioning

Children
& Families

Best start
in life

Carers

Access

+ £
Open data

Skilled workforce

Nursery/childcare

Train station

Coach station

Sea connection

P+R
Park and ride

Air connection

Events

Music venues

Arts

Cultural asset

Public art

Wildlife network

European
marine site

District heating

Water
management

Commercial waste

SSSI

Local centre

Neighbourhood
centre

Skills
development

Improving
aspirations

N

L

Waste
recycling

Municipal
waste

Meanwhile use

Mitigate 
impacts?

?

?

Quality housing

Quality
affordable housing

Lowering fuel
poverty

Gypsy &
traveller sites

Mix tenure

Lifetime homes

Student housing

Strong retail
centre

City centre
District centre

C D

International
Regional

Historic
environment

Hotels
Long term legacy

Infrastructure

ROOTS

CONNECTIONS

POWER

THEME

THEME

THEME

OBJECTIVE

OBJECTIVE

OBJECTIVE

THEME

TH
EM

E

O
BJECTIVE

OBJECTIV
E

THEME

T
H

EM
E

O
B

JEC
T

IV
E

TH
EM

E

O
BJ

EC
TI

VE

T
H

E
M

E

O
B

JE
C

T
IV

E

T
H

EM
E

O
B

JE
C

T
IV

E

VALUE

VALUE

VA
LU

E

CONTACT
Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
West Hoe Road
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ
E plymouthplan@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouthplan



Final  OFFICIAL

CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES IN RELATION 
TO CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS AND 
FINANCIAL REGULATIONS  
City Council: 21 September 2015

  

CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW GROUP MINUTE (7 September 2015)

The Constitution Review Group received the report entitled ‘Constitutional Changes’ considered 
by the Audit Committee on 25 June 2015, together with the minute from that meeting.

Agreed to -

(1) support the recommendations made by the Audit Committee;

(2) attach only the amended version of the Contract Standing Orders (Part H) and 
the amended section of the Financial Regulations (Part H) to the report to be 
considered by Council.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MINUTE 12 (25 June 2015)

Nicola Allen (Senior Category and Contract Manager) presented the report on Constitutional 
Changes in relation to Contract Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.

Members were advised that –

(a) on 17 April 2014, a new EU procurement directive had been 
adopted by the European Commission; all EU member states were 
required to implement the directive into national Law within two 
years of the adoption date; the Directive had been transposed into 
UK law (Public Contracts Regulations) which came into force on 26 
February 2015;

 
(b) the main purpose of the EU public procurement regime was to open 

up the public procurement market to competition and ensure the 
free movement of supplies, services and works within the EU; the 
EU rules reflect and reinforce the value for money focus of the UK 
government’s public procurement policy;

(c)
 

in addition the Lord Young Reform had been introduced to create a 
small and medium enterprises (SMEs) friendly market for public 
procurement by removing the barriers to entry through a 
standardised Pre- Qualification questionnaire (PQQ) and a single 
website, Contracts Finder, to source advertised opportunities;

(e) taking into account all of the changes the Council’s Contract 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations had been updated to 
cover the following -



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES IN RELATION TO CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS AND FINANCIAL 
REGULATIONS Page 2 of 2

● changes to legislation;

● increase to the Council’s low value procurement thresholds 
from £100k to £150k for goods and services from £200k to 
£2m for works to ensure that suppliers are sourced locally 
where possible via an RFQ process rather than nationally 
advertised opportunities on Contracts Finder;

● tender opportunities advertised on Contracts Finder as well as 
the Council’s procurement portal, supplying the south west;

● purchasing card limits had been updated in line with the 
purchasing card policy and practice;

● purchase order authorisation limits had been increased;

● enhancement of contract management;

(f) by increasing the Council’s low value procurement thresholds it 
would be able to target local suppliers and micro, small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs).  This would enable delivery of the Council’s 
pledges as well as supporting the objectives of the Fairness 
Commission.

The committee agreed to recommend to the City Council that the –

(1) Contract Standing orders which form Part H of the Constitution are 
updated in line with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and in 
support of the Council’s localism agenda;

(2) Financial Regulations which from Part H of the Constitution are 
updated in line with the purchase order authorisation and purchase 
card limits.



Revised Jul 2013

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

Subject: Constitutional Changes 

Committee: Audit

Date: 25 June 2015

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry

CMT Member: Lesa Annear (Director for Transformation & Change)

Author: Nicola Allen, Senior Category & Contract Manager

Contact details Tel:  01752 304162
email: nicola.allen@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:

Key Decision: No

Part: I 

Purpose of the report:

The purpose of the report is:
 to update Contract Standing Orders (Part H of the Constitution) in line with the Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015
 to update the purchase order authorisation and purchase card limits in Financial Regulations 

(Part H of the Constitution)
 to increase the tendering threshold values so that there are more opportunities to keep 

spend local  

The Brilliant Co-operative Council Corporate Plan 2013/14 -2016/17:

This report supports the Growing Plymouth objective by increasing the amount of local spend to 
encourage a strong economy creating a range of job opportunities.
  

Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    
Including finance, human, IT and land

There is no financial implication to the Council to implement these changes within the constitution.

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 
Management:

Not applicable

Equality and Diversity

Has an Equality Impact Assessment been undertaken?   Yes  



Revised Jul 2013

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action:

The Audit Committee approve and recommend to City Council that –

It is recommended that, Contract Standing Orders, which form Part H of the Constitution, are 
updated in line with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (see link in Published work/information)   
and in support of our localism agenda, as detailed in appendix 1 and 2. 

It is recommended that, Financial Regulations, which form Part H of the Constitution, are updated in 
line with purchase order authorisation and purchase card limits, as detailed in appendix 3 and 4.

Alternative options considered and rejected:

Do nothing
It is a legal requirement of the Council to implement the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, failure to 
do so will result in the Council not complying with UK Legislation and possible legal challenge which 
could lead to fines against the Council.

Published work / information:

Public Contracts Regulations 
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.
pdf&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=qvqHVeqJCsiOsgHl_bWQBg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQj
CNFL9YP1x8hINm1wmCXDZ7aE_FL8mg
 
Background papers:

Appendix 1 – Updated Contract Standing Orders (with track changes)
Appendix 2 – Updated Contract Standing Orders (clean copy)
Appendix 3 – Updated Financial Regulations (with track changes)
Appendix 4 – Updated Financial Regulations (clean copy)

Sign off:  

Fin djn15
16.19

Leg 23279/
ALT

Mon 
Off

23296
/DVS

HR N/A Assets N/A IT N/A Strat 
Proc

HG/
CS/3
96/C
P/06
15

Originating SMT Member
Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=qvqHVeqJCsiOsgHl_bWQBg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFL9YP1x8hINm1wmCXDZ7aE_FL8mg
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=qvqHVeqJCsiOsgHl_bWQBg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFL9YP1x8hINm1wmCXDZ7aE_FL8mg
http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=qvqHVeqJCsiOsgHl_bWQBg&ved=0CBQQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNFL9YP1x8hINm1wmCXDZ7aE_FL8mg


Revised Jul 2013

1 Summary

1.1 On 17 April 2014 a new EU procurement directive was adopted by the European 
Commission and came into force.  All EU member states must implement the directive into 
national Law within two years of the date of adoption and the government prioritised the 
Public Sector Directive for early implementation.
  

1.2 The Directive has been transposed into UK law by Statutory Instrument 2015/102 the Public 
Contracts Regulations, replacing the Public Contracts Regulations 2006.  The 2015 
Regulations came into force on 26 February 15.

1.3 The main purpose of the EU public procurement regime is to open up the public procurement 
market to competition and ensure the free movement of supplies, services and works within 
the EU.  The EU rules reflect and reinforce the value for money focus of the UK 
government’s public procurement policy.  The directive is intended to simplify the regime 
making it more flexible and improve efficiency in public spending, it is also intended to allow 
the strategic use of public procurement to address new challenges such as, increasing access 
for small and medium enterprises (SMEs), fostering innovation, respecting the environment, 
and achieving other societal goals.

1.4 In addition to this the Lord Young Reform was introduced to create a SME friendly market for 
public procurement by removing the barriers to entry through a standardised Pre-
Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) and a single website, Contracts Finder, to source 
advertised opportunities.

1.5 Taking into account the new regulations, the Lord Young reforms and our localisation agenda, 
contract standing orders and financial regulations have been updated to cover the following

 changes to legislation
 increase in our low value procurement thresholds from £100k to £150k for goods and 

services and from £200k to £2m for works to ensure that suppliers are sourced locally 
where possible via an RFQ process rather than nationally advertise the opportunities 
on Contracts Finder

 tender opportunities are advertised on Contracts Finer as well as our procurement 
portal, supplying the southwest.

 purchasing card limits have been updated in line with the purchasing card policy and 
practice

 purchase order authorisation limits have been increased
 enhancement of contract management

2 Benefits

2.1 By increasing our low value procurement thresholds we will be able to target local suppliers 
and micro, small and medium enterprises (SME’s).  This will enable delivery of our pledges as 
well as supporting the objectives of the fairness commission:

 Working Plymouth
Pledge No. 3 – Increase the amount of local purchasing the Council does to keep more 
of Plymouth’s wealth in our city.

 Fairness Commission
Recommendation No. 70 – Provide better access to public spend for local small 
suppliers   



Revised Jul 2013

2.2 The increase of the purchase order authorisation limits will streamline the process reducing 
the amount of time taken to approve purchase orders.    

       



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

CONTRACT STANDING 

ORDERS 
Constitution – Part H

 

IN THIS SECTION 

1. When do these standing orders apply? ................................................................................................... 3 

2. Other relevant guidance, rules and law ................................................................................................... 3 

3. Responsibility to follow these standing orders and relevant law ...................................................... 3 

4. Interests of councillors and officers in contracts .................................................................................. 3 

5. Gifts and hospitality ..................................................................................................................................... 4 

6. Procurement advertisements .................................................................................................................... 4 

7. Before a contract is procured ................................................................................................................... 4 

8.    Estimating the total contract value……………………………………………………………....5 

8. Estimating the total contract value ......................................................................................................... 54 

9. Format of contracts ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

10. Contract terms and conditions ............................................................................................................ 5 

11. When is there no need to seek quotes or tenders? ................................................................ 6511.

 When is there no need to seek quotes or tenders? ........................................................................ 6 

12. Purchasing Card Procurement .............................................................................................................. 6 

13. Table of purchase card limits ........................................................................................................ 7613.

 Table of purchase card limits ................................................................................................................ 7 

14. Lodge Cards .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

15. Fuel Cards .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

16. Contract Procurement – existing and corporate contracts .................................................. 8716.

 Contract Procurement – existing and corporate contracts .......................................................... 8 

17. Low Value/Low Risk Procurements ............................................................................................ 8717.

 Low Value/Low Risk Procurements .................................................................................................... 8 

18. Below Threshold Procurements……………………………………………………………...8 

198. High Value/High Risk Procurements ................................................................................................... 8 

20. Summary table of Procurement Routes Dependent upon value…………………………….9 

2119. Who can authorise contracts? ..........................................................................................................989 

220. High value/high risk procurement process ............................................................................... 10810 

231. Application of the Regulations ..................................................................................................... 10910 

242. Restricted Procedure ..................................................................................................................... 11101 

253. Open Procedure ............................................................................................................................. 12101 

264. Competitive Procedure with NNegotiationed Procedure .................................................... 12102 

Formatted: Normal, Tab stops: Not at
 0.85 cm +  16.98 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans
MT, English (U.K.), Check spelling and
grammar

Formatted: Normal, Tab stops: Not at
 1.27 cm +  16.98 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans
MT, English (U.K.), Check spelling and
grammar

Formatted: Normal, Tab stops: Not at
 1.27 cm +  16.98 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans
MT, English (U.K.), Check spelling and
grammar

PearceG
Typewritten Text

PearceG_1
Typewritten Text

PearceG_2
Typewritten Text
This replaces Appendicies 1 & 2



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

275. Competitive Dialogue Procedure ............................................................................................... 13112 

26. Predetermined Framework Agreements ................................................................................ 131128.

 Predetermined Framework Agreements .......................................................................................... 13 

297. Pre-qualification ............................................................................................................................... 14123 

3028. The Invitation to Tender ............................................................................................................... 14123 

3129. Submission and Opening of Tenders ............................................................................................ 1513 

320. Electronic Tendering ........................................................................................................................ 1513 

331. Tender Evaluation ............................................................................................................................. 1513 

342. Evaluation Team ................................................................................................................................ 1613 

353. Bonds, Guarantees and Insurance ............................................................................................... 16143 

364. Award of Contract ........................................................................................................................... 1614 

375. Debriefing ........................................................................................................................................... 1614 

386. Contract Award Notice .................................................................................................................. 1614 

39. Contract Management………………………………………………………………………14 

4037. Copies of tenders and contracts and register of contracts .................................................. 17145 

398. Keeping a register of contracts ...................................................................................................... 1715 

4339. What will the register record? ...................................................................................................... 1715 

430. Joint Procurement ............................................................................................................................ 1815 

441. Consultants ...................................................................................................................................... 18156 

452. Statistical Returns ............................................................................................................................. 1816 

463. Contract Extension and Variation ................................................................................................. 1816 

474. Termination of Contracts ............................................................................................................... 1916 

485. Review and Amendment of Contract Standing Orders ........................................................... 1916 

496. Interpreting Contract Standing Orders ..................................................................................... 19167 

 

Formatted: Normal, Tab stops: Not at
 1.27 cm +  16.98 cm

Formatted: Font: (Default) Gill Sans
MT, English (U.K.), Check spelling and
grammar



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

1. When do these standing orders apply? 

1.1 These standing orders apply when the council expects to spend money or provide other 

value for goods, works or services.  They do not apply to contracts of employment with the 

cCouncil. They apply to both capital and revenue and cover:  

 contracts for goods, works or services 

 acquisitions and disposals of land or buildings 

1.2 The officers named in Standing Order 11.1 have authority to waive the requirements of any 

of these rules (but they must always comply with national and EU law.) 

 

2. Other relevant guidance, rules and law 

2.1 All contracts entered into by the cCouncil must be to carry out the cCouncil’s functions or 

be in connection with the cCouncil’s functions. They must comply with: 

 all relevant national law and EU procurement law  

 all relevant EU procurement rules and guidance  

 the Financial Regulations (see part HG of the Constitution) 

 the budget and policy framework and budget procedures (see part B of the Constitution) 

 the Constitution. 

2.2 Officers must consider the requirements of the Constitution and legal issues when entering 

contracts and must ensure the risks are fully assessed. 

 

3. Responsibility to follow these standing orders and relevant law 

3.1 These standing orders apply to all officers.  It is the responsibility of the relevant Assistant 

Director to make sure that their staff follow these standing orders.  

3.2 The cCouncil may take disciplinary and/or legal action against anyone who breaks these rules 

or the relevant national or EU law. 

 

4. Interests of Councillors and officers in contracts 

4.1 Requirement to avoid conflicts of interest: Councillors, officers and anyone acting for the 

council in connection with the procurement, award and management of council contracts 

must act with the highest standards of probity and avoid conflicts of interest.  

4.2 Councillors’ interests: Councillors must follow the Councillors Code of Conduct (see Part 
G of the Constitution).  In addition it is a criminal offence for a Ccouncillor not to declare a 

financial interest in a contract. 

4.3 Officer interests, reports and advice: Officers must declare interests in contracts. It is a 

criminal offence for an officer not to declare a financial interest in a contract. (This does not 

apply to an officer’s own contract of employment or their tenancy of a council owned 

property).  

4.4 Directors are responsible for recording officers’ financial interests in a register that is kept in 

the department. 

4.5 Officers should not write reports on something they have declared an interest in; or advise 

council or the cabinet or a committee on something they have declared an interest. 



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

 

5. Gifts and hospitality 

5.1 As a general rule councillors and officers must not accept: 

 any gift (other than an inexpensive gift such as a calendar or diary for use in the office); or 

 any hospitality  

 from suppliers or potential suppliers, or from any firm or organisation with whom the 

council has had, is having or may have any dealings of any kind - without the written 

authorisation of a Director. 

5.2 ‘Hospitality’ includes drinks, meals, entertainment, overnight accommodation, travel and 

holidays, but does not include a lift in a private or company car or a taxi or refreshments in 

the course of office duty (e.g. a working lunch). 

5.3 All staff who accept gifts or hospitality must complete a receipt of gift or hospitality form. 

Once completed the form should be sent to the Monitoring Officer. 

5.4 Directors must immediately enter in a register, particulars of:  

 any gift (including how it has been returned to the giver or otherwise disposed of e.g. 

donated to the Lord Mayor for charitable purposes); and 

 any hospitality. 

 

6. Procurement advertisements 

6.1 The cCouncil will publish all procurement opportunities and contract awards over 

£1500,000 on the Council’s procurement portal (www.devontenders.gov.uk). 

6.2 The authorisedStrategic Procurement officer mustwill publish an advertisement: 

 in OJEU (if required by the Regulations) 

 on the council’s procurement portal (www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk) 

 on Contracts Finder 

6.3 If the notice is published in OJEU, then the procurement documents for that particular 

procedure must be available for suppliers to download from the date of publication of 

the OJEU contract notice. 

 

7. Before a contract is procured 

Before undertaking a procurement the authorised officer must: 

 identify the need for the services, goods or works in question and fully assess all options for 

meeting those needs (including recycling and re-use where appropriate) 

 establish a business case for the procurement 

 establish the council has the legal power to enter into the contract 

 contact strategic procurement to discuss the available options 

 if it is a capital project make sure the project has been accepted onto the capital 

programme., if it is a capital project  See capital programme governance document.  

 consider whether there is an appropriate framework agreement or Office of Corporate 

Governance(OGC)Crown Commercial Services (CCS) contract that could be used) 

 consider the cCouncil’s procurement business plan as appropriate  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: Sub numbers

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  1.39 cm + Indent at:  2.02
cm

Field Code Changed

Formatted: Sub numbers, Indent:
Left:  0.75 cm, Hanging:  1 cm

http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/
http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/


 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

 choose a course of action which represents best value for money for the council  

 for works procurements >£1,000,000 consider adoption of the employment and skills 

strategy, for further information contact strategic procurement. 

 Cconsider whether the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 applies to the procurement 

 determine the contract type and the level of contract management resource required to 

manage the contract.  

 

8. Estimating the total contract value 

8.1 The total contract value is the total amount (minus VAT) that is expected to be paid to the 

supplier as a result of the contract award during the whole of the contract. If the value is 

£50,000 per annum for two years, then the total value of the contract is estimated at 

£100,000. It includes 

 the value of any non-monetary consideration or benefit the cCouncil is giving to the supplier 

 the value of anything the cCouncil is getting for free as part of the contract 

 any amount that could be paid by extending the contract (if it is possible to extend it). 

8.2 If the length of a contract is uncertain and the value cannot be reasonably estimated, its total 

value will be its estimated monthly value times 48. 

8.3 A single contract must not be split into smaller contracts to get around these contract 

standing orders or the law, and goods, services or works must not be split to get around 

these contract standing orders or the law. 

8.38.4 Where the proposed procurement for goods, works or services may result in the 

requirement being split into lots, the value shall be based upon the value of all lots. 

8.48.5 The contract must be treated as a high value procurement where there is a transfer of 

staff. 

 

9. Format of contracts 

9.1 Contracts must be in writing. 

9.2 Contracts must be executed as a deed (sealed) if they are for property building and 

construction, nil consideration, probate, or if the Head of Legal Services advises they must 

be executed as a deed. 

9.3 Contracts over £100,000 must be in a form approved by the Head of Legal Services. 

9.4 Contracts over £100,000 must be signed by the Head of Service (or their designee) by two 

authorised officersand witnessed by the author.  Where contracts are required to be  or 

sealed or executed as a deed; contracts for a lesser sum must be signed by one authorised 

officer or sealed. please contact legal services. 

9.5 Contracts over the EU threshold must comply with relevant EU procurement law. 

9.6 Electronic signatures may be used in accordance with the Electronic Signature Regulations 

2002 if the strategic procurement manager is satisfied that the arrangements are secure. 

 

10. Contract terms and conditions 



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

10.1 Contracts must be entered into on the council’s terms and conditions, which will be 

referenced on each purchase order and included with each Invitation to tender (“ITT”). 

Exceptions to this rule must be approved by the Head of Legal Services. 

10.2 Where contracts are subject to the Regulations, the rules relating to technical specifications 

will be followed and any reference to a technical standard, make or type will be prefaced 

with the words “or equivalent”. This requirement applies to both Part A and Part B Services 

(as defined in the Regulations). 

10.3 The standard terms and conditions of the council are available on the document library and 

the council’s website. 

 

11. When is there no need to seek quotes or tenders? 

11.1 Emergencies: If there is an unforeseen emergency or a disaster involving immediate risk to 

persons, property or serious disruption to council services or significant financial loss any 

Director can approve waiving these rules after consulting the Head of Legal Services where 

practicable. They must prepare a report for the next Cabinet to support the action taken. 

11.2 Exempt contracts: The following contracts are exempt from the requirements to obtain 

tenders provided that quotations are sought. 

 contracts for less then £100,000; 

 contracts relating solely to disposal or acquisition of an interest in land, provided that the 

contract is not deemed to be a works contract  in which case the contract shall be procured 

in accordance with these rules as a works contract; 

 contracts for individual personal care services; 

 transactions conducted by the Chief Finance Officer in respect of dealing in the money 

market or obtaining finance for the cCouncil; 

 contracts offered by the Head of Legal Services for the appointment of counsel; 

 contracts where a sole supplier has exclusive rights (e.g. alterations to statutory undertakers 

apparatus). 

11.3 Where there is a written waiver: In cases where the EU regulations do not apply, the 

relevant Director and the heads of strategic procurement and legal services can waive the 

requirements of any of the contract rules. All waivers and the reasons for them must be 

recorded using the designated form which can be found on the document library. The waiver 

form must be signed by the Director and agreed by the heads of strategic procurement, legal 

services and the head of the relevant service area. 

 

12. Purchasing Card Procurement 

12.1 Purchasing cards are badged charge cards, issued to an individual for the express function of 

purchasing one off requirements or low value, low risk goods and services for the authority 

which are not available as a catalogue item on  the CIVICA purchasing system. 

12.2 Only the person whose name appears on the card is authorised to use the card up to the 

maximum transaction value as detailed in table 13 

12.3 They work in a similar way to personal credit cards, however they do not offer extended 

credit and the balance on the cards is automatically paid off monthly. Cash cannot be 

withdrawn except by nominated Emergency Response Officers. 



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

12.4 Purchasing cards shall only be used in accordance with the Purchasing Card Cardholder User 

Guide which is available on the document library. 

12.5 The application form to apply for a Purchase Card is available on the document library. 

 

13. Table of purchase card limits 

Officer Maximum Transaction Limit Maximum Authorised Card Limit 

DirectorChief Officers £2,00010,000 £10,00050,000 

Head of Service £1,000 £5,000 

3rd Tier Manager £1,000 £5,000 

Head Teacher £1,000 £10,000 

Departmental Nominated 

Purchase 

OfficerBuyer/Procurement 

Officer 

£10,0005,000 £20,00050,000 

Emergency Planning Officer £20,000 £100,000 

Senior Officer from Finance 

Department (for Emergency 

response purposes)Standard 

PCC Employee 

£20,000500 £100,0002000 

 

14. Lodge Cards 

14.1 Lodge cards are a type of credit card which are badged and “lodged” with the supplier so 

the card number does not need to be quoted on each order. They provide a cost effective 

and simple means of managing and allocating spend, ensuring the availability of electronic 

management information without the need for placing purchase orders. 

14.2 Lodge cards should be used with suppliers whose service is provided centrally to a service 

area such as schools catering, travel, stationery etc. Agreement for the use of a lodge card 

will only be given by the Strategic Procurement Manager. 

 

15. Fuel Cards 

15.1 Fuel cards are a type of credit card used solely to purchase fuel; they can be used in all of 

the major UK filling stations.   

15.2 There are three different types of cards: 

 Person Card: This card is assigned to a specific person and can only be utilised by that 

person when using a hire car or a fleet vehicle which is utilised by a number of people.  This 

card cannot be used for casual and essential users. 

 Vehicle Card: This card is utilised for our fleet vehicles and is allocated to a specific 

registration   

 Bearer Card: Bearer cards are not assigned to either an individual or specific vehicle they are 

assigned to a department for all to use.  These cards offer a high risk of fraudulent use, 

therefore, the issuing and management of the card has to be done in a controlled manner as 

detailed in the instructions for use (available on the document library). 



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

15.3 Application forms for any of the above fuel cards are available from strategic procurement.   

15.4 Fuel cards shall only be used in accordance with the Fuel Card Cardholder User Guide 

(available on the document library). 

 

16. Contract Procurement – existing and corporate contracts 

16.1 Competitive quotations and tenders are not required if there is a contract already in place.  

The contract register detailing the list of contracts is available on the document library.    

16.2 Many of the corporate contracts are set up as catalogue items available to purchase using 

the CIVICA purchasing system.  Anyone with access to the system can place a purchase 

order for catalogued goods and services by Finding a Product in the Civica Purchasing 

system. 

 

17. Low Value/Low Risk Procurements 

17.1 For goods and services procurements valued below £15000,000 and for non-technical works 

procurements valued below £2,000,000 a purchase requisition (available on the document 

library) will need to be completed detailing the full specification including manufacturers part 

number (if applicable), quantity, delivery date and charge codes and sent to the procurement 

mailbox.  The operational procurement team will source at least three written quotations, 

two of which shall be from local supplier’s where possible, utilising the chosen portal, Sell 2 

Plymouth, before a formal purchase order is issued specifying the goods or services to be 

provided and setting out the price and terms of purchase. Faxed or e-mailed quotations are 

acceptable for these purposes. 

17.2 For technical procurements or those valued above below £15000,000 and below 

£150,000and for goods and services and technical works procurements which are valued 

below above  £2,000,000 but below £2,000,000 for works a detailed specification will need 

to be completed including evaluation criteria, plus for works the chosen terms and 

conditions and sent to the procurement mailbox.  The strategic procurement department 

will support this procurement by seeking at least five written quotations, four of which shall 

be from local supplier’s where possible, utilising the chosen portal, Sell 2 Plymouth. 

17.3 To avoid unnecessary risk, only cCouncil approved purchasing suppliers should be used. 

17.4 Approved suppliers are those who have registered and have been green flagged on the 

Council’s Sell 2 Plymouth vendor management portal. http://www.sell2plymouth.co.uk 

18. Below Threshold Procurements 

18.1 Below threshold procurements applies to procurements valued above £150,000 for goods 

and services and £2,000,000 for works but below the EU threshold.  See section 22 oror 

contact Strategic Procurement for the current EU threshold values.  

18.2 For tenders below the threshold the open procedure must be used, as deselection at this 

stage is not allowed.,  Hhowever, suppliers may stillwill be disqualified if they do not meet 

the financial minimum requirements of the council PQQ. 

   

18. 19. High Value/High Risk Procurements 

18.1 19.1 For all procurements of goods and services valued above £1500,000 or 

above £2,000,000 for works procurements or those where staff will transfer, a tender and 

contract award procedure must be conducted in accordance with these contract rules. The 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  1 cm

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  1 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

http://documentlibrary/documents/Purchasing%20-%20Find%20a%20Product.PDF
http://www.sell2plymouth.co.uk/


 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

outcome of the contract award procedure must be recorded in the contracts register, which 

is maintained by the strategic procurement department. 

18.2 19.2 For all procurements above £1500,000, approval must be obtained for both 

the evaluation criteria and award of contract in accordance with the table in section 2119. 

18.3 19.3 In the event of a re-tender due to legal obligations under procurement law, 

authorisation to re-tender is not required. In all other circumstances (i.e. new procurements) 

Business case approval must be sought in accordance with the table of authorisation detailed 

in 19. 

 19.4 Any contract that is funded by capital funds can only be approved if it is on the 

capital programme. 

18.4  

 

20. Summary table of procurement routes dependent upon value 

 

Value range Department Documents 

required 

Activity To be sent to: 

<£100K (goods / 

services) and 

<£200K (works) 

Operational 

procurement 

(buying team) 

Purchasing 

requisition, 

specification 

Request for 

Quotation (3 

suppliers) 

Purchasing.requisition@pl

ymouth.gov.uk 

>£100K but 

<£150K (goods / 

services) and 

>£200K but <£2m 

(works) 

Strategic 

procurement 

Specification, 

evaluation 

criteria, terms 

and conditions 

Request for 

Quotation (5 

suppliers) 

procurement@plymouth.

gov.uk 

>£150K and below 

EU threshold 

(goods/services) 

and >£2m and 

below EU 

threshold (works) 

Strategic 

procurement 

Tender docs, 

specification, 

evaluation 

criteria, terms 

and conditions 

Tender 

(advertised 

on portals) 

procurement@plymouth.

gov.uk 

>EU thresholds Strategic 

procurement 

Tender docs, 

specification, 

evaluation 

criteria, terms 

and conditions 

Tender 

(advertised 

on portals) 

procurement@plymouth.

gov.uk 

 

 

19. 210. Who can authorise contracts? 

Contract 

Value 

Who can 

authorise the 

outline 

business case 

or tender? 

Who can 

agree the 

evaluation 

criteria? 

To be placed 

on the 

Forward Plan? 

Approval 

documents 

required 

Who can 

award the 

contract? 

Over £1500,000 

and less than 

Assistant 

Director 

Assistant 

Director 

N/A (unless it 

constitutes a 

Contract Award 

Report 

Assistant 

Director 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

£500,000 key decision) 

Over £500,000 

and less than 

£2,000,000 

Cabinet 

Member 

Assistant 

Director 

N/A (unless it 

constitutes a 

key decision) 

Contract Award 

Report and 

Delegated 

Executive 

Decision Report 

Cabinet 

Member 

Over 

£2,000,000 or a 

key decision 

Cabinet Assistant 

Director 

Yes Contract Award 

Report and 

Cabinet Report 

Cabinet 

 

20. 221. High value/high risk procurement process 

20.1 221.1 Prior to the commencement of procurement the aAuthorised oOfficer will 

develop the procurement approach. 

 

20.2 221.2 One of five four procurement procedures must be used as appropriate for 

the particular procurement i.e. open, restricted, competitive dialogue or, competitive 

procedure with negotiationed or predetermined framework agreement .(  Iinformation on 

these procedures are detailed below (see sections 22 to 26).  

20.3 221.3 For procurements valued above £1500,000 but falling below the EU 

threshold tender timescales and procedures can be adjusted accordingly but only after 

consultation with strategic procurement.   

20.4 221.4 For procurements that constitute a key decision or are above £500,000, 

decisions to approve the business case must be taken by either the cabinet member or 

cabinet as detailed in table 19 above and the head of service needs to arrange for notice of the 

earliest date on which the decision could be taken to be placed on the forward plan. The head 

of service will also need to provide appropriate reports to the portfolio holderCabinet 

Member or Ccabinet using the standard forms that are available on the document library or 

from Democratic Support. 

 

21. 232. Application of the Regulations 

21.1 232.1 Where an estimated value of a contract exceeds the current EU threshold 

then the contract must be procured in accordance with the Regulations, unless there is a 

suitable framework available. Under the Regulations, the contract may be tendered under the 

restricted, open, competitive dialogue or, in exceptional circumstances exhaustively set out in 

the Regulations, the negotiated procedure. 

21.2 232.2 The current EU thresholds effective from 1st January 20142 that will apply 

to the 31st December 20153 are: 

 

Value at which a contract/order must be put through the EU process 

Supplies Services Works 

£172,5143,934* £173,9342,514* £4,322,01248,350* 

*Contact Strategic Procurement for updates on the EU threshold values 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm,
Tab stops: Not at  1 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: 10 pt



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

21.3 232.3 For procurements subject to EU thresholds a contract notice or prior 

information notice in the prescribed form will be published in the Official Journal of the 

European Union (OJEU) in order to invite tenders for or expressions of interest. 

21.4 232.4 This requirement to advertise includes pProcurements for Part B 

servicesSocial and Other Specific Services (as defined in the Rregulations). do not need to be 

advertised in the OJEU unless there is a possibility of cross border interest. The successful 

tenderer’s details must be published in the OJEU. 

21.5 232.5 The rules relating to technical specifications and the publication of contract 

award notices will be observed for all contracts as must the EU Treaty and the general 

principles of EU law including non-discrimination, equal treatment, proportionality, 

transparency and mutual recognition. 

21.6 232.6 The Regulations set out the minimum timescales for receipt of expressions 

of interest and tenders. Where the council has published a Prior Information Notice 

announcing its forthcoming contracts for the year ahead, then the council may rely on 

reduced timescales as set out in the regulations if appropriate. 

21.7 232.7 When using any procedure under OJEU, the contract award is subject to a 

mandatory 10 -calendar day standstill period. The 10 day standstill period starts on the day 

that all the suppliers are formally notified via either fax letters or e-mail of the decision to 

award the contract or conclude the framework agreement. This notice must also give details 

of the criteria for the award, the reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and 

relative advantages of the successful tender, their respective score against the evaluation 

criteria (as set down in the ITT) and the score and name of the winning tenderer, and the 

date before which the council will not enter the contract or conclude the framework 

agreement.  (This standstill period cannot conclude on a non-working day, therefore if the 10th 

day falls on the weekend, then the standstill period will conclude at midnight on the following 

Monday).  Once the 10 days have expired then on the next working day the council is able to 

place the contract with the successful tenderer (days to be added for bank holidays), if no 

valid challenge is received. 

21.8 232.8 The regulations allow contracting authorities to reserve contracts for 

supported factoriessheltered workshops and sheltered employment programmes and 

businesses, Public Sector Procurement Directive Article 19 (Regulation 7 of the 

Regulations)Public Sector Procurement Directive Article 2019 (Regulation 207 of the 

Regulations) applies. This directive is committed to ensuring equality of employment 

opportunity for everyone. 

 

22. 243. Restricted Procedure 

 243.1 This is a two stage procedure.  Stage 1 is a pre-qualification stage and is used to de-

select suppliers.  Stage 2 is the tender stage and is used to determine a successful supplier to 

whom a contract will be awarded. 

22.1 243.2 The aAuthorised oOfficer opportunity must publish an be advertisedment 

(see section 6).: 

 in OJEU (if required by the Regulations) 

 on the council’s procurement portal (www.devontenders.gov.uk) 

22.2 243.3 Only those suppliers selected by the cCouncil may be invited to tender. 

Suppliers will be selected on the basis of published pre-qualification criteria. 

22.3 243.4 If the Regulations apply, a minimum of five suppliers must be invited to 

tender and in all other cases a minimum of three must be invited to tender. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

http://www.ogc.gov.uk/documents/PPN_Article_19_Supported_Factories_and_Businesses-ver0.1.pdf
http://www.ogc.gov.uk/documents/PPN_Article_19_Supported_Factories_and_Businesses-ver0.1.pdf
http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/


 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

22.4 243.4 The Restricted Procedure is the cCouncil’s chosen standard process for 

procurements above the£1500,000. Any other process can only be used if the relevant 

officers have agreed to waive this rule and have signed the necessary forms – see section 11.3. 

22.5 243.6 If the regulations do not apply, tender timescales can be amended 

accordingly. 

 

23. 254. Open Procedure 

 254.1 This is a one stage procedure and is used where there are a limited number of 

suppliers and where timescales will not allow for use of the restricted procedure.  

254.2  

The opportunity must be advertised (see section 6). 

23.1 The aAuthorised oOfficer must publish an advertisement. in: 

 OJEU (if required by the Regulations) 

 on the council’s procurement portal (www.devontenders.gov.uk) 

23.2 The advertisement must contain details of the proposed contract and specify a time limit 

within which interested parties may express an interest in tendering for the contract. 

 254.3 After the expiry of the deadline date for expressions of interest, the Council will 

send any party expressing an interest an ITT. The ITT must specify the return date for 

tenders. Any supplier expressing an interest in tendering for the contract will be able to 

download the ITT documents. 

 254.4 A minimum requirement threshold score may be determined for the tender 

questionnaire and this will be published in the advert (or OJEU Contract Notice if applicable) 

and in the ITT documentation.  Any supplier that scores below this minimum threshold is 

considered unsuitable and will be disqualified. There is no short listing step in the open 

procedure and all suppliers that score above the minimum requirement threshold must be 

evaluated. 

23.3  

 

24. 265. Competitive Procedure with Negotiationed Procedure 

24.1 265.1 This procedure may only be used after consultation with the strategic 

procurement manager and having obtained the agreement of the Head of Legal Services. It 
may only be used in very limited circumstances and is rarely used by local authorities. 

265.2  

The opportunity must  be advertised (see section 6). 

24.2 The aAuthorised oOfficer must publish an advertisement in OJEU and the council’s 

procurement portal. Only those suppliers selected by the council are invited to tender. 

Suppliers shall be selected on the basis of published pre-qualification criteria. Any notice will 

state that a negotiated procedure is being used. 

24.3 265.3 A minimum of three suppliers should be invited to negotiate following 

publication of a notice. 

24.4 265.4 At minimum of two officers, at least one of whom must be a strategic 

procurement representative or their delegate, must be present at all times during the 

negotiations. 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted: English (U.K.)

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

24.5 265.5 The authorised officer must keep proper records of all negotiations and 

these will be signed as such by all participants. 

24.6 265.6 At all times during the negotiations, the council will consider and implement 

the principles of non-discrimination, equal treatment and transparency. 

 

25. 276. Competitive Dialogue Procedure 

25.1 276.1 The competitive dialogue procedure is for use where the strategic 

procurement manager considers that the open or restricted procedure will not allow the 

award of the contract due to the fact that it is a particularly complex procurement. The use of 

the competitive dialogue procedure must be considered before the use of the negotiated 

procedure. It can only be used with the most economically advantageous award criteria and 

this must be stated in the contract notice or accompanying descriptive document. 

25.2 276.2 The council envisages the competitive dialogue procedure being used for 

many private public partnerships where contracts are complex and the technical means and/or 

the legal and financial structure cannot be determined without dialogue with suppliers. 

25.3 276.3 In the case of a particularly complex contract, you may be aware of your 

needs but not know in advance what the best technical, and/or legal and/or financial solution 

is. A competitive dialogue procedure between buyers and suppliers is therefore necessary to 

identify the solution or solutions that best meet their needs. Such a dialogue is not allowed 

under the current open and restricted procedures. However, the process is time-consuming 

and the most expensive method of procurement. 

276.4  

The opportunity must  be advertised (see section 6). 

25.4 The aAuthorised oOfficer must publish an advertisement. in: 

 OJEU (if required by the Regulations) 

 on the council’s procurement portal (www.devontenders.gov.uk). 

25.5 276.5 The Regulations set out further rules which apply to Competitive Dialogue 

Procurements.  Competitive Dialogue procurements should be referred to the council's 

strategic procurement and legal services teams. 

 

26. 287. Predetermined Framework Agreements 

26.1 287.1 Framework agreements set up by third party organisations may be used 

after consultation with the strategic procurement manager and head of legal services. 

26.2 287.2 Framework agreements established by the council will be procured in 

accordance with the regulations. 

26.3 287.3 When awarding call-offs (individual contracts), under framework 

agreements, the authority does not have to go through the full procedural steps in the 

Regulations again so long as the rules were followed appropriately in the setting up of the 

framework agreements themselves. 

26.4 287.4 Call-offs under the framework agreement should be awarded within the 

terms laid down in the agreement. 

26.5 287.5 Arrangements to enter into a contract through a call-off agreement will still 

require appropriate authorisations as shown in the table of authorisation in section 19. 

 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

27. 298. Pre-qualification 

27.1 298.1 The council will only enter into a contract with a supplier if it is satisfied as 

to the supplier’s: 

 eligibility in accordance with regulation 5723 of the regulations and 

 economic and financial standing and 

 technical or professional ability. 

27.2 298.2 Technical ability includes the supplier’s quality management systems 

including human resources, health and safety, equality and diversity provisions and 

environmental management systems where relevant to the performance of the contract. 

 298.3 The council’s standard pre-qualification questionnaire template document is 

available on the document library. 

 298.4 Pre-qualification shall not be used for procurements under the EU threshold.  

Instead, a number of suitability assessment questions may be used if they are relevant to the 

procurement and proportionate.  These questions may relate to information or evidence 

which the council requires for the purpose of assessing whether suppliers meet minimum 

standards of suitability, capability, legal status or financial standing. 

27.3  

 

28. 3029. The Invitation to Tender 

28.1 3029.1 The invitation to tender (“ITT”) will include details of the cCouncil’s 

requirements for the particular contract including: 

i. a description of the goods,  services or works being procured; 

ii. the procurement timetable including the tender return date and time, which will allow a 

reasonable period for the applicants to prepare their tenders; 

iii. a specification and instructions on whether any variants are permissible (this must be stated 

in any OJEU notice); 

iv. the council’s terms and conditions of contract; 

v. the evaluation criteria including scoring methodology and any weightings as considered 

appropriate; 

vi. pricing mechanism and instructions for completion; 

vii. whether the cCouncil is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings Protection of 

Employment (TUPE) regulations may apply; 

viii. form and content of method statements to be provided; 

ix. a requirement for tenderers to declare that the tender content, price, or any other 

particulars concerning the tender have not been unnecessarily disclosed to any other party;  

x. any further information which will inform or assist tenderers in preparing tenders; 

xi. a statement that the cCouncil is not obliged to accept the lowest or any tender and that the 

tenderers are responsible for their own costs with regard to the tender; 

xii. the address for the return of a hard copy tender must be: 

Plymouth City Council 

Strategic Procurement Department 

Ballard House 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1 cm,  No
bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

Plymouth 

PL1 3BJ 

 

 Electronic tenders should be uploaded onto 

www.devontenders.gov.ukwww.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk 

28.2 3029.2 The council’s standard tender template document is available on the 

document library and also on the procurement website. 

28.3 3029.3 The requirements of 298.1 may be varied as appropriate for procurements 

falling under section 264 (competitive procedure with negotiationed procedure), 275 

(competitive dialogue procedure) and 286 (predetermined frameworks). 

 

29. 310. Submission and Opening of Tenders 

29.1 310.1 Tenders must be submitted in accordance with requirements set out in the 

ITT.  Hard copy tTenders must be kept in a safe place by the strategic procurement 

department and remain unopened until the time and date specified for its opening. Tenders 

received after the specified date and time will not be considered or accepted by the council 

unless the strategic procurement manager is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence for the 

tender having been despatched in sufficient time for it to have arrived before the closing date 

and time. 

29.2 310.2 Tenders must be opened by an officer of the strategic procurement 

department and one or more officers of the project team. An immediate record will be made 

of the tenders received including names, addresses and the date and time of opening. 

29.3 310.3 Prior to the tender evaluation all officers of the tender evaluation team are 

required to sign a declaration of direct or indirect interest, canvassing and confidentiality 

form.  The completed form should be returned to the strategic procurement department. 

 

30. 321. Electronic Tendering 

30.1 321.1 Requests for quotations (RFQs) and ITTs may be transmitted by electronic 

means. Quotations and tenders may be submitted by electronic means provided that: 

i. evidence that the transmission was successfully completed is obtained and recorded; 

ii. electronic tenders are kept in a separate secure folder under the control of the strategic 
procurement department, which is not opened until the deadline has passed for receipt of 

tenders. 

 

31. 332. Tender Evaluation 

31.1 332.1 Tenders will be evaluated in accordance with the weighted evaluation 

criteria which must be detailed in the ITT. 

31.2 332.2 All contracts, except contracts where lowest price was predetermined to 

be the appropriate criteria, will be awarded on the basis of the most economically 

advantageous offer which represents ‘Best Value for Money’ to the council. 

31.3 332.3 The evaluation criteria must be predetermined, given weightings, and listed 

in the ITT documentation, in order of importance if applicable. The criteria must be strictly 

observed at all times throughout the contract award procedure by any officer involved in the 

tender evaluation. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/
http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/


 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

 

32. 343. Evaluation Team 

32.1 343.1 An evaluation team will need to be formed for each procurement subject to 

the Regulations or for goods and services valued above £1500,000, or for works 

procurements valued above £2,000,000.  

32.2 343.2 The project lead will determine the evaluation team appropriate to the 

procurement should which may include but not be limited to the authorised officer, strategic 

procurement, legal & finance. 

32.3 343.3 It is the responsibility of strategic procurement and/or financeto ensure to 

evaluate fairness and transparency in the evaluation the commercial element of the tender. 

 

33. 354. Bonds, Guarantees and Insurance 

33.1 354.1 For high value procurements, the evaluation team will consider as part of its 

pre-qualification assessment and evaluation process whether a performance bond and/or a 

parent company guarantee (if applicable) will be required from the preferred supplier. 

33.2 354.2 The evaluation team must also consider the appropriate type and level of 

insurance requirements for each contract (e.g. employer liability, public liability, professional 

indemnity, etc.). 

 

34. 365. Award of Contract 

34.1 365.1 A contract may only be awarded by an officer with the requisite delegated 

authority to award contracts. The authorised officer should make sure that the budget holder 

responsible for the contract has sufficient funds in place to sustain the contract prior to 

award. For all procurements valued at above £500,000 the decision to award a contract must 

be made by the cabinet member for the relevant portfolio. (See the table in section 2119 

which demonstrates the decision levels within the council). 

34.2 365.2 In the event that the council does not wish to award a contract after 

evaluating a tender response the authorised officer should advise all suppliers in writing 

detailing the reason for the decision and the way forward. 

 

35. 376. Debriefing 

35.1 376.1 The authorised officer responsible for the procurement will provide 

feedback to all unsuccessful tenderers, detailing the reasons for the decision, including 

characteristics and relative advantages of the successful tenderer. Scores of the unsuccessful 

bidder and the winning bidder must also be issued with the award decision. 

35.2 376.2 Should the unsuccessful tenderer request a further debrief after receipt of 

the feedback detailed in section 375.1 it is the responsibility of the authorised officer to do so. 

The standard agenda for the debriefing is available on the document library. 

 

36. 387. Contract Award Notice 

 387.1 Where a contract has been tendered pursuant to the regulations, the council will 

publish a contract award notice in OJEU no later than 3048 days after the date of award of 

the contract. 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75 cm, 
No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

 387.2 The authorised officer mustStrategic procurement will publish the contract award 

notice: 

 in OJEU (if required by the Regulations) 

 on the council’s procurement portal (www.supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk) 

 on Contracts Finder 

 

 

398. Contract Management 

398.1 Head of Service in sponsoring departments are to name Contract Managers for all new 

contracts.  All contracts must have a named Contract Manager for the entirety of the 

contract. 

398.2 Contract Managers must follow the cCouncil’s contract management standards at all times. 

398.3 Contract Managers must follow the contract management procedures set out on the 

document library [insert link when available]  

 

 

37. 4039. Copies of tenders and contracts and register of contracts 

Keeping copies of old tenders and contracts 

37.1 4039.1 The aAuthorised oOfficer in respect of a particularStrategic procurement must 

maintain a list of all tenders received. 

37.2 4039.2 For every individual contract above £100,000, a contracts file must be maintained 

by the chief officerStrategic Procurement.,  If the total contract value is over £10,000, Tthe 

chief officer must keep a copy of the contract must be kept for at least seven six years 

from their end date if they were signed; and for at least 123 years from their end date if 

they were sealed. 

 

38. 410. Keeping a register of contracts 

38.1 410.1 The strategic procurement unit will allocate a contract number to each individual 

contract and will maintain a register of all contracts awarded. above £100,000. 

38.2 Each chief officer will maintain their own register of all other contracts entered into by their 

department. 

38.3 410.2 At the end of each quarter the chief officer will send their register to the strategic 

procurement team for publicationThe contract register will be published in accordance with 

the Local Transparency – A Practitioners Guide to Publishing New Contracts and Tenders 

Data, November 2010.  

 

39. 421. What will the register record? 

39.1 421.1 For each contract, the register will record: 

 what the contract is for; 

 the total contract value; 

 contract reference number; 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

http://www.devontenders.gov.uk/


 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

 OJEU details (if applicable); 

 The council officer name & contact details; 

 the name, address & contact details of the contractor; 

 the start and end dates; 

 the procurement method used; 

 whether the contract can be extended and how; 

 Type of contract; 

 Name of contract manager; 

 whether a certificate was issued under the Local Government (Contracts) Act; 

 For the full list, the contract register is available iIn the document library. 

 

40. 432. Joint Procurement 

40.1 432.1 Any joint procurement arrangements with other bodies including membership or 

use of purchasing consortia must be approved by the strategic procurement manager and 

the head of legal services prior to the commencement of any procurement on behalf of the 

cCouncil. 

40.2 432.2 Approval will only be given where the joint procurement arrangement assures 

compliance with the regulations. 

 

41. 443. Consultants 

41.1 443.1 Any consultants used by the cCouncil must be appointed in accordance with these 

 contract rules. The authorised officer must ensure that the consultant’s performance is 

monitored. 

41.2 443.2 Where the cCouncil uses consultants to act on its behalf in relation to any 

procurement, then the authorised officer must ensure that the consultants carry out any 

procurement in accordance with these rules. 

41.3 443.3 No consultant may make any decision on whether to award a contract or who a 

contract should be awarded to. 

 

42. 454. Statistical Returns 

42.1 454.1 Each year the council will make a statistical return to the government for onward 
transmission to the European Commission concerning the contracts awarded during the 

year under the regulations. 

42.2 454.2 The strategic procurement manager is responsible for this statistical return and will 

make the necessary arrangements for information to be collected annually. Directors will 

comply with these arrangements. 

 

43. 465. Contract Extension and Variation 

43.1 465.1 Any contract may be extended or varied in accordance with its terms. Where the 

terms do not expressly provide for extension an exemption must be sought, contracts 

subject to the regulations may be extended, if an exemption is approved, by negotiation in 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

accordance with the rules set out in the regulations. Such extension must be notified to the 

individual cabinet councillor for the relevant portfolio and EU rules taken into consideration. 

43.2 465.2  Other contracts may be extended only where authorisation has been agreed and a 

suitable contract extension/exemption form has been completed and duly authorised. The 

authorised officer must always be satisfied that extension will achieve best value for money 

and is reasonable in all the relevant circumstances. 

 

44. 476. Termination of Contracts 

44.1 476.1 Contracts may only be terminated after seeking advice from the strategic 

procurement manager and the Head of Legal Services. For any contract exceeding £500,000 

in value, termination must be approved by the cabinet member for the relevant portfolio. 

For any contract that is a key decision or is valued above £2,000,000 termination must be 

approved by the cabinet. 

 

45. 487. Review and Amendment of Contract Standing Orders 

45.1 487.1 These contract rules will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis by the 

strategic procurement manager. 

45.2 487.2 The strategic procurement manager will produce guidance to the use of contract 

rules. 

 

46. 498. Interpreting Contract Standing Orders 

Questions about the contract standing orders and any related guidance will be dealt with by the 

Strategic Procurement Manager or Head of Legal Services. Their interpretation will be final. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0 cm,
Hanging:  1 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted:  No bullets or numbering



 

SPU009/PROC Version 76 29/9/14Date TBC   Restricted 

This information is available in other languages and formats - Please contact: (01752) 

307967 
 
Arabic 

 (21710)307967 الرجاء الإتصال: –هذه المعلومات متوفرة بلغات و أشكال أخرى 

 
Chinese 

我們提供此文件不同語言的翻譯或您易讀的版本, 請致電洽詢: (01752) 307967 

 
Czech 

Tyto informace jsou k dispozici v jiných jazycích i formátech. Kontaktujte, prosím: (01752) 307967 

 

Farsi 

 ین تلفنای باشند. لطفا با  مانها و اشکال دیگر نیز قابل دسترسی این اطلاعات به زب
 (   65310)763703تماس حاصل نمائید:

 
French 

Ces renseignements sont disponibles dans d’autres langues et formats – Veuillez contacter : 

(01752) 307967 

 
Kurdish 

 (21710. ) 307967: تكایه په یوه ندی بكه به-ئه م زانیاریانه هه ن به زمانه كانی تریش وشێوازی دیكه

 
Polish 

Ta informacja może być dostępna w innych językach i formatach. Proszę kontaktować numer 

telefonu: (01752) 307967 

 

Portuguese 

A informaçao aqui apresentada esta disponivel noutras linguas e formatos, por favor contacte: 

(01752) 307967 
 

Russian 

Эта информация доступна на других языках и форматах – Пожалуйста свяжитесь 

с:(01752) 307967 

 

Turkish 

Bu bilgi başka yabancı dil ve formlarda mevcuttur - Bu numarayı arayın: (21710) 327967 

 



This replaces Appendices 3 and 4

Please note that the proposed changes are set out below.  All unaffected pages of the 
constitution as submitted to Audit Committee have been removed. 

PART H

STANDING ORDERS AND 
REGULATIONS

 FINANCIAL REGULATIONS

24 Ordering and paying for goods and service

24.1 Role of Responsible Finance Officer

The Responsible Finance Officer will make sure there are proper procedures and controls 
for ordering and paying for goods and services.

New systems for orders or payments must be agreed by the Responsible Finance Officer.

24.2 Responsibilities of Assistant Directors

Assistant Directors are responsible for their service areas’ orders and payments. They 
must make sure those officers who order and pay for goods have been properly trained 
and that responsibility for ordering and paying for goods are kept separate.

24.3 Orders

Orders must normally be in writing. Orders can be given orally in emergencies only and 
must be confirmed in writing as soon as possible.

Official orders for the purchase of goods or services must be in a standard form approved 
by the Responsible Finance Officer and must be issued for all purchases with the exception 
of utilities (gas, electricity, water etc), taxis, refunds, grants, periodic payments (such as 
rent or rates), petty cash purchases, purchasing cards or other exceptions specified by the 
Responsible Finance Officer. 

In addition commitments from credit card, purchasing card or internet purchases must 
only occur through the Council’s approved scheme and in accordance with the instructions 
on that scheme from the Strategic Director for Corporate Support. 

Official orders must not be raised for any personal or private purchases.

The authorisation profiles agreed by the Responsible Finance Officer and fixed within the 
Purchasing system are as follows:



Purchase Order Authorisation Limits

Directors Above £15,000,000

Assistant Directors  Up to £1,000,000 

Heads of Service (Team Plymouth) Up to £500,000

4th Tier Officers and below:*

Grades H to I Up to £150,000

Grades F to G Up to £12,0500

Officers below F Grades will not be able to authorise orders.

*Any exceptions to these parameters will be subject to approval by the Strategic Director 
of Corporate Services (or his/her nominated deputy).

The use of e-business, e-commerce, credit / debit or purchasing cards, or other electronic 
means of purchasing goods or services, must be authorised by the Responsible Finance 
Officer and will be subject to the following limits:

Purchase Card Limits Maximum 
transaction limit

Maximum 
Authorised Card 
limit

£ £
DirectorChief Officer 2,00010,000 10,00050,000

Assistant DirectorBuyer/Procurement 
Officer

10005,000 5.00050,000

Service Head (Team Plymouth) 1000 5,000

Head Teacher 1,000 10,000

Stores Purchase Officer 10,000 100,000

Departmental Nominated Purchase 
Officer

10,000 20,000

Emergency Planning Officer 20,000 100,000

Senior Officer from Finance 
Department (for Emergency response 
purposes)Standard PCC Employee

20,000500 100,0002,000

Approval in excess of these limits may be given by the Responsible Finance Officer in 
exceptional cases, for example Lodge Cards.



24.4 Unusual terms and conditions

Officers should check with the Head of Legal Services before accepting any unusual terms 
or conditions.




	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	Minutes

	3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	7 CORPORATE PLAN SECOND YEAR REVIEW
	Corporate Plan Second Year Review Council report
	Corporate Plan 2013.14 - 2016.17 Second Year Review

	8 CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING REPORT 2015/16 QUARTER 1
	Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report 2015.16 Quarter 1 Cabinet report, 08/09/2015 Cabinet

	9 ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT 2014/15
	Annual Scrutiny Report 2014-15
	contents
	Co-operative Scrutiny Board
	Looking back on the past year - This was the first year of working under the new scrutiny arrangements, which had been approved in April 2014.  The Co-operative Scrutiny Board had taken a more strategic role, in particular overseeing the Council’s am...
	Budget Scrutiny - This was the second year that the Co-operative Scrutiny Board had been requested to scrutinise the delivery of the co-operative vision with a four year sustainable balanced budget.  The Board had a responsibility to comment on wheth...
	Development - The Board continued with its training programme, with a number of one off training sessions/workshops being held regarding the budget.

	Call-Ins - On a number of occasions the Board held the Cabinet to account by using the call in process to consider Cabinet Member decisions.
	Looking forward to next year -
	The 2015/16 municipal year will continue to be challenging. The scrutiny process will continue to support the Transformation Programme whilst offering constructive challenge.
	And Finally - I would like to take this opportunity to thank those who have contributed to the achievements that we have made this year.  The Chair and Vice Chairs of the panels, together with their lead officers and Democratic Support Officers who h...
	Community Engagement - A Framework for Working with Citizens and Communities was being established for formal adoption by the Council.  The panel was advised that a need had been identified for Plymouth to create a new relationship with its citizens w...



	10 PLYMOUTH PLAN PART ONE
	Plymouth Plan Part One Cabinet report, 08/09/2015 Cabinet
	Draft Plymouth Plan Part 1, 08/09/2015 Cabinet

	11 CONSTITUTIONAL CHANGES IN RELATION TO CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS AND FINANCIAL REGULATIONS
	Constitutional Changes Audit Committee report
	Appendix1ContractStandingOrdersdraftRev10trackchange
	Appendix3FinancialRegsCONSTITUTIONupdatedMay2015withtrackchangesv1




